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Q: Okay, today is the"2of May 2013 with James F. CreaganReE-A-G-A-N. What
does the F stand for Jim?

CREAGAN: Francis

Q: Francis.This is being done on balf of the Association for Diplomatic Studies and

Training and | am Charles Stuart Kennedyn and | are old friends having served

together in Napl ear bgawekl8IDal.itnh el eltabtse so6t7alrst a't
when and where were you born?

CREAGAN:I don ot ,butéismgreatbeimg here with you Stwas born in

Elyria, Ohio, and raised in Lorain, OhiSo the first 18 years of my lifgere lived in

Lorain, Ohio,i.e. Steel Town, US.AL t 6 S 0 n wesaot @evdiandTlhe |ocal

Lorain High School song had lyrics that went somethingk@n t he shores of o
Erie, where the coal and iron médthat is because wead coal comingy rail from the

Pennsylvania coal yardand he ironorecoming down by théig ore boats from

Minnesotathru the Great Lakes to oorassive steel mills.

Q:Let s take it f iWheredidthe Creagans comefrorhwehatéles si de.
you know about them?

CREAGAN: Creagans werdace curtaio Irish or so they say meaninghat they came
over before they had tandbefore the great famira the 180s. They came thriNew
York. Some of thenbecame indentured servants to fine families up the Hudaa@r

and some then madiaeir way West to Southern Michigadichigan had just become a
state t too many years prior and was good open terrigogd for farming.

Q: Do you happen to know where the Creagans came from in Ireland?

CREAGAN: They sailed out of Corlso we thinkand there is a James Creagan whom |

called when | was over there a fg@ars ago in Limerick; so it is that Limerick area,

SouthWestern IrelandThen they sailed from there and then, as | say, became farmers in

Southern MichiganThere are still Creagans in places like Decatur, Michigan and a

cousin, another James Creagamsrthe bankther&.hat 6 s t he oneOnsi de of
my Grandmothero6s side, the name was Deni se,
Mi chigan. Towns | i ke Paw Paw. One of my wuncl
later became Vice President of Ford fabor relations. He was the person who

negotiated with the autoworkers union (UAW) and Walter Reuther. My granddad, one of

14 children, became a pharmacist and moved to Grand Rapids where my Dad was born in

1911. He grew up in Grand Rapidslewent to schol there and a fellow schoolmate was

Gerald Ford, later congressman from Grand Rapids and US President. | remember talking

with President Ford about his growing up in GR. Football was important, and while we

were sitting in the Raphael rooms of the Vatican t he | ate 198006s, we d
football and our respective knee injuries and all that. Both Dad andvemtdoff tothe

University of Michigan My dadwas a 1933 honors graduate in Mechanical and

Electrical engineering. It was tliepth of theDepressionbut Dad got a job at US Steel



in Lorain, Ohio. He noted that when he arrived in Lorain he had 50 cents or so left to his

name; so he walked the five miles from bus station to plant to report to work at the Mill.

One reason | always say the nisllbecause Wvas central to life in Lorain. hhad up to 15

thousand workersand we always said it was the largest pipe mill in the free world

meaning | guesthatthere was bigger one inthe USSB.o t hat 6 s t.he Cr eagar
Farm to city. Depressioto World War 1.

Q:And on your motherdés side?

CREAGAN:Then on my thedamiygmoully was froth@lsace Lorraine.
That land had bounced back and forth from France to Germany. Moprowas of
speaking Frenctshe was very artistic and shadhgone to Oberlin College aadted in
theater She graduated froiarygrove College in MichiganHer family name was
Traxler, and on the momdés side it was Junghbl
preferred in the Lorain of the 1940s. Lorain was a $teeh but the area was farm
country and the Jungbluths had a good fadmcle Barney would comaround every
week to deliver milk from the farm. Grandma and he would s@saknan.Jungbluth is
very German. Traxler can be German but works across cultlkmswian Italian
Ambassador, Vieri Traxler; so the name is widespread in EuBaperow that | look
backat the 1940s, | would guess the family minimized their German heritage.

Q: Well also people particularly in the United States picked up the Frenelosifllsace
Lorraine when it became more politically acceptable than the German side of it.

CREAGAN: Yes, of course, as | think back the town | grew up in for 18 years was called
Lorainfor a reasongbviously from Loraine.

Q: Yes.

CREAGAN: So that ighe settlement of that place, the place | grew up in.
Q: Alright your father was in management | take it?

CREAGAN: He was management,s/e

Q: What was it like growingup asakidinLoraih® m t al ki ng about as re
kids?

CREAGAN: Yes. Well itwas reallyethnic.That is how remember itManagement,

labor, doctors and lawyers alfew upmore or lessn townjust blocks apart. This was in

the years beforsuburbsMy dad had a cag 1940 Ford. Nowtheyl i d ndét bui |l d car ¢
during the war but he Dadi had a 40 Ford. Mangfthen e i g h b o evenéftedtlaed s |,

War,di dn ot Thayget orctre bus,.the bus took them to the steel mill, they

worked their shifts antheycame homeYou could walk most places.



| remembeihearing on the radio trenouncement that Franklin Roosevet died|

remember running up and down the block telling Randy Miller and Billy Banning and

everybody else that Roosevelt was dé&@d.were little kids but sure knew it was

important. In thaperiodi | am talking abut the 1940% thetownwas very ethnic. | am

sure it was the mill that drew the immigrantse Wad the Slovaks, the Slovenians, the

Polish,the Italians, Serbians, Croatiae$;.Now most everybody that | remember was

Catholig but sorof-a-guniftheydi dndét have SdyeuheadtheWaianc hur c h.
Churchand thera block away the Slovak Church and a block awaytieshChurch

and so forth; they all had what they would call the hormeslubs.There would be a

Croatian club and by God theywonlddt mi x wi t h ortthe 8lov&keclubb i an Cl uk
That was hard for an Irish/German kid to figure &Me evenhad some onion dome

churchedor Russian Orthodox and Ukrainid@nU n i and eosfasthl eemember that

kind of ethnic mix Oh, | alsaremember gtting beaten up going horéut not by the

Eastern European guyiswas thad a mn T e r r soth@éwer soime really tough

Irish kids on the block There was a famous Thanksgiving pick up football match at City
Field. It was sdverbagesoasCitypyl Bic&l d was on
over the tracks, but | was rather afraid to go. | might be picked out as neither of the

above. There were AfricaAmericans, and | grew up perhaps 10 blocks from Toni

Morrison. | only knew her as an adaist at the public library when | was in grade school

and she was high school . | didndédt know she w
in the 199006s we met in Milan, ltaly and t al
being the industrial towrt was, and proud of beingthesoa |l | ed fAimel ting poto

America, we agreed that there was not the kind of overt racism felt in so much of
America. We had only one public high school and that was thoroughly integrated in
classes and I think sports as well.

Q: Where did you fit in this, were you Catholic?

CREAGAN:Yes. lwenttcSt . Mar y 0 s. AmgdithandheS ts. c hMbaghly 6 s

School. It was smallput many of the ethnic grade schools from ethnic parishes fed into

St. Maryods. Thi oe Oathoic Central HigheWeywerasmall witheoly

several hundred students, bug won state championshif® we were toughOne of my
buddiesatacklchad come over after t hWegkhduatgdanr i an Re\
0 5 Bhere wassam Rossi, a biguy,and Joe Zima, great back. And the Bellissimo

twins. And Jim Hoenig. Weeally regaled in the ethnicitglthough | have to admit to

you being Irish | never thoughtvasethnic The other guys were ethni&s kids, air big

game was baseballou wentaround the neighborhood and picked up games. Some of

the guys were really good. And a couple of themcgotracts with minor league baseball

teams.So, wehad time, we played baseball, we hung around Lakev#itneits beaches

and parks. Asteenagerswentup and down Broadway i n somebo:
looked for girls.

Q: Was your team the Cleveland Indians?

CREAGAN: Ourteam was the Cleveland Indiamasd my older brother and | would take
the bus from Lorain thirty miles into Clevelan&/e sawthe 1948 Cleveland Indians



play. Sat in the bleachers. Great playBisthe way,everybody knows aboutackie
Robinsonand his#42 andhe integration of the major league. But we ha@leveland

that same yeatarry Doby. And Cleveland had several Africamm®ricans on the teams

T Luke Easter and Harry Simpson, not to mention the @atathel Paigegt that time in

his career a religfitcher.He was a unique phenomenon because he was very old, he had
played for us and played in the Negro Leagues and maywasever 40 years old and
pitching and winningBut baseball was.iNow, around the neighborhood lo u | hdve 0 t
Cleveland as mteam because my older brother had appropriatefidtl cheered for the
Detroit Tigers It was a big brother and neighborldabing. You chose or were assigned
teams to support.

Q: Well there are a couple of things. the first place looking back on it how religious
was your family?

CREAGAN: My mother would have been, we used to say, scrupulous in the sense very
religiousbt it di dndt me aShe alsdhad pwoblems of Hepressidnandc h .

so she didndot necess annfirdligpon,@hich woblkkbeout er mani f
attendance at lks, confession and so farifet she wasery, very religious indeedith

focus m lives of the saint$Vly dad was kind ohorremotional but practical in religion

just like his dadYou go to mass and you do your thing but you ai¢her overly

enthusiastic abouwtll that nor does the priest have the last word as an authoritg.figur

Q: Well what about youWere you an altar boy and all that?
CREAGAN: | was an altar boy as my buddies all wdat not all that serious about it.
Q: How big was your family by the way?

CREAGAN: There were four of us, four kidSo my older brothethree years older than

me was born in 638 and | was born at the end
brotheri who by the waycame into the Foreign Service and was terafid¢i David. He

was bornin 1954.LaterDave joined the Foreign ServieedwasGe or ge Seaul t z~6 ai
Statebut t hat 0 sltirschndes shnenrers spendwitly us when he was in high

school, college and graduate schiool Mexico, Rome and NapleAnyway, there were

four kids The three of ugrew up together and Dal/came later. fie three of us were

kids inthe 1940s and 1950 pl e hadndét yet ,aodwewakedut t o t |
to school, walked through the snowe had a coal bin in the baseméryou know

where they came and shoveladhe coal Themilk man from theLorain Creamery came

by in ahorsedrawn carriageAmerica wastill in that transition phas&Ve even had an

ice house up the stregétwi t h r e al ice for peoplebs ice bo.

Q: Where did your family fall politically?
CREAGAN: Politicaly, my dad could have been what the Foreign Service officers

sometimes pretend to benonpartisan. It is dittle hard to tell In this sensé as a
member olUS Steelmanagement he had to be Republj@rdhe had to contribute to



the RepublicaParty.At home | would hear him sayirtgat hewas outraged b$enator
McCarthyandlater theArmy/McCarthy hearingdDad was a nrawho was just dedicated
to what is fair, what is right and #osense of equality in all of th&o when | came down
one morning ath heard on the radio that sat above the refrigerator that Truman had
defeated Dewey instead of Dewey defeating Truman | saw my dad was pretty happy
aboutthatHe d i dwealth and prikilege to bemanifestedMy Granddad, who had a
drugstore and thethree, was very clear. He seemed to me toReasevelt Democrat of
the first order] would always have political conversations with my granddad around the
big tablei with all themeat angotatoesHewas very, very outspoke@ne of the things

he undéined wasthe value of public school$hey must be maintained by alf.ylou go

off to a Catholic schodwe did even when living with hint) h a t dustyodr daa e
needsto payforit Gr andd ad 6 s e shoule nevewhawe public ambneywgoing
to support Catholic or other private schqdlecause that undermines fRepublic.|
remember my granddad really ferocious on that ®he.other thing that he was

ferocious about wasaving good dinner table arguments on politics. Of course he would
s a yYoungiman you talk like you know somethihgd ve f or gotten more t h;.
knowd ehvas right there too.

Q: Were you much of a reader?

CREAGAN: Yes, myMom, who studied at Liberal Arts Colleges Oberlin and
Marygrove,had us reading frormbout agéwo; reading to uand having us read. My
Dad was the sam&/henever he got a chance he would read history apdrtrcular,
American HistoryOne of my earliest memoriesaw the detailed discussions and the
reading of boks on the French and Indian \WBad was very interested European
historyas well.l think at one time U.S. Steel was going to assign him to 8paénhaps
even duringhe Warbuth e coul dndét go.

Q: How about do you recall any types of books that you particularly enjoyed and were
influential?

CREAGAN: Oh boy,the Joseph Altsheleseries Again what | really loved and what |

guess | would imagine myself being back in 1756, 1760, the creation of what became the
American nationSo that kind of American history, the Colonial period, earyput into

novels Then latel would readworks like those oHugh Thomas on the Spanish Civil

War. By the way, a little note, when | was a kid we lived off $freet and | would walk

down 9" Street to the park about four blocks aw&izere was theorain Public Library-

a great place to gd@he Carnegie building was set in the middle of a public park.

Q: The Carnegie Building was a wonderful gift.

CREAGAN: It was amazing, absolutely amazimghd who was the student librarian

there?Toni Morrisoni who later, of course, became the great auttioiMilan in the

19906s, Toni M. and | met andheteacharsdnddk ed abou
an interestn individual students. She noted a teacher that had focused on and encouraged



her writing. Andher of her teachers was my next door neighbor, Mr. Mills. Of course, in

Lorain, as everywhere, there were racist attitudes and, you might call it the ethnic pride of

all those who were some hyphenated Americans. At the same time we prided ourselves

onwha woul d now b e WesaWwobusavesias theunelting pot apdthe

melting pot image workedgreat becausee wer e a fist eesteelmibwno wit h
Indicative of tha® afavorite thing was to watctine molten slag being dumpddwn

the dope of the Black Rivebehind the mill. It was a lava wonder. | think it hit the water

and sizzled.

Q: What about Blacks during the time you were there?

CREAGAN: Again, everybody went to the same scho@® had Lorain High School

and the Catholicon§t . Mar yo6s Hi gh. I dondt know the p
in the high school but there were few at St.
school for ethnics of Eastern European, Italian and Irish background. There were a f

Mexicans but really very few Those families had come up in the twenties | think and

were well absorbed. Dad worked with Mexican foremen at the plant, which means they

had been working there some time. There were lots of PRerémsas well, who had

comeup to Lorain diring the War(WWII). As the youngmen from town went off to

fight, Puerto Ricans came wp work in the mill. It was said that we hdte number two

Puerto Rican population in the U-Safter New York City.Some African Americans

came to work in the miks well, and later we had the auto pldrierd was big in the

195006s. M yriendsiipwithgad_a@rain African American was first Year College.

| dondt remember c¢cl ashes aammaalgmdgeé he groups, t
Thanksgiving weekend | thinlethletic contesat Ci ty Fi el d skaedt ween t he
theDagoso. The Il rish stayed out of that.

Q: In elementary school were they run by nuns?
CREAGAN: Nuns.

Q: There are all sorts of stories about nuns, the strictness of nuns and alhthatdid
you find this?

CREAGAN: Mine were \ery supportiven the first years of school. In Third or Fourth

grade | had the mean Sister Josepha. She wou
remember why. Maybe she liked to discipline us. Now, we did not fra¢ like we

now have in San Antoni®We d i d n 6-K orlevenkiedergartem| gotstartedn

first grade at ge five | remember those early years, first grade, second grade; really

supportive, wonderful nuns that seemed to love children and got wigatatlkel out of

us | remember it as a very positive experiendeen, of course, it may just be the nuns,

the really mean, mean nuwsited for kids to reacthe third and fourth grad®&ot nice.

Lot s of t hi n glenlater ondhadns gottagher dsve got into junior

high. We also had men lay teachers and coaches, and they were really tough.



Q:What was discipline |Iike in theéwas there
unruly group or not?

CREAGAN:N o , | d o nthibk theyhhiada grettysgoad hold; somehow they got
you early and had a pretty good hotahu have to rememberahCatholic School could

kick you out My younger brothe( | at er a FSO andalnidstgpr ge Shul t z
kicked out for hidng out in the choir loft angrobably being a smart ass. Bored in class |
guess. | remember once when | was home on home leave from the Foreign Service, the
truant officercame to our housafter himbecause he had beenthe choir loftduring

Mass, then sent home for that. | told theant officer to get lostWho knows, the nuns

were probably afraid thahey could lose control, so they were touBbt we were tough

too. Wewere athleticOur High School was State Champ in football my senior year. |
played kind of substitute tackéand linebacker. Oh, my younger brother then went to
Lorain High School, did very well, went on to Notre Dame and University of Chicago
and Virginia Law School.

Q: Where did you get your food?

CREAGAN:We | | i n earlier year s dopenugacdamd s c hool |
have Vienna sausages or somethibigmaybe do a quick peanut butter and jelly

sandwich and then run back to schaollater yearssince our schodtad no cafeteria

andwas about one block from the main downtown afeBroadway we would go up to

the 8" St.diner and graltoasteccheese sandwiches drili or whatever and then make

our way backo school. You could get in trouble on those ventysd some kids would

get into a little bit of trouble shopliftingt the dime store. &t is about the moserious

stuff. One guy had a homemade gun in his | oc
caught and kicked out. He was older than me.

Q: Were movies a big deal or not?

CREAGAN: Movies?Yeah, we had within walking distanceroly house three movie

theatersthe Tivoli, the Palace and the Ohitop run moviesHowever,my momhada

list from the diocese newspaper, thatholic Univers Bulletin. There was lgst of

movies that would be objectionable, objectionable in pa@ikarlt was kind of like

listings outtherenowi Ror PG13 or whateverS0o we coul dndét go to the
ones but some kids would be able to sneak in.

QI was going to say that sounds | i ke the roc
one.

CREAGAN: That 6 s o0 ne ses80wewaaultl getin there sometiméovies

for us did not have starting times or any that meant anything to us. You paid, went in and
there was the action. The old saying AThat 6s
you came in the middle then you left when it came around. The movies played

continuously and you only had to pay onicknow my dad had to come a couple times to

pull me outof the theater. | had stayed as the movie played several times.
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Q: Oh yeah, | di it all the time.

CREAGAN: The same thingso anyway we did tha©ne of my favorites was called
fiBroken Arrowo with Jeff ChandlerThere isthisU.S. Caalry guy,who however has a

good heart; so he dHefls mive, opviosly witk anlindiant he | ndi
maid Others inthe movie were Cochisthe chief.Then thee is the guy who went bad
from the outrages of the cavalry. He declafedkr om now on my andme i s G

hebecame Geronimdde fought the cavalry as long as possiBleyway, | enpathized
with the IndiansOne habit they had was to rub buffgie@ase on their armand | think
that did lots of good thing$aybe it keptaway biting insectdVe had no buffalo, but |
used the pork grease from a roast oneaddyome Well, | got in trouble.

Q: What about at home®ou mentioned talking to your grandfather; did you sit around
and talk much about world events and all of that?

CREAGAN: Yes, yesAnd the context would be his tabMow they lived in Grand

Rapi ds s dconstant at howmd kthing about family where wdived in Ohio,

well there wadnmy mo moé s s i d¥Enclé&JFrank wouldgo @ thé steel mill

and work and then come home and nap; so ther
on thereThenthere was some visiting to the farrbsit what I looked forward to was the

real and highly politicatonversationat Gr andpa CWeavargawayd therg | ac e

for Thanksgiving and Christma&nd in the summers my brother and | would always

spend Jun& September with the grandparents in Grand RaBids. | 6 m j ust obser\
and observing highly politi¢astuff. Oneunclewasback from the wain 194546 and

there werdots of discussions about the whlistenedOne of my uncl eds f avc
stories,unt e Chuckés story, was that he was i n No
was in charge of the troops the@huck hadsnuck into the armyat age 17Lied about

age; grandma not at all hapgynyway, he was in North Africaand Eisenhower comes

by on a whie horse reviewing the troop®ne ofUncle Chucbk s buddi @éslOyel | s o
Si | \Siver, obcourse, was the horse of the Lone Rarigjeenhower looks ovebut

keeps goingMy uncle saidhatthe next day tguy was goné and he never saw him

again.But we had discussionsly uncle was in the Fifth Army so went from North

Africa, to Sicily and then to Italy. He was in tlaading in SalernoHe described going

ashore in the LST#de said they were coming int@algrno, and thewere told there were

no GermansThe Germankad been wiped from the skidtalians had quit the war; so

thewaywascleaHe sai d, AOur | anding ships were goi
saw these little things in the sky and then stuff was coming out and oh my God it was
chaosGuys were being killed, our | anding ship

which way to go; it was terribl&Ve got onto the shore and foughtr way and he had

his friends killed, Germans had parachuted inand gleset was @hemhes s . O

says he saw General Clark come ashibreas filmed and Clarlooked prettygreat and
confident and safe. Chucktold metifat t ol d mysel f thatdés the gu
So he was able toecome a telephone operator (he had worked for the Bell Ggnipa

Michigan) for the general. Remember thaserta Palaée
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Q:Oh God yes thatodés where Clark set himself

CREAGAN: Exactly and my uncle was therethéhe s ai d, fAWe | oved to d
up the stairs of thandpeeshdcefiYonpuok@GawettaeReal
shot in anger or any other way ever again during the-\Weaybe just plunking a bottle

o r tSwelohaddhose conversatignshich you can imagine for a kid like meere

vital. | was five,six, sevenand eight. And there we manyheatedolitical discussions

at the dinner tableOf course theenter of things wagranddadEverybodyargued. Tie
unclesverballyfoughti one uncle was quite Republican and the othermpooleably

Democrat;and so theyadloud discussiondNow my dad, the older brother, was more

the quiet voice of reasowhile the younger brothers of my granddad would really go at

it. It was fun.

Q: Well as a kid were you getting your news from anyplace?

CREAGAN: Oh gosh, obviously radio and as | think batckasCBS, NBC, and the

news came on every howith PaulHarvey concl udi ng t 6G@md br oadcast
D a yRadio was king, but arourt®50we got TV.Then, it was always theBC or the

CBSnews; the news which then became HunBeykley, Walter Cronkie and like that.

There weremorning show$ theToday Showfor example. The shows areally fluffy

now, but | recalla serioudave GarrowayThere was newshere was discussioithe

centerpiece of news was thewspaper.

Q: The Cleveland Plain Deal@r

CREAGAN: Yes, The Cleveland Plain DealéNe always had he Cleveland Plain
Dealer | became a paperboy for them at age 8 otrsaddition there waseLorain
Journal So, you haé morning papetthePlain Dealeand an afternoon paper, the
Lorain Jairnal Nobody could read them until my Dad did.

Q: Did you get any #@ for the politics around Ohio particularly in Lorain?

CREAGAN: We were pretty muchn a neighborhood and a city that was solidly

Democratic. This was steel town USA.iftktrade unios, workers issues, and politics.

Now my dad again was kind of ambivalent because he was for the unions aaticthe

wages and benefits for workers. | also think he resented having to contribute to the

Republican Party. US Steel management was expectkdttat He would tell me how
valuable the unionsarb,but | dondét think he &ahpymwdci at ed t
shut down théiplan®d and my dadbeing managemeniould have to gt to work riding

in a U.S. postal service truckthink he rode inthe back othe truck It was probably not

exactly legalyight?Who knows?T hat 6 s what they &shedoutdo do i n
go and the managewould getinto the plantandt hat 6 s how you got thr ot
line. Or so | imaginedAnyway, he semed to really be very favorable to what the unions

were able to do and were doing; so no doubt aboutWian it became timandwhen |

was getting myirst big job coming out of high schadlhad to be vetted by the

Democratic Party. fie wayl gotthe job wasvia a neighbor who was a lawyer and with
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approval of the_orain County Democratic Party chairmarhn®t 6 s how §ou got
he di dndt ok a,yhenygoodbygbr | reméndber Be wasoskeptical about my
Dadob6s Democr ates. ButlBa ajobyworking onathe foadd with the Ohio

State Highway Departmer@hio politics wasa combination of what they now call blue

and redIf you went thirty miles south of where viged i the parallel of Cleveland,

Canton, Akron, Lorain and wet Toledaoi kind of the industrial belt thenyou got into

rural Ohia That was solidly\Republicarthrough Columbus and ate way down to the

river at Cincinnati. There you had tAaft families andomething quite different from

blue collar Lorain.

Qln high school did you get involved inéi
school you went to?

CREAGAN:Yes, the same one, St. Marybds, all t
Q: How did you find it there¥Were brothers running it?

CREAGAN: Sisters.

Q: Sisters were running it?

CREAGAN: Believe it or not all the way througBy high school they could be quite

a

n

he

intellectual.l had one, Sister Grazia was hear name,

wasSister GraziaShe was intellectiand superior in attitude. Skeould constantly
give me trouble. Telling me that | waapable of much mor&he would make me redo
written work until satisfied.

Q: They were really pushing you.
CREAGAN: Really pushing, really pushin§.h e 6 d s ayqu,thinkitisois gooy, it
could be an A but not with me because | knau can do better. du are not doing your

best . o

Qltds interesting because |1 6ve had peopl e

t e

them were recruited when they were quiteyog s o t hey really didnot

before they were turned into the educational training themselves.

CREAGAN: Yeah, interesting, and that could have been the case; who would know in
grade schoolBut maybe the differends that these wergiM, Immaculate Heart of

Mary. As | had said, my mom had gone to thellege. They had a college, good in

Liberal Arts, near Detroit, Michigamdlarygrove. May be t hat 6s why t hey
educationThis oneGrazia | think, had also gonetlee vy League sorawhere She had

anairo f i @bowat begsaperiority.l mean you could tell she was of another class

bit above other nuns. In my case, she madevork. | meansome of us had to do forty

page paper8y the way, | was into everythirigclass presid#, footballteam,marching

band and orchestra, choir. During football season, | did not march at half time with the
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bass drum. But at other times | played clarinet or beat the bass drum. Oh, this Sister
Grazia kind of disapproved of me wasting time wibtball.

Q:Were they pushing you toward priesthood at

CREAGAN:I t 6s possible but | dondt r @omeohber it ;
thosekids down the block, like the cousin of Tommy Cameragdidnto the seminarst
aboutheninthgradd. dondt think any of tamddtmnkwent t hr o
theeweres ome t hings t hey d.Whokboivs what &llevasigoingt he Sem
on at that timeBut with me | remember none of thatlo remember being pushed by

Sister Graziao go right to a university of quality. If you had certain talents, you needed

to use them by going to university. An€atholic University is where they wemNow,

St . Ma raydrish Sehapind the pastoMonsignor James J. Duffyan things

Duffy was something els&ough. lunderstandhatmy older brother waapplying to

Ohio StatebutDuffy would not release his high school transcripts bec@&d was a

secular institutionMy Dad had to go down and demand that the transcript based or

sent. Tom did go to Kent State them.nhy casethere were a few Lorakids who were

at law school at Notre Damedrove out there with a friend from Lorain Higlge

Novello (now a toppsychiatristin DC, author andreat guy. Anyway, we likel Notre
Dame,andwe went there. hever thought andnobody ever suggestédHarvard, Yale,

Princetonor otherkind of sissy places on the East Coatu could go to Michigarnand

theUniversity of Michigarwas good. My Dad had graduated from thereotisidering

law, Michigan would be good and far better thanEhst Coasschoolsd or so my

lawyer neighbor told me.

Q: What about in high school dating¥hat was the sort of thing?

CREAGAN: We werecoed so you dated; you had gireadymade right therThen there
were, of course, others in tonBo yeah we dated, some got married or had to get
married, or whatever it is they say, right out of senior.year

Q: Do you feel you could go out with Protestant girls or not?

CREAGAN: Probably T hragdodygestionl think it just happened becausecially

we were mixing with Lorain High students. But most couples were from same class and

same high schoolhe imes were changindgutintheearll95@® s one di d not go
another church, except maybe am@tlCatholic one. That was fine.oy would notgo to

a Gongregational or a Synagogue or Luthesaother. By the way, the feeling was

reciprocated.

Q: I remember | was warned not to go with Catholic girls because if | went with a

Catholic girl we might gt married and then our children would be raised Catholic and
that would be the end of the world.
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CREAGAN:That woul d be the enSowewereéatleastawwor | d, t h;
much reacting to those kinds of attitudes as having them oursklsesned thatthe

Knights of Columbus was set upreaction to thélasons who had their own anti

Catholicand/or anti clerical club.Some of those things brokedowm t he 19506s. E
the way, the Kights of Columbus wasiuch more than a religiowsganization It was

Democratic Party peoplefor workers. It was verijtalian and Irishin sum, the coed

school was a good idea for the parish. You leedlymade Catholic girl©f course, |

remember the distractions. In spite of school uniforms, certain girlsweeyesexy.Then

we 6 d weekendgpartiesat girl sé6 houses and so ¢é

Q: I was wonderingdid yau pick up a language at the time?

CREAGAN: None for me personallyther than Latinl took one, twoand maybehree

years of Latin That was a surprisinglyogd basefor language learning, | think. At least

they always told/ou that.In addition to the east European languagjeand Italian

dialectsi Spanish was spoken in Lorain.é/Mada lot of Puerto Ricans who still spoke

SpanishThey had come to Lorain dag the war and replaced steel workers off to fight

in Europe and the Pacifitthink it is sad to considesthnic Ohio todayWe are into the

third generatiorand all languages losti from the Slovenians and the Slovaks and the

Polish and thétalians Butinthoseyears n t he 0640s when | was grov
some of the parents had just come @ thegrandparentalwaysspoke another

languageThat was intriguingtousNe woul d go t o peopthneds house

ceremonytook place You asked about the importance of chuacld so on®Vell. it was

of socid importarce aswell. Vd 6 d go t o ,andafremashwe woukl gos

overtof r i ehoudesThere would be thgrandmothersand theywere speaking

Slovak or PolishOrwe would go to the Italian grandmothiers house. The ol d f
all speaking the languagand that was very intriguing to ushe foodwe ate was always

traditional Christmas Eve fare. Different and ethnic. Lots of sweets, marzipan and the

like. Oh, weusedto crash Polish weddingse lovedto dothat.We would pretend we

were guestsor maybe we were in a senséellanguages were interestigigncing was

the norm and there was eV e trieddodeareadanguag® b ooz e.

that camen college.

Q: Did you find you got involved in any sort of gangs, Irish gangs, or something?

CREAGAN: We played with it, my gang was the FalcoBey, pretty rinkydink but we
did get jackets and we saw ourselves as somehow opposed to the Cavabather

guy Joe Novet), well, he was with the Cavalierkthink he hadhese kid gloves that he
could slap you across the face with or whatever; | remember him doBg itot deadly

or really serious stuff. We lived in the north of town near Lake Hriether parts of
town-- the closer you got to the steel mill there was what we called South LSmaith
Lorainwas mostlysouth of the Steel mill now get the difference. Threvailing winds
cameacross Lake Erie from the Nortand it blew all thesmoke and sulfur dioxide
across South Lorain. It would peel the paint off the houses. Not an ideal place to live.
There were the recent immigrantikrainians and Puerto Ricaaad some African
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American® though they lived closer to where we were. Thereevgemeaeal tough
gangs in that are&very other building was a haso that was a tough place.

Q: So you had to watch where you went?

CREAGAN:Ye a h, t hwet Odsi drniogthtg.o out t hemmueh, we di dn
After we had carere would drivethrough, but rarely stopped.

Q: Were drug stores a place where you got sodas and things like that?
CREAGAN:Yes.
Q: Is that kind of where you went with dates and that sort of thing?

CREAGAN: Yeah, you know it was just coming iBy the time lwent tohigh schoo]

some of the kidead carsJunior Dodsoradhis 194 Ford and Dougie Tomlihada
choppedandFrenchedl950 MercuryThe firstdrive-ins were openingand sove would

go tothe drivein and hang out ago toLake Erie; we had a parking lotlaike Erie

where you could go with a girl and watch the waves. Thereavi@sicrand you could

hang outthere. W6 d go wat ch submar idmoen 6rt adnugesmeanrb ewh at e
stores except fany Grand Rapids experienoéthesoda fountaimt my gdrugndad o s
store.

Q: This is when you were going to your grandparents?

CREAGAN:I spent summers with the grandparents |
0 5 0 s Thisie efore CVS and all thatVe had Creagan Drug Stordhere were one,

two, threeCreaga Drug Stores and | would get to work at théimvas greatin the

1940s one of my jobs was taking home all the new comic books that were delivered to

the store and reviewing them and then putting them om#gazine rackhe next dayA

great job.l also would stock and sethe cigarettesLots of brands and, in the aftermath

of World War ll, it seemed that most adults smok#&@. had, | guess, thirty different

brands of cigarettes you know so | would sell those and then do the soda fountain.

Q: You wee a soda fountain jerk?

CREAGAN:Soda | er k |gotimtraublé enceh gugdarhe.in and what was I,

eight or nine, and he whispered to mieecausé was at the soda fountainthathe

needed a packof TrojarS.o0 | s ai d, 0 Grrgangpktasa phatguylefa c k of T
the stordast. twas the laté 4. Mygr anddad sai d, ACome back hei
y 0 uSoldearned to keep my mouth shut if someone asked for Trdjaiasl good odd

jobsat the storeThe best one was ma n a g € walg-ia freezZerandcooler That is

where they kept all the beer and sd8amy brother and | wouldo in there in the

summes andwe wouldsit on the beer cases and read comics.

Q: Yeah.
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CREAGAN: And get away from itBut that is my soda fountain exipence.

Q: Well then you went to whermdotre DameAndy u wer e at Notre Dame f
toé ?

CREAGAN:Fr o m-0 6 2 8 a nwenttto®RmnState during a summer anadsome
other experiences like that.

Q: What was it like when you went to Notre Dame?

CREAGAN: A different university in the sengkat it was alimen.Anyway, no women

It wastough,academically and otherwiskgertainly remember tha@s freshmen they

still were in the era of disciplinand we as freshmen had to be in the rooms 8019 m.

for some kind of check five days a week, Saturdapeck wasnidnight and like that

Maybe Sunday would be 11:00 p.m. or somethiid.1:00 p.m. they would cut the

powerwith the idea being, | guess, that you are not supposed to be studyingrongn

It was bed at 11:00PW or use a flashlighin any case, the powerascut, but they did

have some power out in the halls because you had to have some safety factors there.

Some of my buddies were enginegrstudents and proud of their abilitydmss wires;

so that the room had power coming from the wires in the iadin you had three days a

week morning checkAt 7:00 a.m. you had to appear outside the chapel to sifjoin.

you didndét have to go to madchaelndtherepwasia had t o
priestorrectorther&& o t hat 6 s t he Womendvellydu retllphastgbei t was.
active to look forthemWe had across the | akeé

Q:St . Mar yos?

CREAGAN:Yes,St . MWe wer@gnsaybe a little over seven thousastddentstotal
Tallmenofcoursetlé6s only a | ittle oveow®t ghMarntyhdau s ar
hadmaybe a thousandctually, | doubtthat there wereven a thousandtight to one

ration is a problem right ther8o we would do lots of thindike hitchhike to Chicago all

the time Therewer e women 6s c oOfténevg wosild hitechhiketoi c ag o

universities in Ohio likdBowling Green State University ¢@ schoolsn Michigan | had

a girlfriend in Grand Rapidsndl could go up and stay with myncle So, you had to

work at it.But it also meant, of course, that during the wgak had less distraction and

had to focus on academics and sports.

Q: What courses were you taking?

CREAGAN: Well I majored in historyLots of U.S. History, and thercbncentrated on

Latin American historyOne of my professors was particularly good and was experienced

in Latin America; his wife was Chileaikle mae colonial history and then more

contemporary history very interestifgneof my professors, John Jay Kady, had

been a Foreign Service officer in Argentina at the time of Pétistales were

fascinating. hat 6s how | got interested iiithsomet hin
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Foreign ServiceBut it started with historyOh, my Russian History profesr was a Pole.

You can imagine the angle he put on that study. | think his grandfather was tied to
railroad tracks in Russian Poland. | remember the outcome as not good. At Notre Dame |
had some outstanding professors. In those days it was a lot ofhpenfoe in lectures.
So,professors are importarithad a fascinating Spanish professor waye no tie(the

others taught in suit and tie) and he warguede sports coat and boéts.inspired the
Spanisitlass to learn languagdst 6 s  &tthingswhicht wouldseem meaningless

can nudge you ia particular direction.

Then we had, of course, philosophy and if you are going into a place as a freshman you

are getting the philosophy, you are getting the logic, you are getting really | think

important tods and skills for later learning@gecause this was very personal, the professor

was there, the professaasworking with you Uncomfortable at time©ne of my

literature professerwasfrom the East, from Amherst | thinRnyway, on the first day of

fredhman yearhasked fAiWher e afdle swoud, f mdim?Paianth, OMOho .00
You sir are a Philistine from the great Amerigaa s t e | séllmethentber itPissed

me off. | got mad and determined that | would show him how erudite we coildreat

American wastelanohdeed!

But the freshman yeavasreally valuableWe were writing, writing, writing Getting
critigued and writingsome moreMa y b e s o me o f inpreducing poettyort gr eat
prose, but ibroughtout some talentsThere wasanimportantthing about Notre Dame
we had no fraternitiesThey were ot allowed ND determined that the reality of
fraternities with soméeing excluded, others being includegs not good. Instead, we
had random assignment to residence hallsreshmerand most upperclassmen had
be in residence hall3hat built up a real camaraderkgfty years later | still have the
friendsfrom those dayshVe had a commoienemy the priest who was the rectofthe
hall. He would enforcé more or les$ the rdes, including a check on alcohol and girls
in rooms.| think theresidency halexperience was healthy.&¥ould move each year
and have a differemesidence hall and thhtilt a newcamaraderieSo if | had a
thousandyuysin my classl knew most ofthem at the endt was abig fraternity but
without all those negatives of fraternities.

Q: One has to ask what was the role of football when you were?there

CREAGAN: Big and disappointingNotre Dame had had the years of national

championships, but noty yearsWe liked football, football is a great thingootball

also worked to bring women on campusuYcould getagifwh o maybe wasnot
particularly sure she was interested in you because she had other buitersuld love

being invited to footbhweekend Notre Damers Michiganor Michigan State. Good

games to get girls down for teeekendFootball was importantbutdi dndét t ake awa
in any way from the academicBhat is what wéocused on all weelEootball players

were not separate in the years. fiey livedin the same dorms and we wailkbuddies

togetherBy t he way, none of thi sedvembadklassver on T
Saturday morningé andthen the football game in the afterno&aturday morning class

was early and thentler in the morning it became craag campusThere were parties
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and crowds and it was off to the stadiuthwas just greatWe wouldcheer like crazy
My years were not good, but ND came back with new coaches and returned to national
championships.

Footall is important fola place like Notre Damé&Vith theNBC TV contracts and all

that theycan pump millions into other sports for men and women. In spite dh¢héhat

football in many ways made Notre Danitais not a football school. That conjurgslass

emphasis on the academinstead there was heavy emphasis on the acadanmicon
community service and wor kkemedydomesimat ar e now
t hereds a CaThdPRedce Qorppis fermed,rdfibdgt to be trained for

Latin America are at Notre Dame.

Q: Did the Kennedy coming in inspire you or not?

CREAGAN: Yes, | think that is why | joined the Foreign Service to tell you the truth.

Latin America was where the action wam the aftermath of the Cuban Revolution. It

was Areform or revolutionod and Atwilight of
more and more interested in Latin Americhad spena summer studying at the

University of Guaajuato.l had spent time in Mexico City;Had stayedvith friends in

Guatemald in fact they were with thAmerican Friends Service Committééah,

there is no doubt that Kennedy coming in made me fel@blild do something to help in

development, democracy and liftipgople up National security fothe U.S. meant

develgment and human progress. Good combination of God, Country and Notre Dame

and AAsk not what your country can do for yo

Q: You mentionedthesex cur si ons i nto Latin Whenewas c a ; | et
the first place you went to?

CREAGAN:Okay,omw | 6 m a ki d who grew up 18 years i
Notre Dameso this is quite differenfTh i s 1 s n o6t  whllgsayour ovsnkigssnce of
where parents amovingthemaround | think as far away as we got would have been

during the Waon a boat on the Great Lakiea ferry boat from Cleveland to Detroit and

passing thru Canadian waters on the way. Or when | was 12 and went to a canoeing
summer camp in northern Minnesotads Lake of
Notre Dame there &s the possibility of a summstudy abroadh Austria | think it was.

However, | never thought of study abrobdcause we worked in the summ@rsat was

what you didthe summeB work on theroadsor atthe steel plant if you could get a job.

To give yau an idea ofhe culture, my buddigboughtit was kind of stupido go to

university when you could gdirectly fromhigh school to U.S. Steel and earn 20

thousand bucks.

Q: That was big money.
CREAGAN: Money andsecurity and in that you worked eigldurs Then you go to

B&B6s Bar and Grill and get vy dakanddnescent sch
Uni on contract. Considered a Ajob for I|ifeo.
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going home and working notfor study abroadBy senioryearat ND | was ready for the
next step. | thought abolaw schoo] perhaps at Michigan. Or graduate school in History
or International relations. With university teaching or Foreign Service as goal.

| first thought of Princeton. Not sure why.

Q: This was visiting Princeton?

CREAGAN: Princeton had a new Master of Public Affdirsvo years and internship in
the summer. | was interested and got an interview with the illustrious profeBseys.

di dndét h a vpeogranbul ladthis mewaviister ofPublic Affairs. | thoughti |

am going to do something government operhaps teach International Relatiogel
interviewed withProfessor Black, a great professor there, and | lookBdrateton. Then

| reconsidered. Princeton was about as cold asadB perhaps | needed a PhD. And |
knew | needed money to go to schdakas notgoing to graduate school or law school
unless | gt some moneyThen somehowwentto the University of Virginigo

interview with them They offered mevhat seemed likiots of moneyl received two
excellent fellowships and even decided that it was too rdusio | returned one (Philip
Francis DuPont) to the university so another person could get it. | had plenty for tuition,
room, board and lots left over to buy a car. 8@t for a doctorate at UVA. Oh, another
aspect in my decision was that Charlottesville was the South. Goodbye to South Bend
snows.Then Iwould be a professor or something. | did not think too much about the
Foreign Service but that was a possibility.

In preparation for graduate school and a concentration on Latin America (this was the

time of great focus in U.S. Foreign Policy on Latin America), | decidétitchhiked to

Mexicoto study | found a guyfrom Cleveland who anted to go to Mexico. He had

little VW car. We drove througha® Antonio,which | thought had some kind of charm

and then on tdlexico City. Then Itook a local bus to Guanajuato and enrolled at the

university.l spent the summer there studying Spaaistt Mexican history. It wasgreat

experiencéd and there were coeds too. In September | enterddriversity of

Virginia andconcluded that | wouldrrite and focus on Mexicé&o | went to Mexic@and

Guatemala summeafter that and then wrote my dissertation on Mexicd its uniqe

political system including opposition partiesll of which were part of the ruling party

sphere ofinfuenc&so t hat 6 s how | regarchingiiMexicoini3%2l abr oad,
and1964. In the summer of 1963 | worked at AID in Washington on a des& affice

of AEqual Empl oyment Opportunityo. I had t he
Washington in August of 1963. | was at the Reflecting Pool when Martin Luther King

gave his fil have a dreamo speech. Not Kknowin
colleaggues and | were attracted to and felt deeply the songs and lyrics of Peter, Paul and

Mary and AWe shall overcomeo. We also | ooked
the March, | thought of the great organization of Walter Reuther of the auto worker

(UAW) and Asa Philip Randolph of the Sleeping Car Porters (EFD). | remember

some concern with violence at the March, and government workers got leave.

Q: Did you get involved at all on any or sample the student movements in Mexico?
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CREAGAN: No, inthose years no, in so far as they were developing | was a foreigner
When | was in Mexico City researching at the UNAM, Universidad Nacional Autonoma
de Mexico, | stayed with family of Simon Tapia y Coleman. He wire head of the
conservatory so it was very interesting familyHe lived in the area of Mexico City near

the San Angel Inn and the major thoroughfare, Insurgentes. Luis Echeverria, then Sub
Secretario de Gobernacion and later President of Mexico, came to the house. His name
will always be assciated with the government crackdown on the student movement in
1968. But in 1964, the students related to the university. Student strikes would shut it
down, but it was not a broad societal isdLaer on when | was assigned to our embassy
in Mexico Cty, there were thetudent movements of 1968 and the nigtite Noche

TristeT was a kind of culmination of student protest prior to the 1968 Olympic Games in
Mexico. On that night as a young political officer in the embassy, | found that | was
marching vith the students down the Reforma and past the U.S. Embassy. There were
many thousands of students who had gathered in Chapultepec Park and then marched.
The Embassy was protected by Mexican armored vehicles and students shouted some
antrAmerican epithetas they went by. | may have gestured myself, thinking about the
embassy hierarchy from the point of a junior officer. | dropped off the march and went
back to the embassy. Later that evening of October 3, 1968, and working in the embassy
with other officesi Bob Servicd and a couple others, we heard sirens and then reports
of what came to be known as the Massacre of Tlatelolco or the Plaza of Three Cultures.
So by chance | was not with the students when this massacre hapffenguakssed that

the casudies were in the hundreds. That was not really ever fully clarified.

Q: When did you graduate from Notre Dame?

CREAGAN: So, graduatetiiotre Dame in 1962 and then | went right to the University of
Virginia. My major professor was named J.J. KennddiinJay Kennedyad been a

Foreign Service officer in Argentinandhe had been a professor at Notre Dame at some

other time He was nova professor at Virginid.remembethat years latelne went back

to Notre Damelt was fascinating sitting in graduatensinars with J.J. Kennedy and

talking about Peron and the embassyldrein n e d y 6 s Swlwaskn rdsitleaae at.

UVA for three yearsl skipped the masters and did three ydéarsny PhD. You got it or

failed out with nothing. A risk. | wrote my dissation with great discipline, while living

in quarters that Jefferson built. My finei ghb
currently in residence. id so in 1965 | got my doctorat®m the Universityandwas

maybe the youngest .lwas24yearsiold thendegided th goofiv wh e n
and be a professor.

Q:Okay vyo had had this chance but so many pc¢
they() e served the academic thing and then t
di dndt waHow abbubyou?e a c h .

CREAGAN: Yeah.Well, | enjoyed teaching. Butecause of the influence &fJ.
Kennedy and another gyyAlex Baldwinwho had been ambassador to Maldya (d o n 0 t
think it was Malaysia ye ) . Bal dwi n vinaResidéndaatthe Srivardy ofr
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Virginia. He gavetalks He, along with a professor, Foster Dulles, at Ohio State, and one
at Notre Dame got miaterested in the Foreign Servidgdso,l 6 m comi ng up to th
Departmentor graduate researcmi h e y6uqudtsvalked ino Sate to use the

libraryy So |1 6 m getting a | ittle biwthmycquainted wi
Congressman, with Washingtdn.1963 | got a job in the summer with AID was
Equal Empl oyment Opportunity Cothatiti ssi on; I W

exi sted back i npubir6by Kebnedy artd loekingeat those isauass
integration ad all of that. So Washington w#&ecoming magifor me just a great place
for a student to be andthere were paying jobs.

Let me digress a second besathis also is the fairness thimdpad this job and

whatever, won this job fair and square and had been given thisdawe to Washington

in my old car, got here, went to A¥eD and t he
gaveit somebody elsdamily connection®r wha t e vSe rememnbering my granddad

and my dagdand standing up, not concedingyot in my little car and drove up to Capitol

Hill . I marched into my Ohio Senaésroffice, StepheiYoung and I told him what had

happened to médetalked to his staffand Ilwastgld i Go home to Ohi o and
went home to Ohiand then got a cativo days latetelling me thathe Senatoii as s ur e s
you that you have your | o®Gomehadtkékoy canodt t ake
Wa s h i nlighouw, 60, my God it is like Mr. Smith Goes to Washingtpioung is

Mr. Smith!l just went into my Senat@ office and | gothe stolen jolback fair and

square. So then | spent the summer in Washington, feeling good about fairness in
governmentAnd thatwasthe summer of the March on Washington.

In any casel, came up ofterfrom Virginia because dadctionin Washington. | worke@

summerin DC, studiedat the Sate Department; | metesk offices. Because of this |

thoughtthe Foreign Serviceould beinterestingSo | took the exam in Chicagmd

failed. Took it again andassedThen there was an oral and | did thite only thing |

remember about the oral is they tried to catch you off giérd could not do it that way

now. The three panelists offed me a cigarette and | lit the cigarette donét real |l vy s
but was kind of nervous lit the cigarette and discovered there were no ashtrays; | guess

they wanted to see what | would dgut the ashes into my cuff and then | stubbed the

cigarette at on my heell was a bit distracted. At the end of the exam, they said well,

you passed and weill put youonthelistt 6 m t hhathk dogoét know i f | wq
Foreign Service or do | wanbllegeteaching By the way, ifyou graduated with a PhD

in 1965 you had jobs all over the plad¢énadpotentialjobs in Southern California, | had

a job at Gonzagat the new U. CaSanta Cruzat Cal State Fullerton,etcd i d ndt seek
jobs East of the Mississippi.uduniversities were growing and they wantedf@ssors in

these fieldswhich were kind of like national security fielddooked at San Antonio,

Texas, and | seaihathey afe$mening kptedimAmerican studies

program and oborderissued. s ai d, fAMaybe | ickwludalyalsho s omet |
be somehow helpful to the peoples ofthe r d e r r e g isoot of P@acelCorgsu e s s a
kind of feelingl s ai d, Al Gheoffr@abng Mar yakeUni versity,
Antoni o, where | wil/l h &wo levent theee aldddctuatly Amer i c a
loved teachingnd, best of all, | met Gwyn. 8hwasa studentbut not mine.
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Then the Foreign Ser vi amstdceacmed et hbryo ungehx ta nJdu nsea
you are going to come lwouldéal offthelist,SOolkiheewc aus e |
Gwynsix months, gomar r i ed and t henklcdncane badkto A Go s h
teaching, thereBatel bmtsobtd bbbk Heab. dhis |
|l et 6s o etignt ibervi ceastbefiWohatei ghe Seevk ce?0 s
For ei gn Butarywagshe?was willing taggo. The idea was not that teaching was

boring but that here was this opportunthatyou took or droppedThen | thoughthat

someday | wl be a better professor of U.freign policy o international law if | have

been a practitionet thought | wouldgo off to the Foreign Service, be a practitioner

maybe five years and then teach ag@h,aninterestingnote about US@genciesQut

of the bluejn thes p r i n gandaafter |th& Gcecepted entering the FSO class of June

1966 | gota call from the CIAThisguy asks me to go ufp Austinto see himl think

you would prefer our agenchie notedT he next thing | know | 6m f
gotcash for the fligt and per diem and $avent and spent a day with them the end

the e was somet hi,sglditfokatcept thedCiAdppdach.| i k e

Q: Also, they are poaching.

CREAGAN:They | ove i1t, it is very | nhercbutésti ng,
is very interestingSo | took the money and flew wp Langley When we weréo dothe

polygraph | was thinking(maybe kind of like George Shultz did latemcerning being
testedfordrugs) | 61 | do i t7 likehavalareayoyblygraprermepfq ui t

coursewe tellthetruthS o i n any janadhe €IA; instead stagled @ith the

Foreign Service. In June 1966, we packed up our few things and drove from San Antonio

to Washingtonln those days when you came in you got no pendi@ nothingl

remember driving into Falls Church, Virginia, desperate to find a place for five bucks, ten
bucks.Remember?

Q: Oh yeah, when | came in we took the oath and about half my class went running down
to the credit union and got some money.

CREAGAN: Exactly.
Q: I had a bride and | had to pay for a room.

CREAGAN: Yeah, there was nothing, no sustenafich.e s e days they donoét
thatBut t hat 0s Wahadagheatgroup.t or vy

Q:Just before we t ake bahyfofthe@ukstibns tkatyoduwerea s k d o
asked during your oral?

CREAGAN:I r e a | Thgre wkie soné economic questions and | remember being
up at the board talking about trade with Eurdpeould have known more about Latin
America | thought | was aexpert on Mexicobythen 6 d i ntervi ewed a | ot

A

Mexico, the trade unions, the political leaders from the.lefto n 6 t r, buiMe mb e r
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think there werguestionon developmentl felt as if | didokay answering thenWhat
sticks in mymind isthe cigarettenot the question

Q:YeahWel | € Did the Peace Corps ever intrigue

CREAGAN: Yeah | thought about the Peace Corps and,rasnemberthe first Peace
Corpsvolunteerdor Latin America weréraining on the Notre Bme campus 1962 @

so.l thought about thaBut then | thoughtwell | have these fellowships to the

University of Virginia, | can gdthereand | 6 m conf i dehdecidédtocan get |
stick with grad school.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Whereas the Peace Corps was goinguibme out ofthat track. | would
have gone fronNotre Dameo thePeace Corps.

Q:Thatdos for two years.

Q: Okay, so we will holdmunow and we will start again afteunch and we will start you
off when you are off to coming into the Foreign Service.

Q:This is the secointerviewrités stid Apelthe 3 2a1dviits day 0 s
Jim CreaganJim, in the first place you mentioned you got marridte have your wife
here but can you explain a little bit of @ué background.

CREAGAN: Okay, wdl | had gone to Texas and accepted this position developing Latin
American Affairs at St. Marlythoseyebnsjthisasr si ty 1 n
1965; there were no state universitiesnostall of South Texasexcept the ValleySo
youhadinSan Antoni o St ,whithavasycded antlactedviresornseisénge
as the University for South Texdshad a law school and so fortthad gone there and |
think in my first week just by chancaniversity people, lawyers and civic folks, did a
reception for the new profesgne). Thehead of the brand nelw B J pi\gerty program

for South Texas]ose Pep@ Lucero caméo thereception He brought with hina

student who had been staying with him and his {@fkind of au pair arrangemendys
shewent to university in San Antonid@hat student was Gm. Well, | was cool and had

a red convertible, and well in love and were married six months lateiof coursegdid

not elaborate on the possibility that we might be going off té-treign Serngethe next

year. Butso we didl think we were married in January and in June came to Washington
for the Foreign Servic&wyn wondered why anyone would want to leave Tekas it

turned out we not only left Texas but we spent most of the next 34igaghesForeign
Serviceandoutside the U.S.had a careenof 34 years in which two were Washington

Gwyn had lived in Mexico as a child in Cuatro Cienegas, Coahuila. Our first assignment
was Mexico; so we were not so far from where she grew up, airleadture.

Q: 1 will be interviewing Gwn later but | like to get a littldnere.
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CREAGAN: She can tell youmuch more, bushe is from a town called Crystal Cityis

right down on the borderearPiedras Negrdgagle PassGwyn grew up both in town

and on a farm or ranch right on tReeces River which had been the U.S./Mexican

border before the War of 1848er town could just as well be on the borderd insome

wayswas just like parbf Mexico. In 1962 thee was direvolto of theMexican

popuhtion led by certain youths who had been in school with Gwyn. The rather newly
selfdesi gnat ed @A Chi c an omsimstratidm ofthevtovanAnglostivéree An gl o
about10 percent of theown population. Abou®0 percentvereMexicanor Chi canob6s a
theyouth saidSo it was an interesting political time $outhTexas The formation of La

Raza Unida. As | said before, Gwyn lived pafrher childhood in Mexico itselfn a

town called Cuarto Cienegas de Carrantzavas, and isa classic beautiful lige Mexican

town. G w eaclieswag the niece of the famous revolutionary hero Venustiano

CarranzaSo, she had a deep experience, and enjoyed living (she tells us) in a town

without electricity except for a couple of hours a dand with water from thevell. So

Gwyn, while not being out of Texas so to speak when we went into the Foreign Service

had alreadyadforeign experience growing up in Mexico itself and growing up in a

culture which was Hispani&he understood as well dimensions of poverty aod.r

During the war (WWII of course), her town was the site of the largest internment camp

for Japanese and Japanese Americans (and Japanese Peruvians and others) in the U.S. In

the camp there were some Italians and Germans as well. After the war, teeaéry

dwel lings of the Japanese were opened up to
moved into one. Cramped and hot to say the least.

Q:Now | etds put you back in a foreign envirol
When did you go into the-200 course?

CREAGAN:I't turned out that the class that eithi
acceptedwas June 1966Ne werethe 73c | ass, whatever that means
rolls over many times.

Q: I was in class one of that club.

CREAGAN: Class one, fantasti&o that was a couple years prior because we were only
doing how many classes a year?

Q: About three or four.

CREAGAN: About three or four, yeah, so'?8lassWell here you are you are coming

in from everywhere and you arepmsed to this new experience and | had mentioned you
and | were talking before about the shock of driving into Washington from wherever and
maybe ten bucks in your pocket and the Foreign Service, of course, providing no per
diem, no adjustment kind of all@nces or anything, you just sort of came in and made
your way.So we found ourselves in Falls Church and desperately were looking for
somewhere to stay along Highway 7; found a hotel that | think was $12 a night or
something like thatSo we knew we couldtayjusta few nights theraVe ended up then
finding an apartmertb rent month bynonth We auld be there six months; thabuld
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bethe junior officer experience arydu might get sent out after six montBsit who
knew?Whatis really speciahbout he Foreign Service are the friendships, the
relationships that one develogs Junior OfficersWe quickly got to know the people
who themselves hddund their way intd-alls ChurchWe got to know one another, and
we had an importargar pool We took tuns driving andvent in every dayOn the way
we would bitch abouthe Foreign Service guys dhe policie® about he Undersecretary
U. Alexis Johnson andietnamandall sorts of thingsOur carpooteam consisted of
Arnie Raphelwho waslater Anbassadoto Pakistan and was killed inpdane crash with
the ruler,General ZiaArnie was a good friends wa®ick Faulk, Bob Cary David
Dunfordand me Carpools really form some kind of a special friendship.

Q: What was your class like?

CREAGAN:A good clas we had | 6 mat sure exactly what you mean but in terms of
background we were everything.

Q: Sort of as a mix of male and female, ethnic, etc.

CREAGAN:Let 6s say we were diverse Saoneofthent , di v
things that | rememivaes a personnel officer whom | was working with earlyhaalsaid
to me, fAWell, we donod6t have &aldhindtbene6t need n

was still an East Coast prejudice at the tile. were diverseand Ithink diversethen

meant coming frm NotreDame and nathelvy League | may have been one of the first

from Notre Dameand I think | was the first ambassador from Notre Dame as the years

went by.Mid-West was different. fien thee was thgersonnel guywho said to me,

AYou knowaBhQwoidwhamay be too much edukated fo
sai d, AOh §vewesetboth nale and fermatethe classl 6 m not goi ng t
a thirdfemaleby any means but maybe twenty perc@itcourse, women understood

that when they camia that if they married they would have to resigfard to believe

such was accepted as normal.

r
(0]

Q:The early 670s was when it changed.

CREAGAN: Yeah, 1972 | thinkWe knowthat some bthe womenin the class did get

married and did have to resign; sonfiehem could come back later after the policy

changedOt her s di d nand staged in antheompetedcetalthe fipen we were

from all universities acrossthecount8p my buddi eséArni e had gone
Northern New York StatéHamilton, | tink) and Dave Dunford was another one of our

group He had come in out of California and Arizqrsm we were diverse in that senkse.

dondét believe tAmericanl wdeosndnher Ameeithbrasm Hi spani c
t hat 6s t he ki n dad®heofdis hadaorcsllege gduchtiotgutmoss n e
were law schoafrads or had some grad schoobMt of us were in our | ;

One kid Tom Forbordwas 2l1andjust out of collegeOurs was a class chogemor to
theVietnamsurge, if you wi. Even though, of course, if we think militarjlig was mid
1965whenJohnson hadamped up the troops in Vietham, and as a professor in
1965/1966, | had to deal with students who, if they did not get A or B were subject to the
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draft and almost certanuty in ViethamSo those are different kinds of dilemmBsit
coming into the Foreign Servicthere was not yet full internal focus on Vietnamfdct

we were focused on th@old War wold, and probably more on Latin America than
anywhere elseThis wa postCastrowith fear ofrevolutions in Latin Americaas well as
1960s kind of terrorismiThe U.S. was concerned with teeport, if you will, of the

Cuban modelRemember that in 1965, LBJ sent troops to the Dominican Republic. Fear
of Aanother Castroo

So we didndot think while we were there in cl
didndét think oh we a mamese bnd gogoMiemgNo,tito have t o
was the world, it was AfricaArnie Raphel | know went off tesfahan, IrapandDave

Dunford went off to Ecuador and plevas assigned to Montevideo, Urugu@wyn and

| had our stuff ready to go, the car to ship, the goods to go in Decesabdune to

December was thjunior FSO Washington experienceincluded languagtaining, if a

Romance languag®#/e must have been assignegdummerl 6 m not sure exact|
that workedbut off | was to go to Montevided-irst, there waSpanish language

training Now, | had had Spanish becaudered some in Mexico duringraduate school.

The Foreign Service is always about change and change we got quiekise Be could

got o Uruguay (where, by t hidupansasoppertedd t er r or i s
was called in to the Department ofnddiabor whe
guy that we want to be a labor attaché so we would like to pull you out of that junior

officer experienceThey said that thet&e Department libagreed to sencheto Harvard

for a semester in what they call theade Union Pogramin order tolearnabout trade

unions.l s ai d, AWell thatdés kind ofanslknowi d becal
all about trade unions, steel workers unions
sounds kind of $orheystogpedithe gsgigemt to Mbnteddeo and . 0

Gwyn and | got in our car and drove up to Harvard in the middle of snow storms and

winter. That was quite an experience which | can talk about separately. dinedatlea

wasthatinJ une of 067, after aessShodlwauldgotoat t he Ha
Mexico Cityto be AsgstantLaborAttaché to replaceeteran diplomalohn Dougherty

Q:Okay | et bds tal k ahohefirstgthaerwasathe drdiattamt he t i me.
business permeating where you were at all by that time?

CREAGAN:Not at al | an dFirst | rgnembershe bigderaobhsrationk y .

were infrom 1968 on | was at Harvard and Harvard business School in the spring of

1967. The horrors and assassinations of 1968 were yet to come. And\hedHar

Business Schoolas really in one sense removedm ary undergraduate turmoiWe

lived in Cambridge, walked up to the university, the student body was a bit older because
theydre in business, and Whattheypdml attHan@ml | ar gr o u
was take trade union leaders from other countries, from Europe, Africa, the Arab world,

from Latin America and from the U.S. meat packers union, service employees

international union; they would get like the vice presidents anecareler and up plus

fourFor ei gn Service offi cer sapdlJahm@wnnaBhirdhns was o
We did training with guys who wet®oth labor andbusinessit was tin. Harvardwould

set up these sessions whereby the trade union leaders would become the CEOs and these
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guys who were training to be CHtlayed labor leaders. We had a kind/éér College,
experience with strike scenarios instead of international conffietwere playing with
computers almost before computers were goiilg haderrific professors likedohn
Dunlop,who becomesecretary olabor afterwards.

Q: Well did they us the case method?

CREAGAN: We did, we used the case method viAtbfessor€ox and Bob Livernash.
What | found really terrific was the alternate role playisg it was vigorous and
intellectually stimulating in a wayVhat also was very interesting was you built personal
relationships with these different trade union leaders and got to understand the foreign
trade unionsNow Gwyn was there with me and she can talk about Fare wa even a
threaton her life and we had to movd@hat was an interesting little experience of
Harvard.

After a semesteat Harvardhe Foreign Service officers went off to their poSts.Jack

Binns went to El Salvador, another one went to Boliviaamther to Costa Ricd.went

to MexicoWe wer e stalled in moving because the J
East That froze all assignments in the Foreign Sersocewe were trapped in

Washington for some weeksarather rundowrhotel just acrosfom the State

Departmentl think it was calledhe Governor Shepard.So we were trapped there for

weeks until | guess there waenoughperceived resolution of that Six Day Warorder
thatassignmentsould goforward.Gwyn and | jumped in the cave had just bought at

Koonés Ford right in Falls Church, WA, and d
arrived July 3 just in time for the Jul{f'4eceptionThe Ambassadofony Freeman

held the big traditionaleceptionand we went through the linethought | was very cool,

| had a moustache, was sort of fit and there was my youngmifieably 21 years old

thenThe ambassador said, AOh, .olguessGwya lbakedy our da
even younger, or perhaps the mustache put years on ras.26ihen off we went into

a fascinating assignment in labpolitical affairs. All was colored by the Cold War.

Q: Did you feel théneavyhand of labor leaderé .  woul dndét say Silverth

CREAGAN: Good guestionslay LovestoneYou are prohblythinking about the
international head of the AFL/CIO who at one time had been leader of the Communist
Party USA and then, of course, as good conwventsligion sometimes bmome, he was
very attentive to condemanything that might smack of Communismfipinkismo or
anything elseThere was the Jay Lovestone side of thimghkd feel the hand obig labor
It was because of the U.S. pluralist democracy of those ydmagsbusiness and big
labor. Bg labor, especially thé&FL/CIO in theKennedy andhe Lyndon Johnson
administratios was verypowerful.Labor felt that it had authority, power antig
voice. Thelabor leaders, who visited Mexico a laged to always tell minat they were
a countervailing force to business. They represented the workieoyagovernment
must meet theeeds of laboMNow that meant woikg abroadoward free democratic
trade unions, toward labor getting its share of theipiklexicoand around the world.
Labor costs could not go to the floor in foreign countifegu had good solid trade
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unions that demanded their sh&érong unions everywhere wouldlp balance things in
the U.S.as well. And it kept the Communists at b@ijiere was a lot of interesting
interactionwhen US. labor leaders would come to Mexiddexico was essentially a one
party state and the official trade unions were a part of ti@ PRI ran thingsAnd the
Mexican labor unions were run by a guy named Fidel Velasguezled from the

1930 ® the 1990s, if you can believe, running the Confaderaf Mexican
WorkergCTM). The unions were a key block of the PRI, and had significant influence
even as to who became president of Mex¥We. had a parade of big time labor leaders
coming down so that was always fascinatinthe head of theextile wakers,Jacob
Potofsky, David Dubinsky of thénternational adiesGarmentWorkers unionand

others important in our U.S. Democratic Party came to Mexicavé&Swould be dealing
with them and we would be dealing with the Mexican trade unions.

One of mytasks as Assistant Labor Attaché wagyo up to the border from Mexico City.
They were just beginning to develop what was an agreement between tReddiGent
Lyndon Johnso and the Mexican President Di@zdazand were emphasizirgprder
development antorder industrializatiorSo | would go up to Matamoros, up to Nuevo
Laredo, go up t&€iudadJuarez, across from El Pasmdcheck on a program involving a
special provision of the Tariff Act, the section 301, that permitted import into the U.S. of
finished articles with a tax or tariff onlyonthesca | | ed fAval ue addedo of
Assembly plants omaquilaswere set up on the Mexican side of the border and factories
moved from places like Ohio and North Carolina (textiles) to have final assembly in
Mexico. U.S. semfinished products pluslexican labomwas good busines$he

expansion ofmaquilaswould build up the Mexican bordelying jobs to places like
Matamoros and at the same time would provide some jobs in Brown&willeuld

develop Laredat would develop other citiglike EI Paso on the U.S. sideremember

one of outjobs as Labor Attaché wa&s convince U.S. labor and specifically Texas labor
that this was good for the United Statge.here | am a young labor attach&entto

Austin, Texas, andas there with the head of the Texas AFL/CHOman named Hank

Brown, and his Secretary General Roy Evdrsiedto talk to them about the benefits for
U.S. labor of this industrialization on the MexiedrS. borderl remember Hank

B r o wakdptscism about benefits for workers was expressed in a colorful phrase or two.
Whatever happened happened. (A few years | ater, Hank
fatherin-law. Made for interesting family gébgethers!Many years later yoseehuge
developmenton both sidedor good and illand population increases in Ciudad Juarez,

in Nuevo Laredo, in Matamoros and other pla&esthe industrialization went fortithe

labor component and the trade union aspéc®ever, were nao much protected.

You asked about big labor, American labor and the influeHeer e 6s j ust a | itt]l
anecdoteWe tried to be helpful, as you do for U.S. citizens in an emb&ssyery

important was not just the AFL/CIO and Lovestonedisb and more directlyheir AID

arm It was called the American Institute for Free Labor Development, AIRdAID

fundedmillions for AIFLD in programdor developing free trade unions and democracy

and so forth abroadNinety percentf a special fund wa&lD funds (public), ten percent

was U.S. laboand business to&o it was kind of mixedAnyway, we would help them

Bill Doherty was the head of i8o Big Bill Doherty would come down to Mexicand
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one time | was gettingir tickets for themSo working through our embassy people | did

their plane tickets and gave them to Bill Doherty in the training center of the inter

American labor unions in Cuernavaca, Mexico, a beautiful place for a training ¢enter.

gave him the tickets and he looked at the tickets and they were eteachs &reagan, f

if there is one thing you better leaemd you better learn nowAmericanlabor goes first

cl akssaid, AWel | si r youchers amdaheyeafeous and ypwo v er n me nt
Wealf ' y coach, t hat bhisthetUSegows @ yne inti eé lbsasi d ,0 fbMa,
the American Labor Movement goes first cle&s.do what | sagnd get first class

tickets.o | got first class for them. Foreig
told me his tickets came from the ten percent of AIFLD fususplied by AFLCIO.

O.K. Now, AIFLD wasdoing really very interestinthings. | observed sessioofs

training forlabor leaders in Latin America tedrn how to do collective bargaining with

managemerit andhow to fight off Communist uniongabor hadnfluenceat home and

abroad. It was theyndon Johnson governmenitots ofinfluencefor Big Labori and

mostlyfor good

Q: Did you cover Irving Brown and his operations in Europe?

CREAGAN: Not really.By the time | got to Européehe political situatiomad evolved
from postwar.

QI was wondering when you wereé
CREAGAN:éi n Mexi co.

Q: So when you were at Harvard were they an influence?

CREAGAN: Oh, well we certainly would look at them in a historic context, y8ai.
again Harvard was a little diffent because it was academic training with some of it

economic and some of it is negotiations but not so nmutiat Cold Waicontext

Ql assume that most of your members of your
they?

CREAGAN: At Harvard?
Q: Yeah

CREAGAN: Yeah, you had management and then you had these trade unios feae
the different countrieso probably it was a mi¥our of us weré&oreign Service

Q:We l | t hené

CREAGAN: Because the whole idea was a trade union program inside tharéia
Business School.
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Q: Well | was wondering whethewerybody sort of played their appointed rolesother
words trade union leaders and cases?

CREAGAN: Yeah, the most interesting part was when the executives or the business side

played as trade uom leaders and trade union leaders played as busiregsvaghe

most fun because as a Foreign Service officer you are kind of steppingahdck
observing the scenefdund that the trade union leadensth relish fired people or

would break a stri& and again the business people enjoyed asserting their role as the
oppressetabor groupSo it was kind of fun to see roles reverdddrvard did well in
that.Butthenwest udi ed i nternational economics

bad trade union leaderhe bad beinthose affiliated with the WFTU, or theommunist
side There was a thirdroupof Christian DemocratiandCatholic trade unions which
wereconsidered kind of green on outside but red on inside. Not to be encouratged.
when | went to Rome on assignment as the assistant labor attaché in Rome and then
doing ®me time ashelabor attachgwe were dealing with that highly political pest

World War Il struggle between democratic, in that case Catholic, trade unions, the CISL,

and theCommunist trade unionthe GGIL. By the way we could not meet with the
CGIL. If I, for example, had met witleaders of th€GIL, such as Lucianbhama my
career would have taken a major hiheTambassador would get a mesdagma Jay
Lovest orCd s bAaFL c éreéthiyguysfa talking gvithihe Communists or
being with he Communists Thiswas compl i cated because
Christian Democratind the Socialist party trade unions were in a triangular agreement

and
political interms of the Jay Lovestone or Irving Browchoob | don6t r emember
kind of influence as much in Latin America where you had good trade union leaders and

he

fi

with the Communist trade uni onButifwétalkede w game

to the Commursttrade unionists, then the ARCIO leaders considered that undermining
thegood guysand the special U.S. relationship with the3n.there was kind of golicy

C

g

of donét meet them and in some sense fApreten

were notin their unity pact with the Communist unions. So, in that sense we isolated
ourselves from the political trends.

Q: Okay, nowback toMexico.You were in Mexico from when to when?
CREAGAN: 19671969 so that was a twgear tour.
Q: Who was your numbemne man in labor?

CREAGAN: The labor attaché in Mexi¢cthe number onePreplaced John Dougherty
who was the assistanthenumber one was Irvingatert Irving came out of the trade
unions, | think garment workers, and he was classic, classic New ¥afloktough

trade union fellowHis role was | think, to keep American labor happy with what we
were doingn Mexico. He understood U.S. Labor and | would guess was considered a
kind of conduit for American labor into the U.S. governméfie Foreign Serice

officers felt wecertainly did not work foAmerican laborWe understandnd greatly
appreciatedhe essentiatole oftrade unions in our pluralistemocracy but weid not

work for them We clearly worked for thambassadaand the Department of $ta We
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understood thenportance of labor butever paid obeisance toitnever saw myself as

the voice, if you will, of the AFL/CIQwhereas if you camigom the AFL/CIO you

might consider thagou represented that point of view within governméntng was

more in thatatterschool He was a character. Oh, tlitde things you remembekVe

would go in his carNow, there were embassy cars and driverssaunetimes Irving

would just jump irhiscarandgoWe 6 d dr i v e iamarchbkedieenmg Ci t vy,
city, and we would drive up tile trade union headquarténsavery crowded area near
theMonument to the Revolution. Irving woupgarkright in the middle of the streeind

we would walk off to see the great labor lead@del Velasquezl 6 m uag Fgr@ign
Servi ce Of foliovang the bgs.dlicd wouhd invariably run up to the ear
because @& parked in the middle of the street at the Monurteetite Revolutiori and

they wouldshoutthay o u ¢ a n 6 th Mpeayouk carhmneorveeyowr a frving Salert

would turn to the cop, poitti s f i nger to the | icensé plate
park where | want to paikd i p | abvays remembered that. Probably because | was
embarrassedut that was my bosa tough guy talkingke New York and asserting his

right as a diplomat to put that car where he wished to put it.

Then he left and a great guy came in, a man who had been developing Honduran trade
unions On the surface a union would seem to be against the interestsaitnea
companies. It was actually in tleng-term interest of thevorkers, théJ.S. banana
companes and Honduras. a ¢ k  Owas attactiéyin Bogota after Honduras, and then
Mexico. Awonderful guyHe saw himself identifying with the up and comimgrkers of

the country So, those were the two labattach&i Jackfrom thecareerserviceand

Irving morethetrade uniorroots.| think muchgood came out of that U.S. rolerking

to build unions to givevorkersavoice on working conditions, on wages ailthe rest.

It was the building of pluralism and for democracy.

In Mexico | was part of thpolitical sectionso we were very much attuned to the

internal political workings of Mexice-who was running Mexico then, who was likely to
be running it in tk future. We did a lot of writing| dealt with the PRI Youth Wing, with
thecampesingroups, of coursgndwith the trade uniondNVe wanted to know what
made them tickl would go to places like Sinaloaherenobody goes today the land

of Chapo Guzma, the Cartel leader would go many different places around the country
at trade union rallies, at trade union meetingwasfascinatingo watch the union

leaders shape and organize workers in the interest dbtheant political party, the

PRI. Sothat was a fascinating timé/e servedwo years there.

Then we had a direct transfer, as they say, without going through Washiington
Mexico to San SalvadoDf course, in those days you just jusdiinto your car and you
drove from Mexico City throgh the highlands of Chiapas, through Guatermalhere
already there was guerrilla warfare going on but what did | kiénvad ayoung wife
babyand my sistein the car.Then down to El Salvadowe arrived thereaboutthree
weeks beforevar broke out beveen El Salvador andonduras It was July1969.

Q: How heavy was the hand of the PRI?
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CREAGAN:The PRIAtwasincontrals o it di dndét haveTheyo be
had over the decades, since reallyth@ 2 0 6 s, &€dnbobdatioreofithet h e
Revolution.After all the PRI was the Party of Revolutionary Institutions or the
Institutionalized Party of the Revolution; however you want to s@8uttpower was
centralized and the PRI h#ak powerlf you wanted to be anything, do anything, get
anywhere you dealt with the PRI and its apparatiisd written my doctoral dissertation

on Mexico, completing the PhD in 1965. So, it was pretty neat being sent back to the
place | had studied.focused some on the-salled opposition parties and espegidlie

PAN, which in recent years of course, actually took the presidency and is very important
in the Congresslheyhave lost the presidency again they had it from 2000 until this

last electiorin 2012.There was another party called the Party ofAbthentic Mexican
Revolution, PARMAnNd another on the socialist left led by the great old Marxist,

Vicente Lombardo Toledanéle had been a follower of Stalin and a leader of the CTM
labor movement in the early daiysvith Fidel Velasquez. He was later rgmalized.

When | wrote about him and had seen him in 1964, he led the small PSpaialist

Party,or PPS. Teir color was pinkThere was the party of National ActigBAN), the

party whichbecame real opposition and from which came thec2htury Mexican

presidents, VicentBox andFelipe Calderon. Its colors welpiue and white like the

virgin. You had the Authentic Party of the Mexican Revolu{iBARM), its colors, of

course, red and white and then you had the R&tolors were the flagrhey used to

have a saying in Mexic@El PRI es el PR(the PRI isthe PRI), el PAN es el PR{so the
National ActionPartyis the PRY), el PARM es el PRFinally, el PPS (the Socialist
Party)esel PR6 E v e r y twélliomgagizedilde PRI wanted an opptien so that

it would look like there was oppositioAccording to electoral laws the opposition got

ten percent of the Congre&o it di dn 6 t-hahdeddtevasaéll@bolte heavy
control.It became more heavMyanded when you had the student riots #re crackdown
before the Olympics of 1968Vewere thereThenthe PRI wasieavyhanded later in the
years of Luis Echeverria but it was a weillled machinefor most of the 1960s. We left

for El Salvador in 1969. An entirely different place.

Q: Did youget any feel from the figures and the leadership of the mag® movement,
were they looking ahead seeing where things might go or did they have a pretty good
thing going and want to keep it that way?

CREAGAN: They were concerned with ticerrent anchext generation of workers and
also keeping thm, of course, within the orbit of the PRIhey were in favor of
industrialization projectalong the border which would provide new jobs for Mexico.
They also fought for guest worker program&e had had whate called the Bacero
Programi Mexicanworkers, about 400 thousgnalerecoming into the United States
and working in the United States under a bilateral agreement between our Department of
Labor and the Mexican Department of Lal®o. these workers, ndy agricultural
workers had a contract pursuant tbi¢gateral agreemenkduch, even blankets, were
covered in the agreementh@rewasalwayssomefraud, but it was a pretty well
controlled programThe trade union movement in Mexico thought that wasontant

and it was also a good source of political influence and control becaysmtiid choose
who got the jobsthey brought money back from the U.S. which was good for Mexico
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andproduced what we now call remittanceben there was a U.S. ground $veé
opinion against th Bracero Progranen human rights groundscluding separation of
families during the crop season. Tagricultural interestin Califomia and Texas liked
the program. Howevean the U.S. sidé and significantlyincluding tradeunionsi there
was the idea that these people were taking jobs from Ameyimatiese peopleere

beng mistreatedfor t hese are single men up in the U.

All kinds of reasonsThere was opposition in the U.S. to thegnam and it ended in
1964 In sum, theMexican trade unions were in favor of it as it provided jaitd
influence On the U.S. side #se years were theeginning of agricultural worker
organizationsCesar Chavez was organizing the farm workeng Mexcan trade union

leader Fidel Velasquefthe CTMwo ul d say t oonmwiththifgW at 1 s wr

C
<

named Chavezlli s name i s Cesar Chavez; heds a Mexi

wor kers going tob whbeael tUn beiggptedingais s ? 0
membershiplf the Mexican workers go up there they will take away the jobs of his
workers or they will wundercut them so they

c

forfiWelbl , 0 Vel asquez woul d Welyl, thihhaetdds neo td iaf

point of view; one is MexicaiMexican and the other is trade unimade unionFidel
Velasquez was the Mexican labor movement. 967169, he was in his sixties and a real
powerful figure. Others did not mess with him. He had incredible staying @oveard

genes. Velasquezent on to | ead the trade wunilons i n

think he died at age 94 or @hdwith his boots on so to spedko that isa look atwhat |
did in a very anecdotal wand with focus on theade unios.

Q:Why don &ltSalvador? d o
CREAGAN:So this is 1969, Juneé
Q: By the way are you picking up reverberations fidi@tnami n y our é

CREAGAN: Yes and nolf you look at some of the political activity and student turmoil
in Mexico then that relates tdeological perceptions of U.8nperialism inVietnam.

The student movement had Marxist eleméntand, remember, there was a werlitle
opposition of youth to the war, with protests in the U.S. increasing and fueling the
protests worldvide. However, in Mxico thePRI was disciplined enougiothat on the
broad level theyverenot playingthe Viethamissue. Naturally thpoorcampesinmr

urban worker had nimlea of Vieham.But in the student movements, those at the
National University an@lsewhereyou are getting these reverberatio@d.course we
werefeeling it in the Foreign Servicdany of the FSOs were very skeptical of the war.
Then there were the incredibly dramatic tinsésurmoil from theTet offensive.  now
we are moving into 1968 with thgs happening iNietham things affectinghte U.S. The
assassinations had a great impacalbof us.| remember at one point thinking that
history was being made inthe U.S.andthate s houl d not be, l et 6s
Foreign Service when theveas so much to be done back in the United Statagen
thought about well, trying to join the campaign of Bobby Kennetyhelp change the
U.S.
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By the way one little personal note or an anecdote on what happEmegrning the war

andour electoral sene Hubert Humphrey had come down to Mexico City on a visit as

vice presidentlt was the end of March 1968f €oursehe was the Viceesidentso

Ambassador Fulton Freemand thesenior officers werdealing with himBut at some

point the guy who warunning the show, our administrative counselor Baber, said,
ACreagan, |l want you to be there ladid Humphr ey
A Ok aNow, | am gunior officer] 6 m t he as s i slthaughtfi @kasbyo,r att ac
t hat 0 sSothenéveent along aratcompanied Humphrey to the Anthropological

Museum and other placdshappened to be ther€here was dinner with the

Ambassador and the president of Mexico and |
there in the outer roonier the dinnerPresident Johnson was going to give a speech and

Vice President Humphrey said, ALeTh8s go i nto
before Internet or anything elderesident DiaDrdazs ai d, fANo, we can get

Humphreya i d, A No, | woul d |Soklldrememberistheyen t o t he
ended doing that and at the end of his speech Jolhmeod e hi s f amous Al wi l

announcement. Bybe he had already told Humphrey he migyt something. In any

case it was ot said until it was said. LBJ statdd shall not seek and | will not accept the

nomi nation of my party for another term as p
down.What a surpriseOut omesHumphrey from the study. And we are told,

A Or g ahe emabassythe Vice President is going to give a talk tomorrow morning at

t he e m®oabackoythe @Embassgeople wentNow, Iw a s n éntaindrganézerof

the rally, butl was there as history was madae first campaign address of Hubert

Humphrey n 1968 was at the American Embassy, Mexideen backo the U.S. he

went and, of course, we h#tetumult at theChicago conventigrthe campaign and the

loss to Richard Nixon.

When Bobby Kennedy was assassinatieere wagrief and uneasamongusyounger

officers | remembestanding up at the Country Team Meeting araking some

emotional statements in response to the Amba
Bobby. He did not react or throw me out, perhaps sensing the generational divide and the

deep feeling. It was a year of turmoil in the U.S. Vietnam was going bad and the

assassinations dfartin Luther King and Bobhy

Q: You were there during the Olympics?
CREAGAN: Yes.
Q: Want to talk about the Olympic$®hink you talked about it before.

CREAGAN: Well, a little bit. Of coursthe student movement was buildinge PRI, the
governmentwasvery much concerned with stability and very much concerned that there
not be outrages as they were adased outrages at the Olympicsiély wanted these

Olympics to run smoothly and to shaff Mexico to the worldThe student movement

was really screwing that up, it was building, the marches, the strikes, this argbtbae

evaiing, it may have been October2 I dono6t r,bunwhatlceenecbe x act | y
known agithe sad nighit, La Noche TristeTens of thousandsmaybemorei students
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gathered in Chapultepec Park of Mexico City and then marched down this main

t horoughfar e, I mean itdés yobMexico@ityantlel Eur opea
French modelDown the Reforma they marched and padseithe American embassy.

As a young eager political officer and the guy who dealt with labor youth and had

dealings with the student group as wetlecided to go out and observe the student

march.So Iwent out and marchedlith the studentpast the embasswhich was

protected by Mexican tanKtheyweresmaller tanks than we think of when we think

Abrams).So t he student s dtheykepttmowany bydbuwikh lotsbfe e mbas s
shouts and lotsfepithets thrownl remember having a little secret fun throwing an

epithet or twanyself. As the march continued, | dropped off and went back to the

embassy to do reportinghe studentanddemonstrators wemnd the main plaza, the

Zocalg and then ovelo what they called the Tlatelolco, the Plaza of Three Cultures.

There the student group found itself surrounded by militatly a/stated purpose of

crowd control.Somewhere a shot rang out from one of the buildiAgsiper perhaps.

Who was the snip@rAfter the shot rang out and hell broke loose, rthigary lowered

their weapons and shot into the crowdhey were there for crowd control they did just

what vy o uThdydaddhe cralvd encircleshstead of leaving a way out. It was a

masscre We dd not know how many were killed, bute estimatedsamany as two

hundred or even more. The military had far lower figufeh.e gener al 6 s name Ww;
BarraganLuis EcheeriawasMinistro de Gobernacionand heater became presidetit

was alleged for gars that the government meant to stopstbdentprotests by any

means angdtop unrest before the Olympidsyvery sad night, a massaci&'e thought it

wasstupidity orevenintended by the governmer®@r maybe a subversive group decided

to shoot into th crowdand set off the massacre. Tdtadent movementas squelched

with force.The Olympics took place and they were peacdftemember the Olympics

and being there whdd.S. athletes Tommy Smith addanCarloswon their events and

raised theBlack Paver saluteA shock with repercussions in the U.S. and beyond.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Thatact of coursevas very controversiah the context of the times and the

Olympics. | remember many calling for their expulsion froraxiéa. The Olympics must

be above glitics. The Olympic Committees mandour own embassgot involved.

TheyleftBut | dondét bel i e wacton likedepodabiordutithe e | f t ook &
Olympics themselves were fun and beautiful, if marred by what took place in the weeks
before.Thatw a s . Llofééw&nt on, and especially the personal. One of our boys was

born (Kevin) and we had the fun of care and feeding (breast milk so no bottles to

prepare). In summer of 1969 we were transferrdel ®alvadorWe drove down.

Q: Okay, we willpick hi s up in 660¢
CREAGAN:I n 66 9.
Qln 669, we wil!/ go to EI Salvador again as:¢

feeling that the laboattachésand the labor movement from the American point of view
was riding pretty high within embassy cirste
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CREAGAN: Do you mean in terms of respect or power?
Q: I mean in prestige or money or whatever.

CREAGAN: Yeah, certainly there was some power there and some moneyTthere.
labor attaché corps as such waser as accepted in a broad way as the caowiale
attaché The commercial area was one of the universally accepted tasks of the U.S.
Governmend and was the same for most governments and emba3stdghink the
labor attaché wagften seen as a politicadterference of big laban diplomacy.

Q:One sort of had the feeling it really wasnh:¢
more in the hands of the AFL/CIO.

CREAGAN:Yes,theAFL/ CI O because you coul dndét say it
DepartmentL e tfa@esit the Labor Departné was in the hands of the AFL/ClGor

meit was very interesting indeediso from a political science point of vieWwwas

fascinating to go to my first post, not as a vice consul dealing with visas, but instead
being sent to Harvard, then as Assistaaitor Attaché in Mexico. | nevelid the visa

line. There | was dealing in these very interesting political isdfiéshought longterm

about thdabor attaché corps or labor attaché as a Foreign Service specialty | think there
was some questiahat t would be too narrow. But it was very, vengeresting as we

went alongAnd wewere doing goodh terms of improving lives of workers and

competing with the Marxists at the same timmeEl Salvador, for example, | was the

labor attaché anpolitical officer. There were a couple of usthe Political SectionJack

Binns was running that section for a tiraed he had been the labor attadhéok his

place as the labor attached he led the section. We did analysis, reporting and the tasks
of politica officers such as representation and the interaction with Foreign Ministry. |

had taught a course in U.S. Foreign Policy at a university in Mexico City and considered
doing something like that in San Salvador. However, the students were rather radicalized
and | was not very welcome at the university.

| had money because | was also catled AlID BaborOfficero .  hateAID funds for

labor and trade union training and projettsorked closely with and became a good
friend ofthe American Institute for Ee Labor Development representative in El
SalvadorMike Hammer.Gwyn and | were close with Mike and his wife, a Madrilena,
MagdalenaMike and Icollaborated on most things in the labor/campesino area. AIFLD
was managed by the U.S. Labor Movement, essgnthe AFL-CIO, and had funding

from U.S. business sector as well. Yet, a good 90% of its funding came from the USG. It
was AID money. It is just interesting how academic writing about the AIFLD invariably
linked AIFLD with the CIA. In fact, AIFLD prognaas were open AlBunded programs;
there was State and U.S. Mission control as well. &@aslthe AID labor officeas well

as Labor Attaché in El Salvador, and | had a responsibility for the AIFLD budget and its
fulfillment, all under the Ambassador, BBlowdler.Mike was theDirector of the

nominally privateAlIFLD. It was Mike and his AIFLD that proposed and supervised
projects angbrograms. Mike and | would travel to the countryside and meet with
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campesindeaders. One project might be a small bridgen8&thing totally non

controversial, and we would have community leaders at our ribbttimg ceremonies.

Other activities included building and funding Coops, so¢hatpesinosould have
equipment and seed and work in common, in order to escape joealddace on the
landlord, whose land they worked and upon whom they had depended for tractors, tools
and seed. We worked to build something calledthen Comunal Salvadorer(@&nion

of Salvadoran Cooperativest would give somg@ower tooppressed an@ihdless
peasantsRemember that Balvador was famously the country of fhe at cor c e o
fourteen families and the 14 family descendatfisii ¢ a t o r With thisceoperative
project,AlD monieswould go into a cooperative fund that could be used by the
campesino membersidtead of having to pake landlordor the use of a tractor, this
cooperativecould buy the tractord’hecampesinosvould then have some control over

use and costs. Soon they would be able to have some independence andatbdiaild

life for the peasant3.his AIFLD and AID activity did not thrill the landed classor the
military government that collaborated with that group of landowners. | remember the
Labor Minister, a Colonel in the armed forces (the government was arynilita

government headed by President and General Fidel Sanchez), expressed his disaccord

clearly. He told me something like,Cr e agan, I know what you are
are building unions and wmiians fiaNreentrastlel ehqpavle i
thatyou signed our bilateral agreement&Dpr ogr ams o. He was not mo

noted that he still knew what we were doing. The Minister was about right in his
concerns, bcause we were buildirgpops, that would become in effect rural labor
organizations and whose strategic purpose in our minds was to be one of the building
blocks of pluralism and of democracyhd individualsvould no longer owgheir very
existence to the landlord bwith the Coops woultiave some independendéatwould
affect everything, even performance at a ballot ISmxwe were doing good thingbhe
labor attaché was an interesting and even vital position.

Mike Hammer and his wife and Gw and I(we both had little boys)ould go down to

the Pacific beaches andveapicnics on Sunday and have Spanish tortilla and all of that.
Mike was late(1980)murdered in Salvador by those who werehiedthugs of

military governmentsvhich deeply opposedbor and the development of rural
cooperatives and unionlike was utally murderedHis child, the little kid thatplayed
with our Kevinon the beach, grew up to join the Foreign SerJitide Hammer has

been our spokesman at the State Departrinhas been at tidSC andAmbassador to
Chile.t 6 s i nt er elbwed msgdadh mamy ways. Oh,dike Hammer and |
did good in El Salvadoilherefore, to your questioithe Labor Attaché hadaertain
powerand had some valuable Aldoneyto use

Whenl arrivedwith wife, child and my sistert wasbarelythree week&efore tle

outbreak ofthesc al | e dwaibd d dccsercr azy because just co0mi
observing whastavwe ngoorien gt hoattiersientdi 6§ 6t | Er omt bof h i
embassies. Now, being in San Salvador, | thought the embassy in Edgacigs

worse. Enbassy Salvador was reporting on angpathizingvith the Salvadoran

situationi therewere many Salvadorans in Honduras being expelladyellow

journalism from TV to press exacerbated the situation. It was sai8adhatdoran
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womenwere being raped anareasts cut ofby Hondurans in the process of driving
Salvadorans out of their countifonduransvere described as a brutal peojte.

Honduras obviously countdrarges were made and it was said that Salvadorans took jobs
belonging taHonduransandundermining thdivelihood of HonduransYou may
remembethat the two countries wene preparation for the World Cugnd played soccer
games in the respective capitals. Th&yed in Tegucigalpa, Honduras, and the
Hondurans wonwWhen theyhad a repeat match in S8alvadoythe Salvadorans won.

Now | remember the Salvadorans kept the Honduran team alekight before the

gameby banging pots and pansitside the hotel. And so when war broke out it was the

A Gu e rlifFa t dmwcause ofaccer rivalry Actually it was a classic kind of wavith

a base immigratory patterns and resentments and a prejudice based on almost, tathing
which builds ugn response to irresponsible media and leaderBaiph side wanted to
protect itself agairisa possible preemptive strike by the other. The Salzacted

first. They flew over Tegucigalpa one night afrdppedbombsfrom aDC3. They hit a

little bit of the airportand | was told that thelyit the American schoolsawell. It was

night, so ndody was killedat the school. Thelonduranswiftly reactedl remember

being in the embassy when cables came in saying that planes had taken off from
Toncontin Airport angwell, since it was 45 minutes to Salvador sure enough in come the
planeslt wasvery strange because the Hondurans had Navy Corsairs, World War |l
Navy CorsairsThat is &ind of heavy plane.

Q: A big plane.

CREAGAN: And theycame over San Salvador and stakiethbingthe airport and
elsewhere. The Salvadorans sent up it Musangs This wasthe last timeNorld

War Il aircraft were in war and in ddightsi Corsairsvs Mustangs Justamazing |

think the Salvad@ms had 12 P51s arnide Hondurars had about 15 of théaval

Corsairs Then we counted the ones l08nheP51 made & way into Guatemala and then
it wasdowned.Then in Nicaraguanothemwas downedOnewent out over the sea and

crashedOther bad things were happenihgb m si tting i n my embassy ¢
of the first attack and | get a call from the ESSO ®ifri nery guy and he sai
at the oil r e f Kaloenr.The Nawy ICorsaiy had=condeénadropped

bombs and hit his oil tanks and blew the hell out of thdioWh er e ar efi@buy, 0 | s

| 6m underi Qkhadherdowas HevastatioReople lost lives; thousandsere

lost. What did the embassies2@Ve worked to stop the fightin§o we communicate
back and forthactingasgdb et weens t o the parRrasieest i n conf | |
Sanchez thior President Lopez saysathif President Sanchez willdogh ot Wee r 0 .
tried to getthe warstopped Bill Bowdlerwas our ambassadddver in Honduras there
was a c¢ harltpiek it das deaiVikk owsks Bill Bowdler was terrific We

worked to get the OA8rganization of America Stateyquickly involved ando stop

that war.l feel proud that we were able to stop that war within 48 hbesause real
people were being killedrhousands were being killed by stupidifjhe Salvadorans
invaded a corner dlonduras and then ggbt stuck So with the Organization of
American States ants observers at the bordere were able to stop that onehink the
OAS did good.
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Another thingthat was strange in its way.aWadour MILGROUPtraining militaryin

that Cold War context to fermff, Il d o n 6 t  k h @Sevietirvasiorperhaps and to

make the military more professional. It is complicated, since these were military
governments and we were pushing for democratization in some wegtsisTanother

story. In any case our MILGROURasexperienced in dealing with the military officers

and the troopgdowever, when war with the neighbor broke out, the U.S. needed to, if
anything, restrain. ¥ u  cga to 6ethow your boys are doindg remember a Glonel

who was involved toomuchwit t he Sal vadorans in war readin
to see howitheir guy® were doingon the frontImagine the issue. And there are troops

on the other side also trained by the U.S. Not a good picture. Our Ambassador had to step
in and send the Colehhome, back to the U.S. Hied that.l was always proud to serve

with Ambassador Bill Bowdler.

Bowdler also is responsible for my continuing in the Foreign Service after 1970. (I served

until 1999). We were in El Salvador in 1969 and 1970. Lots of s$himgre happening in

the summer of 197@lso personallyGwyn had a tragedy in the familjHer younger

brother not even 18 years gldrashed a plane with another young bodlgey died. That

was devastating for the mom and for the fanfig.we thought mae we should be back

in Texasto help outAnd then there were political views and feelings on Vietridmon

had invaded Cambodidghere were killings by National Guard at Kent State (near my

home town). Turmoil in th&tates] was of the feeling that gear after te destructive

war between Salvador and Honduras and with stagnation in the political and economic
areas,how much can one really be doing here in El Salvador when the action is in the
States| thought | could do more for everyone back atuhwersity. | applied for and got

a job as tenure track assistant professor at Texas ASd/! told Bill Bowdl e r I 6 m

|l eaving the Foreign Service, labdhhagesomen g b ac k
experienceThe action is in the U.S. Oh, | remeenthat the university job paid more for

nine months than the Foreign Service did for twelve. Bowdler saitde | | l etds get
approved by |l WasahidngticNoBd wldew Uoekedvad ditgfi be av e,
| et 6 s Agree totgh odesave withot pay. It costs you nothing but keeps you on the

rolls.1  wi | | tell Washi ngt on t hlahing swassabaattto t hey n
be assigned to Bogota, which would have beenBagota, Columbia would have been
fun butl had to dothe universty. So Bowl er says, ADonot qui t,

make sure you get leave without pay and then after a year at the university you can
decidewh at tlo sdco .dg nASVéehatis whaolklid wentdtackandtaught at

Texas A&M. | discoveredhat | really wanted to be the foreign affairs practitioner before

| returned to academia. (It was a bit boring at A&M). Bowdler was rigfier a year |

sai d, Al really want Thenl pldyed agame withtlee Fétedgn e i gn S
ServicePer®nnel. Personnel saiYou can come back and we hav
you. | t I's provinci al adviser in theaMdkonGr Pal
can | Dbri Aggomyowi £t a@idWe Iblr iln gd ohrfeortheroweahad t hat .
a little fight andit was to be resolved by the Director General. My personnel officer

stopped me before what might have been an argument with the DG and faskedw

about IL awassi?d, A Ok ayiA WdIl6ll |,a cgtoal atdd daro&it. ohave a
place in LaosSol et us think. We will call you in a
house in Ohio with wife and child when they called. OK, we have we have three
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possibilities If you come back into the Foreign Service we will send you to Addis Ababa

as labor attachér we will send you to Lagos, Nigeriar we will send you to Rome,
ltaly. of fis &ivame it he we ek end Welhthen htoldhnky witedbout t

It

thet hree possibilities and she s aonedandyduY o u

t el |l t hem IRosnei, d,l tfaNgy, obut Addwel | didlza b a
them back and took her advice. So, le# Salvador in 1970, taught at Texas A&M the
academic yeanf 1970 and 197&andthen came back into the Foreign Seevin the fall

of 1971 We were sent to Italy.

Q:Before we | eave this what turned you
teaching?

CREAGAN: Okay, well one thing that turned me off was the towle.drove all the way
backfrom San Salvadao theStates by the way and then | drove up to Texas A&N4

in Bryan/College Station Texatove the Aggiesl left Gwyn in San AntonioWhen |
called her fronTexas A&M, about 130 milesorth-east of San Antonid, s ai d, 0
want you to know that Texas&M is a lot further away from San Antonio than San
Salvadoror Mexicois from South Texas. The culture is totally differémryanwas
totally Anglo in those years, thvgasl970.1 nd talking about the university aride
townspeopleOnen ei g h b o rnbwasiceouménree a Yankee and
to be a Yankee and you will never be one of s O K nThéregvashdigarimination
against Hispanics and obviously Blacks, | would say for.yewife, who looked

Latin, actually feltsome antiHispanc discrimination when we lived thereh& town was
a small towrand by the waya dry town; you had to go to the next county for the liquor
store if t Buathedusiversitmpas a goadnsolid, strong universitiyl all
male in 1970 justgoing coed and abouil5 to 18 thousandgtudentsThe President was
a General, as had been the case. It whexent culturefrom what you experience
today, with a universitpursting at theeams witd5 thousanar sostudens, nore than
half of themwomenSo | di dndt yamr Eexalag the ptatedahatdwould r
want to develomnacademic careem fact, had | stayed in academia | would have
worked hard to go to Uih Austin,where they had a big Latin American program and
where it wouldhave been more in keeping with my intere¥tsu know Texass big and

t here ar e slikerthe &adn Anfoaia agbsuth Fexas.|

Q: Okay, well let me make my announcenigotlay is the 30of May 2013 an interview
with Jim CreaganJim, you wereff to Rome at some time in the 1970s.

CREAGAN: Right, okay.

Q: When did you go and how long did you serve th&ré?e n we wi | | é
CREAGAN: Okay.Well that was a break because | had taken a year in academia as a
professor at Texas A&MIhen the assignmentas Rome as assistant labor attadinat

would have been the end of I9%hen | went to Washington to take some Italian t@ado
kind of FSltransfercourse from anish to ItalianSo | took some weeks thareDC. It
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was tough because | had no per di&éhere was no daycare; so Gwyn could not
accompany to class. | had to fight with landlords and get cheap diggings at month to
month rate. The landlords did ke Foreign Servicpeople

Q: Oh yeah.

CREAGAN:I f t hey knew you wetheghadmointeesting t o st ay
making things workWe stayed at a place calledrchmontVillage, buteverybody

called it ARoachmonto. Police were regularly
was shot while we were there. Lots of loose guns aroundievent he 197006s. We v
the apartment from September till January, | think, after which we went to Rome. It was

February of 1972. Kevin was then three years old. He was born in Mexico and was a

Mexican citizend as well as U.S. of course. You might sag, a child born of

diplomats is not a citizen of the country in which he is born (Vienna Convention).

Mexico however, did not abide by théeenna ConventionSo if you are born in Mexigo

you are a Mexican citizen, like it or nethich brings up interéisg aspects for

diplomatic immunityaffecting theparents having a kid born in Mexicim any case it

was mostly oko have a Mexican passport for the little b&byn addition to the U.S.

Diplomatic passport.

In February we flew to Rome. My boss metatishe airportand off | went to work.

Gwyn is very good at languages so picked up Italian. We had a small embassy apartment

for temporary use in the Parioli section of Rome, the Via Caroncini. Gpgnt her days

walking up and down the streets of RomeHling for the signs thatould show an

apartment for reniWe found one, and waoved in on the north side of town above the

Milvi anBridge, the Ponte Mio, on what they called th€assia Antica. The rent was

very reasonable (you had to pay for yourrapants in those days out of an allowance),

but the ficharge for curtainso took more than
the landlord paid his taxes based solely on the basic rent he charged.

So | then began to get into the labor businksgas the middle of th€old War and we
wereworking with the Christian Democratic trade unions and the Social Democratic
trade unionsThe unions, like everything else in Italy then, weineded based on

political party.There were two television statigrfer example, one Christian Democratic
and one Socialist. Later a third, for the Communist Party, came on.

The ambassador was Graham Marfity boss was arofessional, a wonderful guy
Tom Bowie. Tom hal been a traditional labor attaché and before tifatpursewas in
the army in the war. He had long been involved with Italy and knew the siescafthe
trade union movement he Italians were advancedtirade union influence and action.
The Italian economic miracle had taken place t h e Ithl@vBelt &ran apasivar
disaster caused ldevastation of warAlso it had beer highly agricultural country
With the miracleof he | at e ,th&Nbrh ofdtalydin parécOla was booming.
Sothe trade unions fought tget their share of ggrowingeconomic pieStrikes were
rampant. There were many kinds of strikes and some very creative métheais.
fascinating to go to Milan, to go to Turin to see how the metal workers opefated
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sciopero a singhiozzor fihi ccup dntenestirlg pheromenasedcby then

metal workers of the three trade unions. It was a moving strike that would paralyze a
plant but the worker might stop only for 15 minutes each along an assembly line. The
plant was down; the workers got docked for 15 misatiestrike. The unions were

causing us political headaches. While the Communists were kept out of government, in
the unions th&€hristian Democratic Union, the Social Democratic Union and the
Communist Uniormoved forward with ainity pact.Since we wouldot talk to the
Communist unions, we had an interesting dance t&ddots of fascinating thingsere

going on which got you into, of course, the domestic U.S. political scene as well.

Q:Let 6s t al k ab o uWhattabout s thefirst pkeodid gou fee theg t h .
heavy hand of the American AFL/CIO on the direction of your reporting or what you
should be doing or all?

CREAGAN: Yeah, there was a heavy hand/estern Europe was the primary zone of

post war and Cold Watontention So when you thik AFL/CIO you think of those

struggles.Jay Lovestone who halleen a founder of th€ommunist Party U.S.A.

completely flipged and became a virulent, if that is the word,-aathmunist. When |

was in the embassy in Italy, Lovestone headed the Internatelatibns Department of

the AFL-CIO. His sidekick was Irving BrowrAnd as | say, far more than Mexico and El

Salvador Western Europe was the real zone of conterdspecially for Lovestone and

Brown. So AFL/CIOwasvery much involved and in Italy frorthe 1940s ontrying to

ensure that the Commursddid not prevail. Now the Communists had the largest trade

unionsin ltaly; so were powerful both economically and politicallyhd AFL/CIO was

working with and through the U.S. governmémpen and clandése) to try and build up

these democratic trade uniohLhristianDemocratic and Social Demod@tThe AFL-

CIO presence was always there in what we did. My boss, Labor AffachéBowie felt

the pressures a lot more than.measthe young Foreign Seice officer just looking out

there to report thingas they were. We had unwritten orders hetin touch with the

CGIL (Communist Trade Union Confederatiayys.Now the head of the metal workers

wasvery interesting. Buno Trenin, with whom | then dedlin later yearsHe was tough,

innovative and working very closely with the Christian Democrat and Social Democrat

trade unions. By not talking with him we tied our hands in both the information area and

in any good influence. Trentigraduated from Cortie as | recall, and he really hauh

American experienceAnd there he was thevery clever head of the Communist Metal

Workers Unionand we had our haenrdtsa cttibedpadel ypertyh e fino
contact with Communist Party people only in the 1a&t® 6 s when | did so
Naples. To your question, the ARLIO had a great deal of influence over the USG and

practically determined our labor policy at tistate Department and, of course, the
Department of Labor The Secretary owWas &directcendlstfrdmabor Ad
the AFL-CIO to the Secretary. Of course the AELO had other twavay channels with

the CIA. That is for someone else to chronicle.

So, the laborAdviser to theSecretary of Statevasvery much in line witithe AFL/CIO

positonfand t ook the Administratiehadnpmablent i on b ac
with that.By the way, the Christian Democrat metalworker unions, headed by the radical
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Pierre Carniti, were more action oriented than the communist ursongu had a real
militancy in the Christian Democraiss | think they tried to Iz theCommunistsThey
were quicker to call for strikes. Antey developethose creative strikes, whereby the
worker couldstrike for 15 minutes and thénp a s s i t theoassembly/fiewdas h a t
shut down the whole daas everybody does their fifteen minutesemember the metal
workers trade unions exported to Brakilememberearslater talking with Lula in
Brazil (he was a trade union leader in Saol®aefore becoming president Bfazil). He
had been working witthe Italian trade unionsn such creative things.remember his
offices had posters from the FHRISL (Christian Democrats) on the w&flo | guess to
answer your questiglyes,the AFL/CIO was very important inoth USGlabor policy
and in the actions of the U.S. diplomats abroad. Call it pluralism at work in our
democracy.

Q: How about the ambassadoY?hat was his role on that sort of thing?

CREAGAN: He was a characteGraham Matrtin, ared Ni X o professionall think

he had been out ifihailand and as you recall he was the last ambassaddietnamin

1975and carried the flag off the roof of the embas$y.gotthe Romejob because

Nixon had come to know hinklis approach wat® favor theback channela

conspratorial kind of guyDuring his tenure there were severaicstied right wing

scandal s, even involving supposed fAcoupo plo
remember that t hfeagdightts @ nida e vewnl iitnieoa l i nfl
once went to a campaign rally of the | eade
The | eader was Giorgio Almirante, who had
cabinet. The rally was in the Piazza Navona, and the piazza was absolutely jafethed
pushed and squeezed by a crowd too big for the piazza. It is good that there was no
violence. In any case that was the tinel972 and 19738 in Rome. In working with
Washington, | think Martin went around the Secretary of State, William Rogerfaak
channeled to the White House. He liked to get briefed by us. He once said to me to write
a particular report to him, and he would take care of informing Washington. One always
had theampression that he reallyad the inside knowledge but did neveal anything.

An interesting fellow indeedHdeonce askethe , AWhy di d you ?bot he
mean they are dealing with us, we are the big powewasd s pea k H&Engéai d h.
wor k s fTlat botheeed me because | was very proud offlgestudiechard and

learned Italianl worked every day in ItaliarMost of the labor leaders | dealt with did

not speak English, with the exception of the aforementioned communist deaalith

whom we could not talk. As | think back, Martin was playinighwne, but that was his

style. DOfferent and distantde was replaced by John Volpe.

r
be

r | e
oDl t

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: John was, of course, a real charaadrasic fellowHe had Volpe

Construction Compangnd hadeen governor of Massachusetts wel | as Ni xono s
Secetary of Transportation. Volpe loved being Ambassador and spent a lot of time with

U.S. political figures, and especially the old Massachusetts group. He spoke an Italian

that was a derivative, | would think, of the Abruzzese dialect, Abruzzo beinggibe re
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where he was born. He was kind of hard to understand when he spoke lItalian, actually

very hard to understantdremember onctaking the Socialist metal worker leader,

Giorgio Benvenuto, to see Volpe. Volpe offered us cranberry juice. After all chiecea

governor of Massachusetts. Now, Benvenuto was cutting edge metal worker leader with

lots of rank and file support. He wasry sophisticatedand as | recall heorea cape.

Not your rough style U.S. labor leadereWalked a whileNot sure if eveybody

understood everypbodAs we wal ked back to the elevator
me Creagan, are there no Itaamthe U.S. fomMi | aWweR, that was pretty direct

criticism of the U.S. approach of naming an kalmerican as Ambassador.

Q: YeahWell you were there in Italy at that time between when and when?

CREAGAN: That would have been | thifkomF e b r u ato tlye swnmeér of974 |

was then assigned to Peru as Labor Attaché and deputy of the Political Section. In 1973,
Tom Bowie wadransferred and | was Acting Labor Attaché until 1974, | think. Then

Ernie Nagy,a great guycame in | stayed with him fosome monthand was then
reassigned. Ilwad 7-d 77 i n Per yljustdicect trandferrdd to iget thedel. |

c an 0t berwhene did the home leave, later | think, for sure later.

Q: Well now looking at the political scene how interested were your contacts and labor
unions and elsewhere in youfhean were they in the United States.

CREAGAN: Are we talking about Rometally?
Q: Well were they interested in having good contacts with the American Embassy?

CREAGAN: They were Andwe were out there every day working on different things.

Of course, as you recall, you do things like attend labor congrasdiss of meetigs,

highly political meetingsThere wasdts of reportingso | was an integral part of the

political section(and | attended all meetings of the economic section as well, doing
economic reporting on the impact of labor and the economy) Washwgouey

interested in what was going on in Italshe Cold War, of coursevas on and there were
significant fears that thEommunist Partylinked to Moscow, could take the government

0 and by using the vote itself. It would be the fiiste in the world thah Canmunist

Party would be voted to office by means of free and fair elections. Washington feared
that Italy could go the way of Eastern Europe.a3ot of concern back in Washington as

to how things were goindigain, as | mentionedhe Christian Demorattrade unions

and theSocial Democratrade unions, which were close to us, at the same time were
building a unity pact with the Communi st tra
bargaining power for better wages and working conditions. Ideologeadlypractically

this was dangerous in the Cold War era. The good guys working with the Communists? It
drove U.S. labor crazy. The unity pacts weregisponse to thikalian economic miraclg

which had been very beneficial for business, for employers;dditional elites.

Organized workers feleft behind Working together the unions intended to rebalance

the labor share of the economic pie. Lots of Washington interest at all the agencies,
including theCIA, in what was going on. A largaolitical secion, including labor, did
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lots of reportingOh, we did lots of other engagement. | remember choosing a young

mid-l e v e | | abor | eader for what we called fAl ea
would spend 30 days or so and we would work to influencéueefcountry leader by

enabling them to get to know the U.S. under great circumstances. Franco Marini went on

to head the Italian CISL unions and the Christian Democratic Party. He became a major

political figure. It was typical. By the way, in the pd@dbld War era Washington lost
interest, as it should have, in the intricac
running for third no longer meant much in the global scene. But it did in my time at the

embassy.

Q: It was very controversial but digbu personally have any feeling about thecatted
opening in the | eft in other words, to recog
Communists?

CREAGAN: Yeah, | mean that was controversidy the time | got there the first
flopening to thé e f t 0 SocidlistPartyénehe part of Christian Democrats, had
already occurred. That was wheresident Kennedyas in office By the early 1970s
there was thgreat concern with the Communist Party gaining influefitere was a lot
of attentiveness to thandefforts to keep the CD and Social Democrat and Socialist
parties i n Thtat ds Swh yi,o théediwascconcermileainebea contact
would adversely affect party. If embassy officers were seen talking with then@anist
Party officials,or in our case the trade unigitswould somehow indicate to the Christian
Democrats and the others that it was time to deal. Now the most imgeatintinion
leader of Italyin those yearsvasLuciano LamaHe was head of the CGlINow we
viewedhim asMr. Moderate, and he would be in the category ofctimeentlitalian
PresidentGiorgioNapolitang who was als@ leader of th€ommunist PartyWe could
not talk with Lama however, andsbmebody thought you had contact with thémat
would be a perswl problem for Mr. Labor Attach&he AFL-CIO would go for his
headSo thatodos one kind of sensitivity.

On the political side, there was great sensi
compromi se0 bringing i nt anDRemaratgand er nment ar e
CommunistsSol think back to the later years of that same decade in Italy in Naples with

Ernie Colantonias Consul Generahdthen with you, Stu. ¥u remember Richard
GardnewasAmbassadorTheCommunist Partyvas making deals at dédfent levels

with the Christian Democratg/hen IlwasnRomei n t he ear |l wasad70s Andr e
major figure in the Christian Democratic Pairtg major figurewho wasconservative

andplayed with the U.S. in a way that the secrefivebassador Graham Martliked.

|l td6s amazing t he di.fFafleftrogpostien groupgjpussolianda f ew vy e
autonom) began creating havoc even in 1973 and 1974. The unrest came out of the Paris

May (1968) and the IlItalian fhneatwavaoft umno of 1
strikes and demonstrated all across Italy, bringing down governments and winning

significant gainsl always attended the Labor Day demonstratiaoriRome.May 1was

an important day and one celebrated from Moscow to Mexico with Marxists and

Communist Parties playing key roles. | would go to St. John Lateran, where the three

labor federations in Italy would stage the dawg rallies. Normally, families would turn
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out as well. B 1973 and 1974 th&utonomiwere bringing violence: street clasiveish

police, the shattering of windows and chaos. The discipline of the trade unions and PCI
led rallies was breaking down. The far left groups were ablgdak havoc in
neighborhoodsear St. John Lateran and the center city of Rome, Milan and elsewhere
So that was a concern andthat break down in order increased, the oldn@wunist

Partyand the majority parties increasingly worked together to bring order.

Q: Did you see a liberal wing sort of a European EX@ommunism developing at that
time?

CREAGAN: Yes,the Italian Communist Party (PCI) became [daler of a Euro
Communistgroup (included Spain led by Santiago Carrillo but not Portugal led by

Alvaro Cunhal)a EureCommunist grouphat accepte®lATO andwasnot linked tightly

tothe Soviet Uniorthe way the elders had bedth at was happening right
0 7 3 ,. Thé HCA Secretary was Etw Berlinguer. He was a charismatic and attractive
leader. As a sidebaryémembemalking up the hill near my house on Sunday for mass

at the nearbytwrch. Often, there was PCI chief Berlinguer, outside the church talking,
reading the paper and politickingisHvife wouldbe inside at mass. | would pass him by
(especially since | was not permitted to talk with PCI officials thereby missing some great
opportunities for a bit of info gathering) agd into MassHe wouldstay outside and talk

with the folks.So yeahthis was becoming a quite different kind of Communist Party
without that loyalty, if you will, to MoscowThat, however, was not the undarsting in
important Washington circles, which saw no differentiation between one Communist
partyi or even Socialist partiy and another.

Q:Well did you sense that you may Slded t he bel
in so far as how it workedVas it more theory?

CREAGAN: | think after you had had the Italian Communist Party oppositioneto

Sovietcrackdown in Czechoslovakia in 196Bings changedlhe Italians at that point

werelooking tof i rgaod governmenst and wi t h o uuption.Well,invi dual cor
Emilia Romagna (Bologna/Parma area) there was good local government. It was run by

the Comnunist PartySothere was #ot of interest on the part of the Italians in doing

things differently andhe PCI was giving good local example.

Q: What aboui againwe are sticking to the period yowere there the first time in Rome
T what about the Red Brigades and terrorism and that sort of thifngit was going on?

CREAGAN: The threatvasbeginning You had clashealsobecause you still had a

residue; | guess you could say, of the MSI from Mussolini.dagd said, | recall

specifically the rally in 1972, 1 think, at the Piazza Navona where MSI leader Almirante

drew the crowds. Per hap goodsol aegsbgforedNpilde r e me mb e
Warlland Mussolini 6s f aheeadwdsavereimmensea@andWwi t h Hi t | e
remember being crushed by the crowd in the Piazza Naxotiae same timegand partly

in response to told Right, thestudent movemestbecame more radical. They

A

increasinglysawviolenceasthe keySo it wasno6t bRehhttiBycallgdades vyet
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theautonomi It was the@ncreasing violence and a step towtrd kneecapping

kidnapping and the killings of the Red BrigaBey t he mi d 19706s the Re:
going stromgy. But what | remember is the beginningstddll. It was of greatoncern.

Also, thenationaltrade union leadersere concernedbout being able to control the

radical trade unionand the workers the nortlernsteeland automobilenills.

Q:Wasthee much in the way of spillover from eve

CREAGAN: Yeah, | think there was pretty directimpdct. can 6t say from per
recoll ection because | didnét get there unt.i
was that thestudent nmvement became quickly Europearde. Of course, in the U.S. the

anti-Vietham War movements had mushroomed, Kent State killing of students had

happened and all that. The Italian populace had urbanized since the war and the youth

were becoming radalized both to the right and left but mostly the left. Again, after the

Paris May of 1968rad the uprisinghere, action moved to Italy with the labor strikes and

t he @hot 1%3% Traderumionists, fas | sayere getting out froncontrolof their
leadershipNothing is of greater concefar a leaderwhether he is a Communist trade

union leader or a Christian Democratic trade union ledlkan a loss of control over the

rank and file.

Q: Ah yesWell it was sort of in many ways the last stahthbor reporting within the
Foreign Service wasnot it?

CREAGAN:I t hi nk that 6s Whenglltame itoyhe Boleign Serbiceo | ut el y
in 1966 there was a labor attaché psim expansionbecause it was seen as really very
important inthe Cold Wa andEastWest struggle and that medfurope, but also Latin
America. Those who had been Labor Attachés went on to become ambassadors. In my
small cohort of four, two of us became ambassadofer reasons other than, but

including, the labor officer exgsience. My favorite recollection of the importance

regards Ben Stephansky, Labor Attaché in Mexico in late 1950s /early 1960s. President
Kennedy is said to have been talking with the President of Mexico, Lopez Mateos, who
commented that the Foreign Serviafficer who really understood Latin America and

Mexico was Ben Stephansky. Lopez Mateos had been Minister of Labor before becoming
President and knew Stephansky. Kennedy is said to have asked, who is Stephansky? He
then told State to make Stephansky assbdor. There was resistance because he was a
FS 3 (like a FS)1 after the changes). Not a senior officer. Stephansky got Bolivia. Two
points: One, the president gets to nominate whom he wants as ambassador; and two, the
Labor Attaché corps was doing vitabrk and in touch with the pulse of countriBsit |

think you arerightBy t he 19 8 0 0ftertteeerdl of¢che Cald AMarnwvizene noa
longer interested in domestic politics the same wag Republican administrations, as

well as the times, wereohkind to the U.S. Labor Movement and its influence declined
across the board, including within the Foreign Service.

Q: Well the antiCommunistdike Jay Lovestone?
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CREAGAN: Yeah, sure, he was still very much a part odntd for Western Europe
waslrving Brown.

Q: Irving Brown too, yeah.

CREAGAN: Latin America was different because therehae AID funds for the
Alliance for Progress.n Latin America you ha@lAID/labordo  mo n ewere doig
different thingdike training labor leader©ne couldconsiderEurope and Latin America
as part othe great overall struggle bwe weredoing different things.

Q: Did you feel that this was you might say a good path to follow labor reporting at that
time?

CREAGAN: At that time yes, yes | did, | thoughtwias fascinatingl. thought it was
meaningful For mewith abackgroundn political sciencetwice a professoiit fit in
terms of reporting and trying to analytieseemed vitalalso because Washington was
interestedEven a guy likeAmbassadoGrahamMartin would alwaysndicate much
interest in what was going am labor/political matters.

Q: How about th&/iethamWar?How stood we when you were there with\etnam
War?

CREAGAN: In Italy at that time?

Q: No.

CREAGAN: Is that what you mean?

Q:Had we pulled out or é

CREAGAN: Well, in Italy there was littlesupport for the/iethamWar out among the

Italian populace and certainhptamong the trade unionSo | would gesolid negative

commentary, if you will, from the leadeBut, alsq we hadmoved beyond, because this

i's t he -peédBthedaris Pedce negotiatio®® Kissingemwasin Paris and it was

a time when the furor artieanttA mer i can aspects which woul d h
069 a-6dwer@ FaBt andeople were lookingotvard settlemenh Vietham After

all Kissinger and his North Viethamese counterpart got the Nobel PeacesBnze

were kind of wrapped up in that as wéil 1973it wassign it, wrap it and get out.

Q: How was Italy doing in your estimation at th@é¢ both politically and economically?

CREAGAN: Yeah, it was doing well, if we think about the prior periddis is one
reason labor was so assertive because Italy had donéitedlall if you looked around
people had been moving from their bicycleshemotoring to the Fiatc00s and 850s to
the Alfa Romeo and Fiat 124h&re was progress in societydFiatwas a model of the
Italian miracled producing lots of jobsriatwassuccessful and other industrigsre
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successfulYou had in those yealabor turmoil,becausét was a time o growing
economy. Labor wanted its shar¢hink about at that time the largest trade union was
the metal workers uniofFIOM) of the Communist Partynions,the CGIL Times

change. Now th&argest trade union isi¢ pensionerd#t that time there walsope So the

e ar | yaswhelyou had some conflibutit waswith optimismfor change as well.
Unions were successful. They could shut down the automobile plants and they could
make a government fall with the geakestrike. They did that. Gains were made and more
were wanted. And there wesggns on the horizothat the political system was breaking.

It is hard to have a working democracy when almost one third of the vote (PCI) cannot
count because they are exaddormally from the national government. Then came the
Red Briga@s and Europeawide terrorism | t  wa s ;ré@nembgrahsnttheret al y
were the German Baadbteinhof, Red Army Faction and the others. At the same time
society was improving; people wegetting their own apartments, getting their own cars;
it was improving.Thosewho had nothing, and those whose parents Virera poor
agricultureand tenant farming in the South, Basilicat&Cafabria were themselves

doing much, much better.

Q: How abaut the other politicalgmea nd t hat 6s within the embass
embassy and you canét hel p b uHowddyaudindt hat t he
the embassy?

CREAGAN: U m, asicadlyl féusd s/ eoleagudBeally cooperativel. mean

we had ayood groupl especially related to the mrdnk officers and in the various
agenci es. HS@4adsandard kine of rahiée were econ guys, political

guys intelligence. Thergvere a bunch of ysnostly men for the obvious reasorigie

Foreign Service before the reforms of 1972. Although we had many agencies and military
groups in those years, it was not like twenty years later when the law enforcement group,
including DEA, were many more. 8\were working togethdor the good cawes What
happened at the upper levels wsametimes obviousVe hadfiMr. Ministerd Wells

Stabler who was very correefry stuffy,very traditional Hebecamembassador to

Spain. After Wells, who was with Graham Martin, we had Bob Beaudry with
Ambassadodohn Volpe. You mayemember BobWe called him Iron Pantsle became

the DCM andman he worked long, long, long hoursly bosses included Political
Counselor Bill Barnsdale, whom | liked, and Jean WilkowBkbn Minister Counselor.

She wassaid to belifficult, but | did not feel that. | sat in on the economic section
meetings, with the commercial attachés and treasury attachés as well, and | provided a
view and the economic statistics from labor. All in all, it wasally cooperative kind of
work amospherel was impressed with the quality and dedication of the people. We had
what wer e c al |iexpertd ontitalylwhoahad séhaed st\eral times there.
That kind of expertise was essential in the Cold War years. It was matched by the
Sovies. | remember Boris Gololobov, a Soviet embassy officer working the trade unions.
He had served two or three times in Italy. Ironic that, while | could not talk with the
Italian Labor Leaders who were in the PCI, | could invite to my howse didi Boris
Gololobov and wife. In some of our meetings | was joined by another political labor
officer. Oh, in later years after | had retired and was President of John Cabot University
in Rome, | would meet with the Russian Ambassador, just the two of us, ogkritunis
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grand Villa Abamelek, and talk about the days when we competed for the hearts and
minds and votes of Italian labor leaders.

Q: How about when Volpe was theré8u know there are all sorts of stories about
Volpe.

CREAGAN: Well, he brought his owguy, TomTr mar co, as a ki nd of fAC
so there were tensions there because you had a, ¥Gd/lafter all manages and runs

the embassyAmbassador Volpe came froatotallypolitical background and

construction company background as wstihewas not a traditional kind of career

Ambassador. Volpspert a lot of time meeting and entertaining pedpten the U.S. and
MassachusettSoh e 6 s at Vdldt. Beaudfy & vuaning the embassy, but

Trimarco i s the Amb\esetoaldmwodldbeptoechwithce at Vi a
Volpe or run out to the residence. | assume he came back with, if not instructions, ways

in which the Ambassador wished to proceed. Beaudry had to interpréidhatvas a

good guy; so the arrangement was not so eadyifoeitherl was a buddy of To
and saw him for what he waBob B. was clearly our boss in the embassy.di dndt get
wrapped up in thogeersonal aspectsremember one instance of directly responding to

Vol peds needs whichS.wepgel ictlieaall.y Tdmemrees twas Ua
convention in Trieste, and the U.S. was repr
Association (ILA) labor leaders from New York, Anthony Scotto and his cousin Anthony

Anastasio. Scotto married the daughtethef crime family king, Anthony Anastasio.

Vol pe |l et me know that he was dAout of towno
Trieste. Scotto was a university type guy (I later thought he was a model for Michael

Corleone in Godfather.) He went to prison fieajor labor racketeering. He also taught at
Harvard and was said to have been considered
figure.) | flew with the guys to Trieste. They made a lot of cracks about Italian men being
Aqueer so becaugeetrtyeypopuddrpumsdshe 197006s. I
did not carry it with me to Trieste.). One thing you could tell: Anastasio was more crude

and Scotto more cultured. Both were crazy tough. We met Italian longshoremen. We flew

back to Rome. Still n¥olpe. They flew away. | was glad. So, for me Rome was great.

We had one son, Kevin, when we arrived. Sean was born in Rome. We were lucky to

have managed to play the housing allowance into a neat apartment in a grand villa. Villa

Lontana. Swimming pool ahall. | think the actress Anita Ekberg and Tony Steele had a

condo there. Cool.

| think you asked about embassy conditions and morale and all that. Rome, like Paris and
other big posts, wasig, with dozens of government agencies and hundreds of

employes. In the days before the FLO and the CLO existed, one was expected to take
care of oneself and family and to adjust to the living circumstances. Invariably when
inspectos wouldcome aroungthe morale would not be as good in Romé asuld be

in placedike El Salvadowhere everybody joined together to meet the challenges of
hardship post s. IepyoRaenmeRomanathat isllikecbeingans , i

Washington, New York or wherevdrt 6 swodd-classqgi t y, youdbdbve got wha
need and yoareonyourowno T h at ceuldmoaiseimoraeproblems inthe
larger embases Again,l di dndét really feel that .
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Q:Welbt hen you | eft there iné

CREAGAN:Y e a h , |l think July 674 and then went di
political officer ard labor attaché

Q: What was the situation?ou were in Peru from when to when first?

CREAGAN:From1974 to 19771ltwasv er y di f f er egtartingtwithalte6 s f or st
weather It wasvery depressing to goom a beautiful Italian summer.oYl can piaire

Rome,Capri and Naplewith blue, blue skiesPeru in July was overcast addzzling

what they calfigaruad every day It stayed overcast from June to November. A steady 59

degrees both day and night. Grey. Depressing. The job was fascinatinga kivaof

political observeof an experiment in governing; a military government was engaged in

what it called the APeruvian Way to Socialis
interaction with the members of that military government. General &elasd a junta

that pulled off a coupld ta@ against the democratically elected governmeifeshando

Belaunde in 1968They asserted themselves and put their tanks through the ESSO oil

refinery, ITC they called itSo we had a government which was mijitdout not what

you usually think of as military and right wirag General Pinochet was next door in

Chile. This was a military on the pati thefiPeruvianway to Socialisra Theiraction

was expressed as basedtlo® Yugoslav modelSo, they expropriateprivate property

and created neW n at i o n aRFooexampld, thay toek ®ver the fish memlustry

whichwas in the hands of a few industrialists and call&egcaPeruPescaPeru

proceeded to overfistinchovetaand send the industry into declifieh at 6 s anot her st
Themilitary took over theoil and called it PetroPeru; the mines and called them

Mi neroPeru. There was EIl ectr oHumboldt, et c. They
Current and called it th@Peru Curreri . Wh 6o itmad very interésig observing

that and working irthe U.S. Embassy, dealing withis governmentAlthough we had

excellent contacts in the government (the career diplomats were always professional and
aware of Perub6s |l ong term i nsceietyedfcidly and i nt e
the GOP was inclined toward the USSR and Ciliba. SovietUnion was providing

arms, from tanks to jet fighters, and Cuban advisors had theirfaypressvastotally

censoredlt had been taken away from the publishers and the gvamerthen turned

over supposedly teeveral sectors of the populace, taenpesinosr small farmers had
onenewspape(El Commercid; the fiworkers had anotherl@ Prensabut, of course,

not really. The military government controlled all the pap8osyou had a situation of

censorshipAs apolitical reportefobserver wastrying to find out whatvasgoing on |

worked with my counterparts in theraeli embassy, the British embasagdthe Italian

embassyFelice Scauso and | would go to ralliestod tivilian opposition. | worked with

the bureau chiefs of AP, UPI, ANSA, Agence FraRcesse, etc. We weadl trying to

find out whatodéds goi ngrhedNew York @imesthey hawor ki ng t og
people; so again, from my point of view, very intéresindeed.

Q: At the embassy was the Soviet Union sort of running as top dog?

52



CREAGAN:Y e a h, and | di dn pexkcepdvehan we celelrdted détenteh t h e m
and space cooperation with mutual receptioil® Tubans, of course, were there and the
other regimes you would expe€@ne responsibility | had was to work with the civilian
opposition to the military governmerithere was thenajorparty, APRA, one of the

earliest Social Democratic parties in the hemisphattled by thgreat leade¥ictor

Raul Hayade la Tore. They had a lot of support among lalamdamongcampesinos

They had set up lots of cooperativ&bey were a partwell organized as a mass party

You could see traces of organizations that the Fascistéfdtayy might have you

could see the other traces of organizations that a Communist Party mighBhtthey

were the democratdlow they were never able to win electiphscause every time they
would win an election the military would pullgolpe de estadand kick them outMy
fascinating job was tdeal with themand with the Peruvian labor federation (CTP),

linked to the APRA. My military contacts would tell rfrem time to timethat the

government knew | was seeingydade la Tore. | replied that of course | was. | wdul

visit him at his home called Villa Mercedes on the road to the Andes. He told me that the
government tapped his phones, in fact all three military services were tapping the phones,
not trusting each other for readouts. | talk of military government ensoeship but they

did not shut down the APRA party affiliated agricultural cooperativedrade unions

The regime did put a lot of pressure on them.

Q: Well did you find wevere looking for Cuban influence there?

CREAGAN: Oh yeah, very mugland it was thereTherewere a couple things going on
Arms purchasesas | said The Sovied sold the Sukhoi 22 which wadairly advanced
aircraft andwvould supersede the%s. We wee concerned about that kind of thing
becausé whatwould they be used forh€ Peruviamgeneralsvere thinking about

working their way toward reversing the results of the 1879 War with GhilenChile

had not only taken part of Bolivia and cut Bolivia off from the Pacific but had taken part
of Southern Peruso the Peruvianshat is themilitary governmentwere preparing for

the possibility of redressing old grievanc&879was approachingo obviously wavere
very much concerned with these things and also, of course, the Soviet and the Cuban
influenceover the regime. One arple of the Peruvian military government paranoia, |
am sure fostered by Cubans, was the decision (in 1975 still under General Velasco) to
kick out the Peace Corps as spies. | remember writing up the embassy protest for the
Ambassador.

Then we werenterested in the squeeze that wesng put on democratic organizations

There was the effort tput thecooperatives out of businesBhe military government
ideologueshad implementedsomething whichmight even sound good in hypothesis. It

was the creationfdocial EnterprisesE§mpresas de Propriedad Sogiafs a basic idea

you and | get together and we set up this little enterprise; we make some nidrey.
profits, which theGOP ¢ aekcedentes i Asur pl uso dondt stay wi
to a governmet fund which is used to start up new Social Enterprises. Thus the jobs
increase and the society benefithie idea isinteresting and would work perhaps in a

perfect societyd or a monastery. Wat in fact happened that people did not work to

profit, since they could not keep it. This in contrast to the cooperative®BA. They
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actually might be set up mainly in agricultusein sugar cane or what have yothe

APRA cooperative profits went back to tleeoperative itselfand into a distribution
scheméd but among those who were actually in the Cdapit was interesting to watch
these so called experiments work or not wdrkthe end, of course, thgovernment
enterprisesailed and in the end the military governméaited. In 1975 there was a coup

d Ga®by one military generalagainst theother. 1 remember being in a meeting of
government ministers from the natigned movement around the world. During the
weeklong meeting of UNIDO the coup occurred. General Morales Bermudez had
overthrown Generaluan Velasco. The new leader appeared and told the ministers that
there was continuity. AThe same government t
There was symbolic continuity but real change. Morales was a moderate and war plans
against Chile werehelved after a time. Transition to civilian government also took place

0 not right away but in a few years. The civilian former president, Fernando Belaunde,
was permitted back in the country.

In fact, there is a story there. | met with Belainde andwiott h hi s #Ateamo | i k
press secretary, Mario Saavedra. My chief contact in the military government was an
army captain, Vladimiro Montesinos. He was at that time, | think, the aide to Chief of
Staff, General Mercado Jarrin, and he was associatédtiet left side of the military,
including Prime Minister and General Fernandez Maldonado. One day Montesinos called
me in and said the government did not want me (the U.S. Embassy) to meet with the
civilians like former President Belaunde. He said they plaotographic proof that | was
doing that. | replied that that is what weidmeet with the democratic opposition and the
civilians to also encourage them. That ended that conversation and Montesinos and |
continued to meet almost weekly it seems. Heegaw lots of information on what was
going on inside the GOP. | assumed that somebody up there wanted us to know.

Oneincidentl rmme mb er , I thinkmazheyi nat ekedrencéathe t
ri ots that convBodotszed C diladespiuseao the adsassination

of the Colombian liberal leader, Jorge Gaitanl1975 the policén Peruwere still from

the APRA Party They hadbeen on strikagainst the military government for days. So,

there were no police in this huge city, Linaametropolis of over 5 milliorA day went

by, two days went by and by the third daysomobswereforming and they began to

protest everythingThey began to burn building®n February 5l was downin the

center of Limawatching the protest withnfic o | | e g thelNéw York Times

Jonathan Kandell. fjot pretty violenttherend he sai d, AThis is no p
di pl olmea p b This id no place foNew York Timesreporters @e backed our

way out of there and he went to his office. Inthdsy s you di dn&ell have yolu
phone, and he had to return to the office for phone or telegraph connewtent.dack

to the embassyVell, themob continuedo grow and to burn buildings, including major

government offices of expropriated eqeses. The city burned and then the mob arrived

at the U.S. Embassyh&y moved on us; we, of course, got into safe rooms and had

Marines readyWe put on the gas masks. Some of the crowd came over the wall/fence. |

would say we were in imminent dangdust as somethingot good was about to happen

and we would have had to have marines aoyrad the corner came Soviet T55 tanks

that the Peruvians had boudidm the USSR. &t the first time in my life | remembeve
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were fAcheeri ngo faoks, asthe erond toskshe lim and medted e )
away.The tanks had their turrets moving back and forthantthey moved down the
street the riot at the embassy itself dissolved. Quoting me, the weatdiasoted the
words of an A mG@raciasa®dios pdrilopthnguasarusgsYid u c a n
conclude that the embassy was in a bad spatvard the center city. The riots and
looting went on all day and the reports were of over 100 dead and perhaps 1000
wounded. A curfew was put on. Oh, you can be duatthe embassy moved far away
from the center city.

Q: What happened?

CREAGAN: Well the embassyas just so obviously insecure that @xentuallybuilt a

newone far out and with physical protection.
under attack ongme. The explosives blew a hole in the wall. All were OK. We did not
move the residence. |l think we were more MfAca

kidnappings and all that in those years. | had friends kidnapped; our Ambassador to

Brazil was kidnapped asell. Our Ambassador to Guatemala was killed and my friend,

the | abor attach® kidnapped. One of my f or me
the U.S. media or public or congress reacting particularly strongly in most of those cases.

And it was always made clear to us that if kidnapped you were on your own. No U.S.

ransom. Expendable diplomats? It was clearly a different era. On the personal level, the
militaryds own insecurities and the rivalrie
As coup anctountercoup rumors percolated, things happened. At one point the navy

was said to be working with the air force to wrest power from Velasco and the army. The

navy went to sea. It was said that it could shell the city as threat. The air force could

strafearmy bases. But in the end, if calculating, it was clear the army would control. The

navy would not shell its own city and the air force would find army tanks on the air strip
should it take action. Soénada. Living under
fiLimazad wi th its 100 or so deaths and perhaps
point the curfew was as early as 8 PM. If we were out at a diplomatic function and did

not get going in time, you stayed in place till morning. | remember several tensentsom

with the military checkpoints after curfew. Son Sean had asthma as a little kid and he had

several late night attacks. | had to drive him to the hospital for emergency treatment.

Driving very slowly, with a white flag flying from the car antenna, wauld make our

way to the hospital. | really worried at the army check points. Nervous soldiers, not well

trained it seemed, and a tank pointing its turret at us. When we got to navy checkpoints

with sharp young officials and no guns pointed, we felt &éttier. One night bullets

came thru our bedroom window. | thought then that it was prudent to send Gwyn and the

kids back to the U.S. for a month or so (this was summer of 1975 before the successful

coup) . Of course we pai geMer that kind of de

Q: What was your impression of the military as far as the ruling capacity?
CREAGAN: They were supremely confident, certainly in the first yaasthe army

captain | often met with was a key example of thii. view was thaof the military
governments. (Athat time the militaryan Peru, Chile, Argentina, Uruguay and Brazil.
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The military in Peru had a differeitteologicalstancehan Pinochet in Chile but they

were all of the same formation.) A common idea was that the civilians were ineope

to run a government. No idea, for example, of strategic planning. ikihdres really

dondt have. Theyw ndits kinplwi rheo w t;theyhavékm t hi ngs wi
follow through they just sit around and argue in Congré&sanwhile terrorists (h

Marxist in orientation) run amol§o the futureas seen by the military governments was a

long term hold on power. Army Captain Montesinos used to talk with me about the

melding of Peruvian and Brazilian strategies, including a pathway (roads andvaysgr

connecting the Atlantic with the Pacific (This was 1975. That project may be coming to

fruition in 2016 or beyond.) Montesinos talked of the Brazilian General Golbery and

grand strategic ideas. Civilians would not be back running governments uh&ppehe

year 2000 or beyond. This wa875 In fact, the military was out of power in Peru by

1980. The incompetence was the8s.you had that kind of supreme confidence which

quickly, of course, camendone pecause thailitary and the civilian ide@gueswere

completely incompetent in running a countfie myriad of enterprises like PescaPeru

and MineroPeru busted. The more moderate General Morales Bermutignhedut the

swamp, if you will.Looking back, the kind of inteservice rivalries and éhtensions of

curfew in the mid 19706s that | discussed, d
confidence and capability in managing Peru.

Q:Letds see your ambassador in Peru was who?

CREAGAN: Bob DeanBob was a careguy, a good guyWe had BolDean and Dick
Barnaby was DCM and Lyle Lane after thafter DeanHarry Shlaudemarone of the

great Foreign Service officerbecame Ambassador. He was a LAtimerican type;

Harry had been assistant secretary for Latin Americagdebeen on the Domaan

Republic desk as | recall and after Peru washAssador in Brazil.was his political
counselor therdde hadalsobeen ambassador in Argentjrzad even Nicaragua. Harry
Shlaudemawwas ambassadad7 port hen 0dBthmwayltleftme 1 n Pe
Limato go to Napless political/econ counseland then lateHarry wasmy ambassador

in Brazil. | left Brazil to goas DCM tothe Vatican andHarrys ai d, fyGurleava g a n,
me for Naples and now you leave me for the Vaticahy\fe you alwaykaving me to
gotoltalyol s ai d, Hé Wed il ¢, ondérstaadal think. But my one European
tour was Romani a. Not the same. 0 By the way,
brought out the interagency inconsistencies and inequalities trscceasentment. For
example, in Lima goods were hard to comé lisom meat (15 meatless days a month) to
many goods. The military had a weekly flight bring ifor them onlyi groceries and

other goods from the PX in Panama. They also had mail delitte@ayh the APO

which we were not permitted to access. Our mail came through a really slow diplomatic
pouch. Remember there was no email or easy phone access. Regarding meat, it was
smuggled into the city in thieunks of carsand my wife would buy her na¢that way.

We also ate whale meat. Very bad and stinky in fact. Gwyn and friends organized a
protest, and they wrote a letter to Larry Eagleburger, who at that time was the Under
Secretary for Management. The women called for fair treatment and actiess BX
shipments and APO. Larry responded positively, and | think we put the squeeze on our
military (we had both MilGroup and Attachés). Or share or forget it for yourselves
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became the word. By the way, when wth went to
army captain and aide to the military leaders, Vladimiro Montesinos, he would order
Amilitary luncho and al ways got steak. Privi

Q: Well did you feel that there was a real threat of say a full scale Castrtakkeover?

CREAGAN:N o , | | tdoughtthings were upintheaiy;ou coul dndét say th
military were goingtofajjlbut it just didnét | ook to me | iKk
term or that Castroould really take advantage. And Peru is rdodr to Chile. After the

1973golpein Chile, things were clear. Now the Peruvian military badd relations

with Cuba and they dealt with the Soviets and all, thatt at the same time they were

very nationalist and they were going to stay very Peruvibaynever eliminated the

civilian opposition andespecially after General MoralBermudez overthrew General

Velasco who hadticked out the civilian governmemt 1968, the atmosphere took on

tones of transition. Morales let back in Perughesident o had been exiled, Fernando

Belaunde, so things were changinthihk the military could see by 1974 for sure that

t hings wer en 0 tforlgng temngnilitary ruleso, nokl dicdnettthink there

was a chance @lastralike takeover.

Q: How about say the British and French embassies were they playing any particular
role there?

CREAGAN: The Britishwerealwaysimportant and th&rench plagdFrench interests
The Isradk were there and, of course, the Cubans waetige. The Italians weralways
good reporters and | always thought the Brazilians were knowledgéabiei d n 6 t
exercisea lot ofinfluence They do now in that area, but the Braziliamkjle a colossus
of a neighbor and with military government, hadifferent culture So theones that
would have influence would be the Cold War bad gtlys USSR. China was rather self
isolating.

Q: How about the Vatican?

CREAGAN: The Holy See was intensely interested in Peru, also because the adherents of
liberation theology were centerecktl (and Brazil). | was friends with, and shared
information with the Auxiliary bishop, a Jesuit named Bambaren. He later moved up to
be bishop, in spite of what | am sure were Vatican Curia criticisms of his support for a
soft form of liberation theologyer. Gustavo Gutierrez, a kind of father of liberation
theology, was Peruvian and active. (I met him later at Notre Dame and we reminisced
about Peru in the 1970s.) Spain was active and even had their own labor attaché. They
were looking for more influende Latin America.What | forgot n noting the

government and diplomatic relations is that Velasco (until August 1975) and Prime
Minister/General Fernandez Maldonado and many others were very suspicious of the
U.S. The AD programand the Peace Corps wesymbols of U.S. influence. &eral

Velasco decided thalhe Peace Corps must go. And so, he kicked them out with charges
of being CIA and all that. iemember writing our rep)yand the ambassador used that.
Relations were frosty but never broken. It chethépr the better as the transition became
feasible.
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Q: How about Ecuador?

CREAGAN: Ecuador and Peru, of course, always had border difficuRresn time to
time it would break out into hostilities and the U.S. would have a very prominent role
becausdoth of them needed the OAS, the Organization of American States, to help
bring things to an end.hat meantin effect,they always needed the U.S. and Br&zd
Ecuador was there anike the rest of South America, under a military government. In
diffi culties with Peru there was alwaysense of nationalism and prid® tensionsBut
never did we think that would benaar as could have happened with Chile

Q: YeahDid you get any presidential or important visits?

CREAGAN: The one | remember most svdrs. Carter coming dowbecause | was
assignedtohe6Ehe and her groupéldm trying to remem
Madelyn Albrightbut she might have been with h&nyway she had this group of

women with her and then me, from the emba¥ggstayeda coupleor three days out

above Limaoward the Andesyhere actually the sunwould comeout The Aresort or
vill ageo was dsadyddeulthe@rwihrterand they brbught with

them Bob Past. Bob was the NSC guy for Latin Ameridake me he had been an

academic and did his PhD on Guatemala. It was kind of fun eating dinner and doing the

hosting duties with Mrs. Carter and groupe$®ld me she was studying Spanish every

day and also noted her influence with the president (like pihtky. She questioned who

was to be the next Ambassador to Peru (it was Harry Shlaudeman) and noted he had been

in Chile as DCM (well briefed) when the U.S. was gkitende. | told Mrs. Carter that

Shlaudeman was the best of the career officers anddalglhad Peruvian agrément.

She should not be concerned. Mrs. Carter went to sgeebelent of the country

wa s n 0 tbutt thirkk she told him not tgo towar against ChileTh e gener al s di dn
like the idea of a lady telling themhat to do, but hey di d not go to war.

Q: How did you find social life there?

CREAGAN: Well, it was very active in the diplomatic circlé&e had lots of dinners

back and forthWe were always witlkiplomats, press, Peruvian political party leaders,

and military & well. Dinners and receptions were used to work the scene. Try to find out
what was going on in the world of censorship. A typical dinner at our house might be
with an assistant secretary of the foreign ministry, a bishop, Mario Vargas Llosa (writer
and fture presidential candidate), editor of Peruvian magazine Caretas, Enrique Zileri, a
military officer in government position, civilian political party leaders, a labor leader and
several foreign diplomats. Gwyn was busy setting up and actually cookingdimaers.

We had a pretty good size embagsth AID and MilGroup as well. With Peruvian

friends we would spend weekends in travel and even camping on the deserted sand dunes
of the South. We went teocial clubs like th€lub Nacionalfor business recejpins. We

had some American industry. Gwyn and | were good friends with the CEO of Chrysler
and his family (kids the same age as ours). Our oldest went £ortegcan school

Another one of our sorfsad been born in Romephe was preschool in Pei@h, near
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our house was the Lima Cricket Club. | played tennis there often. And on Sundays we
had a morning tennis foursome with my friend from Chrysler, a military attaché, perhaps
a Ford Foundation person or other and neea $t of activities, much more thasay, in

a big city.

Q: What about the Shining Path?

CREAGAN:I t hadn 6t The miltay hadgjustyeleninated a prior grolgd by

Hugo Blanco. Th& hi ni ng Pat h h a ©nebtthereasars thggmilibarygani z e d
felt they had to be in g@rnment though wae crushterrorism and to prevent its rise.

Thatd i dwork.t

Q: Well did you have much contact with some of the students?

CREAGAN:I di dndot deal mu c hwasvdealiig withithe positital d e nt st |
leadershi@and also with nion leagrship and military when they were in their official
capacity, in the pr i.Mgjobrmvolvedshe Eore@rsMinstiyf i c e whe
as well. Lots of different things demarcheand working very closely withrpfessionals

in the foreign nmistry 7 those who wuld still be around after the military were gone. As

| noted, the terrorist threat was always there in Latin America. The bombrt over the

wall of the ambassadorthastherresidence and entbassyn d s o me
wereex@p sed, especially aft erLimatwe. errdiismihthe and mob
mid 19706s was not well defined. Then came S

VI adi miro Montesinos became President Fuji mo
effective action against Shining Path and lots of corruption. Another story for another

diplomat of that time. | understand that the leader (Guzman) of the Shining Path was a

professor at San Marcos University. Although | had taught a course at uniwdreity

assigned to Mexico in the 19606s and gener al
| did not spend time at San Marcos.

Q: You went back to Italy right?

CREAGAN: From Peru | went to Naples.

Q: Today is the 7 of June 2013 with Jim Creagalim, when did you go to Naples?
CREAGAN: | went to Naples in 1977 so it would have been June or July; it seems to be
the normal kind of timingln Peru we were talking about that and | was just going to
recall a couple interesting things about Peru angdiople.

Q: Yes, would you.

CREAGAN: I think | had said that we were dealing with this military government which
thought it was taking Peru to socialismgasded bythe Yugoslav modgBranco Horvat

and socialist decentralized enterprises). The mili@syl, said were in appearaney
arrogant, very sel€onfident And they controlled informatiohin the press, on
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television and all thao Ispent a lot of time wrking with and journalists and others
includingMario Vargas LlosaHe, of course, beane a great author and had written
Conversations in a Cathedr#/e might have lunch and meet wigéimother guy who had
been exiledn Argentina but allowed to return, Enrique Zileri of the weekly Caretas
magazine. Another colleague was the AP Bureau dHeefk Ackerman. And the ANSA

bureau chief, Luciano Sena. And etbhde sAFRP guy,
there in the restaurant and talk about the d
Mario got into his head later that he was gomgun for presiderend hedid. Mmat di dno't

work out so well Fujimori beat him for a lot of reasons that became important in the Peru
of a decade later.

The other thing | was remembering is that you asked sometimes about internal embassy

stuff Whatwask i nd of i nteresting is that we hadnot
group withICASS and a mission coordinatiorhd military part of the missiowith its

attaché andMilgroup got, of course, APOrhey had food and booze supplilesvn in

by plane fomthe Panama P>Xandcommissaryon a weekly basis | think. The packages

would be shuffled down the hall past offices with state department and other agency

employees We did not haye”O; so we got our mail byery slowdiplomatic pouch

And noPX privileges. They di dn6ét have CLOs in those days
hadtheirate wives who got togetheGwyn was deader of that grouprhey wrotetheir

protests to Larry Eagleburgevho | think was undersecretary for administration of the

State Depament thenThe women got results, amaé ended up with APQO 6 m not sur e
we ever got the commissary delivéfsankly, | preferred getting all kinds of fresh fish on

the Peruvian markeMo st of Gwynés official dinners wer
great oceanBut anyway it was kind of interesting internal dynamics.

Q:Wel | it is interesting how itds seen sort ¢

CREAGAN: Yeah, | mean out of the pa3the clash of privileges in an austere
environment. Lanaf big PX in Panama? U.S. military flights with goods coming down
to Lima from Panama at taxpayer expense? All the fault of Congress.

Q: At one point there was a lot of discrepancy about AID, AID got special privileges and
State didndédt and all that.

CREAGAN: Correct.| remember the famous AID curtain allowance or whatever the hell

it was.And they gotall their appliances and furniture supplied. State Department
diplomats and employees had to buy appliances every move, as voltage would change. |
was realling the other week that it was most interesting, however, to be able to pick your
own house to rent. We had an allowance and you could or might have to pay more for
sometimes really interesting places. Now it is all standardized with government provided
housing.

Q: mean I f someone was thinking about it toft
problem is that when you have a team sent ab
treated pretty equally or t hationtpreakdbwnn 6t wor k;
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CREAGAN: Right especially if you are in a hardship post such asWwasuat the time.
You better really work at it and that means from the top down everyasi{o
cooperateThenl went to Naples in the summer of 0677

Q: How did you fel about your assignment there?

CREAGAN:Well,| et §iswasJean Clarkvho talked to me about itremember she

was famous in Department circlé@s Director General and all theBhe thought it would

be important to go back to Italfhere was a fean Washington that th€Eommunist

Party would overtake the Christian Democratic Pagtysinger had had that kind of

concern and was said to have reacted negatively when the Italian Christian Democratic

leader, Aldo Moro who was noted for his subtly indaage, told him that the Christian
Democrats and Communists were on Aconverging
Americans that even though the two parties were working more closely together in what
became known as the @ Hi sirngbutreassur€therlps. Soniti s e 0 ; i
seemed to make sense to go back to Italy in an interesting Consulate General like Naples

or Milan. In fact, one of my colleagues from the political section of the Rome embassy

was Consul General in Palermo, another wasilariand focus on the changing political

scene was fascinatingghen | was | abor officer in the ear
trade unions and the unity of CD and PCI along with the Socialists. Now we were seeing

the political expansion of that. Rememiiexas still Cold Wa® 1970s. So, | looked

forward to Naples. The position wpslitical/lcommercialeconomicConsul A guy

named Mike &ol, later Commercial Attaché in Rome and Ambassador to Venehaela,

been therel talked to him about. Then therevas the living in Naples. Arazy,

confusng, wild, place with real peopleandh e best f@Asettingo in the
Capri and the Bay of Naples and Sorrento and

Q: Yes, well you served there from when to when?
CREAGAN: 1977 to summer of 198(Mree years.
Q: Who was the Consuldaeral?

CREAGAN: So that was Ernie Colantoni&rnie was from the area south of Rome,

Frosinoneso he really felt greatt was a kind of going home for him. Lots of friends

and, | think, even relatives not so far awlligples was uniqu&.ou will remember the

famous Homer Byingtgrwho was born in Naples and later became the CG. Tradition. |

think there had been generations of Byingtons as Consuls in Naples. The Consulate had a

yacht as welllt was lost by the time lBife wasthere but i n Byingtonbés day
of ficers served Adutyo onBythétene ygattheréeth on Sund a
yacht had been taken away by Washington. Only theddi@iral(AFSOUTH)had a

fbarg®d. The mil it ar Vhewaded & a bargdana Congresadidina get

after it. It looked just like a yachErnie felt good thereHe had a big circle of friends. |

think he ran the commissary systenVietnam as one intriguing assignment before

Naples.
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Q: Well | was wondeng, there has been a lot of debate about people who were
immigrants or children of immigrants sending them back from where they came from.
There is always on the part of the person this is not just ambassadors or consuls general
but actually other positins.Sometimes there was concern about how thikeehrl mean

was it a good thing? t Oeat fogtine person but were theople who went back treated
seriously or were they put upongerform services that no person who had no tie to the
area would dreen of performingHow did you feel about that?

CREAGAN: Yeah,in Italy you had Ambassador John Volpe. Most of the FBI and DEA
were lItalian origin. For some jobs it can be important. But it may skew analysis and
opinion and decision. | remember the politytee officer level used to be to avoid
sending an officer to eountryof origin or that of thespouse There was talk of pressure
for visas and all that kind of thingVith visas the trick is to keep control in hands of the
Consul. We had a famous casanhich we gave a visa to a guy whose street name was
well knowni O6 Ma | uwhiananeans whatPhe bad man.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: And heran a part of Naplesn what we would call th€amorral don 6t
know the particularsas | was on home leave at thattfaular time.What had happened,

| think is that it involved noErnie directly but &enior Neapolitaconsulate employee

who had run up some gambling obligatioimsany case, this guy came in and got a.visa
He needed some medical treatment as he dad bhot in the face at some point. A file
which would have indicated his having been denied went missing, | was told. Off went
AO6Mal uomoodo t o Gappearadgrabably Btayingwitthfeéendd thereolN
too coolfor the consulate as the Napledipe had a warrant out for him for murder or
mayhem. This case comes to mind as | think of the need for U.S. Consul to look at the
cases and not leave it to a local employee.

Relevant for your analysis was the casertd guy we had in the political sixct in

Rome He was from the South of Italy and identified with a faction ofChastian

Democratic PartyHis Italian was perfechis family was from Italy, and certainly of

clear political associations. He understood the issues. But he had a aitaf paw.

That is a drawback for analysBo | would be kind of concerned that, on the one hand

the person knows culture and language and towns and cities and provinces and all of that
very, very well.But on the other hand, o n 6tdo clbse Perhapdt is better to have

somebody not from that cultural traditiofwo classic examples of countries where we
needed to think about advantages and disadvantages of assigning someone directly from
the country were Italy and Mexico.

Another thing about Erniep t he way, I dondt know i f you r ¢
werenodt t her e Qnedaythevetis aicable thvah goesgut feoen Naples and

itds a FIl ash  ThétdxOwWasalsmrhe diinadtee st and it becaus:
AEr ni e cretifesa Bd he gohoticed.l remember we had the person running
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communications anddministrationwho was there when you were there as well, Julia
Welch, was furious about thisthought it washumorousDid you hear about it?

Q: I heard about anotér one that was some labor dispute and it was one of our local

empl oyees paying their taxes which they were

CREAGAN: Oh yes.

Q: Colantonio got involved in this thing and sent a Flash message which usually means
there is either an earthquake or warshbeen declared.

CREAGAN: Right.
Q:Then all of a sudden it came in on this

CREAGAN: Maybe because of that oneemember that issue but | remember that issue

from working in Rome earlier as the assistamd then the acting labor attaché where we

had some redkension with the GOI. fie Italian governmemanted to know thealary

scales anevages of our embasgynployeesWe held the position that, aslgplomatic

mission wedid not have teubmit all thastuff. We left it up to the individuals tdeclare

income and patheir taxesSo that was always an issue in the labor ministry and in labor
affairsl di d not remember Erni edssentanothdr ve ment
Flash.

The political scene as very interesting.remember Dick Gardner was ambassador up in
Rome and the issisill was the possible and future role of then@nunist Partyn the

Italian government. The PCI about equaled the DC in parliament and could yet pass it in
vote totals. fie question was what the U.S. woulditihe Communists gt in
governmentSo we had this policy enunciated by Dick Gardner and by the &JtBet

effect thatitaly is a democracy and it is up to the Italians to elect whatever party and
whom so ever theghoose At the same time it is ujp the United States then to
determine what kind of relationship weuld have with that government/e had

concerns about the Communist Pamtyanltaly still akey member of the NATGsince

the Communists were gaining strengthor so it appearedve really needed to get out
and find out who they werdt that time we haéxtremely limited contaavith PCI

officials and leadership.

One of the thingshat | was permittetb do andald to do in Naples wa® actually gt
out at the local level and meet the Communist Party offickrisas the politicatonsul,l
would go around to the consular disticeas ofCalabria Basilicata, Puglia and
Campanial would meet Christian Democratic leaders, Socialist Party leaterthen
the Communist Party provincial leaderseoen regional leadership. In the case of
Campania there wasntonio Bassolino, who wathe regional secretagnd later mayor
of Naples and President of Campania region.
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As an asidel remembetalking with Bassolino. He was suspicious of the U.S. Consul
(and vice versa), he had a hard look and hard talk. | thought he would be a future leader
and he was. | talked with him almost 20 years later in 1994 when he was Naples mayor
and | was DCM in Rome. It wake G7 with Clinton, Yeltsin and the rest. The city was
beautiful and Bassolino had done much to make then®rk. We recalled the old days
when | was the Imperialist and he was hard Communist. Times change.

It was just fascinating to see tR€I headqarters, therganization, to see the number of
employees they had vésvis the other paits. They had far more employees than the
Christian Democrats, for example. This without a great deal of obvious finamtieg.
seemed to have a really good orgatimaeven in the Italian soutlihere the Communist
vote totals were dowrYou expectedmportant headquarters up north in Emilia

Romagna, which the PCI controlled, but not in the South.

The big election was in 1979 dia concern was thtie Communist P&r would

continue to advandautin fact, other things were happening as you remeniler Red
Brigades, of course, werbkuilding almost a sense of invincibility, of shooting professors
on the steps of the university, kneecapping a journalist, eventugtigdping Aldo

Moro, president of the Christian Democratic Party and murdering him and, of course,
placing his body migdvay between the Communist Party headquarters and the Christian
Democrat Party headquarteBn lots of things were going on and the Camist Party

in fact wadosing some oitsedgeWelb,anyway i n the elstacti on of 0
Democratic Party, won big 38, 39 perceni and the Communists had dropped to maybe
to 30 percentlt wasthe Italian souththe area o€ampania, Puglia a@the rest which

gavea huge overwhelming victory to the Christian Democratic Party and kept our Cold
War partner, if you will, in power.

Q: Looking at it did you see the breakdown or the concermitadaarchy? Did the
electoratesee the Communists tomsé to you might say to the agtivernment Red
Brigades or something?

CREAGAN:I n the south it sort of had its own r ul
move toward the Communist Party that wiayfact, the terrorists, | think, were much

less effectiven the south than in the north where you get some kind of panic when you

dondédt know i f you are going to be talrgeted a
asyou are waiting for a bus and you get picked off; but lots of fear and coAd¢ehe

national level you had the Communist Party and the Christian Democratic Party working

togetherto somehow end this terrorism threahd so they came up with this historic
compromisefiCompromesso storicoThat meanthe two would work togethefhe

terrorists were trying to undermine the parti€sey attacked the top of the Chids

Democratic Partkidnapping and then killing Moro in an effort to bring out divisions in

the party and to break up any CD/PCI cooperation. As | noted, when he was murdered

the Red Brigades managed to dump his body midway between the headquarters of the
Communist Party and the Christian Democratic Party. The Red Brigades focused on the

reform sector of the CD, the modernizers if you will. Among that group were young

memberf the group ¢orrentg allied withseven times Prime Minister Giulio Andreotti

His group was reformist, at least in the Naples afleavas trying to get thgarty out
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from under those lorgme, almost mafidike leaderdike Antonio GavaOne of his

young leaders was a guy named Pino Amato, a close contact and frraimedh 1980,

you will remember, Pino Amato watose to the Labor Minister, Enzo Scotti, amas in

Scotti s vehicl e RedBrigddeaitdacke®and dassassipated/i e n t he
remember that?

Q: Yes.

CREAGAN: | was up in Germany at the time but you will remember very directly the
brigatisiti tried to escape and the Neapolitamsing what they ardnadwindows open
andqui ckl y became iassasinilassasidi Thelrigadst goti confused

and drove into a police block down at the main piazza, near the Opera House San Carlo.

Q: They got caught in the traffic.

CREAGAN: They got caught in the traffiso | guess when they got to that piazza the

police had time tgrab theml| saw this on TV laterasl was in Germany with a group of

Italian congressmen when this happefdtk Red Brigades trietb resist and they threw

agrenadeltd i d n 0 t It wgsosaidtaf when they grabbed thieee or four Red

Brigades one was a younggoman Shestarted cryingand that ended the-salled

invincibility of the Red Brigads. Prior to Naples they had escaped most actions

unscathed and in effect unseen. No more. A h
chaos and vitalitp f Napl es 0.

Ql dondét know how you f el t |mbembettheiptefecbut | u:
or something his wife made comments about having to serve in this backwoods area and
al.Of course, the embassy pirawked this up and

CREAGAN: Yes,| know what you meari.remember talking with people from Milan for
example; they had never been to Naples and certainly never intended to go toINaples
was not Italy for them. They used to say it was Africa, meaning third worldlbticht
implies. There was a different culture. And Neapolitan was proudly considered by the
Neapolitans and others as a language of its own and not just an Italian dialect.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Naples was aretty exciting place and then, of course, wdngtorious area

The sur r obimadnion d €aporioSoiriiento and the Amalfi Coast are

arguably the most beautiful areas of Itallyh at , of cour se, brought U.
There were many of the official variety (I remember the alwaffiedi Richard

Holbrooke and cabinet members like HEW Secretary, Joe Califano.) Visitors were

usually shared with the admirals of the Sixth Fleet and the Commanders of the NATO

base (AFSOUTH). We did a lot with them.

Q: What did you feel looking at it aspolitical officer about the impact of our military
there?
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CREAGAN: Yeah, well the military had a profound impact on the Naplesdar@ast in

terms of the thousands of servicemen and economic impact. And the impression of two

nuclear carriers with sithousand men aboard, each coming into Namdebor. Big We

had the Navy Sixth Fleeofficially headquartered in Gaeta but with the personnel mainly

in Naplesi Naval Supporfctivity (NSA) and theNATO (AFSOUTH). There were the

15 NATOcountries represged with a U.S. four star admiral in command. Some of them

were real characters. | remember Hal Shear who preceded the terrific Bill Crowe, who

was later Chairman of the Joint Chidfsa press conference a reporter asked about Col
Kaddafiandthe podsil e t hreat from Libya. Shear | ooked
would be diplomatic but | dondt know how. K a
o ut waell that was 277. You mean impact on Napkes

Q: The whole area.

CREAGAN: Yeah, of course, lookingt it as part of the gepolitical sceneof the Cold

War and all thatyou have clear power of thiscredible Navy, this fleetVhat |

remember, for example, more than once we had coming into Naples two aircraft carriers

with 6,000 meri in those days,leBmeni onboard and 3,000 would come off each

carrier at a ti me; $olnoohesensekindeot pasgiveistrampgthe s si v e
there and then the impactontheatem Nap | e s ,dherewerdgeiAllese 06 4 4
marching througiNaples andd thenorth The U.S. military was a big part of Neapolitan

reality. In other ways, thmilitary and the Navy would be in Naples but fofd Naples.

| mean not necessarily having much to do withalitical relationship with that area

and certainly withthat city.

Q: I remember being in theXPone time and hearing two women, Navy wives, talking to

each other and they said, iHG@fcomrseythetunnelver bee
was this tunnel that leads you to downtown Naples and both allomwédh ey 6d never

been through thetunnél.al ki ng about é

CREAGAN:And they didndét intend to go there eit|

Q: Yeah, we are talking about something about four or five miles away from one of the
most interesting and major cities of the world and they r e n 6t goi ng t oé

CREAGAN:That 6s a shame but itbés easy to happen
their life, they have their base, their housivigich you remember was way olut it is

really important for the commander to get involVé¢ell, Bill Crowe was there for much

of the time and when you were therengsdl. Crowe then was the NATOdmiral and he
allowed(pretended as well) thade was not experienced abde Italian realities and

was just a simple Admiral. Now, Crowe had with him a rerabl&Navy captainJay

Coupe. Jay wafantastic and e a Mi. Neapilita. He sangoperaand every song

about Naples you could imagine. He loved the city and its people. Jay would bring the

Admiral into meet everyone, from Communist Mayor to Princesansbso. With Jay

Coupe at AFSOUTH, the military had insight. There was also a great spokesman for the
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command, Joe Favorite. He married a young Italian lady who was important in the
resistance against the Germans and whose family was and is a terrifioatbom of the
idealistic American and Italiail©ne daughter works for John Cabot University in Rome
and the other is married to the grandson of the great Neapolitan shipbuilder, Achille
Lauro.But you are right to note that many of the Navy assignecejaés never really

got to know the people or city. They stayed

Q: Well you were fortunate to miss out on a major earthquake which we had there, of
courseAnd that causedeée

CREAGAN: Yeah | can comment on that from a differerdipt of view.L et 6 s s ee |
there is anything else on Naplést 6 s i that thepditicins m flapledrad impact

in Rome party councils. The Mayor was a Communist, Maurizio Valenzi. | met often

with the Vice Mayor, Giulio Di Donato. Di Donato becadwputy Socialist Party leader

with Prime Minister Bettino Craxi. He f el

One of my contacts and one of our leader grantees was Paolo Cirino Pomicino. He
became an extremely influential leader of the Chnsbamocrats and Minister of

Government . Hi s campaign was that he woul
kicked out in the scandal s o fotihvbhedldied 9006 s .

in the corruption and thiiclean handsscandad of 19. | guess my point is the Naples
politicians were politicians 100 percent of the tiMiey got into top levels of the
political party system which, of course, collapsed in disgrace and brougétlusconi,
which is a whole ther storyBut Naples wasery important politically Those parties
the Christian Democrats and then especially the Sosidiesti Neapolitan leader&ven
the President of Italy is a guy named NAPOLITANO. He was a Communist Party
congressman with whom | would go to lunch.

The Naples earthquake was really something. Should | discuss it?

Q: Well, I wanted to ask one further questigvhat was your impression of the criminal
elements in that area; of course, the Camorra and down farther south trehghet
From our point of vievas the American representatitreere did they represent any
particular influence or not?

CREAGAN: Yeah, you mean did they influence us?
Q: Well our interests?

CREAGAN: Yeah. ¥ah, you know in terms of this as tangential but when you think of
that paricular group yotthink constructionfor example. We needed be very carefuin
consideringmilitary constructiorfor U.S. Navy support, personnel housing and all that.
Wasthe land owned by a particulbliaplesfamily or was the builder somehow in cah®ot
with a particular family?Vith our military construction there was the need for the builder
to have a kind of antinafia certificate of good conduct. | thought there was a danger of
somewhat naive navy leadership getting played by the prominent fanp.okey

would be the advice received from the Italian senior employees. It could be good or not.
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There was always something underneath. | remembeafteathe earthquake oD
was always in danger of getting siphoned off. The need is audit, audiit, Bven the
goodCardinalof Naples got involved with a not so savory crowd.

By the way, while | remember that the criminal gangs of those days werevesinot

then the Naples of the drug importi@g@gmorra and Gomorras the movieThe death

and destruction caused lyafficinharddrugsl n t hose days, at | east |
6+rorr8, we |lived in a villa actually on a cli
youwatched the almost romantic enterprise ofgargsn cigarette smugjing.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Sg it was noftcocaine at that pointThe big ticket wasigarette smuggling.

It was romantic in the sense that there were movies about the smugglers and they were
kind of heroes. Mario Merola playing smuggler. Wearing balacaebpiloting their
fimotoscafi BloT long, slender, higipowered dark blue boaiskids would want to join

for the ride.

Q: In those blue power boats.

CREAGAN: The fast boats with the numbers coverBaey would go out near Capri and

there would be a mbér ship andhey would load on the Marlbas@andhead back to the

portof NaplesTh ey 6d come back and then the Italian
customs wouldhase mybe six of these fast boats coming at th€hepolice have one

boat and theynay have a helicoptgout they had to choose one or thaatsto chase

Not all the boats would have shipments of cigaretesthepolice might get an empty

one.Butif they did catch somebody at the pdine peopléhanging around, ladies and

kids, would protest like hellSo it was different in that regardcemembemMNeapolitars

used to say, ,tlieTigarede smugglirdy¥e Osrce heandcupiedbethes

King of Savoy (the North) when once were the great Kingdom of Naplesaples is

thegreat capital and now we are part of lfddyt northern lItaly is rich, we are not.

Smuggling issimply our way of taxing Milan We dondét pay the state t
cigarettes We keep t hat mafooarsechanged dhdipth@®800. That
smuggling rapidlydeteriorated into drugs and much death and destruction.

You asked me about their influendéherewas an influence certainly Meapolitandaily

life. And the Camorra had well developed protection rackets. Merchants had to pay or

face theconsequenceisoroken windows, bombing of shops at night and other stuff.

think forus,wellwewer endét <carrying on any great campa
smuggling in Italy and that kind of thinlhe mafia was a dangerous organization and

then tlere was alwaysome link to the U.S., at least to New York and Jersey.

| remember, by the way, a case where we were transporting some, how should | say it,
some highly classified material.

Q: Oh ho, ho, ho, ho.
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CREAGAN: You remember thawas carriedn a Navy van right down to Naple®ne of

the scams in NapleswHseyd d ¢ o0 me yoyr cabaadhhityoufrom behind Then

they would gebutandscreamThenyouwould get out tdook at the damage on the
backbumperandthey would takeyour car.Well, in this case there were twhS. Navy

personnel with this plain van with the classified and they were hit from behind on this

ramp, | think, coming into NapleSo, the guywho hit them from behind wasreaming

The two Navy guys come backheylook toseeif there isdamage and then they hear

frum, rund and thé& vanis being driven awaylhatwas a messSo we, of course, are

desperate to get our classified baakd so you remember we are going around to see

what we can dd.remember talking to thaplespolice chief, | called him Colombhas

he was the kind of guy who was really a lot smarter than he seelaehidji We 6 r e

going to helpyou get the pouches back. He did work offten| talked with the head of
thecarabinieri. The general told me h &te 6fi e goi ng to help you and
that Whenwefind he materials youdve | ostiateru are go
webve | ookSoidColentbais ih @mpetition with thearabinierito try and

find this for us.l understandhat lots of pressune@asput on the Camorreo find the diplo

pouchesThey dd notlike the intenseolice pressure. The scam was probably the work

of freelancing petty criminals, and not professionals.

Q: Well they got some of the stuff back.

CREAGAN:Got some of it diagdistoband stuthangthe pgueha h, | t hi
seals. In the face of pressure the thieves probably threw the bags into the sea. Or some

other diplomatic mission got something they imagined us€hdt was a case tfie

organiz2dgangs helping out the poliae order to take pressure off themselves and free

them up to carry out theirormal daily, nasty operations.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: The earthquakd.remember it very well from the Washington ekRdom

the Washington standpoititerewas opcenter news of the Thanksgiving earthquake in
the Naples area. We immediately set up (I was lItalian desk officé&lCag4-hour crisis
managemerteamin response to the quak&hathadhappened to me after Naples is that
in the summer 01980 | went backo Washingtorio be the Italian desk officer in charge

of Italy, the Vaticanand Maltal had another officer workinfpr me,and then kpent

most time on ltalianissueS.o t h at 6 sheNaples earttigeakat in November|

was deept involved with Washington respons&’e had some experience with Italian
earthquakes because there had been one thu®@rorth in the Friuli regiorso that was
fairly recent and there had been a lot of involvement of Congkegsvay, within a very

few days weorganizeda mission to the earthquake zofiavas led by Geno Paulucci of
pizza fame and Chun King Chinese food. We flew Air Force 2 in representation of Vice
President Walter Mondale. Members of the mission were Lt. Governor of New York
Mario Cuano; Congresswoma@Beraldine Ferrard&Gan Francisco Democratic party
leader, Nancy Pelosi, Italdmerican congressmen like Silvio Conte, labor leaders and
yours truly. We had briefings in Rome with the Ambassador of course (Richard Gardner)

69



and with Presidat Pertini among others. Pertini was a real character. He was elected

president even in his 806s and he was very d
prison under Mussolini and he let it be known that he had missed out on a lot of years of

roman¢c ng t he women. Pertini said to Geraldine
|l i ke you?0 AYes, Mr. Presidento, she said fb

because you have thelle gambédgreat legs). She smiled and so did we. NaveriGo
waspractically campaigning in places like Avellinde had kids in tow and was shaking

hands with all. Il think Cuomobs family was f
of language even though my former Ambassador, Graham Martin did not think it so. On
the way back to the U.S., Cuomo toldthe grdupjey, how come we are al

Americans and the only one who speaks Italianissitr i s hman Cr eagan?o

Q: We had Senator Pell too.

CREAGAN:Wh at 6s t hat ?

Q:Senator Pell came fr omé

CREAGAN:Oh t hgahtté sbuti he wasnodét with us, he must
Q: He was actually at a disarmament conference in Spain, in Madrid.

CREAGAN: Oh yes.

Q: He made a big point of getting over there and posing withthe

CREAGAN: | can imagine because of histiist right; | mean because of Hislo-
American electorate.

Q: Oh yeahl remember we got into a helicopter and at one point the helicopter pilot was
saying it was pretty f ogBRuyPelavanded® procded A Thi s i
ahead.

CREAGAN: Take it back.
Q: Well there is nothing hungrier than politicians looking after votes.

CREAGAN:Oh boy, t hAapbirdt somfthe WaskingtoneenBick Gardner

was ambassadar Rome;so hecame back for testimony on the Hill regarding aid to

Italy. | accompanied him up on the Hitir thehearingsWe had asked for, | think it was

$25 million, and were to set up a néMD office in Naples.So we had asked for money
andauthorization talo the things you do for earthquake reconstrucfitus wasa lesson

for me in domestic politicaV asked for th&25 millionas | recall. To my surprise the
congressmen and Senatérs ough Republicans | i ke Senator /
York criticized the administration. They asked why we only wanted $2%milih at 6 s

not enougtor a bad earthquake. You should ask$60 million.| was astoundedessie
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Helms was there, Senator Helrilis state was definitely not with Italemerican
constituency. He was teed off. And he mumbled somethingvafictd out of he
meeting.But they got their $50 million.

Q: Well we were very concerned about the type of aid that would be used because there
were so many places for corruption and one of the ones that really concerned us, we
didndt get it | und¥kgreatyo havevam smeticarehospigleyau | t s o
know that in Italy nobody wants to die in a hospiliay.ou are not well the hospital is the

last place you want to go to.

CREAGAN: Yeah, exactly.

Q:So we didnét want to say weoltlhilsawe udmdnAme:
or used well at all.

CREAGAN: So in the end you were able to eliminate that one?

Q:Yeah, the other thing was that the Iltalian:
too long beford maybeten years or sd thattherehad been a major earthquake in
Sicily and people were still living in boxcars.

CREAGAN: Yes, exactlyl remember talking aboutthat t i | | l'iving there ar
issue alwaysWhere did the money go?

Q: I mean unfortunately we talk about Italypartu | ar |y in those days |
is today but é

CREAGAN: Well later it became a problem for Cardi@drrado Ursibecause money
had gone into housing and there were relatives invoveda h, 1t 6s just a tou
| n Was hi ngtating with Gahy bug dlsio With thel\étican.

Q:Yes, | et 6s t alTthke Vatiban wats not justea b&higrt area @unthere;
there were problems with it.

CREAGAN: Yeah, yeah, if | think about the U.S. and the Vatican, of course, John Paul Il

had keen elected in 19780 there was this force, this force from PolaRgdenReagan

was elected anthe Soviet Union and the Pope and Poland were radtigus of foreign

policy. JohnPaul had gone back to Polaiist in 1979 TheCommunist Polish

leadersip was afraid to have him and afraid not to have.l8mthey were going to let

him come baclkut keep out of politicBr ez hnev s aiTellhimh®iesan 6t do it .
smart man, tell hi m tloanycase, hesdidgkto Polarellanid h i m n o
just had huge throngs, a million people in one meeting and | think 13 million saanhim

that visit. He always would be able to use religious terminology with everybody

understanding what it means when you are talkibgcally aboutfithrowing off chaing .
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So in comes the Reagan administration and we raisddwal of contact, if you will,

with the VaticanThere were several reasons, some of them having nothing to do with

policy and all that. The U.S. system of ambassadorships for sale came intéquialy.

dondt mean that in an entirely derogatory se
founding of the Republic. Concerning the Italy post, Max Rabb had basicalliNewn

York for Reagarand he wanted and gt be ambassador to ItalReagarand Nancy

were best friends with the WilsofSo t he new Presi dent Reagan a:
y o u |Wek BilPiga very fervent convert to Catholicism and he \edd be

ambassador to the Vatican;segot it. Well the only problem, Stu,iswe diddot have an
ambassador to the Vaticame di dndét have dipl omaThatc r el at i c
was complicated and had to be worked out. Presidents had tried to do it Bedsrgent

Truman tried tanake GeneraWlark Clark the 8" Army commander whee troops fought

at Salerno and Monte Cassino, liberated Rome and then drove up the peninsula. There

was tremendous opposition to Clark as Ambassador to the Holy See. Some of it was

opposition on a religious basis from fundamentalist Protestants, germgnadiged to the

idea ofdiplomatic relations withvhat they considered a Church and not a STdten

therewere the Texansncluding Senator Tom Connelly who was chairman of the foreign

relations committeevho hated Mark Clark because of what they Yedregrave

mistakes in Mont€assino. Thdexas divisiorwas sent into withering German fire and

U.S. troops took trendous lossein the end Tuman knew that he was goingltse

the Senate. Aere would have been &b votes againstlark; so Truman pudld the

nomination.Thenwe had norelatond. ohn Fi t zgeral d Kennedy woul
have relations with the VaticaNixon sent gersonal representative, Henry Cabot

Lodge, and that was interestinfe waked the Vatican account from tReme

embasy; one of our political officetsad that responsibility.

Butnowin198ly oud6ve got Bill Wi |l son and heds conce
andhe woul d say, fAnvWhays siasd oMa xt oRalbtba |Avelld nd | é m |
coul d onl ycauseyod aretMr. Wilscmid Btehe Holy See. & dond6t have

di pl omat i Wellheworkad bnotmarsd hedworkedliremembeibeingin a

meeting with him and Judge Clarke who at that point was Deputy Secretary of State.

Wilson kepttalking aboutitCl ar ke sai d, AWe canahdd ochdtanyt hi
talk to peopleoutsidea b out it ; | et OlrsanyscaseWilsohwenttohappens. 0
Reagan | am sure, atttey workeddiligently on it. State did not play a role, as this was a

political decisionof the highest order. B{984 Reagan and friendsad gotten the

A Mral Majorityo that is the fundamentalist Protestant group led by Jerry Fatavell

agree RonaldReagan was able to put Wilson up before the Senate in 1984 and he cruised
through.Then we had dull diplomaticrelationship with the Vatican.

To go backo the time on the Italian/Vatican desk, a big issue vedanid, Poland, and
Poland.Organizing of the labor unions (Solidarity) and Polish government crackdowns.
Cardinal Casaroli was tiaecretary ofState(like a Prime Ministerjo Pope John Paul,ll
and hecame over to discuss Poland with Secretary Haig. GeneralWdaighen

Secretary of State for almost two yefn@m early 1981 to mid 982. Casaroli was the

only person | ever saw Hagive deferencéo and even appear humble. They would
discuss, with me as note taker, what wasg on in Poland, whab do and how the U.S.
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and the Vatican could work together in generic terms. For the most part, as | recall,
Casaroli did the explainingf the situation and the actions of Pope JP II.

By the way,Larry Eagleburger wa&ssistantSecretary for European Affairsremember

being in the office one Saturday (we did that a lot) and Laiting me He said,

A Cr e ayegRorLaghi overherek want t o Adaia,lw& weteorkingiom. 0

issues with PolandThen Archbishop Pio Laghi was the Apostolic Delegate to the United
States (a Church position of the Holy See in

Papal Representative to the3Ul called him, and he replied,Mr . Cr eagan | dono
to commdiWhat do you mean you dondét have to
hereWe <call the I talian embassy and Aml | t he
he doe®ii Yse0O, o etpHea egood Archbi shopdplohdtict t he U.

relationswith the Holy See;sb d on ot h aBueif youoMr. Eagiemirger will

offer me a nice cup of coffee and something,dlse e n |  wndIwé diddamd het . 0
did. The Vatica wanted to work with usbut not fully unless there were diplomatic
relations. In 1984 we got that.

There was lots of cooperation with the Vatican on key issues from Lebanon to Nicaragua,
and it was very important t ha@ritherwwerehveove A Our
women U.S. Ambassadors to the Holy See.)

Q: Well, what was your impression while you were in Naples and got back to the desk of
Richard Gardener as ambassador?

CREAGAN: Oh, well | thought Gardner was really good professionally, fat&, spoke
Italian. Of course his wife was Italian, and he had a strategic visr@member he had

this little book,Parliamoci ChiargL et 6 s T aBukhe &wawgsistack tp the vision
Gardneidoved public diplomacyand you maybe were part of thao; thatis he would

take his scripts out and stick to the script, get the word out, get the word out, keep it
going.There may have been some irritating p&othischaracter that were especially felt
by those closé him. Probably some micromanagerhéheguy had a great talent | can
tell you, great ambition, arfte wasvery knowledgeable in Italian affairs order to
orchestrate this relationship with Italyith its very important Communist Party, Gardner
had to articulate the policy of full spprt for Italian democracy (elect who you will), at
the same time letting it be known that we would have difficulty working with a
Communistled government. Imagine that government in the NATO. At the same time
there was a reason for PCI popularity integions it ran and in its electoral success. It
was developing as Eurocommuriighat is, part of a democratic system and opposed as
well to some Soviet actions like the Soviet crushing of the Czech Spring. It was time to
get to know the communists in @re open diplomatic way. That meant bringing in the
consulatess a step in the process. We were in Naples and Tonwes@onsulGeneral

in Milan.

Q: He was he was around, yes; | remember him now.
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CREAGAN: Up in Rome they would a | | mbassy Milalé because lRawas

reporting independently and expressinguigsv thatthe Communist Partyould soon

be in government and we had better get to know and work with them. They had some
credibility as a kind of personally clean governing force in central #atl were not
considered personally corrupthdyengaged in a lot of what would be illegal financing
from Exim companies they controlled and other wayait it went to the party not
individuals as was the case with the other parG@sdnemwas resposible for discipline

and the assurance that Italy understood the
government. The Jimmy Carter administration was tough on the Cold War issues.
Remember that Zbig Brzezinski, Polish, was the National Securitis@d\t was an

irritant having Fina in Milan with a more open position and one known to the Italians.
Members of the Political Section also wanted to ensure that Washington understood the
likelihood of PCI in government and the need for us to be in coméegot into Dissent
Channel stuffOne of the guys in the political sectisant excellenDissent Channel
messages and later went on to becomédarvardacademicSo there were sonplicy

and diplomatic tactickensions, if you wilin the Gardnerembassy.

Q: Yes.

CREAGAN: Now, | understand the possibility of tensions between embassy and major
consulate, just because of the nature of things. | later was CG in Sao Paulo and reported
directly to Washington. The Commercial Counselor and the Labochidtaere in Sao
Paulo. It was big. | coordinated everything in written or unwritten accord with the
Ambassador in Brasilia. My predecessor had some issues with coordination and the
inspectors generally had to deal with the Sao Paulo/Rio/Brasilia relapoSshl can see
how aguy in Milan would thinkwell, wait a minutethis city is in many ways more
important than Rome. And | have a kind of independent @dedner had to deal with

that reality. In any case, he waslly first rate intellectually and academicallyl saw

him later in New York, when was at thdJ.S.Mission to the UN and he was there
professor at Columbia.

One story from the Italian Desk in January 1981: Reagan is inaugurated and Haig is
Secetary of StateThere is a rush to libe first foreign leader to come in and see the new
American presidenSecretary Haig had determined that the foreign leader valuddw

see the American president firsbwd be he French presidertecause France is really
important in that regardGGermany, of course, igaithful, butthe French would be the first

to come inThe Italians hd different ideas. They considered themselves number one
friendsof the U.S. Bit they had been told ndhe President could not see the Italians yet,
was the wordSothe next thing | knowthe Italian Ambassador informs me tEawilio
Colombq whowasForeignMinister of Italy and wasa leader of th€hristian

Democratic Partywould be coming to Washington to give aesge at Georgetowon
January 25S0 we have thenauguration on January 28nd Colombo is in town January
25. The Ambassador was looking for a meeting with Secretary Haig and to see what
could be arranged at the White House. AFor ge
Seventh Floor down to me; no wayitigioing to happertaig will not see him before the
French and neither will the White Hou3éde next thing | knowand indicative of the

74



Italo-American influence in the American political scene) the Italian Embassy DCM tells

me thatColombo isindeed cming; he is giving a speech at Georgetown and he will be

seeing Vice PresidentBushi t h per haps a fiwalk ino to the I
Now, wouldthe secretary like to see hifdh my God Anyway, a long story short, the

Italians and Colombo wetge first to get to DC and the first to get over and see Vice

President Bush and then walk down and see Reagé#nyas kind ofkind of comical the

way the ltalians could outsmart the Freficind upstage Haig as well.

Q: Today is the 290of August 203 with Jim Cra g a n ; |l 6m Stu Kennedy. O
about desk officer?

CREAGAN: The desk officer was an extremely active joWwas just remembering Bob

Beaudry.  was my DCM back when | was in tRemeembassy il1974.1 remember

Bob s aYpuwanto befddesk officer A desk officer is a Amani
Department, 0 as i fl ttéhseyi nktienrde sotfi nrga nwhtehni nlg st.h i
officer job; it was a lot of coordination of intgpovernment positions, organization,

working with the Cagress and lots of time with the Italian embassy. Very busythe

phone constantliy and time sensitive deadlines for lots of stuff from talking points to

position papers. Then there were the State Dinners and the kind of state visits that took
placeint he Reagan administration. I dondédt know |
invited tothe State DinneiVhen Ronald Reagan had Presideettini ofltaly in

Washingtonin 1982, Gwyn and | were at the dinner. | had helped Protocol in the
organizatiorof the invite list as well. We had Perry Como and Frank Sinatra sing

together (I wonder if they ever did that elsewhere?). The Itphiesident told me thisvo

wer enot razexdrybodytiratheiUs nsaid (he considered-kat®ricans

something dierent),b ut t h at 6 sl thentraveldd evith PregiderRextini

around the United Statdde had ten daysr so in this official state visit mode and we

had U.S. Protocolang with himd accompanied by yours truly. did all sorts of

things inSan Francisco, Chicagmd New York. In San Francisco the Mayor, Dianne
Feinstein, met us and Nancy Pelosi of course was there. Pertini and | argued a bit about
the situation in El Salvador. He was critical of our support for the GOES and noted that

the gandson of a great Italian President Luigi Einaudi, was involved in that Central
American policy. | told him it was an effort to secure democracy in a civitovar

country. In Chicago we saw the governor and mayor, Jane Byrne. She was a tough
Chicafo.Aapertini called her a steel fl owe
president wanted to go to Club 54. I di dn
showed up in the morning. We finally saw him off to Italy.

r
0t

| remember the first dinn@f the Reagaera. As | said, thérst Europearvisitor to
WashingtorafterReagan was president was the foreign minister of, lEatyilio

Colomba Hehad maneuvered in a beautifully Italian way to get there before the French
The ItalianAmbassadqrRinaldo Retrignan, had a dinner for Colomb@&wyn and | were
invited, of course, in my capacity as desk officer. Everybmdy therel mean Secretary

of State Al Haig, thé&ational Security Advisor, Dick Allen, Secretary of DeferSap
WeinbergerSenators and Italdmerican Congressmen, Scotty Reston of the New York
Times and others. The unbelievable Secretdiyaig got upafter dinner and made a
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speech aboutimselfbeing theVicar of foreign policy.fi | know you are al/l W
whatt hat i s, 0 he wshatitheéreis &fed phone (lyovline) ik theo
presidentds offi ce f oWheahRichard Nixorcwas dresidest t he So
the phone would ring and he would pick it up and there would be BrezNnen would

s a Henryfcome oninheréThen hedd say @Al 6m going to do t
consulting here with Henry on détente and | think | want to do a, b andKissidger

woul d s &y adnigatant. But it is not Henry being the Vicar. Then he said,

AWhen Ji mmy Ca randcBrezhweawas op thedise] Garenwould say that

he was going to talk with Zbig and get back to Brezhnev in ten minutes. Haig then

remarked that the Zbig role was good but not really what he had in mind. No, being the

Vicar of Foreign Policy meant thathen the phone rang and Brezhnev was on the line,

President Reagan would look over at me (Haig) andisdy] tfdosr Everybody

was kind of quiet. | imagined what must be going through the minds of Dick Allen, Cap
Weinberger and even Scotty Resthliaig and the White House had a tense relationship

for the next two years of Haigds time. | can

Finally, work on the desk was varied, to say the least, since you got involved in all issues
Italian that concerned the USG. Sometimes the desiriexgee is really fulfilling in a
totallynonpol i ti cal or Agovernmental 06 way.

One day | got a call from our Consul General in Naples, Walt Silva. Walt told me that he

had been contacted by the Italian cultural authorities responsible for Pompeii and

Herawml aneum archeol ogical sites. They had just
of residents fleeing the eruption of Mount Vesuvius in 79 A.D. They had been enveloped

in the volcanic flow and preserved in the position of running toward the sea. Itahphad
money in cultural coffers to step in and pre
would deteriorate and disappear. What to do? | remembered that in all the receptions and

stuff a desk officer did | came to know a guyNational Geographid_ou Mazzatenta,

who might be able to help. | called Lou and he told me a photographer was coming back

from Greece and could stop in Naples. Long story short. National Geographic got

involved, put in millions for preservation, published an issue on Herculaftearmost

read perhaps ever) and saved the day. Later there were usual frictions with Italian

government entities and so forth, but | felt really good that chance desk officer contacts

could help save archeological treasure. (Better than Google? Who RidatSilva

made it all work and leg USG from Consulate Naples in a neat project.

Q: Very interesting. Nowelt 6 s cover tYoewefRthere fromahentd our .
when?

CREAGAN: | was in Portugal from 1982 9 8 6 and t h @hatdesllyiscadong year s
time in ForeigrService experience; | was really lucky to have that two ybarse leave

and two yearsOneof my boys, Kevin, was able to do his entire high school years in

Portugaj and | think that was very impaunt

Q: Ohitis.
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CREAGAN: When | arrived in Portugal, Dick Bloomfield was leaving as Ambassador

and the DCM, Ed Edwas dolt of classec $ore@@yh Serviga® be.

had been in Latin America, Portugal and other plagéshad a good embassy group

Portugal there waa sense of being a teaAllen Holmes who hadoeen deputy assistant

secretarywith Larry Eagleburger was named ambassadebrought Alan Flanigaas

DCM. Two really terrific guys. Flanigan had beay boss in what they called Western

European Affairs bek when | was Italian/Vatican desk officétolmes di dn ot st ay t|
entire timel was there and thgositionnextwent to a political appointebut he stayed

for severalyears in PortugaHolmes was a great ambassador who knew how to make the

embassy teawork together.

Justa note o the Foreign Service lifitnen. Westill went out and foundur own housing

We had housing allowancegou took that and then looked for places to rent. Lisbon was

a difficult place to finchousing Finally Gwyn found &ig white house 24 kilometers

away up in the town ddintra. It is @ownin the hills,where the kings would spend the
summersWe ended up with ten acres and woods right next to the old palace of the kings,
the Palacio da Pen&o when you awoke in the mongi you were up in the clouds
Incredible.There were a few downsides like no heat in the winiieer than the big

fireplace. t would get into the 40s inside the housed the kids wore gloves for months

Q:Let 6s tal k about ©ortugal.l ppoviei tiincteaelr vsiietweadt iEodn R ol
CREAGAN: Oh good.

Q:éand Frank Carlucci but that whole Portugal
were coming in at the end of the thi@puld you talk about what the situation was when
you were there and whatdh i ssues were and ¢é.

CREAGAN: Yeah, correct, Carlucci wathe heart of it when Kissinger, you know,
woul d say that é

Q: Ready to write Portugal off.

CREAGAN:Wr i te him off, thatés right, Mari o Soal
andPrime Minister much of the time | was themnd | was able to work closely with his

people, his staff, and Mario Soares himdatfiean it was that kind of plasghere the

U.S. Embassy had great access to the leadetsbgingerapparently had said to Mario

Soaresh Soar es, you Kareasky $ode s brasicallgling Soares

that he was weak and the Communists would shove him &odees liked to recount

that tale; he told me about that and told many otlgssaidhe told Kissinger  fiy§w |,

ae wrong and the Socialist Party will prevai
Amy ki nd & &longwitk BetioiCrauti io Italy and Felipe Gonzalez in Spain

they were clearly democratic, economically rather conservative an@amimunis.

Mario fought the Communists with baseball bats and votes. He won. The Revolution in

0 7oderthrew the dictatorship and the Communists had some early advantages, also
because some of the military | eadership and
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being Portugal, basically no shots were fired in the revolulibe.military was still in
parti al power -OMh3e nt dwaradnet h enThedpBxRidentfwasa t r an s i
still military, Presidenand General Eaneshé&re was stilivas amilitary council
overseeing the political developmebtit Portugalwas becoming aolid parliamentary
democracy witlthe Socialists on the moderate left and the more conservative Social
Democrats tdhe rightof the political spectrunThe Communist Party was a tough
Communist Party, Stalinist, and linked to Mosctwt by 1982vas not a serious
contender for poweiThe issues were Portugadherence aa loyal member of NATO
There hadeen questions aboutahdthey had beequestioned in NATO circles dlse
Communstshad influenceCarluccihad to deal with that in the I8s They remainea
good solid partner.

Speaking of military issues, we undertook the renegotiation of adsy agreemennt

the 1982/1983 period. We worked on nuts and bolts and ensurirtgeHatS. had use of
Lajes (Azores) a very important cog in our worldwide basing. It was key for anti
submarine actions but also for support in the Middle East. In the 1973 Middle East Warr,
Lajes was essential for the resupply of Isrtielias very impomnt for Cold War reasons.
Lajes was a place where they said Anmy had the boat&hey ran the tug bogtshe Air
Force had the ground because they ran the air base and the Navy had theiptanes,

they flew the Orion BB antrsubmarine planes

We neayotiated with thd?ortuguese, basically over price for the U.S. base. Now the
understanding in NATO was mutual defense and you did not pay for use of a base in
anther NATO country, but the Portuguese did not accept that, except as fiction. For deep
political reasons the Portuguese government needed a quid and we were willing and able
to provide development money for the Azores, for exar@pleot calling it a payment

forthe base. Ree mber t hat at t hthepertapitmmcomen t he earl y
Portugawas onlya few thousandand the people in the Azores had per captame as

low as $508600.I me a n t hlesttutepoermecausdetthey had cows and milk
andsome landbut this was not a rich Western European courpytugal did not go

into the European Unioantil 1986. That changed everythirgpin 1983 we negotiated

lots of interesting thing®Our Ambassador, lken Holmes was chief negotiatoThe

DCM, the PolMil Officer, Patrick Folan, and | were part of the team. The Pentagon sent
lawyers and we had periodic negotiating sessions.

As part what | might <cal/l Afcreative -compensa
American Foundationo as part of the base acc
U.S. and Portuguese directorate. Retgencluded the academic and cultural, stressing

the ties between Portugal and the U.S. It did good worny case, we worked out

mutually satisfactory compensation and continued full basedessmge Shultzame to

sign. Hewas Secretary of Stateec@use Al Haig had quit and his resignation had been

accepted back in 1982 while he wasinRo8ie. Geor ge Shultz comes to
| remember that we were not quite finished when Shultz came to sign and | was up

calling the Defense Minister in tmeiddle of the night to get it done. &\Wvere working

this out right up to the last hour.
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In 1986 Portugal entered the EU. There was a lot of work in preparation for that. So,
Portugal was an important ally and then linked to the rest of Europe in thehBtwvas
essential for prosperity and development. Wonderful petgremillionin all of

Portugal There was some incipient terrorism, which was present in all of Europe. We
hadseveral incidentfom ant-FNATO groups.One timemortars were lobbed at the
embassyandshrapnebrokethewindows Another timeanRPGwasdirected at the
ambassadobruots iotf fd ActeEmber of theComrhuhist Party found the
darn thing anaalled the cops. Wwere in the uncomfortable position of thanking the
Communist Partyfoi pul | i n g bbuhtee RRE ar mo a

Then another time there was a bomb in the trunk of our Marine Gunnery serdeaht.

just left work and | had my car radio on and | heard the bdtm.marine had justulled

up to our new embassy galéne guardschecked the hood and undercarriage as they

always did. When they opened the trunk, s et off aél guess it pul
something and this thing was about to go Bfferybody ranand it blew up sky high

Lots of noise andmoke but nobody was hurtl got back there and | remember | ran up

to the communicatisand called into th&tate QerationLenter telling them hat a

bomb had gone off and nobodyashurt. They sai d, AWedbve already g
AHow coul d yolud hraivgehta hreerpeo, N OR, |jwe tg dita pg ernespc
from The Associated Press/ell, my buddy the bureau chief ofFhe Associated Press

just happened to be across the street at the time, and heard a boom, opened up his

curtains, saw the thing and cali in. We were always in competition with thnew

York Times The Associated Pressid othersThe AP chief, when | was with him years

later, had fun recalling how he scooped the embassy

In anothercase, there was an attempt to kill byean antiNATO group againTheyhad

apparently meant to target me at my home, which was kind of isolated in the hills of

Sintra. It so happened | stayed out late the night when they were said to be lurking about

and theymissed meln any case, 1 and the family’ werepulled out ofour house and

had tomove in withthe Ambassador for two or three weekfienwe had to move from

the housel was not allowed to go back to my house soy@wny wife, had to move

everything Interesting that she wasiowed to go backBackthen terrorists | suppose

had some kind of honor and were interested only in the person targeted, not family. Now,
there were hundreds of bottles of good Portu
how Gwyn did it but she got them all moved.

| think of another terrorist incident in Portugal in which | was tangentially involled.

April 1983the Portuguese Socialist Party hosted a meeting of the Socialist International

|l ed then by Germanyds Willy Brandt.t The gr ou
parties, but also at the meeting were the PLO, Israeli Labor Party led by Shimon Peres,

the Druze of Walid Jumblatt and the Nicaraguan Sandinistas as | recall. | was invited by

the Portuguese as a diplomatic representative. | was a close contact cdtBus Mhe

foreign policy chief for Mario Soares and the Portuguese Socialists. Others there were

Felipe Gonzalez of Spain, Bettino Craxi of ltaly and many more. It was a relaxed setting.

| remember sitting in the evening with Shimon Peres, Mario Soagbgefsonzalez and

others as they talked of Palestinian [/ 1srael
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diplomatic assignmenthe PLO was represented by Issam Sartawi, a moderate leader in
favor of negotiations with Israel.dHwvas going to spedk the groupPretty important.
Youhad the | sr ael i.@seemethloperl,andyleead othtatone. hith®
morning of the second day, | think was, a closed meeting of the Sl leadership was in
progress. | was walking into the lobby of the Nxhoro Hotel in Albufeira. Ahead of

me was the PLO Rep., Issam Sartawi. | moved forwasthasze his hand'hen | stopped
andthought. | remembered that our UN Ambassador, Andy Young, got in trouble for
shaking the hand of the PLO Rep at the UNeditaed for a momenras | considered the
importantdiplomaticgesture of acknowledging PLO presencs.|Aesitateda person
came right across the flaawentstraightup to Srtawiand kang, bang, bangssassinated
him. There was chaos on the floor. Policeved but the assassin got away. He was later
said to be from the Abu Nidal wing of the PLO.

Q: Jim, why would the bombers be after you?

CREAGAN: Oh, I guess because | was political counselor of the AmeEodrassy and

we were a bigdeallh e y  w efterena @& tJim &reagan but as political counsaflor

the AmericanEmbassy It would have been one of the aNtATO far left groups. In any
case, there was intelligence about an attempt; so | and my whole family moved in with
Ambassador Allen Holmes for mte. The kids had fué tennis courts and all that. The
Ambassador and Marilyn were just terrific people. After we moved to a different house, |
had to have a guard with me to follow me while jogging or whatever. Restrictive but OK.

Q: Were we looking ahe officer core and the initial coup with the government of
Salazar and all the old tried and true 25 year old captains and all while you were there
were we looking at the officer corps trying to figure out what they were up too?

CREAGAN: Well, we were interested but | have to say when | was there wduibad
confidence that that phase was ovidre President was Ramalho Earteetop military
generalput he was the last of the generals to have that position. It waadraf that
phase There was siila Council of the captains as a kind of ultimate court, but the
civilians were in charge of governmenhdpendulum had swung so fully to the civilians
thatourfocus wan getting to know the Socialists, the Social Democaats the others.
We supportd the bringing oPortugal more into Europe atttat happened in 1986 with
Portuguese entry into the European Community.

By the way in some specific issugiswas a lot easier for us when Portugal was not so
linked to the EC. Once in Europe, the respdrsm the GOP on issues of agriculture, for
exampl e, was fdtake it uvwereWwokindgattBercivimase |l s 0.
much more than the militaryVith the mlitary we had professionahilitary-to-military
relationshipsThere was a NATOdadqgartersin Portugald IBERLANT. That gave the
military things to do as wellAnd then we looked at Portugal in the world because
Portugal was still important in Afric&o we followedfrom Lisbonwhat was going on in
Angola, in Mozambiqueandthe otherformer coloniesThere were connectiors many

of those leaderwith universityand government ihisbon So we were very interesteld
even remember shenaniganstioa part ofpeople in a couple of the conservative political
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parties and eveon the part ofome ingovernment leadershifrhey were playing with
RENAMO, the rebels in Mozambiqu&ow, it was not US@olicy to play with
RENAMO, but some, even in tliReagan White House wesapportive of RENAMO.

QI mean it woul dnodt enbl@meyandall bubhaveianty probleasl d be
at this point dealing witlthe government there because you had the Reagan White House
and you have people within the Republican Party who Socialists were anathema?

CREAGAN: There was an understandimgthe Reagan Wte Houseandwith some of

these very conservative gyymit especially over at the State Department with-well
respected professionals like Larry Eagleburgbere was an understanding that these
Socialissi in Portugali andthe Spanistand French anddtian Socialist parties were

the ones thawe really wanted to work witilhe Secretary of Statenderstood thahese
were true democrat#n fact Reagan made a State visit in Portugal when | was there and
the Socialists were in government. That grepiased and helped Prime Minister Mario
Soares, a socialist.

Q: How did thatvisit go?

CREAGAN:Very well , very well, I remember éof col
incredible A thousand peoplaccompanied. We had frictions in the advance process and

in the security team frictions with the Portuguese. Fun to recall afterward. By the way,

some unpleasantness and frictions could have had negative impact on relations if the

media had been privy to it. In those years we did not go public with the nonseese. O
case: The Secret Service had sent men and
out and be sure that there was no threat (
staff and security took umbrageoféheU$S.he wuna
t eam. |l got a call from the Prime Minister
just arrested your Secret Servicedagnd t he handl er. 0 AYou can
The Chief of Staff was pissed and felt the pride of sovereigntygurutlose personal

relationships made certain that this kind of advance team slights and presidential visit
preparation was managed quietly. Another detail. For Reagan, we thadhta special

bed for him from AustriaHe stayed at this beautiful Palaskthekings (Queluz) but it

lacked a presidential bed. The President loved the palace. Both he anddNandytheir

entouragé | oved t he as s ocihaPortumuesdwintdéht offfcialyyea It y o. T
royalty since the country has been a republicaf@entury, but there are lots of former

royal family and folks with titles all around. Just like in Italy. Republic since 1946, but

sometimes you would not know it. | noticed that American politicians and even

Ambassadors seem to have an affinity for farnogalty. Something magic there. You

can call them Princess and Count and all that. | digress, but | was at one dinner before the
Reagan visit and one of Nancy Reagands confi
and | heard hi mpsay, ofuMNamsys, iwme raoryalu yo. N e :

do
b o
nn
0s
p

Portugal was a very traditional place, before the entry into Europe. After 1986, things
changed rapidly. One diplomatic example of the traditional approach. It involved Iran
Contra and missiles to be sent from Israel ta.IFAgure that one out in neat terms! Israel
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and post 1979 Iran? Cooperating? All organized by the U.S. White Hbrese@mber
an incident, | think ill985 Do you remember we had the Tomssiles and the Hawk
missilessomehow sent frortsraelto Iran?

Q: This is during the Iran Contra?
CREAGAN: The Iran Contré
Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: I think it wasN o v e mb evhenla®#lbmissiles weré be sent from

Israel to Iran via Lisbon. Why Lisbon is beyond me. | remember getting a call from the
Undersecretary ahe Portuguese Foreign Ministry, Pedro de Menezes, to come in right

away. In diplomacy, when called in by the Foreign Office, you go. So | dids told of

ashipment of missileat the airporand some guy, a retirégleneralSecord, and an Iran

destnabn and something about a White House fiOK:
going on? | told Menezes that we (1) did not knamything about itbut | could reiterate

ourclearpolicy]l said, fALook our policyison I ran is ¢
A Opaetri on Sahichumeantii®ot hi ng for I rano. We had | us
on Operation Staunch in Lisbon and the Foreign Ministry a few months before. | had

accompanied him to see the Foreign minidtéell, the Portuguese government

obviouslyhadgr ave doubt s ab o wsdthegstogpedlamy transslyipinenda ct i vi t
at the airport in Lisbon. No clearance. Thartuguesevere really old fashioned. People

|l i ke Ollie North or others may have played a
inMr.X Aspeaks for the white Houseo in order t
Portuguese, it was the U.S. Embassy which spoke for the USG, not individuals running

around with some association with the White House. And the Portuguese knew that the

Polt i cal Counselor of the embassy and the Cha
Secetary Shultz The Portuguese were very interesting that way; fheyed things
straight. Not tricky. They were not enamor ed

quaint butgood.

Q:Well |1 mean okay but on these missilesé
CREAGAN: Pardon?

Q: On these missiles | assume you reported back to Washington obviously.

CREAGAN: Absolutely

Q:And what é

CREAGAN:I  d bnowall the back and forth of what was going on behindteaes
but I think Secretary Shultz had not been informed.

Q: I mean was this sort of taken out of context?
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CREAGAN:As far as | know that was the end ofStop.t di dnét Te anywhere
Portuguese, as | sayereold fashioned

Q:OhGod.Youarebcky you didnd6t get caught i n some

CREAGAN:We |l | 't hat 6 s We pglaged it straightatihe ®sparimeng df $tate

played it straight and oéthed waredplayingbubitv what t he
seemed really stupid. Byahway, | considered theortugueseeally good orso many

issuesAnd we briefed them a lot, also with visiting emissaries. A favorite was General

Vernon Walters. Dyou remember Vernon Walters?

Q: Oh yeah.

CREAGAN: He would always @methrough and hévedbriefing the Portuguese on
intelligence matters and al | lfodnditcbmacal; he was
because he would be coming in froneeting with Prime Minister Andreotti in Italy (in

later years | took him into see the Pope foellbtriefings) and we would go see foreign

Minister Jaime Gama in Lisbon. Walters said he was switching from northern Italian to
Portuguese. Gama would reply, well you are not speaking our Portuguese. You are

speaking Brazilian. Walters was fun, had godepand was a good briefer. He could

switch from Brazilian Portuguese to Italian to other languages and always with a sense of

mystery and good humor.

Q:Well Vernon Waltersé
CREAGAN: He was amazing.

Q: He had been attached to the Brazilian divisioftaty during World War llas
military attaché in BrazilSo | mean he had diplomacy and language so | mean he
couldndét have been a more perfect envoy.

CREAGAN: Exactly, and he loved to tell stories and then we would always do the

serious business of thetelligence and all of thaEour yearsin Portugal went really fast.

We werecompletely involvedworking with really good people and democracy

flourished.Many of the civilian leaders, with the exception of the grand leader Mario

Soares, were really yogrbecause they had taken power from the military in 1974 when

in their twenties or early thirties. A Foreign Minister in his thirties and a Minister/Chief

of Staff (for Prime Minister Cavaco Silva) late twenties | think. When Jose Manuel

Durao Barroso (l&r EU President) came back to be Minister he was still a graduate
student at Georgetown in Washington. He and
Banana Powed also a disco as | remember.

In 1986 Portuggbined the European Unipwhich had a hugempact They went from

very low per capita incomef not much more than $2,000 per capita to over $10,000 and
up. They prospered in the European Union.
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Q: How did we feel about Portugal and the European Union at the time and did we feel
thatitwouldbesot of out gunned or é?

CREAGAN: We were in favor oPortuguese entryecausét would not do to have

Portugal, essential NATO allipanging on the edge of Europts traditional links with

the UKwere fine but that was no longer going to provi&a theidea waghatPortugal

and Spain come in together and twauld make for a more viable and expanded
European UnionThe close US/Portugal ties would remain and even influence the EC
and then EU. There were minor concerns of the nature that we couldahuitthethem
anymore on a bilateral basis. This included agriculture and the fganefically

modified cropsOverall, for the U.S. it was a good thingh@avePortugal andpain

going into theECin 1986

Our ties with Portugal were underlined by itgoortant role in NATO. Washington
understood that and we had both President Reagan at one time and V.P. George H.W.
Bush come to town. Vice PresiddBuishwasa wonderful man andery good in his

many roles, from UN Ambassador to CIA chief to V.P. to Ressi. He understood and
related to the Foreign Service and our people. Of course he had experienced the Foreign
Service personally as envoy to China.

Q: Yes.

CREAGAN: He was real people as you rememb&e set up meetings with Mario
Soaresthe Prime Miister, and there was to be one witHipe Gonzalezhead of the
Spanish Socialist Party. | got a call from Emilio Feo, Gonzalez Chief of Staff | think he
was. Feo said that Gonzalez would not meet with Bughe reason being that there
were upcoming eldions in Spain and Gonzalez did not want to be seen with Bush as
Felipe was in his anrtNATO phase (to satisfy the Socialist voters).

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN:Isai d, fAWhatHeoi yotur ynemg ?t oHecshiinge t he
ANo, heds no ithhgnoBush gill justh ameett owf i nd a reasonal
AWhat 6 s t hiieWeplrlo bflreasnakol dgheMATD, issui.il had tenotify

the staff. VP Bush isuch a great guthat it did notruin his dayor injure his egoThere

was time on our hands #itat point; and so FrarRarlucci and talked for a while in the

ol d ambas s a gwhichthad beee Essedaton@yborn Pell once told me that

he hadived there as a kid. id dad was th#linister to Portugal in the thirtienyway, |

sat thee with Carlucci and we talked about Portugish decade csoearlier Creating a

democracy was not a foregone conclusion.

Q: Well how did you find the Portuguese media because Carlucci was saying how during

his time of travail there he was really geginpped apart by the media there along with
practically blatant death threats and all?
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CREAGAN:Correct b ut Ca r Henewas whénsyoutdid moeknaw ehe
Portugalwas going | found the mediaigorous but it wasCenterRight andSocialist
primarily. It wasnot anywhere near as irresponsible as media | have knbvely were
giving some really good analys&lso about what waging on in Africa

Q: Well speaking of battles we had this war going on in Africa.

CREAGAN: Right.

Q: AndAngolaand Mozambique were right in the middle of this.

CREAGAN: Yeah.

Q:We must have had African specialists c¢omi

CREAGAN: In my political section | had one guy focused on Africa, Johnny Carson.
Johnny later on became ambassada@everal places in Africa and he wessistant
Secretary for Africa. Really sharp and very knowledgeable.

Q:Yeah, |l 6ve interviewed Johnny.

CREAGAN: So in the embassy we would follow it and, of courseouild follow it with
political partieswith thepolitical folks thereand then there grejournalists coming up
from Africa. Andwe had the Washington visitors as wellank Wisner, you remember
Frankée

Q: Oh yes.

CREAGAN: Frank was a DAS oAfrica then.He would come over with hiQffice
Director,Bob Gelbargdand othersThey were always coming throughn d we 6d s et
meetings and we OTthen difdtheyswouldfgb to Luandd_andsniaialyto
Angola to try and see what could be ddBet there is no doubt that Portugal, Lisbon,

was greass a listening post and also for getting people to come up theter. used

some of that that | had learned in Lisbon including the language and something about the
teams you know, sports teamhsised that in Rome when | was at the Vatican and |
becamean American link to ENAMO, the Mozambique rebglin a civil war. That is

another ®ry, butit goesback to Lisbon in a sensBy the way, just to complete the

embassy thing now I think i1985Frank Shakespeare cank@ank Shakespeare was

t heé

Q: USIAgroup there.

CREAGAN:Ni x o findbisr Ministero he would saySo he was head of USIA and he
ranCBS televisiomndthe Heritage Foundationn different waysFrank wantedo be

n

up

Ambassador t®ortugal and so Wen Holmes wasireassigned | et 6 sobeay, back

political/military assistant secretary in Washingtdinen Shakespeare came avel the
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career service, were dubious. But he Wiasl of fun He told it as he saw it. He wanted

to be Ambassador to Portughllletold our countryteanij | t t o o kondea&gdten s e

t h e Hebdutalked to Reagan and it took him ten secokds.were irritated with

that rather direct, and honest, description of how the U.S. system \Botkse had a

good relationshipand he had certain things that he was focused @mlap some interest

in Africa. Just to note the way he would run thinigs said to me latefter he had pulled

me out of Brazil to be his DCM at the Vatican, he would 8a{,r eagan, you t ake
t he State Depart ment aSo &rank wddighlytpaliical antdt h e Whi t
he meanto let things operate a professional way. Not a meddlere Was a good

conductor He emphasized the political agenda as he saw fit. He understood the big

picture and the stakes in the Cold War.

e

Q: You know onef the themes which runs through my oral histories on Portugal are the
Azores, the same way wiWerbthehagotmtobres fosthef i sh nego
Azores more or less handed to a team from Washington?

CREAGAN: Oh, when we were negotiating for thase agreement?
Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: The lead negotiator was Ambassador Allen Holmes. It worked well for
these Lajes Base negotiations. He dealt very well with the Portuguese negotiators.

Q: He had military professionalism.

CREAGAN: He wastrusted and kown by all the players on the Portuguese side. We at
the embassy were his first teamvorked the political account. Myolitical/military guy;
Patrick Folanhaddetailed knowledge of the issues. The DCM, Alan Flanigan, oversaw
developments. And he hinlsavas a base negotiator in later assignments. The Pentagon
lawyers and teams came periodically from Washington but the lead was Holmes. It
worked out well. Nowthe bottom line comes downto money We dondt pay for
bases in territory of fellow allie®ut the Azores was a good cause for aié.had to

figure out a way that would support economically the Azdsgshe way, in Portugal we

had an AID missiopand so we were still workingn Portuguese/Azorean development.
Theper capita incomwasone d the pooresin the world. The cash income of Azoreans
was under $1000, but because they had cows and cheese and milk and crops they were
not starving. Dignified rural. In the base negotiations good will carried us théibugh

along with some hard bargainisgen by some Portuguese as paying for bases and by us
as development aid and other creative projects. One creative idea was to set up a Luso/
American Development Foundatiarhich would have cultural and other activities. It got

a 50 million, if I recall,seed grant from the base negotiations account. So, if you have
someondike Allen Holmesas Ambassador, an experienced career FSO, it is best to have
him/her lead the negotiating team.

By the way just another anecdote George H.W. BushHe was meetiniylario Soares
and, of course, Mario is the prime minister and Bush invites him to Kennebunrkbent

86



| was with him at a meeting with the next Prime Minister, the Social Democrat (more
conservative) Cavaco Silva (later President of Portugal) and hesitmiiteto

Kennebunkport. That was the great Bush approach. He just built up personal friendships
with the world leaders. | think thatoved so important when it came time fioe 1991

Gulf War. Bush could buildip a coalition against Saddandhis occupabn of Kuwait

| just watchechim in actionmyself Impressive people skills and foresight.

Q: You know one of the themes which runs through my oral histories on Portugal are the
Azores, the same way wiWerbthehhagotmttbdedtse f i sh nego
Azores more or less handed to a team from Washington?

CREAGAN: Oh, when we were negotiating for the base agreement?
Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: The lead negotiator was Ambassador Allen Holmes. It worked well for
these Lajes Base negotiations. He dealy vzl with the Portuguese negotiators.

Q: He had military professionalism.

CREAGAN: He wastrusted and known by all the players on the Portuguese side. We at
the embassy were his first teamvorked the political account. Myolitical/military guy;

Patick Folan,haddetailed knowledge of the issues. The DCM, Alan Flanigan, oversaw
developments. And he himself was a base negotiator in later assignments. The Pentagon
lawyers and teams came periodically from Washington but the lead was Holmes. It
worked ait well. Now,the bottom line comes downto money We dondét pay for
bases in territory of fellow allies, but the Azores was a good cause for aidatto

figure out a way that would support economically the AzdBgshe way, in Portugal we

had anAID mission and so we were still workingn Portuguese/Azorean development.
Theper capita incomwasone of the pooresh the world. The cash income of Azoreans

was under $1000, but because they had cows and cheese and milk and crops they were
not staring. Dignified rural. In the base negotiations good will carried us thréugh

along with some hard bargaining seen by some Portuguese as paying for bases and by us
as development aid and other creative projects. One creative idea was to set up a Luso/
American Development Foundatiovhich would have cultural and other activities. It got

a 50 million, if I recall, seed grant from the base negotiations account. So, if you have
someondike Allen Holmesas Ambassador, an experienced career FSO, it is bestdo ha
him/her lead the negotiating team.

By the way just another anecdots George H.W. BushHe was meetinylario Soares

and, of course, Mario is the prime minister and Bush invites him to Kenneburikipent

| was with him at a meeting with the next Peifdlinister, the Social Democrat (more
conservative) Cavaco Silva (later President of Portugal) and he invites him to
Kennebunkport. That was the great Bush approach. He just built up personal friendships
with the world leaders. | think thatoved so impdant when it came time fahe 1991
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Gulf War. Bush could buildip a coalition against Saddandhis occupation of Kuwait
| just watchechim in actionmyself Impressive people skills and foresight.

Less effective in the people skills department wereSmaret Service and advance men

preparing a State visit. We had President Reagan in P98dident Reagan waeming

to Portugal and would meet with the Prime Minister. The Secret Service came in with

their dogs. Tiey just walked right into the primenstei6 s of f i ces and began
Now that was not hard to do, even if not well coordinated, because the Portuguese Prime

Minister and his offices in those days were basically open. The PM would walk down the

street without guards. You could just go upl &k with him. He would come into the

Club, Gremio Literario, where | was a member and just talk. No note t&ethese

guys, the Secret Service,goo t he PM6s of fices. Thaked br ought

right i nto the padstaraésniffimg arousdNe perinssioo godight.c e an
get a call from the prime ministerc hi ef of st af ThisisBaeyri magr diiCrr ce,ad a |
he says, AWedve just arrested your Secret Se

him. cssai dWhaybangHe ns?a0i d, AHow dar ¢othehey | usH
PM6s olf fgaied,0 AAIl ri ght , Asllrérhembestleealogwidétst we can
handler were releasefinyway, we had good personal relationships at the highest level

of the GovernmentfdPortugaland that was important.

Q: Was there any flirtation with Eur€ommunism both in France and Italy?

CREAGAN: Right, so you know how importa&uro-Communismwas in Italy and the
dangers thaa PCI electoral success might have undermined Itdkamocracyd and its
very membership in NATOWNell, in Portugalthat kind of scenario was not in question.
The Communist Party wasa t htainistofi S T h e Alviare @udha)mwith his big
shock of white hairwashardline. He had lived in Moscow. His P@vas not Euro
Communistat all. They were solidly against thNATO andagainst the idea of the
democratic Western Europ€he party was clear anttherefore, isolatedxcept for the
period immediately after the revolution of 1974. So, we had no problém wi
Eurocommunism. The PCP was stuck withybe 15 percent of the vote ahdt was
that.

Ql think it was Frank Carlucci who told me,
this really hardlined Stalinist guy who lookdike ahard-lined Stalinist guy

CREAGAN: | would agree totally and that continued into the time that | was.there
Cunhal and his party juput themselves out of the game.

Q: Yeah who was it in Italy who was really for a ehivas really charming everybody?

CREAGAN: Right,it was Emico Berlinguer, who used to go to hang out at the Catholic

church where | |ived i n Rome. He was handson
Cunhal was the opposite. We did not have to contend with Cunledily, as Carlucci

said the Communist Party jusiealt themselves out of the garitevaswin it al or lose.

They made atry withthafr | ef t mi |buttheylostitBy tthe DHDIHHGEOs t h
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USSR was changingiremember Mario Soares telling m@and1984that he had met
Mik hail Gorbachevn London. Hes different,opined Soarede is a totally different

kind of Communist leader. And that Gorbachev would have been anathema to Alvaro
Cunhal head of the Communist Party of Portydmcause Gorbachev was opth

what became Perestroika anc&iost. Sares saw iin him. It was England where they
met, | believe, an@hatcher was there to§oares said that he was impressed with the
guy. | guess everybody was later.

Q: That was probably the meeting where Maggie Thatcher said we can do bugthess
this guy.

CREAGAN: | bet.

Q: Just a touch more about Portugal could you talk about social life there and how it
worked professionally for you.

CREAGAN: Yeah, welldiplomacy as social activity was well established. Lots of
diplomatic corps activit. It was pretty constantnformation gatheringrom lunch to
dinner to receptions to State dinners and all #Wat.would meet with top individuals
from thedifferent parties anthere werdots of the evening diplomatic events where you
could get work doe.No place is as good as Brasjlast because of what it is in terms of
theease of getting together and dealing with issbesLisbon wasvery active Gwyn

and | lived in Sintra24 kilometerdrom the center of Lisbant was a beautiful setting in
the hills andoeople would come up there, the goldns, the diplomats, the journalists
and our embassy folksh€& heads of Christian Democratic Party, Socialists, all of;them
andwe would get them togethéWe became friends with many and it madagyeto

work with them on matters of mutual interest for the U.S. and Portugal. Small though it
is, Portugal often swung above its weight in matters of Europe and NATO as well.
Portuguese became heads of the EU Commission and all that.

Q: They always havgeahWh at about during the time you w¢
dates but | may be off on my dates but was there a problem dealing with Moael?
know wedbve used Portugal as a place to resup

CREAGAN:Ri ght , ri ght , 78&ndtherewwassaprobdem themother se, 0
October war, but that was when the dictdtoot Salazar who had had a stroke I think

but Caetano. There was some real tension over use of Lajes then. The Portuguese wanted
U.S. support for their wars in Africlo way. In the time | was there, from 1982 to 1986,

there were not issues adrfrontations or real tension on Israeluse of LajesAgain, the

Socialist Partyvasin government for much of that timand it wasvery close to the

Labor Party in IsraelThe Portuguese were trying to be very o@erdthey were hoping

that they coulevenbe part of the solutiorAnd so the Socialist International brought
together the I|Iikes of I|Israel dés Labor party,
forth.
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Q: Wel Portugal, of course, during World War Il was a bit like Switzerland whtezee
was intrigueé

CREAGAN: They were something, yes.
Q: Now was that going on when you were there?

CREAGAN:No, clearlyt hey wer enoét pléadyyheywgre thperatdito si de s ;

be an integral part of NAT@ the Western AllianceNo, you woul dnét have h
intrigue and all of that becausMatyonhdidy wer eno
have isone element from the days of Wokldar 1. Kings andexiled leades had come to

Portugal then or shortly after the war like King Umberto of Italyandthey were living

in this place Monte Estil in Portugal It had its gambling casino and one sensed a bit of

theintrigue of World War Il. Butthat was all.

Q: How alout did you have the electric revolution email and all that caught up with you
yet at this time?

CREAGAN: Not yet, not yet, we were still doingthedldd on 6t t hi nk we wer e
Airgrams anymore but certainly telegrainandthen we were into the sesuphone For

me, email was about a 1993 method of communicating within the embassy. My
predecessor as DCM and Charg®b at the embass
interoffice way. | instead called on the phone or went around to the offices.éarem

1993 for me. B the way you remember the CLLOommunity Liaison OfficerGwyn

held that position in sever al embassies, inc
She was CLO both to the Embassy to Italy and the Embassy to the Holy $ea#.tm

few offices that worked in both plac&3h, one thing | wanted to sabout the U.S.

Embassy in Lisboris that when | arrived in 1982 the embassy was in a building right on

the streetl meanwe were right on the sidewalRicture the whole builichg like an

apartment building on the streit Dugue de Loule. The embassy officesdifferent

floorswere apartments.remember my office had a bathtub, a little bathroom with a

bathtub next to itlt was a building totally insecurd.we had any of thseterrorist

incidents in that building wevould have beeblown up.But we were movingand Allen

Holmes forced the move out of this pretty crummy place into a new embassy with walls
andgardens and all that. We moved in before the new embassy waslreailyyas

necessary. We then were sety back from the roadVhenmortarswere lobbed at the

embassy, they did not do much damage.

Q:wWel I Ji m, I dm thinking this would probably

Okay, today is September tH¥, 2013 with Jim @&agan and Jim you are dfom
Portugal as political counselor.

CREAGAN: Correct, | think we talked some about that last tiamel | was just thinking

about some of the aspects of it and how Portugal had changed from theft@aekicci
intheseventie Dur i ng t he t i AdeB 61, wees wehreer e ,nvéo8 22y ed i n
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of the foreign policy kindvith Portugal as key all\Certainly by the time you got toward
198406 8vie were beyond concern with the domestic politics of Portugalbe it was
going to be a government that was Social Democratit thre Socialist Partyor perhaps
the conservativeddaybe the Reagan people likdge conservative better, at least
hypothetically, but we worked issue to issueemembethe Grenadanvasion. W wen
into Grenadalone and theasked for support from allies and othémsPortugal you had
a Prime Minister Mario Soares whas furious about Grenada but basically waanhg
with us We tried b work with them on Central Americhe Sndinistas were paof

the Socialist Internationaso you had a PortugueSecialist Partyhat was ambivalent.
On the part of the leadershidario Soares anHis teanvery much wanted to be with the
United States on the big issues.

| think we talked last time about thase agreemenit wasextremely important for us
Lajeswas a large and vital basethe Azoreslt was like a hugaircraft carrier in the

middle of the AtlanticUnder the leadership of Ambassador Allen Holmes we negotiated
a continued agreement aret sip something creativiethe LuseAmerican Development
Foundation Wepumped in about $40 million for some yeasd it did lots of important
thingsfor development but also culture.

Q: Was there much tie between Brazil and Portugal at that pd@iit?hey kind of have a
special relation?

CREAGAN: Yes, and that was kind of interesting and maybe even humadrbese was
obviously a very close connection for reasons of history and cWiliven the
Portuguese revoluti on headthereaftethe importnti n 674 an
families from the era dbalazar and Caetanere threatened. Champalimaud, Espiritu
Santo and others left Portugal and went to live in Brazil. The connection with Brazil goes
back to theld" centurywhen the Portuguese manhs fled to Brazil as Napoleon took

over the peninsulédne thing | remembéri these big houses in Lisbon wéeét

vacant they would be subject to invasiohheretornados those coming back from

Africa, temporarily occujed the housesf this group There were tens of thousands of
retornados The rich people went to Braahdworried One solution to avoid occupation

of the house was to rent to diplomatsh&dwe arrived it was kind of the end of that

period but you would have diplomats, U.S. andeat living in palaces and payiadew
hundred bucks a month rent

Then Brazil, of courseyasbecoming an economic giant and Portugasinterested in
participating in investments there, participating with Brazil in Africa as it became more
possible tanvest in Angola and former Portuguese colonies; it was Bitzedilhad the
constructiorgiants who were able and ready for Angola. In regards to
Portuguese/Brazilian relations, | remembee event of théstate dinneyandthe state

visit variety.JoseSarneywho was the president of BraaNas hosted by President

Mario SoaresThis was summet986while we were still in Lisbon but bound for Brazil.

They had one of those incredible state dinpetschthe Portuguese were good at. (I
remember a terriéi one for President Reagan.) For some reason, possibly because Gwyn
and | were being transferred to Brazil, the Soares team invited us to the Portuguese/Brazil
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affair. It was as if wavere in the days of the kiné lavish scene at the grand Queluz
Palace.

President Soares and President Sarney had signed a treaty or accord, cAlledrtie

Ortografica I remember So aowkaowthe Braziliansgwill madatea f t er ,
the accord by tomorrow. o0 The PorBrazijanse se tr i e
were | i ke the Ameri cans i nAnftlhercenamerittore 0 use of

Soares to meoncerned Brasilia where | had been assigned. He said thabthiem

with Brasilia, the capital, ighat it has n@squinaor corners or plazashere people

could congregate. It was smooth and flowing and in his view not a place for good
Portuguese urban living. Noace for people to come togeth€oncerning Sao Paulo, he
told me that he had just been there. He noted that there were abowswesy people

i n Sao Paul o a slowcanthatlbé tt thebaudghterBrazil)gsad big
and the mothefPortugal)i s s o Ss,yoa ¢ah seeeelationship which was deep but
sometimes even comical and in some sense culturally adetrgéei moved fom
Portugal to Brazi/l in 686.

Q: Well, in Brazil did you find economic developments basically dominating our
concerns?

CREAGAN: Absolutely, you are quite right that was the situaBoryet politicalchange

from the military governments wasll playing out. Sarney was the first civilian

president since the 1964 coup, and the country had to complete its transition with a new
constitution (completed in 1988). The political was of importance to us. Byaid

was going to be assigned Pditical Counselor to Italy under ibassador Max Rabb.
Remember him?

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN:Hewa s Re a g an 6, and khatbbaes thadisk officghen he was

nominated. Heised to call m@mothep because | tried to prepare him for his Senate

hearings bck in 1981 and he woukl a yes maéther, do | have toread tRis il woul d
tell hi m, fe¥aal an egsy hearidgpcause eterybody liked Max and they
didndét really t hr cAmywayadaxgwas bgingiagsneioass at hi m.
political counglor in Italyin 1986. Our Assistant Secretary for Latin America demurred

and DAS Bob Gelbard got to the DG with the word thaliylivas not politically sensitive

like Brazil and said something likeWe 6 ve got to pulDbndthilsetgulyi mt
go to Italy. Send him to Brazilbecause he is one of those who speak Portugueseaand
political expereiwerastileinteeestet ara toncernea with theé while

political openingoward civilian democracy in Brazil.

The economy wasometling of a mess.nflation was usually out of control. One of the
actions taken by President Sarney was to make an abrupt change in the currency. The
Cruzado was the new currency intended to freeze infldfiesident Sarneyitiated the
Cruzado Plan whertige simply froze everythingwages, prices and all of thathe

media and others saw it as economic miracle. Sarney was on the céuaeand
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Newsweek | think. Theywere important back tid n t h @oodnaketing is

important. But the iron lawsf @conomics permit very few real miraclesery soon

because prices were frozgou had goods being held off the market and pretty soon you
couldnét find beef, you c o urentemkietthefveeklyd t hi s,
magazines lik&/eja, puting on the front cover a Government of Brazil minister
Asearching for the fatted cowodo. They had all
were too low). Evidently hat p | a nandtheBraziiansrvecarl ik y di dndét get
economy togetherumti t h e e Whilé Iyasdh@r@ydushad this interesting

inflation running wellup tothirty percent a montiCrazy.

We had as ambassador one of the giedtatin America Harry ShlaudemarHarry had
been assistant secretary, Harry had been amthassn fact he had been my ambassador
in Peru, and he had been ambassador to Argentina and Brazil and sddoyhwas

there in BrazilWe were a pretty big embassy and when | think bfeflect onBrasilia,

the new capitalThey wanted everythiipo be orderly and this was
dream and all of thaf.hat meant diplomatic missions as wélluch inBrasilia revolved
around statd¢o-state relations antthe diplomatic missionsSo they stood up a diplomatic
quarter, if you will The numbepbne embassyesplendent there on tisboicecorner plot

of land was the Embassy of the Holy&dRelations with the Holy See were privileged
and the Papal Nuncio was always Dean of the Diplomatic Cohgsnumber two
embassy wasnd itmakes sense, Ragal, the colonial mothiemd.Number threevas,
appropriately, the lbassyof the United States of America, so there we sat as number
three Number four was Russié was still the USSR but it had a BiBussi& sign out

front. Numberfive, right nextto us was Francend thentie UK and then the others

Like that.We interacted a lawith all of them. At one point the.S. decided to build a

big wall around our embassyerrorism was aoncern in those yeads from thesixties,
seventies and eighti@swasa Latin American issue as well as in the Middle East.
Anyway, we built a wall around ugMy son Kevin, home for summer from college,
actually worked on it.) &e enoughweeks or few months later, tReissianstarted to

build a wall around their®iplomatic and security copycat.

The diplomatic life was very activand it wassocial so you would have next doar

French embassy tennis tournamamdl then we would host at our embagsythose

tennis tournaments, sort of low grade tournamentboattevents you would do your

work as well because you might hafreign ministy counterpart ther&Sometimes |

would do work with the assistant secretary of the Brazilian foreign mirsistrye rode

bicycles It was that kind of a city and that kindlan atmospherédmbassadoHarry

Shl audeman didnét have a | ot of wuseefor rece
woul d t eatch thignaad, he ioWd come in the front door of the embassy, shake

hands with the ambassador and the otherslarddoright out the back doot.would

stay and work the group thetde dealt with the big important guy in the foreign ministry

and that wasnodt r .dtavhslthg numibeetwoheoccareei ggylihe mi ni st er
Brazilian foreign officg(ltamaraty)andBrazilian diplomats were really top, top

professionals from thexcellentdiplomatic academysSothe Ambassador dealt with the

top guy, the equivalent of our deputy secretagguy named R#o Tarso Flecha de

Lima. He gotthings done that waythen we had Jim Ferrer, DCM was political
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counselor anavith a goodsized section. On economic and commercial istues t

Brazilians never gave an inchhey considered themselves maybe better prezared

better trained than uso we had intellectual propgiissues that were realfyrinding

The Brazilian approach then was to be essentially autochthonoustiitade in Brazil

Take parmesan cheese for example. It was to be made in Brazil and similar to the Italian
original. You, of course, had VolkswagendakRord and other automobiles made in Brazil
and then you had a Microsoft look alike made in Braile ideal was to cut imports of
finished products and do more finishing in Brazil.

A fascinating political development was the writing of a democraticticotisn for

Brazi,So | was t-00&8 ear d olma lilugwhg it wascyt short It

would have been a three ydaur but it was cut shortNow, the Brazilians worked on

their new democratic constituti@uring that timeln 1988 they ihished it.This was a
constitution how should | sayopenly negotiated and openly arrivedlatvas notike

the U.S. Constitutionwhere thefounding fathersvere in Philadelphighiding in a

building with windows closediuring a hoPhiladelphia summeOur founders wanted to
finish the drafting before presenting it for approval to the staieBrdzil theimpulse

was to be theew democracy, leaving the military behiffchat meant aonstitution

written with participation of tle peopleSo they hadwggestion boxes in all the citibke
Salvador, Ripand Recife. There were suggestionshier constitutionNow we, of

course, in the diplomatic community participated in the sense that we would bring down
professors from the United States and they dgide seminars to the Brazilidbongress

on our constitution or on developing a constitutibne Cubans would do the samaed
theydd send somebody down to tal.katrmbout the
American history is full of new constitutisnwell written and detailed. Practice is
something different. Discussions and bargaining took place in the social and the
diplomatic worldsGwyn reminds mehatshe would invite people to dinngrerhaps

there would béen Congressmenvited todinner b discuss these different matters in the
Constitutionamong themselvdsand the diplomats invited as well. Our dinners were
popular and Brasilia was casual; so | remember 30 or 40 congressmen showing up for
one large dinner in the garddnnot all invitedby name. We had good food and drink

and vigorougonversation about what would be the ideal political structure and how to
construct it. kept very close contact with@hhead of the Brazilian congressional
committee drafting the Constitutiégn BernardoCabral. He was the key drafter of many
provisions. The Constitution was passed and ratified in 1988. It could not be amended for
five years as | remember. It was unrealistic. Until then the times were difficult. There was
rampant inflation, impeachment tbfe President, corruption and all thahey finally got
thingsputtogether withthe presidency of Fernando Henrique Cardoso, who got the
economics right. | knew him as a professor in Sao Paulo.

Anotherthing that | remember rather clearly was the nacsassue As political
counselor | was coordinator of our State Departdemdrcotics progran¥e put in quite
a bit of money to work with the Brazilians on théte hadDEA presence as well.hE
Brazilians wanted to circumscrili3EA activity, because th Brazilians always are
extremelyconcerned witlsovereigntyissues and appearanceseemember one timéne
DEA wer enodt s ndermgasoand Sdo @auldree agsriot only got
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involved in aSao Pauldust hewas a little bit toaclose to the amn. Instead of standing
back and observing guess he felt he should take pdite foreign minisly threatenedo
toss the DEA out remembemworking with mykey contact, Ambassad@ilberto

Velloso, who was in charge of American affatrging to fix that.We did but it was

tough The DEA were not entirely guided missiles. | dealt with the Chief of Police for
Brazil, Romeu Tuma. We were tracking the flow of drugs frasio@bia They would

flow throughCuiaba in theMlato Grossatate over by Boliviand thend Sao Paulo and
out to Europe or Miami. DEA workedith the Brazilian police and sometimes found
thatairline employees themselves were involMegmember one caersationwith

Tuma about the impact of the drug traffic in Brazil. He toldtha in his mind Brazil
cooperatedvith the United State®r some mutual benefit. However, Brazil had no real
drug problem. Brazil was a transit country but not an important destination for drugs. The
problem was U.S. and European consumption. | remetaltieg him that he might think
they had no severe problem but within fixearsit would be very bad. Transit becomes
destination almost automaticallyure enough Sao Paulo had hundreds of thousands of
addicts within not so many years.

Q: Weretheresacal scientists and all saying the dr.
statistics in places like Colombia and Bolivia are pretty firm about what hapiens
overflow of drugs into the local market.

CREAGAN: Exactly, yeahPretty grim statisticsand by tke way the Brazilians
understoodhat as years went byhey are, how would you say it, the big boy in the
neighborhood and doing a lot of good work tryingtop the flow of cocaine from
Bolivia and elsewherd&he flow of drugs in the Amazon brought Biigan sensitivities
into play.We always felt that it was importattt stopthedrug tradeup in the Amazon

The military projected sovereignty by its own presence on the Amazonian boraeys. T
felt their sovereignty was easily abuspdrhaps by usyy Cdombiansand by
international drug traffickers.

Q: Speaking about sovereignty you arrived there shortly after the Malvinas business.
CREAGAN: Well, I was assigned to Brazil in 1986.
Q: How had Brazil reacted during that crisis between Argentina, GreatB ai n and ¢

CREAGAN: Well, you know they had no love lost for Argentina even though in the
years of military government trsmuthern cone was all military governments. The
Peruvianmilitary, for example, looked up to tigrazilian military forpointers ad for
strategy. The idea was thaetmilitaieswould be the engirsof development in Latin
America.So even if one military was lefin the political spectrurand one military was

right there was at least an understandivag, well, they wereone club In Argentina you

had the military, of course, and in Brazil you had the military at the time of the Malvinas
The UK was outsider so in the war you had some Brazilian support foeitjebor and

it was a for the neighbanilitary governmentBut supparwas tepid. Brazil and

Argentina were always competitive. Argentines looked down on Brazilians and Brazil
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was dwaysa neighborhood giant and n@panish speaking. So different. The two did

decide to put together a kind of free trade zone, called Merdbsvas not always good

for Argentina, as Brazil dominatédthe auto industry for example. Whatever the issue,

from Malvinas to Cuba policy, Brazil would want to distinguish itself from the U.S.

position. TheCubaofCast r o di dnot r estahtibfgr Bazl bunhitwamn yt hi ng
useful to goad the U.S. a bit on that embargo.

| had a neighbor whom | likeid CelsoAmorim. He later became foreign ministéut in
those days he wadinister ofCommerce He and his wife would come over for Sunday
brunch and we discussed the U.S. /Brazil issues in a competitive bubfi@ndly way.

Q: Well we were talking about the drugs andialladwe raised the issue of perhaps
putting in radar stations or basing planes?

CREAGAN: Yeah, at least when | was thehey were not really very favorable toward
installations or even full DEA presence. It took time for them to even approve DEA in

Sao PauloAgain it was a sovereignty issu&n issuewhich turned out wellvas the

nuclear issueBrazil had been developingidlear energyandwas tempted to gfor

nuclear armsArgentina was doing the san@bviously a strong push on the part of the
United Statesvas needed in order gt those countries out of the business of trying to
compete in the nuclear arddne Braziians developed nuclear power, and the Germans
worked with them on a plant near Angra dos Reis (Rio area). In the end Brazil gave up on
weapons and joined in declarittge South Atlantic a nuclear free zoieh at 6 s an i ssue
that turned outerywell, and he South Atlantic Nuclear Free Zone cowdd shoulde

a lesson for other areas of the world.

Q: Did the Brazilians use Cuba as a point of irritation against us siscthe Canadians
have?

CREAGAN: That is a good analogy. When | was Consul Generaeinte ar | 'y 19906s |
would meet with Luz InacioLula da Silva, then a union leader and always candidate for

the presidency on the worker party ticket. F
bl ockade of Cu b aThens$woolpalways expldinitoohceknma dceh.adt it 6s
bl ockade itds an e inlal,Ggrmany etci eveeybody who er ybody
wants to trade with Cuba can deal with Cuba. But we choose not to do so.

Q: Sometimes there are these thiing§you are, as we are, kind of a super poivgou

canot r eal |l y -oodnanhjor ssues but araindihe pedphery you can sort

of annoy wusé

CREAGAN:Tha t 6 s I|think thé most annoying and difficult for us would be in that
economiécommercial area and in areas of intellectual priypend so forthWe did work
the democracy issues. We had glegte for the flourishing of democradyut | must say
that somany flowers bloomethey kind ofcrowded one another out or got caught in the
weeds or somethin@n the one hand the 19868 &riogpwas very headrazil was
developingdemocracyandthe militarywasstepping back
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Q: When you were there can you describe the gowvent what was happening with it?

CREAGAN: Thecivilian, Tancredo Neves, who had opposed the military governments
and was the preferred choice of the electorate for first civilian president, died before
taking office. His Vice President, Jose Sarney, who was from the Northeast and part of
political balancing, then took office as the first civilian president since 12fey

came from an area with traditional rural val
but not modern either. Neves had been from the more modern south and central state of
Minas GeraisYou know they used to say that Bragithe number one eaomy in Latin
Americaand Sao Paulo is number two economy in Latin America and Mexico is nhumber
three It was like thatBut a disproportionate part of the political leadership is out of the
Northeast. The party that ran the Congrdssninant in the Conrgss was called PMDB

or democratic movement party.avy of tre democratic and civilian political leaders had
beenexiled by the militaryi just plain kicked oubf Brazil back in 1964 So now in

1985, 1986 and 1987 theyerein charge and popular becaukey were antmilitary all

those yeardn fact, Professor Fernanditenrique Cardozo was one of thoste was one

of those who ran the congress, wang-military 1 at least by the late 1980 $ou had

a kind of dynamic tension in the CongreEs.giveyou an example of goverrgi had

gone to Recife where we had and still have a Consulate GeReeglovernor whdad

been kicked out by the militafyor fAcommuni st o0 | eani was was ba
Miguel Arraes. In Rio the governor back from {ire-1964 period was Leonel Brizola.
Brizola and Arraes were faocialchange I n t he 19606s we had some

distinguishing the social democratic left from Marxists linked with Soviggsnember

Arraes inRecifetellingmei | candt thdgoad khe W.$. haa dogetfan Brazil.

Okay, youdve built this road, AID flomilt this
herebut you s qguel Sohyeudhaddhesmoldtguys cogningdback and you

could argue with thepbut they were really #hold guard and were rewarded, of course,

by the peopldor the years of exileBut then new politiciansame along and Brazil

became very vibrant and changing democratjeyh ad nét real |l y fi gured
were going to organize the Congress or llo&y were going to organize the constitution

and it wasa little bit chaoti¢but with optimism.

Q: Well how about the press, the media?

CREAGAN: Yeah, very activelf | compared the press there with the press in Portugal
the Portuguese pressmuld be onsiderednore analytical andell-disposed to widking
with the United State§ he Republicans were office in the U.S. Tie press had be¢oo
close tothe militaryin some areas.

The thing about Brasiljas | think in some ways in contrastanyothe pl ace, | 6ve be
is the fact that it was really a political city, a government city, a diplomaticlergan it

was operwith free flowing space. You could get around fast. You could do three

diplomatic receptions in one evenidgand get lots of infoThe press was working the

political scene as well. Now, Brasilia was not an exciting city. It was not Rio. And the

ANew Yorko of Brazil was always Sao Paul o. I
activity in those years that the Italian Ambassadorld/gell me upon returning from
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Rome, that Rome was impossible with the traffic. You could not get where you wanted to
go. On the other hand Brasilia was great with no traffic. But there was nowhere to go. |
found apolitical effervescence in Brasilia arfietdiplomatidnteraction. You could bmm
constant touch with the foreign ministry tire issues.

Q: Well how was the conflict in Central America viewed there?

CREAGAN: Well by that time(1986)there was a search for an agreement so the
Brazilians wouldhave been very supportive of what they called@batadoraProcess
Theywould be working with Costa Rica, anéetito get an end to the violence and to get
some kind of agreement in Central Americal986 the Brazilians led the Rio Group,

which broudpt together th€ontadoragroup and the support group with Brazil. The U.S.
was not thrilled with the Brazil role. But it played a part in bringing peace to Central
America a few years later. ®\always had visitfom Washington. | remember in a
particularway a visit by Assistant Secretary Elliot Abrar@gntralAmericawas his

focus, of course. He arrived in Brasilia, but his luggage did not. Elliott was wearing
sneakers and Levis | think. Wkd a meeting with President SarneytE | | i ot t di dnot
have cbthes | called Gwyn and she found a pair of my black shoes and a tie and suit. He
looked good. @ we went off to see PresideSarney | got acomment later that

President Sarnegpined that the Assistant Secretary was wearing my tie. He probably
knew mae than we imaginednyway, Elliott fit into my shoess well. We had a lot of
CODELs in Brasilia in that year of the Constitution. Senators Chuck RobBiknd
Bradleyand others saw the importance of engaging with Brazil because of its economic
weight and as it moved into democracy.

Q: Prior to that Brazil had been sort of relegated to the outskirts of diplomacy by the
Americans?

CREAGAN: Yeah, I think if you talk diplomatically they hit below their weight so to

speakThey really were kind of lookingp nwar d and so t.Momhals one as:;g
military governmerg; you had some terrorisfRemember our ambassagdBurke

Elbrick, had been kidnappdtltwas not killed Our Consuln Porto Alegrecame under

fire and, | think, attempted kidnapping. Theras theproblem of terrorisnand of

repression. Brazildoked inward.

Q:Say in |l ooking inward?é

CREAGAN: When | was there it was the opening, if you will, to the world and to
democracy and all of that.

Q: Say at the embassy among other embassies bwdsthere a discussion about
whether Brazil is going to be a major power and all it should be?

CREAGAN: Yeah there certainly was always a discussion there and Brazil being what it
is: a country of the future and always will be.
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Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: No, there was not yet the evidence that this truly was one of thmoligrs
thatwe see in recent years with the BRIC and, especially, the major economic ties with
ChinaThat didnoét rtheepdriddynloaldgpwden | was Gnsul

General in Sa®aulo The U.S. did have a lot of investment th&kk probably had over
30-35 thousand employees at General Motmrdmaybe 25 thousand at Ford Mator
Volkswagen was big as the Germmamere thereso just for tle Brazil market itself you

had a lot of adtity. By the wayto digressby 1986 Brazil had developed alcohol cars,
ethanol carsl boughtone myselfa VolkswagenBrazil developed ethanol carsdain

more selsufficiency in fuel. Thetroveto befree of the devibil. They developethe
suga cane/ethanol industry. That put them in good shape on eridrgy.were also in
very good shape in the aeronautical indystiyich | later saw uglose aghe Gnsul
General in Sao Pauld@he frmEMBRAER, which makes a lot of regional planes that we
have in the U.S.is in Sao Paulo statEMBRAER had been a military government
company and thegrewout of that

Q:Wel | here is this is major, really major,
developed defense industry but would you all sit ar@nmttisay yeah, but what are they

going to use the tanks for?

CREAGAN: Right, right.By that point therevas not a concern that they might use the

tanks in the region, sotospeg&kut t he military ran tohat gover
so. A lot of the miltary hardware they had was good for show. Oh, and sales td Iraq
Saddambés regi me.

Q: Toys, yeah, but we understand.

CREAGAN:But youbve got to have it, you have to
was valuable for export as wedlo they made soenpretty good oned3.hen they had a

missile program as welHeading off the missiles importantOkay,t hey wer eno6t goi
to the moon yet buhey; if the U.S. can have its satellites up then Brazil can too.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: They had a launch pad the north so there was that.

Q: Were theyuilding stuff as most of the equipment had alreadgrbdeveloped in
other countries?

CREAGAN: Do you mean like in computers?
Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Yeah, we had MSDOS and there is no doubt that things lookethé&ke
were still parallel and so close that they were copyidgworked on those things a lot
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Brazil was capable of great projects. | think of the Itaipu Dahich is down on the

border of Paraguay, Argentina and Braltiproduced] think, 12.6 millon megawatts of

powerand made ouoover Dam look really small.remember | took Senator Bill

Bradley out to see it arfte was blownaway. t hi nk i td6s the | argest |
Chineseé

Q: The ThreeGorgesDam.

CREAGAN: ThreeGorgesyeah.l mean very impressive stuff they could buldell

that meant tremendous influence over Paraguay after all which was a partner which could
use a little biof that power. Influence ovdolivia because Brazil was developing

Bolivian gas depositsnlrecentyearsEvo Morales' | think unwiselyi hadhis guys go

over the wall to the Petboasinstallation in Bolivia andhatteed off the Brazilian$ig
brother.Bolivia had gas, had some deposits, and Brazil needed the ghecgyse Sao
Paulohas almos20 million people, ad major industriest heeded to be fed with energy

Q: Did Lula appear at all when you were there?

CREAGAN: | met Lula andhenworked withhim later when | wagonsulGeneral in

Sao PauloHistrade union was extremely important in tneomotiveand other

industies. Sao Paulo was the economic heartland of Brazil. The action was in Sao Paulo.
For example, of sixty or so congressmen from the state of Sao Paulo, about 58 went home
for the weekends. Much to do. Brasilia was quiet on tbekends for that reasorthat

the political leadership left townoF Lula the action was Sao Paual® well When | first

saw Lula, | was struck by the Italian connection. On the @fdlis offices were all these

posters for the Italiametal workergrade union the FIM-CISL. | askedwhatthey were

doing on the wall, because | had dealt with the Italian metalworkers years ago. Lula said
that they trained the Brazilians in striking
assembly line.

Q: What wa your impression of the politicians in Brazil at the time and their
effectiveness?

CREAGAN: They were new at being able to organizieenocraticCongressso it was

kind of chaotic irmanyways There was corruption and interesting vote tradiigere

was a classic case where they took a photo of one of these Cangreskeating. fiey

had electronic votingvherebyyou press a button at your degkcongressman leaned

over to a desk where the congressman was absent and punched the vote button. There

wasa really good photo of that taken by a sharp journditsat was just kind of fun and

illustrative of what would be going on the newCongressThe leaders were older men

|l i ke Ulysses Gui maraes who had | edhet he party
military. The more impressive personal leadership came later when those like Fernando

Henrique returned to the political scene.

Brazil is so huge and its politics were very much centered on the states. That had been an
old tradition. The Northeast haddisproportionate share of the political power, if you
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base that on population. It was the tlblitionalBrazil and the politics in some of those

states was stildl l ed by the old | anded fami/l
198006s $&dmitHe Nortleeastremd not the powerful economic states like Sao Paulo

or Parana. Bcausef the1964 coupand the military governments for the next twenty

years, the body politic had slumbered likRip van Wrinkle New leaders for the new

Brazil had notyet developed.

Q: This is one of the things that are so oftergotten when you have something like a
military dictatorship for some twenty odd years oy the political process suffers
because there are whol e g e nrnencaadfpobtickilg.t hat | us

CREAGAN:Ex act |l y, yeah Inawatheytare ludkystheg had this u e .
professor FernanddenriqueCardeo, who wasan excellenpolitical scientist and
pragmaticeconomistHe had been removed from his job by the militamy came back
later as Minister of Finance and then president.

Q: Were we concerned basically as a country about terrorism?

CREAGAN:Notvery much in the mid 198006s. I n fact
embassy, we had been wide open. Brasilialikaghat. But we were not so concerned. |
remembeA mbassador Shl aude ma What awastelVigaf arefwd/h at t he
doingbuilding a walP ®ut we built it. And theRussians were concerned enough to at

leastbuild their own. There was concern ferrorism in thed 7 b snanydifferent
countries in Latin Americd. s sues in the 19806s werevol ved oul
reduced to one AID employeafter massive projects in the prior decades, it was cutback

time. | remembel would go to Recifdor political visitsT and to see if we coulsustain a
consulatehere And yes, it was important and necessary to have that presence in the

Northeast. It was much of traditional Brazilian reality. | remember talking with the great

Gilberto Freyre at his house @njunglelike garden area of the city. We discussed the

essence of being Brazilidnthe mix, the Cosmic Race of Portuguese, AfriBaazilian

maybe some Indian and then all the rest. The northeast embodied that culture as

descri bed i n sbciolegicd WoBKOThes Mastdrsaasdshie Slav&ecife

was also the home of that great Archbishop/Saint Dom Helder Camara. He was bishop of
Recife/Olinda during the military governments and was a champion of the poor and a

thorn in the side of the militaryrhey censored him. He was up for a Nobel Prize but

some say the military lobbied against it in Sweden. When | saw him he had retired and

was living in a simple two rooms with hammock and plain wooden table. | did see a

photo of him and Pope John PawiBiting Brazil in 1980 or so. Two guys in white and a

sea of people.

Recife had been the center of the peasant leagues. These were sharecroppers and poor
peasants trying to band together to counter the power of landlords. The leader in the
196 0 6 s nomseoslulide aral the center was Recife. The military government kicked
him out, of course. | saw him in 1970 in Cuernavaca Mexico where we both taught at the
Centro Cultural de Documentaciati Ivan lllich. | taught about trade unions and he

taught aboubrganizing the agricultural workers. | was conservative in the sense of
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seeing unions in pattern of AKCIO and he was Marxist. So, Recife was important to

keep open. Now, we also had a consulatealvador Bahisandwe were down to one

guy. With a postyou need an officesome security and driver and some classified

ability. We could not justify keeping Salvador open in the budget crunch. The consul was
able to move to the ConGen, Rio. So, we closed Salvador and then Belo Horizonte as
well. Wec o u | juktifydbohe guy thereso we Ié the USIS person but closeceth
consulateAnd then it was the turn of Porto Alegrénéfe was money ithe diplomatic
securityaccountpecaus®ur embassy iBeirut had been blomup. So, we built a wall

in Brasilia, butcould not keep consulates open. | never worried about terrorism in my
travels throughout Brazil.

Q: How is living in this peculiar diplomatic city?

CREAGAN: It was kind of fun.You still went out and looked for your own housihg

found agrand place wich was what they would call a Portugu&ssar or villa. | believe

a prior AID Director had also lived in the place. W a huge expanse of area behind

the house which went all the way to this artificial lake that they built in Brasitiass
thelakewasanother huge expanse of land and then the Chinese em8as#faced the

Chinese Embassyots of propertyl remember | had a Rhodesian Ridgehackig dog

of about 110 poundg#He ran freely. More than once he chased people out of the area
behindthe house (not fenced)nCe t i me we had a ¢ u,dutwde Il canodt
did not have guard permanentlyf remember coming home and finding the dagping

at the guardTheguard would put a chair up and try to protecthimsédile dog wasnot
goingto bitehim, but thoughthe chair was a game. The house was great for lawn

dinners and for entertaining of the serasual $§port finoin Portuguese) variety.

Q: Who was the ambassador when you were there?

CREAGAN: Harry $ilaudeman was his name; ondlué greatsBy the way | enjoyed

Brazil and | was totally engaggout this guy, Frank Shakespearch 0 was Reaganads
Ambassador to Portugal ahdd been my boss there, got the Vatican embassy after

Portugal Wwen he went there hBCBHB.dheDepartimdntolddant Cr e a
him that | was not availablé. s ai d, fil dondét really want to
But Shakespeare worked at it and they kept giving him ndoa¢ée rejected them. He

must have gone to the White House, bectiuseext hi ng | know in 1988 I
and sent to the Holy SeeHatyShldudemansadn k Shakesp
ACreagan, why are you ahadbegmyamimassadoring me f or
Peru and from there | was assigned to NafNesv | was higpolitical counselor in

Brasilia and they pull me out to go to the Vatickie lamented that his post in Europe,

Romania, | think, was not Rome.

Q: How long were you dealing with the Vatican?
CREAGAN: From 1988 to 1991. As | noted, my Ambassador thedeblean my boss in

Portugal.Frank was a very special kind of guy. There were certain things he focused on,
whether it wasn Portugal oatt he Hol y See, ®eople i theiReagasn he di d
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White House weraterested in Portuguese Africa andsuporting Savimbi a&JNITA

rebelleaderin Angola In Mozambique some of them supported RENAMDe rebels

in MozambiqueWell, thatwas not our policyl remember one time a guy from the

White House in Portugal, his name wasnstantindVlenges, cam# Lisbon and | took

him to see Soares. He wiadling thePrime Minister abouneed tasupportRENAMO in

Mozambique | noted for Soares that was not our policy and the policy was outlined in

speeches of George Shultz, Secretary of State. Basically, U.S. wabcgimed to wean

FRELIMO (GOM) away from the East Germans and USSR. We provided AID as well.

Frank Shakespeaexpressed many views on Africa held by conservative Republicans of

the day. It was to challenge everywhere Marxist governments aided by tie¢sSovE.

policy was really more nuanced than that. Now, if Shakespeare was going to do

somet hing not in sync with telbtatethat at ed pol i cy
AmbassadoBhakespeare iff the reservation again. Il li ked him and he v
like a laser on many things of importance. When assigned to the Vatican as his DCM |

saluted and off | went tRome. Just like Brer Rabbit. It was the summet388.

Q: Today is the 17 of September 2013 with Jim Creagan and Jim you remember you
moved ¢ your new assignment.

CREAGAN: Right, so | am on my way from Brasilia in the summer of 1988 to the Holy
See.

Q: Yeah, you were there from when to when?

CREAGAN: | arrived in the summer, maybe August, of 1988 tuesh departed for Sao
Paulo as Consul &eral Sao Paulo in January 1991.

Q: Okay, could you just do a brief account of how we developed relations with the Holy
See because it had been a controversy for a while and then how things were at the time
you were there.

CREAGAN: Okay, recalling oncepon a time there was the Pope, of course, with his

Papal Statdf you looked at it that wayand the United States did was a state like any

other with a couplef significant port§ CivitavecchiaandLivorno. We hadcommercial
relations with thé/atican inthe 19" century andjust as théRevolution of 1848 took

place The Pope was driven out of Roriug a time. He came back with the help and
protection ofFrench troopsTheU.S. maintained relations until after our Civil War. By

1868 it looked as ithe Pope were tlmse control othe Papal States and Rome itself. The
USG was also not pleased with a letter that the Pope had defiteicson Davisluring

the war, addressing him as President of the Confederate States. It was not recognition but
itwas acknowl edgement of Davisodo Iwghtieer t o hi m.
Union folks.By late 1868 the Congress cut off all funds for any diplomatic relationship

with the Holy Segwhich meant basically that theersorwe had there at the tinfead to

leave.
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Then there were ndiplomaticrelations until World War IlAs the war clouds
developedFranklin Roosevelt thought it best to have somebody at the Holsigbeén

the heart of Fascist Italy. HEesignated a personal representative, who hadthegdEO

of U.S. SteelMyron Taylor.But themostinteresting thing is tht, as war broke out in
Europe, therevas a Foreign Service officddarold Tittwell, in Rome and at the

Embassy to Italy who became attached to the Taylor miskayhor wouldgo bak and

forth to Rome, as did lat&resident8personal representativdsemembeHenry Cabot
Lodgeas one in the time of President Nixon, andyidr Wagerof New Yorkwith

Carter. They would go to Rome and would stay atGrend Hotel in Rome fax few

weeks each timenlWorld War [IHarold Tittwell actually took up residence in the

Vatican (neutral territory). Other diplomats, including British Ambassador Osborne, did
the same. Tittwell provided valuable confidential reporting during his severalliyéags
inside the VaticarAfter World War Il PresidenTruman thoughthat itwas time forfull
diplomaticrelations with the Vaticgrand he named General Mark Claokbe

ambassador. Clark haxeen the general, of course, whas Commander dhe 5"

Army. His army invaded Italy at Salerno and came through Naples, Monte Cassino and
up from Anzio. He was the general who led the armies entering Rome on June 4, 1944 as
the Germans withdrew. So Truman thought it would be good to name Mark Clark as
Ambassadoto the Holy See. Wrong mov€lark was roundly hated by some of his
troops, the TexaBivision, because they haaken MonteCassinowith heavy losses.
Senator TonConnallyof Texasat that point was chairman of tBenate Foreign

Relations @mmittee Clark was assured of beimgassacred in the Sendtéke 85 to 15

so Truman withdrew the appointmefith en Kennedy di dn.ddewaeave any
Catholicand wary of backlasiNixon sent Henry Cabot Lodge as a personal
representative again.

When Reaga came inn 1981 ,he and his best frien@r actwally the wives were best

friends) Bill Wilson got together and haskedBill where he wouldlike to go as

ambassadolVilson, of coursetepliedi orsohetoldméfin The Vati can, the Hoaga
AYou .YyoudridS Ambeassador t ¢ReagaretoldthiomiVell, asSite e 0
turned out we didndét h;gohewadivr. Wilsoibd s sy at t he
remember those dayisecause | was in charge of Italian and Vatican Affairghe State

Departmentesk back in Washingh. Then Wilson and Bill Clarkyho was deputy

secretary of State but a close friend of Rea
certainlydomestically a lot more powerfulthanSecretary of Staté&| Haig. | remember

a meeting witifi J u dCiaek, @ill Wilson and meWi | s o nHoswa icdo,mefi | 6 m Mr .
Wil son and Max Rabb |Ineadtodbendmbassadodaad the presidént al y ? 0
waht s me t o be asnbiad,s aibDhatodéLlrae&l |y touchy p
aboutitot si de of Sathaiwas thadowveverdhgresidenand friends

worked on it quietly, Bill Wilsorpushed it and b$984 there was enough support in

Congress to have an ambassador approved by the Sendtee r r y Fal wel | and h
Maj or i priedandangresandid its ban omoney being sent to support

diplomatic relations with the Vaticaiilson got through the Senatgth an

overwhelmingvote of81-13 and we hadraambassador to the Holy Sébad gone to

Portugal i n 1 Qo the various dcticn®thatit@ok matce ok the domestic

front.
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It was 1984vhen we established formal diplomatic relations with the Holy Sg4.986

Wilson got himself involved in some things that were outhkidgortfolio,the Holy See

Because Wilsomwas a friend of Reagan, Italian political leaders used him and he got

involved in some Italian political machinations involving Libya. It did not work out so

well. Wilson resigned, and threan who was my ambassador in Lisbon whéerad been

political courselor, Frank Shakespeabscame the second U.S. Ambassador to the Holy

See. He really wanted thathad gone off to Brazil i1986. In 1988 Shakespeare was to

pick a new DCM. He indicated that he wanted me. The Department was opposed as there
wasalisof possi ble DCMés and | was still on my
When asked, | said | was fine in Brazil. However, Shakespeare, former head of the

Heritage Foundation and USIA Director under Nixon with a lot of clout with the White
House,nsisted.d m | i ke Br 6 er Rab b iat Patecheof Roge anditmeo wn i nt
Vatican.So | went to work for Ambassador Frank Shakespeare in the summer of 1988.

| can also tell you a little bit about that embassy then and how it is different.
Q: Yeswould you pleasddow did you operate?

CREAGAN: Let me just back up about the Washington side of-M&ican diplomatic

relations. The Holy See had an Apostoliel€yatethey calleditb ecause t hey di dn
have diplomatic relations with ukle was a verimportant guy whavas a key to the

USNatican relationship all the way up to the 2680®lis name is Pio Laghi. Cardinal Pio

Laghi talked withPresident Bush before the invasion of Irag in 2008king the point

about gravity of invasiorynintended coregjuences, Sunifs h iisSuas and hof that.

Back in 1980/1981 he was the Apostoliel®gateto the U.S. Church. We had an

informal diplomatic relationshipandwe would deal with him at the State Department.

Poland was in turmoilThe Slidarity trade mion was being createWe wanted &lose

relationship with tle Polish Pope and the Vaticdiremember Cardinal Casarolfatican

Secretary of State (Prime Ministeigme to Washington in 19&hdmet with Secretary

of State Haigl was note taker and olmusly it was allabout Poland. Haig was very

respectful of Casaroli. Only time | observed that particular trait in Gen. Haig. In the

informal relationship, Pio Laghi was the Vatican rremember Larrfagleburger, our
AssistantSecretary for Europe tshgmetoi c @aInldo Pi o Laghi f or somet h
Now when you call an ambassador to come into the State Department they have.to come

It is a diplomatic thingSo | calledthen Archbishop Pio Laghi and told him Eagleburger
wanted him to come inrigh t hen. Laghi said, ABut Mr. Crea
diplomatic relations s o | dgomdutif MraBagieburger invites me for coffee

| Gakckp | say this to note that we had a long, if informal, relationship with the Holy

See.

Our embassyo the Holy See in 1988 was classic, a political embgstoto. No

economicor commercial ectionsWe were a pure diplomatic po3there was @olitical
appointeeambassadognd as it has turned out they are always Catholic. There was and is
an experiaced Foreign Service officer, DCMVe dways had just top notgbolitical

officers and that would be a kdyhad Craig Kelly who went on to lembassador to
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Chile andDeputyAssistantSecretary of Stateand Debbie Graze, who was really good

and with greacareer and a DAS as well. WWlad an administrative officemd our own

budgetbut we di dndt do t healltha.\Wewere aupgorteedbyof b ud g e
EmbassyRoméelhat 6 s t he onl y t hi rogusbthésessthat Ro me ¢ o
theycouldbt get i nvol vd aurrelationghipwith theuHoly $edlaitlver

the Holy See nor Italwould approve of themabassadoto one being the ambastorto

the otherThey had to have different peopénd they had to cover the Holy See from

somevhere elself you represented a smabuntry without the abilityd have two

embassies in Romgou coveredhe Holy Seerom France or Spain but never from

Rome On theadmin side we could get the suppiooim our Rome embassilso, the

RSO served bothWe had our own drivers and contract secuBty.we had an

ambassador, DCMolitical officer, admin officer, ad a very keyJnited States

Information Service officeas well as an active protocol office. USIS was important, as

we were in constant publdiplomacy dialogue with the highly educated citizens of the

Holy See. | remember the di aHroblgnsef occasi oned
Communisne and so forthAnyway, there was a need and use for the information from

USsIS.

Then we had a small Maercontingent of six and they were, of course, supported by the
larger Marine contingent across tovlrhey ived atour embassgnd had a very special

life I think. Theyhad relations both official and social with the Swiss Guards who were
their counterpast So that was kind of fun, | think, for the Marin@fien we had really
expert Foreign Service nationals, one American citwign fluent Frenchwhich was, by

the way the official written languagat the Holy See, Italiawas and ighe unofficial
languagespoken by everybodyon the Holy See side you had a very talented diplomatic
corps coming out of the Vatican Diplomatic Acadermliyese were people from around

the world Members of the Vatican diplomatic conpsuld beltalians, of course, but also
Frenchmen, Argentines, Germans, Americans and so.forth

Q: Where did you live?

CREAGAN:Yeah, that 6s r e alktlmg staktfirst ¢ith thé chancety.er e st i n
The embassy itself was acquired by Bill Wilson who was always very good, | must say,
in geting properties for the U.S. government or for U.S. governmenbesause we
reallywere not buyingropertiesHaving quite a fortuneBill would offer to use his
personal money for many things in hope, | am sure, of getting repaid down the road.
And remember he was personal friends of the Reagaasaadfjuired under lease the Villa
Pacelli It was a villa about guarter mile from the Vatican, a beautiful villa where Pope
PiusXIl had spent a lot of his youth; it was his uggléthink, villai thePacelli family

villa and what a great chanceiyhen Bill Wilson had seen to it that it was properly

attired with beautiful chandeliers and terri§itk coverings and treatments.The kind of
place suitable for Vatican diplomadyor the ambassadawe hal leased the residence of
the president of the American Acadertguward the top of the Janiculum Hilt.was a
beautiful residencelrhe American Academy at one point could no long afford to be
there, to keep it, to have their resident president, if ydiuaviexecutive director in

Rome staying thereso they ended up leasing it to us at great advantage, | think, to the
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American Academyinancesover thelongrunwWe | ease it and itodés prol
lease as the residence of the ambass#dgrould have been bought years agbat is

another example ofwery shortsighte€ongress. | remember thambassador

Shakespeare would really give them fagltl with good reason. One day the Chair of the

House committee in charge of State Departrapptroprigionswas in Rome and getting

a briefing from us at the Chancery. He was probabHaped and was dozing a bit as

Shakespeare talked. When the Ambassador began to describe the facilities he shouted

that if his son was as irresponsible as the Congressnting a house rather than buying,

Al would have him HORSEWHI PPEDO. The congres
good explanations such &a400 years went by with no U.S. representation at the

Vatican. That was understood based on U.S. Politics artthallBut once relations were

established, there could be no political possibility of the U.S. breaking relations with the

Holy See. Therefore, there could be no financially sane reason for not obtaining the

property for a U.S. Residence. All seem to un@desd. Nobody does anything. That is the

U.S. congressional reality.

| was theDCM. When we arrived in the summer of 1988, the place under lease for the
DCM was incrediblelt was the Villa(Medici) dd Vascello. t had been in thBoria

Pamphili family anl later theMedici. The villa wasbuilt around a Roman theaftienot so
practical but an incredible dwellinghe ancient Roman walls surrounded it; thegked

battle worn, and theannon balls that had been fineadhe battle of the French against
Garibaldi in the revolution of 1848re still embeddedt had a tree growing abig huge
vinereallyT growingright in the middleof the dining roonand encased in glass. When

it snowed, the flakes would drift down to the table as if one were outgidevila

looked ovetthe Villa Abanelekwhich was this grandilla and @rk that was th&oviet
Embassyo Italy andlaterthe Russiaftmbassy| nevergot into it while it was the Soviet
embassybut | had the privilege of being friends with the Russian analolass/ears later

in the new centurywhen | was president dbhn Cabot University iRome.We stayed

at the Villa de Vascello for a few months. The good princess who owned it (Pallavicini)
wanted to raise the rent from 7,500,000 lire to 15,000,000 lioéd her the U.S.

taxpayers would not do such a foolish thing, and we searched for new quarters. So, Gwyn
looked around Rome to try to find a place that the United States governmendcauld

l ong term | ease for t theHoly&eWefoundaalacdthat ut ur e L
had not exactly been a residenktdhad beem villa turned intdaw offices Not farfrom

our embassy chancery and not far from the Vatican where the work took@taee
everydaybasis you are inside the Vatican doing demescloimy whatever the

relationshipwith the Holy Seealled for Gwyn found the place and then worked on
remaking the interior. It became a very nice
to the Holy See. Later, | think, it went over to the DCMHhe EAO and UN agenciek.

find it still interesting that in those years, yothe Foreign Service Officérespecially

the spouse, did it themselves in terms of housing and creativity in same. Shall we talk
issues?

Q: Yes, yes, and your evaluatioeFeis much talk about how well keyed Watican
was to local situations but what was ydeeling?
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CREAGAN: Absolutely, the issues we dealt witkere worldwide. It wasCentral

America Eastern Europe and the Soviet empaireg theMiddle East The Vaticarwas
really focused on Lebanon and the civil war and trying to do something abodtitatl
got involved inheavy diplomatic lifting two Christmas eves in a row. In 1988 the issue
was return of bodies of U.S. pilots shot dowrhe U.S. air raidsverLibya in6 8 Bhen

t he next,agams&ghtat Christthé@ Noriega casleroke outand | dealt with
thatfor many days. Tén otherareas included seeking a peace settlement in
Mozambique.

I n the | ate 198006s ¢éi npegherewasstibdvegobeer e bei ng
relationship between the Holy Sdtaly anditalian politics | mean you still have the top
people in the Gria, the top people around the Popeing for the most paltalians That
includes, of course, the Vatican bankventhough youhad an Americabishop,Paul

Marcinkus as titular head of the bank. tlme foreign office thé\rchbishop in charge of

the Secretariat for &ations withStates is what we would term the Foreign Minister. He

was ltalian, Angelo Sodano, @uhe is still around as Dean of the bishops. Sodano had

been Nuncio in Chitleand so when | had to negotiate with himgatting Manuel

Noriegaout of the Vatican Embassy in Panarme knew all the intricacies of that kind of
problem Theleft extremiststhe MIR, had been chased iritee Holy SeeEmbassy in

Santiago when Pinochet was in power anchbishop Sodano was Nuncio. He

negotiated the MIReades out of the embassgndup to Cuba and AfricaHe knew what

he was doingHis deputy with whom Ihavebeen friends, wasBrenchman named

Tauran JeanrLouis Tauran. He later became ttereign minister Jean Louis had been

Deputy Nuncio in Lebanoand really understood the Middle EaBth e Pope6s chi ef
staffwasan ItalianarchbishopmamedMonduzzi.l would deal with him on presidential

visits, like when President Bush candonduzzi was a character. Idgally controlled

things well including the U.S. White House advance personnel. The Vatican was

excellent on the issues involving the USSR. The Vatieahextraterritorial buildings

around Rome, negotiated at the 1929 Lateran Treaty with Mussolini. One large building
over at the Piazza Spagna, was Propaganda Fide. | used to interview the Cardinal running
that huge enterprise, Cardinal Tomko, about essent trends in Africa. He got reports

from priests around the region and was well briefed. His info was useful for us.

Q. How did you go about gathering info?

CREAGAN:T h a tgoosl quastionWe engaged in reallydditional diplomacyn a
dailybasisLet 6 s say t hat Ceéntrad Americaviavelving Micaraguia ue i n
The embassy driver would take me to the Vatican gate for diplomats and we would be
waved through by the gendarmes. Up to San Damaso Courtyard, we drove through
Baroque palaces andioels. As | walked the papal palaces on my way to meetings with

the desk officers of the Holy See, | passed through passageways and rooms adorned with
incredible art, including that of Rapha€hen | wouldcall on theVatican desk officer

for NicaraguaNow in that casgt just 9 happens that his name is Tim Broglio. Tim is

now the Archbishop for the U.S. Military Forcdsm was the desk officer faCentral

Americai n t he | ate 198006s. He had gone to high
near ClevelandWe talked Ohio high school football. | remember giving him my
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Ademarched for that day intended to undercut
for the U.S. position on some howyoda roversial

doing?L e t 0 ss addahistard thi®eing from Cleveland and a good U.S. citizen, you
understand our posi talldm,]amfram Grevelaodbilitghess e | |
whati | 6 goea Holy See diplomatic passport and | represent the Holy See anah véetdo
agreewi h you o n 08biwe wauld gpibaciéand forth and then | would report
back to Washingtoabout the demarche, the Vatican response, the interpretation of same,
etc. D it was very traditionaln some ways every day.

Then | might meet the Vatican Fage Ministeror get together with théeputy foreign
minister, the Frenchmarfor lunch over in Tastevere. W would go over issues
concerning-ebanonwhere both the Vatican and the U.S. were working together to try to
bring some kind of peace to that viarn country ando reduce Syrian influence

me ,

Nothing has changetie mi ght say to me at | u(thetbp, ALook,

Cardinalfor the area was leebanese Maronite Patriarahth offices in Romé | would
then go across Rome theMaronite headquarters amall on he PatriarchHis name

A

was Sfeir. We would talk about the fatetoh e Chr i st i anisallLebdnent 6 s goi r

and | would outline the U.S. position. He would already have had a talk with the Vatican
deputy foreign minister;csthere was a good deal of coordinatiohe MVatican had great
influence especially over the Christian community in Lebaatso they had some

influence in the Muslim quarters as well because of Maronite schools that some of the
leaders hadttended even Hezbollah It was a very close and interesting relationship
among Christian and Muslim in Beirut. Of course, those were still the years when a
Muslim could go to Christian school and the guerilla groups or terrorist organizations
were primarily politicaland even secular in nature, rather than Islamist.

Certain diplomatic activities were unique to the Holy See. While a National Day is

normal, and the Holy See treated the June 29 Feast of Peter and Paul as akin to a National
Day (the Feastis holiday alson Rome) . But other countries
ceremonies with diplomatic corps in attendance. Nor do they have Midnight Christmas
Mass as a working function for diplomatidppen to be Catholand so you would

expect me to want to attend MidhigMass. However, the ambassadors fican, from
Japanandfrom many other countries who are certainly not Cathrekcthere without

fail. In those days we had 128124 countries represatt atthe Holy Sednow it is 180

plus).At mass you had a fulepresentation, and that was good for diplomacy. At

Midnight Mass were the representatives of countries with which the U.S. did not have
diplomatic relationsSo | might benext to thdranian ambassador and in the other

direction would be the Cuban ambador.So, exchanges occurred.

dc

| remember in 1988 got a callon Christmas EvbomthePope 6s deputy secret

state, known TheVaticindadifieseivadta ichibra thexr dluncio, their
ambassador in TripolHe had been contacted @adhafiwho said he wanted to make a
good will gestureo the United Statesnd wasggoing to return the bodies of these two
airmen who had been shot down in the 1986 attack on Tripdis able to gah touch
with AssistantSecretary for the Middle EasMurphy. He gave our response for me to
pass on. Webviously wécomed the return dhe remains of two of our Americans who
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died but at the same tintbat return would have ndfect on the relationship
antagonistic at that timiewith Qadhafi So | rdayed all this at Midnight Mass to the top

Vatican officials After Chri st mas, |l was the charg® d

Shakespeare, who had been head of USIA and CBS television executive told me to
remember that, for the media, what really transpivad not important. It was all

perception; so | needed to make sure no one saw the U.S. role as negative in any way. |
worked it with the Holy See so that the remains vieneed over to the Holy See and

then to Italy.l wasat the airport to receive thelouthadno contact with Libyan officials

The transfer was Libya to théatican,to Italy for forensics anthenthe United States

We had an airport ceremony with marines and flags. Then welikeWwadies back to the
United States.

The next year1989,l wasgoing into Midnight Massvhen Igot a callrelayed by my
driver from the car radito departhe Basilicaand gton up to the embassy, the
chanceryand call Washington on the secure linkemessagérom our action group,

led by Undersecretary Bdfimmitt, was that Manuel Noriega had taken refuge in the
Vatican embassgnd to tell the Holy See not to give him asylum. We wanted him. So,
dashed bacto St. Peters, walking in just as the Pa@esclimbing up tothe altar|

tapped the deputy foreigninister, a Frenchmayon the shoulder and we went back to
whisper to one another, television cameras oRasple told me later that they thought,
AOh my God there must be a bodrdr something because there had been some rumors of
that.| told the Vati@an official (Tauran) that Noriegaas inhis embassy anthe Holy

See should not give him asylumeMant him | said. He isa criminal wanted for drug
violations.Taur an r e pelChie¢d Stateis @pton tiieltar, the Prime Minister
Cardinal Caaroli, is sitting overat the front of the diplomatic section.dMass is long

Te | | President Bush and Secretary of State B
Then he said, fADolnodstaigdo, ifT haantd wgaedindshhiem.four t h
(@l't hough we did already have the Nunciature

day Christmas | met with the Vatic&oreign Minister ArchbishopAngelo Salang

talking about Noriega Priine Ministed Cardinal Casarolad called Jim Baker who was
ath s mot her 6 s,andtheahrust ofithe Valicarxappsoach was to underline
thatNoriega was in the Nuraiure and would not be given over to us as a matter of
international law. We were an occupying power. Sodano wasickeat Casaroli

reiteratel at other occasioristhat the U.S. thought in four year presidential increments,
but The Holy See had to think in centidong cycles. So International Law and not
todaydés national i nterest must prevail
reassuredhat Noriega could not cause trouble elsewhere. We had some concern that he
might try to organize some resistance in the mountains (like Castro?) Sodano noted that
he had a gun when he came into the Nunciature but that a nun had lifted it when he was
in the bathroom or somewheteoelieve they gave him one bdart that was it. Sodano
made it clear that there would be no women for Noriega. With all that established, we
spent the next ten days in Panama and at the Vatican trying to get Noriega to leave the
Nunciature of his own accord. The Vatican counseled patience.

We then patiently negotiated for ten dgysnctuated at times by rock mudicemember
one time the prime minister or secretary of state, as they called Cardinal Casaroli, calling
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Ambassadomom Meladyand myself in and thelmaving thedeputy foreign minister
follow up with me concerning the rock music thats being blasted by the U.S. psych
troops into the Vatican Embasshhe idea was to kedyoriega off balancebut the
Vatican reportedtiwas actually keeping the Nuncio awake and he needed his sleep.
Noriegawassleeping on the other side of the hauseny case, cut it ougo | zapped
back a cableThen | got a call again from the depygrhaps ahour or three later

saying,ayioMel Pr,esn dent Bush isndt i 8Ilcontrol

zapped that back hemusic stoppedAfter ten days Noriega, apparently tired of a
Vatican regimerand concerned with mobs gathered outside at times, asked for his
uni f or m asrap. Hg agreedrtcanalk out on his own and surrender to the U.S.

WhichhedidThat 6s the kind of thing twhahh happens

happerto be Mass or religious celebration.

The Pope had a unique role in the breakup of the USSRi@meere witness to some

events as that unfolded. Then there was the cultural interaction. Under Frank Shakespeare
and Jim Billington, Librarian of the Library of Congress, the U.S. and Holy See
collaborated for a great exhibit at the Library of Congrebsrd were Vatican Secret

Archives materials and it was all marvelouse3& incredible documerdsso included

items likeHenry the Eighth s  lettevteeAnne Boleymand the Great Khan telling the

Pope to appear before him and pay homabeeT P o p do tlthi bdt hedditteep the

letter. So we worked with Vaticanlirary secret archives to send a magnificent exhibit to

the Library of Congresshe Vatican was pleased to do it and had had a relationship with
the Library of Congress going backtothe 183 when t he Li brary of
the Vatican in cataloguing.here were a few items like the Mayan Codex that the

Vatican would not have wanted to go to Washington. Once out of the Vatican, Mexico
might seek to get them back.

You want me to talk ahd the end of the Soviet Union?
Q: Yes, because of course, John Paul was thexeellence.

CREAGAN: Exactly and through the eighties, of course, they had been doing their thing
inPoland That all started with t klmevivamee 6s f i
Gierek not to permit it. The Pope went,6 t
was born. When the Pope traveled to Poland, uitil | i ons turned out.
power 06 to be used. natpaveriofdroogs degionsid te kind . Hi s
of moral powerHe was able to renew tiRolish sense of patriotisas well. Through the

S
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19806s we supported Solidarity and, in Iltaly

The AFL-CIO was involved at all levels as you migimiagine.We supported Solidarity
through our channelsliscreet and indiscredtthink | may have mentioned the
intelligence briefings given the Pope by Vernon Walters, as an example of high level
rather obvious cooperation. Then came the summer araf 989 and the beginning of
the collapse of East Germany. TBermansverefleeing out through Hungary and into
Austria and all of thalWe were, of course, in touch and gaining probably more
informationfrom the Vatican than we were giviidg the Holy See having a specialized

and 6parochial 06 knowl ed gElemeWwleadershipies, t owns
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Moscow with Gorbacheat the helm, was interested in more contact with the Holy See.

Gorbachev was trying to duore to gairsupport from thé&kussiarOrthodox becausde

could see that the Orthodox were still a foi$e on theoccasion of thenillennium of

Christianity in the Soviet Unigrihe USSRvorked with the Holy See on some aspects of

that. The Soviet opposition to certain religious libertpasts of the Helsinki Act, like

ability of religions (Orthodox) to use the media, was dropped. One reason would be that
Gorbachev wanted the Orthodox to go on TV as
work out for him but has for more recent Russiaers. Gorbachev and the Pope decided

to meet. That happened on December 1, 1989. They talked of Europe as common home

from Atlantic to the Urals. They were both Slavs. Gorbachev said his mother was a

believer.In the fall 1989 of turmoil, the meeting wa sign of hope for the future. They

established diplomatic relations. Now, | had to report on the meeting, because President

Bush was meeting with Gorbachev off Malta the next day. Tough assignment, since the

two met alone for a time. | got somethingrfrany usual contacts. Tense. Later, in the

Domi ni can Republic I had lunch with the Nunc
taker at the meeting. That is another story.

| recall an event involving another East European count§zechoslovaki® that
demmstrated for me the Popeds power and abili
conclusion. hieCzech Communists were really tough. Tleyshedthe churchThe

Ministry of Cults controlled much, including the naming of bishops. They made sure

there were nainruly bishops by preventingishops fronoffice. | think they only had

two bishopsactive out of the twelve or so diocesebBeTVatican negotiated patiently with
Czechoslovakia throughout 198Bpreparation for the canonization of 8gnes of

Bohemia,a 12" Century sint and patroness of the country. On November 12 the
canonization of St. Agnes took place at St.
of Poland. The Vatican officials had been working for more than a year to try and get

some Czeclparticipation in the canonization ceremonies. They asked for permission to

bring the old Cardinal Tomasek to Rome. He was over ninety, but still a symbol of

Church vs state repressidrhe Czechsverevery resistant but in the end they said,

AOkay, Od@lgrimescanigoto RomeAfter all itis St. Agnes thedroness of

Bohemia.Okay, maybe five hundred peop@K maybe athousawd. The Vati can ke
up subtle pressure and the Czechs gave in. Remember that this was 1989 and Eastern

Europe was coming agaThe GOC perhaps thought that a little give was necessary.

Finally, they agreed on a few women going and some TV coverage as well. As diplomats

we went to the ceremonies. | am in my tails and Gwyn in her black gown and mantilla.

The others had their nitdry uniforms and swords and all that. The ceremonytor

Agnesbegan and the Pope spoke. He read in Czech and in Polish the words of the

prophet I siah. fARelease the bonds, set free
could see the chills rutmrough the crowd andspecially the Czeshwho were there

many in costumd could see tears rolling down the face of the wontiewasdramatic

in a way that Karol Wojtyla, the actor, could ddterwards,there was @emonstrationl

t hi nk, a8$8quasetThis wBssbeiraglevised back to Czechoslovakide next

week thee were massivelemonstrations in St. Wenceslaus Squarth people waving

St. Agnes bannerdVithin two weeks the government fell and Communism was defeated.

St. Agnesistermechi t he Czech Republic as the fASaint
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Communi smo. The Pope played a key role as ca
was the end of a dramatic year and one which showed the importance of the papal soft

power. The Pope was an indilely strong voice and influence. Some of that was

forgotten as he endured the papacy through vy
died in 2005.

Another area we worked was the Ukraifibereis a Ukrainan Catholic Churclinked to

Rome,but which looks likethe Orthodox in terms aferemonies, vestments, etc. There is

amarried priesthood. n t he 19400s as the Soviets exerte
threw out thdeadership and the priesibthe Ukrainian churchThey took over the

churches athturned them over to the Orthodéxo ve t al ked a I ittle bef
Lebanese patriarch which has its Maronite headquarters in.Rigellethe Ukrainian

Church in exile also had headquarters in Rome and propertigschaically may have

been Holy e propertyCardinalLubachivsky, exiled in 1946, wdke leader there.

would go see Cardin&lubachivskywho by the way, went back to the Ukraine after the

Soviet Union fell Already an old man; he died thenehis home countrytwas

amazing He never thought he would go backgathered information on the Ukraine and

worked with Ukrainian priests on some soft intelligence and activigyh@d friendly

intelligence agencies working severakcaseswe had Bibles being smuggled into the

Ukraine we had information and lettesmuggled out. Lots ofery interesting activity

which | would just say supported the people of the Ukraine and the opposition to the

Soviet dominationSome modest good work fratime U.S. Embassy of the Holy See.

By the way for whatever reasothe powers that be in Congress, Staté/bite House

felt they could no longer afforthe chancery afilla Pecelli i that whichBill Wilson had

set up in grandeuiThe embassy thenoved to cheaper quarterghich | think may have

beenthe Russian delegation to the Holy S&ée moved the chancery downquarters

near the Circus Maximus. That event occurred, not when Shakespeare was Ambassador
or when | was DCM, but several years later after we had left. Frank Shakespeare was

R e a g ambassaddk, and President Bush wanted his own of c@hakespeare
departed in theummerof 1989 | was charg® doaffaires ad in
ready to appoint his person, and | soughtatpemenfrom the Holy Seel. went to see
theVatican breign minister anthe deputy foreign ministewith a bio and a formal

request to accept the new ambassador. They looked it over and noted the good credentials

TNi xonbés ambassador to Rwanda and Uganda. [ n
nominee wasthebhed of @A Cat holics for Busho. The <c¢cred
ACat holics for Busho told you something. The
|l ooked at me and sai d, Aa@atkolicgoathe Holwsley do vy ou

Arendt you atryPandwitleJewish populatoo asnvell? Hoamethere

i sndt s Prowestanoradewsamed Ambassaderd s ai d, @A Wel | Monsi g
actually it has nothingtodowithyput 6 s a d o meEhe W.% AntbasSadortohi n g

the Holy See will avays bea Catholicasfarasknglv e c a u s e ouhpaliticS8 s h o w

w o r k begpresidént nameskey campaign contributor or participant as reward. From

Bill Wilson to Shakespeare to Melady to Flynn to Boggs to Nicholson (head of RNC and

Catholic) to Rooney andn they are Catholics. Different political parties and different
administrations, but always Catholic.
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A note on instructions to ambassadors. First, there was no a religious aspect to the
embassy work. As Ambassador Sy arkets prealrieg isan d
The U.S. Embassy to the Holy See has nothing to do with the religious side or getting

involved in naming bishops somewhe&®me, even in U.S. Catholic circles, thought we

might get involved in naming bishops. Absolutely not. Other embsssithe Holy See

and other regimes might do so. The Concordats with Latin American countries had
considerable interaction between the states. The U.S., of course, had no concordat

governing U.S./Vatican relations. Or involving Church matters. That theick was and

could be some aspect of the relationship that would affect the religious or internal Church
sphere. When the Pope wentNiwaragua and waved his finger at Nicaraguan priests

who were ministers of government, telling them to get out of govent, that fit U.S.

policy of opposition to the Sandinista government as well. In our discussions with the

Holy See a mutual commitment to fighting human trafficking was and is an important

area of cooperation. When | was there, the instructions to thassador included

getting the Holy See to open full diplomatic relations with Israel. Coming from the USA,

which established relations with the Holy See only in 1984, it indicated how we came to

value the ties and how we might influence the Israeli/Palastiasue. The Israelis were

talking with the Holy See and their Ambassador to Italy had a relationship with Vatican
officials. The Pope would see Prime Minister Rabin or Shimon Peres as well as Yasser

Arafat on the PLO sidéBut the Vatican in the late 890 Gossidered thaif it moved

unilaterally forafull diplomatic relationship with Israél might set offPalestinian

reactionand violencéd alsoinlebanon By the mid 199006s a fulll
achieved. The consistent call of Pope John Paulldls deace witli justiag in other

words,not just peace but peace with justi€ae Holy See called for that (use of force) in
Bosni a i n tihirefaverafthe Musling l&eidgksled by Christians. Those

were Orthodox Serbs for the mosttpaut Catholic Croats were in the fight early. And
whenSaddam Hussein invaded Kuwait on August 1, 1990, the Vatican Deputy Foreign
Minister Jean Louis Tauran expressed the frustration withi fmé&Vh waats wrong with
youguystWhy di dndét y avas wiheyeur intelligeaceYowsimehe troops
massingonthebordanddi d you think ©Dh&d&puwauanl dndét hmovee
and the Pope during the early 199006s did not
cause of peace with justice.

Q:It hi nk Mozrmhigse. d o

CREAGAN: Okay, Mozambiquén 1989 was suffering another decade of a long civil

war between the FRELIMO movement, which had taken power after the Portuguese

revolution in 1974 and its withdrawal from the African conflicts, dreldpposition

RENAMO. FRELIMO was supported by the Soviets and, in particular, East Germans.

RENAMO was supported by South Africa and others, including some Portuguese. After

years of devastation a moment appeared when an approach to peace could beenade. T
intermediary, for particular Church and tribal reasons, was a wonderful Italian NGO

called SaintdEgidio. There was an archbishop
of tribal connection with RENAMO anm. respect
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In the summer of 1990 was the U.Stepresentativd, he ¢ h ar g®hedHoha f f ai r es
See | agreed to meet quietly under the auspi
mi nister o, Raul Domi ngos of RE R X D saleWe met i
hous® up at CastelGandolfo on the Alban Hillsl brought the State Department

Mozambique desk officer with me. | first met alone with Domingos and we kind of

worked around to the issueseMillkedin Portuguesabout Portuguese soccer teams and

we talked abouitisbon and werted to get past the suspicitmat might be felt. Soon we

were talking about modalities of mediation. Should Zimbabwe or Kenya be invited to

support talks? | said that procedures will take care of themselves and to latidins It

work on that. |l said | etds go to Rome and me
lose. And so it started.HBy met through the summéW¥e got the U.S. involved because

they wanted uandbecause we could do things like provide technical ad¥#oe

example, wénad satellitesand as we began to discuss holdingapposingroops away

from one another and setting up a buffer zaheU.S. would be usefuh establishing

and verifying facts on the groun8o in the end they got the Italian govment and

Prime Minister Andreotti youremember hini to pay for all the pasta and hotels and

whatnotS a i nt @Mwgdeddthe tocation and the smagrd the U.S. got involved

We brought over Assistant Secretary Herman Cpaeth wejumped into thaletails.

And away it wentSo, between August and December we got an agreement for a cease

fire; it didndt hol d but SomeofthpedRELIMOandh gr e e men't
RENAMO negotiatorgoked, calling itthe iCreagarCeaserireo becausét foll owed

Thanksgiving festivities. @e of the things we did was on Thanksgiving D&s to have

meeting at Sainto6Egidiobs convent. The medi at or
groups, carrying messages and suggestions. | brought up an olthd&sgiving

traditioni at least in my recollection, of turkey, stuffing and Wild Turkey bourbbad

a couple bottles of Wild Turkelgourboni 100proof. So theRENAMO had bottles of it,

FRELIMO had bottles of it and theyrank and socialized’heyhad a great timélhey

had big headaches the next dayt they signed a cease famd applauded Thanksgiving.

Thath Cr e €epserrir@, as t hey joki negWwaygoodawill ed it, wa:
message for me as well. | was traveligcember 1 or for reassignment to Sataulo

as Consul General. It wadascinating six monthswith the Vatican, the NGO, Italy and

the USG able tbring these two sides togethélitimately they did sign a lontasting

agreement and ended the Mozambique Civil WWaekey person from the 8. side was

Cameron Hume, wheeplaced me as tHeCM in our Embassy to the Holy See. The

issues at the embassy were varied as indicated by the Mozambique peace talks.

Q: In the first placeon this Mozambique grouthey sound like these are quite
sophisicated people even though they were guerillas?

CREAGAN: They were Raul Domingos, the RENAMQ@uy, had beeras | recallat the

University of Coimbra in PortugaHe later headed up the opposition parliamentary

group in Mozambique and ran for presidert, $&me of them hathe formaleducation

And a key figure was the Archbishop of Beira, Jaime Goncalves, who helped bring the

sides together. | remember once a meeting in the sacridtg Gthurch SaatMaria in

TrastevereHe was, of course, very knowlgelable Thekeyto success for this cease fire

and then fulpeaceagreementvas t he knowl edge and commit ment
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mediators. They were the pastor of Santa Maria, Vincenzo Paglia and Fr. Zuppi, along
with Saint 6Egi di oandhmsigredtteamAndr ea Ri ccar di

Q: One reason for going for a relation with the Vatican is that it has these very
knowledgeable people sitting as Nuncios all over the wbiddv much did we use them
to try out i delanegndidwouddavé adhergaumtigsges t pursiuie
like what does the Holy See think about the situation in Airgeeor Thailand.

CREAGAN: Right. For example, ifve had policy points to make on Argentina, | would

meet with the Vati canhejfiweesalwayoveryi cer 6 f or t ha
knowledgeablgas they themselves had been either Nuncios or one of the diplomats in

their embassy in those countriédgd invariably they followed thissues in a way that

was highlyskilled. | was always impressed by the Vatican diplomats in Rdrheir

knowledge of the former Portuguese colonies like Angola, Cabo Verde or Mozambique

was exceeded only by tfRortuguesé or perhaps the U.S., involved as we &re

everything You know some of ysvhen we were at other postdways found the

analysis of Véican diplomatsich ininsight! know i n t heisith@®s when |
Cubawith our principal officer there, wirad a dinner with the Papal Nuncio. He was

very much on top of issues like human rights and other matters of deep concern for the

U.S. andhe Vatican. Am | explaining it ok?

Q: Yes, you are.

CREAGAN: In Rome at the Vatican ychad great expertisen t he wor |l dés 1 ssu
addition to the Secretariat (Holy See State
t h e o dusticefandrPeafidt was headed by a French Cardigathegaray and his

deputy from Ireland, Archbishop Diarmuldartini now the Archbishop of Dublin

Martin was a great diplomat with whom we could work on the human rights issues. He

was later Nuncio to the UN in Geneaad then Dublin Archbishop. The successor to the
French Cardinal Etchegaray was Martino, who
the UN in New Yor k. Lots of experience. The
iCorUnumd or t he equi vidry, éealing withf Cathatic CAdrit2s, mi n

CARI TAS, and other NGOO6s around the world. I
drugs to the challenge biman trafficking

Q: How did you find the attitude of the Vatican and its diplomatic corps on the proble
of AIDS?

CREAGAN: You knowit was hittingint h e | abuteot vatl8 gdest realization of the

incredible impact. The Pope opposed the use of condoms for the traditional reasons. And
homosexuality. As for individual AIDS victims, there was maniféstadf care and

concern. The pope had taken a highly visible symbolic action, with his hugging of a child

with AIDS in a 1987 visit t&can FranciscaBut we did nodeal with that issueith the

Vati can. At memeenitscoming uptVeohadour plicies on AIDS and

condoms but no reason to argue it with the Vatitan. t he | ate 0680s | thin
realizingthe enormity of the problem ourselves.
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Q: It took quite a while for really the world to focus on this.
CREAGAN:Yeah whileitwas kil ng us yeah, thatdés right.

Q: Jim, in the United States there are several hot button issues dealing with the Catholic
Church mostly revolve around s®mne is the marriage of priests and the other is
abortion.l mean these two and there are others butllése come up or were we just

kind of avoiding them?

CREAGAN:Ok ay, they certainly didndot come up
When they came out with encigals, a letter from the épe that dealt with the world
issueswe wouldengageas arembassy But on issues like a married priesthood or the

later focus on pedophiles, it was not for us to engage as state to state. Internal Church
matters were for the Churchn@bortion | can remember plenty of discussions on that

but with the Americarpriests othe American leadelis Rome either at the Vatican or
maybethe North AmericanCollege.So it was American to American and not official

policy. We hadin Rome theNorth American College Seminaryherewere some really
topyoung men and with goodéadership. One dhe rectors was Tim Dolawho is how
Cardinal of New YorkWell, with those guys weiscussedll the U.S. issuedMarried
priestswere always a good topic of conversation. You had in Rome some representatives
of theUkrainianChurch, wlosepriestswere sometimes married with children. All OK. It

is tradition.

An issue thatat first glance would not seem to involve the U.S. Embassy did in fact call
for our attentionCarmelite nuns had a convent outside Auschwitzere they prayed.
American Jewish leadedid not want the nuns close to the site and saw it as an affront to
the Holocaust memory. At one point certain American Jewish leaders came over and an
audience with the Popeas set. There was some pressure on the Ambassador t@take u
the issue with the Vatican. The leaders at one point failed to show for an audience with
the Pope. A symbolic snub. titshately the Pope himself told the nunsffect i Y o u
have two choicesYou can go back to thdain Carmelite Convent or you can guiut

you are getti ndhe®ape¢ didathimsklfitere Wwas anteffort @et us
involved in a religious area that we were quite uncomfortable Witvorked out.

Q: Did you find the ambassador being of a political persuasion getting o imaolved
readings from political pressure within the United States within the Catholic ranks in the
United States?

CREAGAN: Right, I think that might have been a problem with Wildaoging the first
ambassadofShakespear@asvery devoutand went tahurch every dayBut he was

very clear about the embassy role. Wefdigign policy and not religiore was also

clear and correct, | am sure, about the need to consider the fact of diplomatic relations for
the futureHe s ai d, AThe Uweisttuggttd f& ewddessedana g ht h a
century to have diplomatic relations with the Vaticemthat is understandablEhe

Senate was poised to prev&gneraMark Clarkor anyone to represent the U.S. at the
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Vaticani until Reagan did it. Buonce you hag diplomatic relations, a diplomatic
relationship, with the Holy See you are never going to break tBerguys you better
purchase an embassy aButdheynaverdidbase our resi den

Q: What about visitors | would imagine having an embassy thetdd mean that every
Knight of Columbus and his family wanted to be presented to the Pope and there you
were.

CREAGAN:Ri ght, vyeah, sure thatodos a big thing hi
you did and whaneets with the Pop&@bviously, Secretg of State Shultz comes over,

yeah he is meeting with the PopReresident Bush with a huge entouragelyou have

meetings with the Pop&ven the NATO commander ineith the Popel would take

lots of Senators, lots of Congressmen to see the,Roysve tried to be very

forthcoming.l took Lee lacocca to see the Pope; | took George Steinbrenner to see the

Pope I did not knowwhat to tell the Pope about lacoctca mean | coul dndét s ay
to the PopeHe wo u | d.rSoltsaidkhere isvthe head diie U.S. automobile
i ndudthrey Pope | ooks at him and he says, fAYou

O 6 C o n phativas the New York Cardinahy did the Pope saytha®6 Connor had
abig Cadillac and that impressed the Pope when he went to New York.

As you indicated by your question, we had lots of visitors. There were individuals. But

often it was a group, such as a CODE&r a President with his entourage of hundreds.

President H.W. Bush (the father) came. It was a great visit. | worked with phe Bos

Chidf of Staff, Archbishop MonduzzHe was a tough one, who did not like the White

House stafferede s ai d, AYou know t hef rVead i z@ame ilsutn oitt
armsfree zone as far as your people are concelnedd on 6t waenSecreany of t ho
Service guys coSwo nlg siani dwi tih@dgadyn, 9Gooigegpht ¢ . we 0 |
one of the meetinggn agenhad a bulge under his jackdustaswe were getting into an

elevator Monduzzivas somehow able to press théton and the doalosed locking out

the Secret Service guy who had to run up three floors of stairs to get tOthien.agents

were there, and after all we were inside the fortress Vatican Palace. No terrorists up there.
Monduzziwas a tough one but we organized thetyvisi

President Bush had the White House gurgsk on his Vatican visit schedule fbim.

They s ai HePtesidemhis goingitd meet with the Pope for an hour and fifteen

mi nuffTéatowoul d be seven oThenlthereik ofaammetheat 8: 15
motorcade and the helicopters up and then the President goes to dinner with the president

of lTtaly; thatodés It hseainwlaneiiVerlobl gami hg tbabewae
actually decide on when to terminate the meeting; the Pope desidewed to ave

some kind of plan igio caanmns eh auhre amede Nfoimfgt aleone smmid
theadvancguy sai d, Athatodés it, Sonadywayelwasr endt goi
working with Monduzzi, the ,Pofpveddslwhs hsieeef. 6o f s
worried; so | contacted a friend of mihen Archbishopi who had the keys to the

Sistine ChapelT he Pr esi dent 6 s ebagaewithout@ flaw.iJushthetwoe P o p

of them We wereoutside that library in a meeting of Jim Bakiére Secretary of State,

Brent ScowcroftNational Security Advisor, Archbigips Sodano and Taurasur
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Ambassador and me. We are addressing the world isMeaseredoing Lebanon; we

weredoing the Middle East, Central America and all. Fdintg minutes into the

meeting, not an hour and fifteen minutes as the White House had insisted, the Pope

presses this little button under his desk. When the Pope presses the button the doors fly

open and the meetingisov&o t her e he i s ,outdfthemeetinigs t he pr es

Wethen greetetl.S.residents of the Vatican atdlS.seminarians at the North

American Coll ege, and then President Bush sa
Well, how are you going to do thtwegnty You cano
minutes or so and what? Luckily, the Swiss Guards had the phone | needed and | was

able to call the archbi s h 8plaskdad the ppegsidentr eady .
and his peopleear where we were standi@nd would have been standing faenty

minuteabout where he might wahate yduseemtite. I said,

SistineiChape| ?Barbara gets to see everythin
go. 0 The el evator w,BakerySeavcroftSuaumg Barbarand e we wer
the President all walking around gawking at this marvelous Sistine Chapel all by

themselvesThen the president went up to the Pauline Chapel and to Wivaieable to

show himwherethe Pope does that speethbi et Orbi, from the balconyooking out

overthe piazza and all the way down Conciliazione to the Tiber River. The president

looked at that and madecommenton how it givesonea feeling of power and awe.

Anyway, it was a great time, and the kind of thing that just happens. With preparatio

Q: Did you find that the politics of the Catholic Church in the States | guess they
woul dndédt interfere because basically the bis

CREAGAN: Yeah, exceptor Cubaat the very least. Thembargo or what the Cubans

and Bazilians called the blockadeashurting Cubansand hurting good Catholic

Cubans in a human rights way and not being effective against Castiioere would

have been certainly a difference thélfbe Bush policy like every presideid policy

after thesixtiesi was overlyinfluenced by the small group of Floridiawio came out of

Cubai someof themeven elated to Fidel Castr@he bishops were Vatican as well as

U.S. citizens. We told New Yorkdéds archbi shop
traveled td_ebanon as weks Cuba. We discouraged his travel. Weddn 6t hav e

diplomatic relationsn one and thether wasn a state ofurmoil. Ourembassy had been
bombedtwiceSo t he archbi shom ¢oi dg melod i dvecgthon, b u
travding on my U.S. passpoanyway.l have this Vatican passpasl am a Vatican

di p | oSwoforgetibin terms of the protecticd@h,i t woul dndt have chang
anything happened to him.

Q: No.

CREAGAN: The U.S. government would have hell &y the bishop were hurt. But

just interesting that the bishops also would carMatican diplomatic passpoithere

were differences Iin policy on Central Amer i c
convergence on negotiations to end civil warstiyend of the Cold War everybody

was pretty much on the same ghafemusic.
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Q: Noriega in Panama did that raise any particular problem in the Vatican?

CREAGAN: Well, yeahit was reallyinteresting spending Christmas day with the
archbishop who wasé foreign minister; | enjoyed his Duboniaeid we discussed the
possible outcomes of the Noriega caldeey were trying on the one hand to reassure us
that Noriega was not going to create or lead any movement in the sense that he was not
going to be abléo be in contact with anybodyhere were rumors of guerillas in favor of
Noriega in Veraguas provincehile he was in their embasdyt they were really

adamant that they were not going to turn him over t@hat was in contention as

principle for sone time. Thdoreign minister made so cletlrat we the United States,

were the occupying powetAs such they could not turn over Noriéghut they also
recognized that he was a bad glilgat was maybe the only invasion where we ended up
with 90 percent bthe people in favor after it all worked outBut anyway the Vatican

view wasthat their erbassyhad to provide the traditional diplomatic protectiangd that

a foreign power could not go in and get him. They considered the U.S. techmically i
violation of international law even though they understood where we were coming from
and that he was a really bad actor.

Now | also heard that one of the things that their ambassador should have learned in the
diplomatic academywasd on 6t o pen Yolet Noriehaio, hedhadtdOn c e
proceed under strict rules.

Q: Yeah, well we had that problem sometimes.

CREAGAN: Yeah, exactly.

Q: Did you ever hear any stories about Cardinal Mindszenty?

CREAGAN: Oh yes.

Qlt was all over by that time but €
CREAGAN: But the guy who was in charge of the Vatican opening to the East under
Paul VI was Agostino Casarole was an ahbishop then and in charge afiffic

Relations withStates | remember talking with hirmboutMindszenty then living in the
U.S. Legation irBudapest, being a vedjfficult guy to deal with Casaroli led the

Vati can peningtothe East. AWh at datenteaight?l e d

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: It was important that there be this contact with the ,BEagtCasaroli said

that Mindszentyever forgavehim forit. By the way | understand th&).S. Enbassy

people were really relieved when Mindszenty finally left Hunghegause he was a
difficult guest.
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Q: From all accounts | think he was.

CREAGAN: Cardinal Casaroliold me that Mindszentywasprobably up theren heaven
wagging his finger atim and, like Danteputtinghim in hell. Casaroli said that
Mindszenty nevedid forgivehim for VaticanOstpolitik

Q: Did you find any of the neAmerican hierarchy there quiteell-tunedinto Amercan

politics and at a certain point kind of shru

CREAGAN: Yeah, well certainly on the Italian side you found every point of view but
manywho were critical of the Reagan administratibacause they would have bee

moreon theSocial Democraticsidé. 6 m t ryi ng to td&dimikerodr ohihegs

thereéyou had the diplomats in the embassi es

embassy a loeand of course the UK, the Irish and the Canadian and the Gernthtisea
Italiansi number one becausigey were the host, if you willhe Italian embassy to the

Holy Seewas and is very importantonél. he | r ani an ambassador woul

| found that the leadership @or Unum(l call it the Vatican AID) witha French

Cardinal and an Irish Assistant were very collaborative. The Irishman was outspoken
about U.S. and politics. Of course, if you are Irish you are kind of brothers who speak
plainly. We had a lot of contaobf coursewith the U.S. hierarchyA lot of those guys
were on the conservative side of the spectrum | mustsalthat group was on the rise.

Q: Jim, you are an old Itaéin hand talking about the thirigdid you keep an eye on
whether the Catholic Church was messing around in what we wallltdalian politics
or not?

CREAGAN: Yeah, of course, that had been such a close relationsthigthad happened

at the top of the Holy See when | was the&ees the fact of a stromgppe whowasa Pole
Theltaliansw o u | d negeragaiarbut then thg got a Germaifor pope and now an
Argentine That is the end of a many centurlesg run of Italians. So, the Pope is Polish
and the Deputy Foreign Minister, with whom | worked a lot, was a Frenchman. Powerful

|l eaders in other firemchnGesnarr andeesea AnreecaneTh& | o v a k|

Curia was still heavily Italian but power from the top was shifting. Prior to that, Italians
had been Popes and Catholic Italians (Christian Democrats) were running Italy. Pope
Paul VI had been intimately involved witkalian politics and his predecessor even more
so. Paul VI had beefsrchbishop of Milan Then there was théatican bank, which had
difficult issuesand Italians in effect runningd@ not always in a transparent manner. The
major party, the&Christian Demorats wasvery, very close to the church and\thpaid
attention to thenutualsupport That changed with John Paul and on the Italian side,
following scandals, the Christian Democrats lost power.

Q: In your chats, as almost an aside, were the movershakiers in the Catholic
Churchconcernegas many people arsvith the changé in particularly Europei where
there are some that say basically Europe is going through aQiusstianity stag?As
we know you go to a Catholic Church almost anywher&alg &nd you find all the men
sitting outside smoking while the women are going to church.
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CREAGAN: Right. Yeah that certainly was the phenomenon that already had taken hold.
Of course the churches maintairtedincome tax designatioso thata percentag of
income taxX(l paid Italian tax and | remember the Church checkgi§sautomatically to

theChurchitdoesndt matter i f yAbleasttheyeeregettingt he chur c
supportedBut there are a couptd other things going on as there vt of activity in
groups likeSa i nt 0 E gziomeicatoliegntdwo mi | | i ons of member s |

Lay people and youth wenevolvedin everything, including soup kitchens for refugees.

So they felt very good they were doing things like foodksa&ven forillegal

immigrants Churches where these groups were involved were full while the
neighborhoodhurches were pretty empty. The new groups were what | would call Social
DemocratCatholic.

The European crisis, if you will, was not yet evidérake a place like Poland

Everybody was Catholic anghrticipatingand going to Church. It was alagatrioticact

againsthe Soviet6 do miSoahéenonl was ther-€hribBéranwaygon
crisis. In Eastern or Central Europe it was quitedjygositel 0 alking abouthe late

eighties anakarly nineties.

Q: Was liberation theology a topic of conversation or concern?

CREAGAN: Not concernbut the Pope was really tough on that because of where he

came from guessHisown experiencavasofa di st orted state using 0
of control. Tkere was a real clarity.ou could have what they callégreference for the

pooo, but when it c aMarxisawchandevowdd be exacpeevdth i on t hat
violence then no. There waso endorement ofthe Sandinista. The Popespoke ery

clearly and with authoritySo, not dot of discussion on that.

|l remember when | | eft the VtadoitoSamRaulassi gnmen
as Consul General. | arrived just before Gulf War |, tiedConsulate was receiving

bomb threats every day. | addressed that by instituting thorough checks of all vehicles,

from consulate, banks or whomever. That helped but was not as definitive as the British

Consul General, who simply closed the consulatechadged the telephone number. No

more threats. Concerning liberation theology,Anehbishop Cardinal of Sao Paukas

on the scale of support for liberation theology. Dom Cardinal Evaristo Arns exercised the

option for the poor. He was a wonderful maant not a favorite ofthe Holy See

Ql &m not sure i f |1 6ve got the right name, O}
CREAGAN: Opus Dejyeah.

Q:ébecause thatdos been used in books now it d:
something like thaDid that every come across yatithat time?

CREAGAN: There werealways comments likas this guyOpus Deii or that one. The
head of the Vatican press office was a civilian, not clergy. Joachim Navéaite was
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close to the Pope ar@pus Dei ThePope was very supportive of thiery conservative

Opus Deigroup The leader was a Spaniard like Navavialls, who spent time with him

in Spain. He was Josemaria Escriva de Balaguer and has been canonized a saint. John
Paul Il probably was quite partial @pus Deiandthis other newer gup, the

Legionaries of ChristThe Leadera Mexicannamed Macielturned out to be a
fraudulentcharacteand sexual abuser.

Q: I never heard of that. iat is that?

CREAGAN: This is a very conservative grouphose leader washarismatic Maciel
organkzed and recrugidlots of young people, priests aathers. Thd?ope very much

liked himand wasvery supportivelt turned out that Maciel had children and preyed on
young men as welNone of thatof coursehas anything to do with our foreign policies
Speaking of policy, we hatiree embassies Rome. There can be confusion. Some see
an overlap of function. Operation Just Cause and invasion of Panama resulted in the
Panamanian caudillo, General Manuel Noriega, seeking asylum in the Vatican embassy.
Pder Secchia was our U.S. Ambassador to Italy. He went to Midnight Mass the night
Noriega took refuge. | saw Pete after Mass. Ambassador Secchia told me that he was
ready to take on the case, as he was the senior American official in Rome. | s@idNtbat
Pete, it has noThibwasdeartya U.8./blolwSeedidsue pnal did not
involve Italy or our Embassy to Italy.

Q:Wel | I  coul dn.dmeanhme aretaling aboud bureaudragies and mine
is bigger than yours and that sort diirig.

CREAGAN: T hat 6 s rOhghdtthen sgneetintes ambassadors tharetl the

president is over here #ite residenceVilla Taverna, over here for the Italian thinbhen

he is going to see the Pope | am going with liinwe | | , n o Tleambéssador not . 0

to Italy does not ride over with the president or even in the motorcade to see the Pope

b e ¢ a u s enothehcauntd.séu know how it goesThen | remember there was a

fight by one of the ambaadors when Reagan was coming in (whenvas ndonger

presidentPr esi dent Bush was president, this is 6
and coming to see the Popgearly the Vatican was hosting hirBut there was a dispute

about who receives him at the U.S. military airp@iampingand soitwas f youdr e
going | d6m not going or | 06m going even if you
would fight in a comical way

We had a third embassy to tb&l organizations, theood andAgricultural

Organization, FAO. fiey pretty much stayed out of theya the years | was there.
Then later we had this wonderful George McGovern witlni®ome as ambassador to
UN organizationslt was a learning experience for the U.S. Embassy to Italy wieen th
Vatican Embassy was created.

Q: Well | think this is probaly a good place to stop.

CREAGAN:Ok ay , I know there is a | ot of church
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Q: Well the church stuff is particularipteresting withyousitting there in a placd. 6 m
looking upon this collection as a historical collection and not jestli@lomacy
collection.

CREAGAN: Right, well we stayed oudf Italian politics,although you know the Vatican

playing with Italy in its politics isreallytrye t 6 s d e e p Buil thinkibyteet or i c al
080s and 0 9 a@oseningofuhativagtbsettigyeu had a Polish Pope for one

thing.

Q: One further thing you just said that suddenly came towfat about papal financ@s
You know this hit the headlines from time to tinfeow stood it during your time?

CREAGAN: Well, if you think abouttiin termsof our banks, it is not much monage
aretalking hundreds of millions revenue and the same in expenses. The finances were
in the red, sometimes in tens of millions of dollars. Again, that is not much in our terms.
The Popé s -spidtnal srengths were clear in the field of international relations and
human rights and freedoms. He needed somebody to take care of the finances. A solution
was to gethis American CardinaSzoka was his namele was thearchbishop oDetroit

0 a Detroit thatvorked. Szoka came to straighten ouVatican financesHeturned

things aroundbecause he put in good old American accounting methadkisik he got
advisors fromhis company and that compafijhe auto companies were doing well, and
had expertsAnyway, he got théudget andinances back in ordef.he Popehought the
Americans would fixt and the Americans fixed it.

The bank was a different thin@fficially in charge was Paul Mainkus,an archbishop
out of Cicero, lllinoisPaul was a great gulge was just a friend of everybgdyom
George Stinbrenneto Lee lacocca. & the Vatican bank got into some real problems
involving an talian bank calle@anco Ambrosiano. The bank htailed and there was
plenty of fraud, said to involve billion¥he head of that banRoberto Calviended up
hanging himself or being hung under Black Friars Bridge in Londba IOR or Vatican

bank somehow all owed its #dletter of credito
Paul Marcinkus probably signed @ffn t h e m. He took responsibild]
banker o, but not a crook. The | talians indic

did not turn him over to Italy. In any case, the bank looked baatiikus, who was my
friend, s aiuknpgadsé&don 10kin cdliegk,raddtthe €uria trusted Italian
bankers to really run things. He told me that the Italians were not happy about his trying
to put American controls into effect and to avoid the practice of changing dollars and
other currencies ich came to the bank as contributions for missions into lire and then
into the currency to be used in missions in Africa or Latin America. The Italian banks
were getting an exchange rate cut as the currency went into lire and then out again.
Marcinkus sal that the Italians were out to get him because he was trying to cut the
ltalian banking system out of the equation. Just go dollasslésor cruzeirosor

something like that. He was not saying it in a paranoid way, just the hypothesis as he saw
it. Whether or not there was a conspiracy, Marcinkusabee a fall guy for all the shady
things that were going gmlsobetween Bank Ambrosiano and Vatican Bavhen
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Marcinkuswas indictedh e c o u |l d n 6 tcanltogga plag golf dr anything.tHe

missed tle golf. Paul appears in some of those crazygsemivel s or exposeods a
alleged murder of Pope John Paul I, who only lived thirty days or so as Pope. Marcinkus

i's writt e outsaetheVatioan Banknagsix a.Aow suspicious. Actually,

Marcinkus kept American, not Italian hours, so 6:00 am near the office was not an

unusual thing for an American. Pope Francis is still working on bank transparency and all

that. He brought in a godderman banker.

Q: Well did we have an economic officerwh@ ok ed at this or this ju
portfolio?

CREAGAN: Right Not a part of the portfolio. ivas a Vatican internal issuandwe

might have done a repat several onit. Butiva s n 6t 0 erms of state toestaté n  t
involvement.Now it could be a very deep issue for U.S. diocefeed).S. archbishops or

the bishopb6s conf er en c etakéiteip vath therHoly SJe&haty. S. bu't
is probably howyou got the Detroit Archbishop Cardinal in chaajé/atican finances.

Q:Yw were, in a way, fortunate that you di dn:
problem.
CREAGAN:Oh boy, Il 611 say, and | dondtathave any

the time the issue arose with furor.
Ql't coul dndét h é&digsuedutitdcertainlyvisansdbiect of grgat iriterest.

CREAGAN:Oh yeah, thatodés really awful and had a
We were there before all that.

Q: Was there even a cloud in the sky about this?

CREAGAN: Not that | remembenot that | remembelt was the end of the eighties.
Issues were Cold War and all that.

Q: One last question JinWhen you were there what was happening with Yugoslavia?

CREAGAN: Yugoslavia was about to come apart asfd;ourse Tito had died and
Milosevic wasin chargeof what was seen as Greater SerBathe Vaticanvorked
closely with those who wetteoking forindependence and had a relationship with the
Holy See Croatia and Slovenjdoth with significant Catholic population, were going to
break avay. Wewere critical of tlat. The Holy See and Germany were the first to
recognize Slovenia and Croa#ia independent state&dovenia got out without much
fighting but Croatia was, of course, part of that whHaedy breakup involvinggosnia
TheVati@an 6 s pr i mawerginCioatia and SfoseniaandBosnia as well. It
wanted peace and justice and independence for those pdd@adater the Popandthe
Holy Seewere deeply concerned with the fatethe Muslimsn Bosnia, who were being
killed by the SerbianshowereOrthodox And so religion was a central part of the
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bloody struggle. ie Vatican wasery tough in its assertions, and the Pope called for

peace but with justice. The Vatican saw the need for intervention of the kind that only
occurred in 1995 after massacres at Srebrenica. We considered that the Holy See was too
quick to recognize Slovenia and Croatia and that recognition accelerated the breakup.
The Vatican considered that Europe and the U.S. moved far too slowly in intert@ning
protect the people of Bosnia. As the breakup approached, | remember late 1980s
meetings with bishops from the area. | was having dinner with two bishops from the area,
a Croat and a Serb. They were arguing on wh&bkdveCroatianwas one language or
whether they were different. It got heated, for reasons outside discussion on language
alone. It was not like the Portuguese criticizing the Brazilians for use of Portughese. T
tensions in the | ate 0680s, befimludngt hi ngs br o
among the clergy.

Q: | followed it from Washington just out of the service and all but | spent five years in
Belgrade.

CREAGAN:That 6s right .

Q: I was very disturbed about the Pope and the Germans because | felt they had a hand
in pushing thigs along.

CREAGAN: They almost precipitated things and | know peopletlgilok that Yeah |
thought it was too quick.

Q: No it was a very, very difficult time on the European side.

CREAGAN: Oh yeahYou were with Eagleburgerght; he thoughthat itcould hold
together.

Q:Well we hoped that it would hold together |
CREAGAN:Yeah, yeah it justé

Q: Larry and | took Serbian together.

CREAGAN: Yeah, exactly.

QWwWell Jim 1l think I 6éve milked you alkout everl
di dndédt mention even if itds a |ittle aside o
we got a lot of new Catholics out there.

CREAGAN: Right.

Q:By the wayé

126



CREAGAN: By the way speaking of Catholics and the Paopestate to state relations,

when | met théPopel would shakéhis handput not kiss the ring.noticed that several
Roman Catholic heads of staie particular from Latin Americdyent down and kissed

the ring.We would never do that because we aredipeesentatives of the Uad States
andthe Pope is the Head of State of the Holy See. One final comment on the Pope and
official visits and blessings. General Vernon Walters, who had been lots of things
including deputy director of the C|&Aame by now and again to brief the Popd=astern
Europe and intelligence matters in those last years of the Cold War. One time that | went
with him General Walters, before talking business, asked the Pope to bless some rosaries
he had in his pocket (we had bought several on the Via della Carmnkaoutside St.

Peters.) Walters put his hand in his pocket, but he had so many rosaries he had a hard
time getting his hand out with the rosaries. Pope JP Il told him not to worry; the papal
blessing would go through cloth.

Q: Oh GodWe | | | enbtidestimel] aak eall yoou ngt week in the afternoon.

CREAGAN:Ok ay, thatoés fine, the only thing is |
| 6m going to Notre Dame Sooluekdayatternbomiiwe t hey be
can do that.

Q: Okay, 2:00 pm.
CREAGAN: Great.

Q: I have to say every once in a while | get into religious discussion with a man | have
breakfast with almost every morning is Dr. Alfred Goldberg, as you may suspect he is of
Jewish background but was the chief historian for theatepent of Defense; he is 95

years old right now and going stronige raised the question of the Immaculate
Conception and the Virgin Mary.

CREAGAN: Oh, mygosh.

Q: So that got me to the Catholic encyclopetisuggest some time you read tHatvas
1854.

CREAGAN: 1 & | | read it.
Q: So you left the Holy See when?

CREAGAN: I left the Holy See in December of 1990emember it was just after the

conclusion of the Mozambique cease firehatthey initially, in jest for the most part,

calledt h €reafjarCeaseFire. They di d sign that ceasefire
Rome and they all remembered fondly the Wild Turkey bourbon | had served on

ThanksgivingSo that was about December probably leftaround Deember 31990.1

took a little home leaarand appearad Sao Paulo the first week of January 1991.
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Q:Can you describe Sao Paul o which amounts t ¢
equivalent to an embassy as far as its importance and all but would you explain why is it
so important and thethe situation there?

CREAGAN: Okay and yeah, we probably will explain a little &tout Sad?aulo and its

relationship with th@mbassyYou are so righthat there waa lot of friction too |

remember when inspectazame down. There was often a difnce on whether Sao

Paulo would report directly to State or whether it should go through the embassy. This

recalls for me the efforts of ConGen Milan under Tom Fina, reporting its views on the

Italian Communist Party and government in oppositiontommba@a s sador 6 s cal | f «
view from ltaly.Sao Paulas a city of20 million people anthe center of industry,

finance and increasingly, those who run political Brazil. Of course, Brasilia is the capital,

but not of the source of power. Brazil was ofteeder i bed as fABelindiao,
of Belgium and India. Sao Paulo is the Belgium part. Rich in comparison. In recognition

of the economic and political realities, thaited States had a very big consulate general

in Sao Paulpin my time oveR00 peope. In terms of the different kinds of functions

youol | I mme d that tegding in $ae Eaolg were dt@nmmercial minister

counselorand a gooskized staff of 15 or so. Also the Labor Attaché was in Sao Paulo.

That is where the unions were, hedddy a very strong leader who became president of

the country, Ignazio Lula da Silva.

Q: Okay Jim, you wer explaining about the importanoéSao Pauloy o u6d bett er
retrace your steps.

CREAGAN:Yeah, okay, within Brazi bredbaur2ths Sao Pa
million people which had grown ever since the introduction of coffegou are well

back to the turn of the century when coffee came in and slavery had been abolished in

1888 And slavery was focused, a lot, on the northeast along with bugthen coffee

came in; a coffee boothat was centered on thagricultural areas of Sao Pawod the

state of Parana in the soutNith slavery abolished workers had to be imporidtey

were found in Italy. It was the period of massive Italian migneand millions went to

the U.S., Argentin& and Sao Paulo state. Then there was major immigration from Japan

and they, too, became agricultural laborers. Then came industrialization and more

immigrants and more wealthh@t grewthrough the20th centurysoby t he 19806s vyo
have f BBS8doPauldhadaighper capita incomdt was Belgium while the

Northeast washe India part.

The politics of Brazimeant that morerpsidents and leaders were coming from the

northeast, the India pafheir democacy was nicely controlled by tlieolonel® as they

called themlIn Sao Paulo it was a little more raucotligadeuniors were important and
electionscontested. The presidents in that period when | was in Brazil, after the military
dictatorship, were notet coming fromSao Paulobut n t he 19 9f@Qods t hey di d
lookedat Congr es sfrom&aoaulea hgge humieOof Congressmen

coming from Sao Paulo and all the economic energy tBeréhe United States and

Japan and Italy and others focusedSao Paulo anset upsubstantiabndimportant

consulate general therd remembethe international competitiohwas proud obur

128



commercial operation amémember talking once with my Japanese abgsneral
counterpart He aewkaeegoudaingin commersaiadd 2?0 We ar e

gr e

have fifthkens gpieb,plfeWedl | t hat és prSethea y good,

Japanese government was focused on Sao Paulo where there were over one million
peopleof Japanese origjBrazilian citizensThey were focused in a competitive way, of
course, on businese.hen we had our | abor attach® in
where the trade unions were, big trade unions, industrial trade unions and steel and
aircraft and other areasula, one of tle leaders, of course, went on to become the

president of BrazilSq, there is theimportanceof avibrant political climateThe Labor

Party had Marxistootsand was proud of ties with Cuba. So that was interesting. There
was a stronéocial Democratic Ry, which gave to Brazil its best president of the

century, Fernando Henrique Cardoso. | knew him in Sao Paulo. Another party had strong
links to the center/right and the mayor of Sao Paulo then was a Lebanese Brazilian, Paulo
Maluf. Sao Paulo was andh®me to many people of Lebanese and Middle Eastern
descent. Sao Paulo wasa@nsulate with a political sectipwith a labor counselpa big
commercial sectioand other agencies that you can imagine are important in the big city.
We had the biggesbnsuar sectiorand I thinkit is still right up there at the top.

Brazilians travel a lot, and to the UiSwithout visa waiver like the Europeans.

We had Marine guardd one of the few consulates then with them. There were at least
ten government agencieperating in Sao Paulo, including the IRS. Some, you could say,
were headquartered thefidhe U.S. consulate genetad important things to say and do;
we reported directly to Washingtamdnot through Embassy Brasilia as other consulates
would typicallydo. With political reports and the others, we went stratgttatel

remember that this was a bone of contention quite dftepectors would come down

and the ambassador in Brasilia would complain that Sao Paulo thinks they are
independent and areperting directly but they really need to report to the embassy and
like that. Then this would be written up and the inspector would recommend that things
be either as they were or be chandeémember that Bob Sayre was inspector and wrote
up thatSao Palo, because of its importancghouldbe independent isome ways and
shouldreport directly to Washington with copies to Brasilia and all of thia¢én Bob

became Ambassador to Brazil. As | recall he changed and pressured Sao Paulo to go thru
Brasilia.Understandabld.guesshat judgementiepend®n where you are and where

you stand

Now when | was Consul éeral in Sao Paulo Rickditon wasAmbassadorHe was a
good guy to work with, very organized, very sharp and not bombastic or controlling or
anyhing elseHis DCM, Bob Servicevasan old friend of mineSo | felt that we had a
very good working relationship and yes, | went diteciVashington on many things, but
the Ambassador and DCtusted my judgment in doing thaly approach was that |
worked forthe DCMandI workedfor the Ambassadomy predecessoiyles

Frechette| think had a more fractious relationshipMgles had been an ambassador
And often the consul general in Sao Paulo had been an ambadgatiesa Wells is
another one.
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Q: Sticking to the administrative stage how did you deal with the governvdastt the
city government, the state government or what?

CREAGAN: So that would be clearer in terms of levétsother words, | was not dealing

with the president of the republic he 6s up i n Boffarsignhffaies andt h e

the rest of the governmeate up in Brasilips o t hat 6 s obviously for

for the embassy to dbwas seeingnsteadjncredibly important peoplg the economic

and political chss based in Sao Paulo state or Patatealt with the governor. He was
probably the most important governor in all of Brazil for stiteen | would deal with the
city government or the partthe MarxistWorkers Partyhatkept striving to get the
presdency with Lula as candidatedealt with the Senators and congressmen from Sao
Paul o who al most al ways spent weekends
leaders. | was what they call honorary president of the Ame@bamber of Commerce

| worked all the meetings and with the top companies, including GM, Ford, Eli Lilly, etc.

| dealtwithLulaand when t he ambassador woul d c¢come

and like thatMy relationships were Sao Pauftate government was importaahdat

that time it was rutby confident European style Social Demosrahe important thing
also in Sao Paulo is that the consul general and his consulate are dealing with major
reallyimportant business figurésof Brazil. OsirisSilva for exampleHe was CEO of
EMBRAER, a major world aircraft company. It had been government sector, then
privatized. Many of the aircraft you fly in the U.S. are mad&MBRAER. We had an
interest in keeping close with themhdy opened up a factory in Fort Lauderddlee

mi ni

t

t her e

Sao Paulo American Chamber of Commerce was the most important in Brazil of course.

It was, in effect, the ferican Chamber of Commerce of BraZihe U.S. Consul

t

General was theonorary presidenb ut it wa s n émean| wenitto alithen or ar y .

medings and worked all the issues and there were issuegaming up the Brazil
economyafter years of protection and import substitution. The big hitters were on the
board: | had Generaotorswith its 35,000 employee®Rick Wagner waEO of GM
Brazil. Rick went fromSao Paulo to one other job and ti@&BO of General Motors
worldwide Hegot dumped in 2008 when things went pagt General Motors is doing
okay agai n a ngotaBreatdolden patachubesSac Raulo we had as well
Ford Goodyar, Eli Lilly and all of these bighmerican companiedVe worked on issues
of importance to the U.S. and to many of its companies.

The push was not just trade and tariffs; it involved other areas of Brazilian law that
impacted foreign companies. Sao Pautwked on these with the companies. The
AMCHAM (American Chamber of Commerce) worked its interests with the Brazilian
government. We worked togethd@he trade issuesere directly taken up by the embassy
with the ministries of governmentwould go to Basilia quite oftenandthe ambassador
or DCMwould come down to Sao Paulo

Q:Letds talk about your relation with t

CREAGAN: Sure.
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Ql'tds wunusual for a counselor officer or an\
businessaf f ai rs in a foreign country outside of

CREAGAN: Right.Well, I guess you would sayao Paulo at that timeas different in

that respect in that the were issuekigger than the problems of one company. It was

abaut opening uphe Brazilian economyand that hdto do with the tariffs and the free

trade and all of that; that was something that the U.S. government pushed and, of course,
that was at the time of the North American Free Trade Agreeaneltihen the

asprationsfor aFree Trade Agreement the AmericasRKTAA). That did not happen,

but we pushed fdiree trade, free trade, free tradée Chamber of Commerce, that is

these American companies, was trying to break down the barriers which were those
traditional protectionist areas of BraZ8o obviously the U.S. government and U.S.
businessvereworking handin-hand | wore the two hats of U.S. Consul General and
honorary president of the Americ&mnamber Then there were the competitors like

Toyota. With he Japanese we could both cooperate and compete. Other consulates in Sao
Paulo were active commercially as well, including the Italians and the Canadians

Q: Would you say they did seek you out?

CREAGAN: For the American Chambgres Wehad regular meetgs and wevorked

up positions to present to government and | had discussions every weekend with the very
activepresident of the Chamherhat position rotated amdight bethe GM CEO or

another major company.eg, we were active both socially and onalgendal spent

time with theBrazilian big hitters, the guys who ran the railroads, the soybean king, the
coffee baronsthe ethanol sugar producersvduld be seekhem outspend time with

them, find out what they were doing, what we might do togethers an active life

with businessnot just the American business and the foreign business and those working
in Brazil but also the BraziliansThen there was the interaction with political and

economic players from the U.S. We had a lot of visit®m Senators lik8ill Bradley

of New Jersey or Boren of Oklahoma to Vice President Dan Quayle and Vice President
to be, Al Gore. They came to Sao Paulo for serious busiress to go to places like

Iguassu Falls.

Q: Did you get involved in the politic$ coffee and all or what was the situation coffee
wise at the time?

CREAGAN:Wi t h coffee 1 O6m not thinkThageref great
really interesting waysiew nethods of preparingoffee You know when we look at

Starbucks today ith the Frappuccino andll that. The Brazilian entrepreneurs found a

market in Japan. They freeze dried the coffee and canned milk and sugar and found a

market with Japanese schoolchildiebuying the coffee from a vending machine which

mixed the ingredieston the spot. Fresh and hot or cold. We have them all over the world

now, but I think the Brazilians got a jump. They had been the producers of bulk coffee

but realized that profit is all in the value added. | think Japan was a new nidr&et.

Japanese #n became addicted to coffpeepared that waly out of machinesBy way of

a footnote, thdBrazilian coffee exporters in Santos told me they sent the best beans to
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Italy i not surprising and the worst beansRortugalld on 6t know whdat t hat
Il i ke dicawhe fi cof fee in Portugal. I do know t he

Sugarwas being used creatively to produce ethanol. The Brazilians got a jolt with the

petro crisis of the 1970s and moved to get energysséfitiency with ethanolThey

were way ahead of the U.S. and our use of corn as ethanol produced about 1/7 the energy
that sugar could da.had an aHethanol car in BraziWe watched it, we were interested

in it, we had EPA people look at iut the U.Sdid not go for it. Aad we kept a tariff on

the ethanol coming from Brazi protectprices on our owsugar cane indust@nd to

protect corn for ethanol as well. It made no economic sense but a lot of political sense.

Q: Youknow for a long time Brazil seemed to be mowvgardsi and there is an
economi c t er mi butbascallyhuildihgrevenythingam their own.

CREAGAN: Oh yeahjmport substitution and autarkyguess is the word; everything
A ma id Brazilo, yeah.

Q: What was the situation when you @¢ere and were we doing anything about it?

CREAGAN:By 19911992 they had realized that that we
scrambling for some kind of economic policies that would wBtkwe felt that pressure

on opening in the trade area could d@ome effectThe president of Brazil at that time

wasa young guy swe into office. He was sort of the original figure that gets office

because of effectiveness of campaign, financing and tele\psiglitity. He was a blank,

handsome kindf guy, Fernado Collor deMelo, and he had someaguepolicies that

looked like they could be good for Braztlowever, higgovernment was corrupt and

things went badThey never got a grip on inflatipwhen | was there it was running as

high as thirty percent a mdntp tavardthree thousand percent a yelinese wererazy

inflationary spirals but great for certain bankers and rich people and those who would get

the saecalledfiovernight rate. This was putting your money lmanksovernight and

pulling it out; lots & economic activitybut distortion.So on the one hand it looked like

there was some opening and there was work that could be donetbataiher hand all

the distortionncluding the corruptionn fact, in 1992 this guy, young man Collor de

Melo was mpeachedBrazil got itseconomy in order because of these Sao Paulo guys,
Fernandddemr i que Car doso became financoatheni ni st er
new currency and they had toreate a new currency theal i with discipline and

brought thenflation down from tlousand of percent to single digit.-hat happened

after | left and the young president was impeached.

Q: Well how about your role in helping steer our major government industrial powers in

a corrupt economic situation?t 6 s washdal.ouc h

CREAGAN: Yeah, sometimes it works and you have very good pebplast say Sao
Paulowas much better than the Northeast and had serious peogdieg on the issues
mean those like Osiris Silva, Fernando Henrique and Laffer. It is truentthet Sao

Paulo of the later military regimes and during the Brazilian effort at import substitution,
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there were a lot of strong political characters. Those included men like @uersnor,
Adhemar de Barr os RobbamasFaw.h oldsebathemggts itdane.d i
He got elected, and highways were built, development occurhedgdvernment of Sao
Paulowasresponsible for tha®A lot of money flowing, a lot of businesk®one, and no

doubt bribes paid.

By the way my introduction to Sao Paulas interesting. Wheharrived in Sao Paulo

the first week of January 19%here were daily bomb threads it was the run up to the

First Gulf War. It was a dhering storm there which became Desert Stanah the

attacks tadrive Saldam Hussein out of kvait. Sao Paulo is a city with a large Arab and

a large Jewish population. So, in that atmosphere of imminent war, tensions were high.
The America Consulate General was a point of reference for threats and all that. As bomb
threats were received, the calege closed and its people spilled out into the streets. | had
to make some quick decisions to button things up, as it was kind of chaotic. We were in a
building with other tenant® a bank and other stuff. There was a parking garage in the
basement. | hto make sure the Marines were up to strength and | got the RSO down to
supervise. Then we needed to get approval of other tenants to inspect their vedmdes
ours of coursé before any car went into the garage. | set up inspections like we did in
Patugal with guards looking under the hood, in the trunk and under the car to ensure no
bomb. Once we did that we could be pretty sure that most idle bomb threats had no
credibility, and we stayed in the consulate at work. It also reduced the fun of any
prankster who might be calling in threats and enjoying the evacuationsutdmed up

and theMarines tightened up andworked. Bomb threats were going to the UK

consulate and the French consukdevell. The UK ConsulGeneral told mehat they just

cut df their phones. That left nobody to call and threaten. They also closed the consulate
and worked from home. Not an option for us. As | noted above, Sao Paulo was a city of
600,000 or so Lebanese and Middle East residents and a very large Jewish corsnunity
well. Also, over a million Japanese and two million of Italian descent. With 20 million
people it had everything. Concerning terrorism, there had been-atlmdjng issue of
possible terrorists, perhaps Hezbollah and others hanging out inta#esiatriangle of
Paraguay/Argentina/Brazil. It was a rather loose and unregulated bardberg was

concern about that iBao Paulo at least in that first half of 198hd then in 1992 the

Israeli Embassy in Buenos Aires was bombed with considerableflbgs It was

thought that Iran, Islamic jihad and Hezbollah were involved. That border zone was
thought with more reason to be an area to watch.

Concerning arcotics we had the Bug EnforcemenfAdministrationinvolved and

tracking the transport of came thru Brazil and out from Sao Paulo to the U.S. and
Europe. In 1991 thBraziliansstill thought they wereomewhat immune from thweorst
effects of narco trafficking which came from Colombia through the western part of my
consular districtthe Mato Grossoover toSao Paulo and then out to Europe and.il&

It was an issue we were working. dthad many conversations with the federal police
chief, Romeu Tuma, about the simple fact that transport of drugs always morphs into
drug use by the transpongjrcountry. Just think of payment for shipments in the product,
cocaine itself, and you get an idea of how it can spread.
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Q:Jim?Tal king about the mobs Il raq ¢
CREAGAN: Pardon me?

Q:éwi t h t hi sdarh ldussein and certaiSlyanot the most poputaure
invades a country and why wouttbbscome outand | takeit, in support of him?

CREAGAN: Yeah okay Well, there were nanobs out of control budemonstrations

against the U.S. and Israel rather than support for Saddam. The theme might be that the
imperialist U.S., in league with Isra&lith the Jewsis going after an Arab leadér

Sadlam Husseini donoé6t think t hat,bdcause hgwagsudharh ol d o Vv e
evil dictator and he had just invaded, of course, an Arab co(umyait) and was

threatening Saudi Arabend so forthBut there was enougémotionthat some groups

could get worked up. Enough for thewish Clulto beworried about maybe sonaet of
sabotag®r a bomb. Tiere is always somebody, either a terrorisa wantto-be terorist

willing to threaten bomé It had to be taken seriousNow we never had a bomb in the
Consulate Sao Paulo but you had to take seriously those threais.lwanted to make
sure that s o me thardicks owmtafshaving all theepedpspiling out of

the consulate every dalot good. But we were not concerned about hostile mobs.

Q: Were there elements at that timeabfaeda running around?

CREAGAN: Well there was this concern of the lawless area, the triangle down there in
Paragug, southern Brazil and Argentina bord€here had been the bombing of the
Jewish Center in Buenos Aires and it was felt that this is Hezbollah or then later Hamas
or these kinds afroups i maybe the Iranians evolvdait none of it so clear. ADaeda
waskind of really not yet a factor over there in Brazil and the AmerlmatsHezbollah
andmaybe some Iranians were a possible source of troubtkaAtiisrael bombing in
Buenos Aires and that kind of thing was réfit happened in Buenos Aires thercaduld
happen in Sao Paul/e have these big communities.

Q: What were your relations with Rio?
CREAGAN: With Rio?With the consulate you mean?

Q: Yeah and the relationship between Rio and Sao P#Vdas. Rio the place where
everybody with money hoppefdl i for the weekend or something or what?

CREAGAN: Yeah you are righSao Paulo is businedRio was the place to go for

recreation and fun. Of course it was a serious consulate with business and political and

cul tur al acti vi ti easemd, todl woulCty pp@ctaRiccarfeav and | p
times a yearWe had friends thengho were the economic officers and thenr¢heas

my counterpart, the@sulGe ner al s o wdid.dVe svénatyth€armaval e

and sat in the nice box where the govelaruat some foreign office people were.

Congressmen were wary of a CODEL to Rio as it would appear to be whatiitavas

break and vacation. So, they came to Sao Paulo. Nobody came to Sao Paulo to play.
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The worldwide environmental conference was in Riovlas A Ri o 0920. Pr
came as did Fidel and many of the worl do
meeting. Actually, | took Al Gore (Senator and running for VP) to the coastal jungle area
(Mata Atlantica) of Sao Paulo/Parana state. Hetegto demonstrate his environmental
credentials far from the madding crowd in Rio.

esi d
s | e

In terms of a business relationskfh the U.S. Consulate Genei&io, there was some
businesdetween the consulates, but we would more likely meBtasilia to tak over

things rather than my going to Rio de JaneWe would oordinate upn Brasiliawith

Rick Melton, the Ambassadorand withDCM Bob Service and the othestthe Country

Team. For me Rio was the best @arnaval | did not likeCarnavalin Sao Palo. As for

beaches, we did have those in Sao Paulo statec@édsulate people went dowmthe

beache® aboutforty milesaway. It was important to get away from Sao Paulo. Sao

Paulo andMexicoCi t y wer e at that ti me ptesSaobl y t he
Paulo ultimately had an impact on my sense of smell, assaulted as it was by the heavy

odor of human waste coming from the Tiete River.

By the way the city alschad seriousecurity problers, so we all had to think about that.

| do notmean poliical insecurity but insecurity because tfe high level of crimeSo |

always had to go around in a bullet proof, @ard aSao Paulo policemanmasassigned to

me at all timesAt our house we had guards\d they were i bullet proof booth in the

front of the houseGuards were up on the wall filmokout. It wasa criminalproblem.

The Japanese consul general some years before me had been kidnapped and; smsomed
neither the Brazilian nor U.S. Government wanted to deal with that kind of case.

Q: Wdl how did you and Gwn find the social life?

CREAGAN: Very much official social lifeWehad agoodUSIA operation andpeople

came through SRIohn Updke and the Philadelphia Orchestra and jazz artists. Much of
our official social life was out at my sedenceWe had staff and a cook and so forth
although Gwn seemed to do all of the great cookiAgd she made sure thaiings

went well Wehad a lot ofevents athe houseWehad a lot of visitorslt might be a

CODEL with senators like Bill BradleyVe would do a luncheon for political and

business leaders, many of them of national level, future or past presidents or foreign
ministers.Then | would have business people thedencheon or a dinndor thirty or

forty peoplefrom the AMCHAM or Ameri@n Society or other. @lived in the residence
which was probably fifteer twentymiles from theConsulate ®neral And there was
alwaysincredibly bad trafficNear us was an area callétdacraflor. It was gatednd

guarded That is where the executiveged. Wed i d n 6t |, asweehad onrownh e r e
U.S. government residence lilbé General Motors and Ford aothers lived thereOn
Sundayg we playedtennis or jgged withthe business peopieBrazilian or U.SThe

Brazilians are very much outdoor g so we did something in the area of sports on
Saturday/Sunday. Whatever we did, it was at least-eéfioial social,political or

economicln Sao Pauw we often did the official lunch;so6d have | unch with
leader or a political leader oredlmayor oa Consul from lItaly, Canada or wherever.
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Q: How stood things on the political sidledid we have concerns about contacts with the
extreme left or not?

CREAGAN: Probably that had chang&om earlier years. €ple who had been
terroristsinthed 60s and even involved i,Bukei dnappi ng
Elbrick, were politically rehabilitated after the demise of the military government during

themid-6 8.0rsings were changing fastnd the left wasquite accepted in the political

scene TheLabor Party of trade union leader Lula was becoming very powerful. Of

course, he became President of Brazil. Aod/there is a president, Dilma Rousseff,

who wasin the terrorist ranksAs for theUnited States weay we nevedeal with

somebody who aterrorist or who actually kidnapped an ambassaBlatrtimes change.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN:Thetimel 6 m t &dutk1D96 §2 wenwe were in Sao Paulave
certainly had no problem meeting with politicians and others from the entire viable
political spectum. The business elite fearédila at that time (they later grew to love
him) but met with him and his people all the time. So did we.

Q:You didndét f i ndwdreseuseaditotindtalytwhenyou hahl totreaty o u
the Communists with very kidogies.

CREAGAN: Not at all. | remember even later in 1994 in Rome, inviting the Communist

Party leader to July 4 was a big deal and with imagined repercussions from Washington

and in the Italian political saemamber | deal't
having that kind of sensitivity. The military governments had really focused for a time on
Communists and supposed Communists or Socialists or even Social Democrats. But

those days were gone and the Brazilian attitude kind of fudged ideologyaNd

debates like in Italy.

Q: Well in a way we were fortunate.

CREAGAN: | was telling you how we had securigsues] mean | had the Sao Paulo
cops with me, the resideneasguardedand all thatput the danger was not really
political. It was gangsr violent individuals.

Ql 6m told that the wealthy elite often hel i«

CREAGAN: CorrectThat could be security and it was also Sao Paulo and traffic
gridlock. Ik became close to impossible to move arodindm 10 or 15 miles away it

coud take an hour to get home. | wiaghe backseat working and using whatever means
to communicate. Wd i dyetdave Blackberry or whatevehough car radio was

useful. Then the pollution was really baand it was a very crowded cisp the rich
develped a helicopter approach.
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Q: Were we, sort of the powers that be, in the United States worried about the Brazilian
menace commercially or not?

CREAGAN: You know we were interested in opening up Brazil so we had been really

quite concerned with intellacal property being stolelcopied especiallyith Microsoft

and computer technology. There was a consi de
was in Brasilia and the 199006s when | was 1in
powerhouse and engaging in much enbeade Then, of course, wsupported U.S.

companiesGeneral Motorsvas exporting from Brazil in addition to the domestic

marketl t hadndt yet, ofcomimgprosgestyandpuwldingofa hr ough t |
much larger middle class. In the first decadléhis century up until the Chinese

slowdown Brazil and the Brazilians were doing welh&k we talked about ti2R1 C 6 s

it was Brazilian economic expansion we were underlining. On visas, for example, there

was great growth in travel to the U.S. by Briaxit with money to spenB8ack when |

was therein 1990 9 1 t h eertravelimgalass, ut also attempted visa fraud on

grand scale.

Q: Jim?Hold on for just one secontlow stood things from your particular observation
with Argentina?

CREAGAN: Yeaha relationship sort of friendly | gues&/lell first you had the

competition | mean theravereboth of themwith military governments buhey were
military governments in competitioBoth were working on nuclear programs. In energy,
the Germans haorovided the Brazilians with nuclear enerdyt a certain point the
Brazilians and Argentines decided to stop the clandestine programs and to join the UN in
declaring theSouth Atlantic a nucledree zoneBrazil and Argentina had always been
competitive but i the time we are talking about, Brazil had moved well out ahead.
Brazil, of course, kept growing and s$eere was n@omparison in terms of the country
and the society and the populace and the ability to do tHayghe time we are talking
about 1990®1, the Brazilians had put up this incredible Itaipu Dam down in the
Argentine ParaguayBrazilian borderlt was mostly &razilian project, a massive

project and made our Hoover Dam and our installations look shtedte were 15

million kilowatts prodiced.Man,| 6 d t a k e SlikerBarenstomOklahtnaand
Bradleyfrom Jerseyand from other states. They were joistwn away by the power of
thathydroelectric dam.

The Argentines and Brazilians were together in a southern approximation of NAFT
called MERCOSUR. One problem was that the markets were not as complementary as
Mexico /U.S./Canada. The area included Uruguay and Paraguay as well, but basically it
wasBrazil andArgentina When it wassuitable for producing automobiles in Argentina

for that market then itould beunfavorable to produce them in Brazb you hd that

kind of competitiorandwith U.S. companies being a part of taatd with operations in

both countries. Brazil boomed in agriculture those ydarxgops like soybeans.

Argentina always had cattle. The relationship was good enough.

Q:There wasnét an intense feeling of rivalry
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CREAGAN: Well on the personal level you haversmof that. The Argentines, for
example, in the summer, January or Februaoyld comeup to theBrazilian beaches
and act superiasr obnoxiousl think all pretty manageable stuff.

Q: What about your observations on relations betweeyvib#, racial relations in
Brazil?

CREAGAN:Yeah, thatodés interest i.Breglidneassammed e s o mu
that there was not racism like we experienced in the U.S. Brazilians had a few set

sayings. One is that #@AMoney whitenso which g
time was Pele, the famous soccer player and Xuxa, a blonde starbfdiche n 6s s how. S
that kind of played into the idea that Brazil was not racist. Then another phrase was that
Brazilians are the fACosmic Raceo with mixes

Italian to descendants of African slaves and to Germans anchRaissd all the rest.

And much of that is true, although the Brazilians were far more racist than they imagined.
A black power movement had some results in Congress and society. | remember meeting
with Benedita da Silva the first black congressman. TheiBans followedhe different

shades in Black and White,andh t he fAacceptedo societal cont
that, unlike the U.S. at the time, in Brazil friction was not evident on the sole basis of
race. There was a feeling that poor wasrpand rural poor was a mix of all. Lula da

Silva, one of many children in his family and a shoeshine ltbgn steelworked and

then Presiderit was an example of poor struggling up. There was little racist element in
that struggle of the poor of alhades struggling to improve their loknow my oldest

son used to travel everywhere by bus and lived off the land so to speak for a time in
Brazil. He told me haever felt racial tensionin Brazlh ough he was bl ond art
and mixed it up with &l So you hd poor White and poor Black and they understood
anotherl never spent much time in Washingttut racial tension was palpable in the
670s aTnidi  8@isdn 6t samem Brazil; sodhatlwas kindhoka reality

Call it a falsereality to some extent, sinteey have discoverdtiatthey are indeedacist

with lots ofassociateghroblems andvith a notso cosmiagace as time goes by. Blacks

overall do tend to be the pooresithough there argo manypoor Whites from

Portuguesand other European or Asidescentn the Northeast and elsewhere. To

finish, if you livedin Sao Paulpyou could well be a descendant of Italians or Portuguese
or Japanese or Lebanese. All were proud to be of their origin and Brazilian too. They
found teir niche. In the NortheastSalvador, Bahia or Recifemany more people were
descendants of slaves from Africa.

Q: Well did you get involved at all in sort of the worldwide concern over the Amazon or
was this just beyond your reach?

CREAGAN: Sao Pauwd was a center ddll the organizationso you had the local and

growing environmental organizatisnThere was Nature Conservanfy exampleand

important local organizations, some focused on saving the Mata Atlantica, a coastal rain
forestinthestaes of Ri o, Sao Paul o apushingteer ana. Br az
governmento make changes and reduce destruction of the Amazon rain forest as well as
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damage to the Pantanal, a massive swamp and jungle area larger than Texas. They
worked to stop thenigration of peoples from the South without Igsém terrakto the

North tooccupyland andournthe jungle You saw many of these organizations
demonstrating at an alternati vRoOSRMmit 692 in t
which brought worldeaders to Rio to focus on the issues of the environment and on
pollution, and whaturned into thé&Kyoto Protocol on cibing carboremissionsThe

world was in attendance at Rio, including President and Barbara Bush, Fidel Castro and
most of the others.dotvery personally involvedis | escorted our owre8ator named

Al Goreto the coast where, accompanied by Brazilian governmental angiovennment
environmental organizations, we observed the rainforest. It is the remains of the great
Atlantic forest & Brazil of which onlyfive percenbr soremains.That foresis extremely

rich in manyspecies and certain kinds of monkeys andthelse.Anyway, Gore was.
Senatomwho wasvery much involved witlenvironmental causes. In the summer of 1992
he was atth pointofbeingCi nt on 6 s .Hewem io thg EarthaSunemitith

that in mind. | took Gore anSlenator Paul Wellstor® Minnesota now deceasedHe

was in an airplane accidem/e spent a couple of days in the jungle, hosted by the
Brazilians, irtluding the Governor of Paranahdt was very interestingore brought his

own TV crews, no doubt for the coming campaign. A point isBnazilian organizations
were active and important and getting some things.ddise the U.S. groups. Nature
Consenancy had a U.S. representative in Sao Paulo. | remember that Alex Watson, who
was Ambassador to Brazil, after his retirement worked for Nature Conservancy. He
would have had a special interest in preservation of the Brazilian natural environment.
Sao Paulavas always a center of action.

Q: Did you find resentment within Brazilian ranks about Amesgaushing this sort of
thing?In a way we kind of did to our west what we were telling them not to do.

CREAGAN:Right Wel | , Brazi |l h ocowrtership oftthe essudk There 6 92 s o
was a lot of government sensitivity, especially in the time of the military governments
untiithemidl 9806s, in other countries fAmeddlingo

stance was not only that the Amazon is Brazilianthat they needed to get a lot more

Brazilian presence, including military, up on the borders to prevent bad stuff drugs

or other developments from bleeding over from Colombia and Peru. Concerning action

on what has become to be known as globalwagmimnd car bon emi ssi ons,
posture was | i ke Chinadés of that period. As
to standards of the U.S., Japan and Europe. At the samBianiéhad lots and lots of

environmental organizations who had the reansich to take to the streethey had a

alternative unofficial summit in which they pushed even further for environmental

controls and so forttSo as | think about the people | worked with in Sao P@ribtoerto

Kl abinds NGO theyweeesryng to dothings with Nature Conservancy

and others.

Q: Were you able to do anything with that | mean giving aid and all?
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CREAGAN: Well, with Brazil we real | XIDlbdjdshadt have |
little bit of moneyi fori f a mi | y p taton and effgrtdo Thendame help on the
HIV/AIDS front.

Q: This brings up another subje¢iow stood we on birth controhethods and all?

CREAGAN:NowinSao Paul o | dli ddh@notdor emegmlhe mgt hat
certainly not in the negativersess e t hat exi sted in Mexico in tI
U.S. was even accused of racist efforts to reduce the Mexican population. Populist

presidents of the PRI attacked the U.S. in a

i s st r en gitutied remesnber mack inahe mieighties in Brasilia, where we

had one AID officerand family planning \&s an area that could be worked, especially

when it became an effort to fight the HIV/AIDS crisis. | remember one discussion in the

embassy. The Alzhief was quite disturbed that a shipment of condoms was hijacked or
stolen at the Rio airport. Il seem to remembe
be distributed to local organizations before the Carnival for obvious re&swihe

condoms wee ripped off at the airport and our guy was reporting the disaster. The

Ambassador took the news with great caimsrali d ,, whalde theyforBon 6t Yy ou

think they will getusedWe woul d have given them away anyyv

Q: What you are really talkingbout is a country that very much at the point we are
talking about very much represented the same thought processes as the United States as
far as social problems and how to deal with them.

CREAGAN: You have a good point. At least if you are talkingutisouthern Brazil and

most of my Consular District. The city of Curitidar examplewas in my consular

district. The city ofabouttwo million peoplewas very advanced in planning and in

actions on environment in an urban context. Jaime Lerner, thernvegs world

renowned and the city had UN awards for its actions on environment, transportation,
working on the homeless problem and that of street children, including providing

schooling. The populace was diverse indeéuak result of the southern Brazi i me |l t i ng
pot o of European i mmigrants in tMoehacarl y t we
Germans, Russians, Ukrainiar$;. It was &ity based on a European immigratidine

mayor was Jewish and very populaesvwvhat you were saying istrug. 6 s athaBr a z i |
was doingnany ofthe same kinds of things we were and in some aveaahead of us

o0 from ethanol for cars with less pollution and less dependence on oil to some urban
planning and public transportation. But Brazil is larger than théreental U.S. and the

North was another world. Drought, peasant farmers, legacy of slaveAmidzeon being

raped, mines and mercury aadjood deal of environmentatvhstation

Q: YeahWell did you have many mayors or governors or others from thesStaming
out and taking a look?

CREAGAN: Yes, absolutelyit seems thatwverybody wanted to take a lodkao Paulo

was acity you wouldnot have wanted to copy, but there was some collaboration with our
EPA and with other cities with the same issieaxico City officials, for example,
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would come down and work with Sao Paulo ahdly ways t@ut emissions from
automobilesIndustry was another problem and even more for Mexico Citynk in

those yearsve had six million automobiles on the street&ab Paulo on a typical day.
We |l | t hzahd&ssthey weseavgrking on these issues together with Los Angeles
andMexico City.

Q: Were there any issues or incidents that particularly stick in your mind that you had to
deal with while you were there?

CREAGAN: The major problem that | remember was the lack of security when | arrived,
and the need to try and provide it. With the U.S. in a large office building that included
other tenants like banksand which had a garage in the basement, there wasgo |

term or totally credible solution. So, the U.S. ConGen has moved to its own compound
with walls and good security. It is what we are doing as we can around the world. Mexico
City, for example, will move from nice architecture and great location tdladva

compound away from the center city.

Q:Well why dondét we | eave it at this point atl
there?

CREAGAN: From thereand that wasas | recallthe end of August of 1992went to
the USUN.

Q:Okaywellwewilpbi ck it upe

CREAGAN: They were preparing to send me to Rome afthea r lgp@didse it ended

up we didndot have anlwemtoths JSUN forrthe General a | ong t
Assembly as what they called senior advisor for Latin Ame8oahat was argat and

interestingexpr i ence and t henandthco PBCMRoreec e t o Char g®bo

Q:Okay, well Il will pick it up then, howods ¢t

CREAGAN:T h at 0 sAs werare talking things come to mind and then | kind of lose
them.Bythewayl 6 m | u st peopersmaeontactintBgo Paulo is a guyamed

CelsoLafer. Again Sao Paulo had the best professdes6s a pr of essor and h
industrialist andhen Foreign Minister. He wouldbme overtdtheh ous e and wedd t a
about the problems you knowofn a pragmatic point of viewHe was then named

Foreign Minister and | saw him up at the UN. Sao Paulo was swinging its weight

politically be 1992/1993.

Q: Oh yeah.

CREAGAN: No traumatic events b&ao Paulo was beginningttke thebig positions

in Brasilia, including the presidency that had been held by those from the Northeast.

Economicallythe saying went like this Brazil is thenumber one economy in Latin
America,Sao Paulo is theumber two economgnd Mexico ismumber three
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Q:TodayistheZlof Oct ober 2013 and Jim we are up toc

CREAGAN: As you know very well, every autuntiney send up Foreign Service officers
to beup at the UNGAI wastherei n abtBe2UNGA running from the beginning of
September to miDecember. M understandingvas that the UNGA traditionally ended
then because it was when the last ship left New YariSouthamptonl was what they
called a senior adviser for Latin America, whatever that mé&anst certainly meant

that | covered Latimerican issues generally, overlooked the work in the USUN of the
political officers and economic officers and those dealing with Latin American issues and
then held handsf public membersThe public member that | dealt with most was Gloria
EstefanandGloria was star of something called the Miami Sound Macl8he was

great singer out of MiamShe still is very good.d&she was up there and | think Senator
Larry Pressler was up there as wélivasthe Republican administratioof George H.W.
Bush | can get into some of the issuést me first say that we had a career guy as the
ambassador, Ed Perkins, who was really a greatigigerved aambassaddo South
Africa. He was als®G. He was COM, andlex Watsonwas also ambassadorial rank.
Alex was latelAmbassador to Braziind he had been deputy assistant secresamneh

as Asst. Secretary for Latin Amerid&know when he retired he went with Nature
Conservancyor Latin America Then you had some really good peapl¢he Mission. |
remenfera young political officer | worked with Joe Manso. He did well in the career.

| remember when | went down to Bolivia in 2009 after our Ambassador had been kicked
out, Manso had been in charge of the-aaticotics program which had lots of employees
and millions in program funds.

at the USUN and

So anywayt h e S
t ying to focus on

see, |
early 1990s.

re were t
hink i f |

o 0O

ose
m ]

Q: What was the issue reghng Haiti?

CREAGAN: Well, with Haiti you always had a mess, always in turmoil with a military
government back in power and pretty vile guys.an example, someone | knew later

and tried to get extraditddom Hondurag unsuccessfully was Michel Francai, Port

au Prince police chief. He was drug running and into all sorts of unsavory activities. In
any case, Jean Bertrandigtide had been elected presiddmit kicked outHe was a

very popular expriest, but also backed by gangs in Havtho did not se democratic
methods eitheHaiti was amess Aristide was still the elected leadsp the effort waso

take international action to support the elected le&lerton later, of course, took
military act i on, andso iheédedwadehobbyirtg bfiLatinAmericansd 9 2
on this issuelLend sipportto democracy against the military governmémemember
Aristide gave a speech at the UN in Crestenot toanany understood and it had to be
translated from Creole to French and Creole to Eimglisthe speech he roamed around
but focused attack on the Pope, of all people (remember that he was a defrocked priest so
no love lost). ie Holy See has an obseratthe UN. They are nat full member of the

UN, but they always had an observer missiarchbishop Matino was the
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AfAmbassador 0. He wal ked out when Ari stide

continued to work the Haiti issue until finally Clinton ordered invasion in 1993. During
1993, we worked to get international support for antilésscomeback. He was the

el ected president. |l was sent in the s
the Vaticano. My mi ssion was to get th
The Foreign Minister of the Holy See told me Aide was nuts and we were a bit off to
support him. Another solution was needed to end the military government and get Haiti
on track toward a better future. | took the message back to Washington.

r

D T

The Cuban issue was particularly interesting for the pub&mber that | spent some

time with, Gloria EstefanGloria, herself, was Cuban and her family had come over after
Castrotook power on Januar¥, 1%9. Herfatherwasactively involved in the amCastro
movementGloria was the next generatic@uba, ofcoursewasvery, very high on the
agenda and something we always dealt with in the asseWblgealt with it in two
ways.One was a resolution on human rights in Galoa we would then lobbyshe

would sing and | would dandéewell not really Butwe worked on the Latin American
delegatiosin particularas well as thethers.There were ongoinguman rights

violations in Cuba@ lack of individual freedoms, freedom of the pres&. You can go
right on down the lisbf human rights violations with tHéastro government of the early
1990s.So we got support for thagsolutioni not overwhelming suppods there were
those who would side with Cuba against the United States on any gr&amde Mddle
Eastern countries and otheBasically we got Europeith us and had solid votes so that
there was a vote against Cuba in the sense of recognizing human rights viodatiors,
for a Human Rights rapporteto Cubai whicho f t en wasndét accepted
and so forth. iatwasone resolution wheree wereg | guess you could sagffective

with good reason.

Then there was another resolution that always came up and it had to do with the U.S.
embargo against Culighatis U.S. selfimposed restrictions on tradingth Cubaand

with all the diffeentvariations that were puttio that over the yearBlow that embargo
was always called a blockade by Cubthink | mentionedhatwhen | was in Braziand
talking with Lula, then thetrade union leademwould always bring up thiblockace 6 a s
crushing Cuh. | would then try to explaithatit was an embargandthat Italy, for
examplecouldand didtrade with CubaAnybody could trade with Cubhut the U.S.

di dn ot Anyaay,thatissue would come iigheembargo or the blockadEven
though GlorigEstefan was fantastic, a great singer, good looking, dynamiceffective

in lobbying, the votes wgot that yeaon the Cuba embargo question were as follows:
We got the U.S. voténot too hardsince that was our positionye got the Israeli vottor
obvious reciprocal kind of reasons. And we got one other vote from one of the former
USSR republics now a state. They were influenceate for us; | think they had a
Colombian adviser or somethirf§o those were issues which we spertime in the
Geneal Assembly Chamba@r sitting at the deslandlobbying the UN delegatet was

fun.

Other issues that came up which were important and not dealt with in the chamber
were important to do right there at the UMere issues on Central America. Oneugro
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wascalled Friends of El Salvaddtl Salvador was coming to the end of kbing civil

warin which, of course, we were deeply involvawring theeighties.So you had on the

one side the Marxist FMLN and the other dide fiercely conservativBRENA, coming

out of the right wing military governmerBy 1992the Marxist leftwasno longer
Aburdenedd by t he | $orthe Briends of B Satvdder whichi | ed USSF
included the U.S. and Mexico and Central Amergchike Panamavould meet at the

Mexico mission and at other missions and just go theerssues for resolution between

the parties leading to free elections. A UN peacekeeping operation, UN®@&Aset in

motion. It was especially interesting to be a little part of the group discussgm tho

months, becausehiad been in Salvador way back in the late 19@@sn war broke out

between El Salvador and Honduras. The issues we were discussing in 1992 were a result

of that war and aftermath. Now tMarxist lead negotiator and the right wing lead
negotiatowereable to sit dowrat the table. We were able to facilitate and mbireas

important and part of the new hope that world organizations represented in the years
immediately after the fall of the USSRrdsips of countries edd cometogetherand help

to pushin a viable direction hose who are exhausted by civil
end it. That waghe Friends of El SalvadoiThen there was tHeriends of Guatemala

Alex Watsonhandled matterat the leadership levesmbassadoPerkinswould have

left most ofthe Latin America portfolio té\lex. The Guatemalan partiess wellwere

abl e i n ttbhreachean agtegmemmir@pertant and positive UN role.

Of courseautumn inNew Yorkis nottoo bad We lived ord9" and First Sket
Beekman Towersnd | walked to worlat the USUN o®5" and Firstl soon became a
partisan of East Side over West Side.

Q: Did the issue of Puerto Rican independence come up?

CREAGAN: No. | think by then pretty much people left it alone as a ddhestic issue
essentiallysince theperiodicvotes in Puertdrico never indicated much support for
outright independence. It was alwaggher commonwealth status or statehood.

Q:Well you know youbve been deal itmg with the
Would you say things kind of simmered down by this point or was there much anti
Americanism?

CREAGAN: There was artAmericanismCentral Americaafteralli n t he 0680s was
crisis point Anti-Americanism focused there and the @@dmmunism foused thereBy

1990, hat had endedVhat had happened Micaraguas that theSandinistasvereso

confident that they had the support of the country after basically beating back the Contras

who weresupported by the Reagan administration aitt charaters likeLt. Col.

Oliver North In retrospect, pretty nutty stuff (cakes for the Ayatollah?) which failed.

Anyway the Contra phenomenon was over, the Sandinistas felteefigent So they

went to a free electiohand bstit. So no, t he 1968 Ovoass rkdntie et Heer k
AmericanismThe onepersorrailing against everybodywasa i t i 6 s deposed | ea
Ari sti de, I donot know, Mr . Crazy.
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Q:Let 6s t al k a Hbhat quitela backing with thesBlack cCesicl think,
in Congressandhehadarcé ai n foll owing in the United
say the guy was really not only somewhat crazy but vicious.

CREAGAN: Yeah. Again hisupport came from some nasty gangs, the Lavalas. They
roamed the streets and intimidated. Aristide may h@en elected, but ruling with gangs

is not the way to run a democracy. It undermines legitimagmember the Holy See

view. At one point the Vatican had a kind of speai¢rest in Aristide, an egriest. One
incident recalled for me by the Vaticaep ut y Forei gn Minister.
over the wall of the Vatican Embasaydbeat up the Vatican ambassadbney stripped
naked the deputy Nuncio and sent him runnifigat wagretty shocking for the Holy

See and pretty shockinig terms ofproper diplomatic behavio.he Holy See really had

no truck for this guyand he was considerég them to be nutcase

| remember after this UN experienc&eptember to Decemb&892i | went back to
Washington for dew months before | wentoutto RenasCh ar g ® 6 dtheAf f ai r
spring.When | was back in Washingt@€linton had just taken the oath) we were setting
up a program, policy and commitmentget democraticalhelected president Aristide
back in office and to kick out these military gulater youwill remember there was
confrontation Jmmy Carterwasdown there, Colin PowelA lot of pressure was put on
Cedras to get out. In the early spring the administration was trying to get solid world
support for the ejection of the military and fristide to go back as the democratically
elected presidentof HaitCl i nt o n 0 s wasraueh npe hdtiogoyiented than
George H.W. Bush had been with ArtisiRart of it was pushed by Congress, and the
Black Caucu®nthe Hill. More Democrat thaRepublicanl had a very minor part in the
long running play. ivassentfrom Washington to the Vatican as a kind of temporary
ASpeci altheHolwSeeon Hami My goodfriend, Msgr. Jean Louis Tauran, had
been deputy Vatican Foreign Minister amds moving to the top slot. Sowkent to see

him andtold him that Washington was behind Aristide and working to put him back on

his seat as the democratically el ecgeted presi

on the teamAristide is going bek. We are restoring democracy in Haitlrauran told

me that Aristide was crazy and i f Ayou put

he was right and our policy did not work out so well. Then it never does in Haiti. We did

kick out the militarylmt , of cour s e, Aridtidedat mbotedl bncennmrek o u't

Let 6s h s many yedrsldter andhafter the terrible earthquakes in Huegte can
be new life. But the early nineties was a mess.

Q: Jim, what is the situation of the Vaticand the UN?

CREAGAN: They have always had what they call an observer missmthey have an
ambassador there called Nuncio or representative to the United Nateonas an
experienced diplomat by the name of faw. He now heads the Justice and Peace
AMIi ni stryo akheyhavea stdfoNew Yo eliplomat3 of the consular
category and secretary category that kind of thiflgeyarepresent in thé&eneral
Assembly They are not votingout they are interested in all the issues and espethall
human rights issueand the issues efar and peacé\frica andCentral America and
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Latin Americawere of key importance in those years. They playeshatcuctive role for
sure but always behind the scendsxt to thensat another observer, tRakstine

Liberation Organization, the PL@hich hadobserver status’he Holy See was one of

the 193 or so countries with representation at the UN. The Holy See is a full and voting
member othe Organization of Security and Cooperation in Europe, O8@Ea

member of the nuclear nonproliferation treaty, which means it is subject to inspections.
The Holy See did not vote at the UN but exerted its influence in the old fashioned
diplomatic wayi at dinners, lunches, receptions etc. persuasion and soft.desters of
Justice and Peace.

Q: Was there any move to make them a full member?

CREAGAN:I dondot think so and | 06m .dtoouldwellr e t hey
have been controversial, not in the way Bi€ has beerontroversial butvith some

controversy.So there was npublic assertiorfor statuson their partand | think no one

else has pushed it either.

Q: Well how sat Chile at the time?

CREAGAN:Chile,1 e t §ishads af ®@urse, come into a democratic governmyéesit
Pinochet haghowerthat limited the government. He was sty chief of stafind held
on topower just in case; but they had a democratic government and very hctive.
remember being with the Chilean ambassador sktmerasduring that fall ad lobbying

on or being lobiedon different issueOne thing in my memorwasthe active nature of
the Chilean ambassadon international issues beyond Chile. The Chileans were well
prepared, ad clearly saw thgalue of the UNbeyond a specific Chilean issue. They had
diplomatswho were welpreparedT h at 6 s wh a about Chile@haewsie e r
resolving their issues througblconciliation commissioand in aChilean way.

Q: What were the Cubans doing?

CREAGAN: Cubanswvereactive lobbying against wmdalways pretty effectieon the
Embargo matter and losing in the Human Rights arena. On human rights they tried to
push Article 2, and that orshould espect sovereignty and the United Nation Charter
no interferenceén domestic affairs of stateSo they would try to push thav/otes on

human rights in Cuba were contestétleyalways lost that one, as far as | remember,
but it was always one that you had to work Dinen thee was theembargo andthey just
tore the place up ondhone. The year | was at tbdGA, we got thee voted US,

Israel and one of the former USSR stafebe st ates of the UN didnot
embargoespecially one which affected other countrié& went to the extreme of
legislating that if aship of your country touadport in Cuba then itould not be

admitted into a port in the United Statesxt. Countries, including oluropearallies

saw us as meddling in their domestic affais.Cubadid well in its lobbying this issue in
New York.

Q: Did you feel that the Clinton administration svdoing basically the right thing?
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CREAGAN: Boy, good question.
Qltds a hard one.

CREAGAN:I t 6 s a Oh Hdaitigvhea hwas at the UNPresident Bush was still in

office. It was the ed of the George H.W. Bush administratienth the eletion having

taken place in early November.h&h Clinton came inwas back inWashingtorfor the

spring and preparing to go to Rome. WithitHour heart was in the right pladaut the

problems were intractable. Andetilemocraticalhelected leader wasdisastr. On

Cuba Clinton initially tried to change things, bGongressiad much power. It passed

specific resolutions or prohibitiorm trade with Cuba and travel to Culigut Clinton

wanted to open up a bgo the Americans could have more freedom aldmte@| to

Cuba For examplefor a timeuniversities could take students to Cuba but that was shut
downovertmeBut | di dn atworteel anlHaitivand the Vatibaa & little bit

and prepared to go ttaly thatearly springClinton had beenlected and unlike some
ambassadomh o yearn to stay on even under a presi
Ambassador to Italy, Pet&ecchiah ad sai d he waasmnattundgroi ng t o s
Clinton; so he actuallfiew away onJanuary 20That was the propéhing to do. His

DCM, a career officer and former economics o
was tohave me go ound replace him until a political appointee ambassador was found.

You know when you are in Washington and waityaou do other thigs | alsowrote
efficiency reportsand | remembaewriting theefficiency report for Nick Burnsvho has

had areally good careerHe was several times ambassador and became Under Secretary
for Political Affairs.Nick was at that time working for Brent@~croftasa young

Foreign Service officer at the National Secu@guncil. A Foreign Service officemeeds

a Foreign Servicefficer to write your efficiency reportSo | would go over there and see
what Nick was doing and how things were at the N&@ | wrote his reportScowcroft

then reviewed it.

QHow did you feel éyou were walking around t
impression of the Clinton taking ovegdmetimes these changes of administration are
relatively bloodless and sometimes they kind of nasty.

CREAGAN:Well,youk now | wasnodt t hietmaes fromm Nokembeh e t r ans
to Januaryl was there when the Clinton people were just comingf ilook up at the

Secretary ofState it wasWarren ChristopheHe wa so properHe was not a stet

fighter, hewas not a Holbrookd.remember seeing Christopher a little bit befoneeht

to Italy, and he seemed to bring calmnésgou will, a lawyerly calm to the officd.had

a friend of mine in the Pentagon, God rest hid,ssmd hewouldsayj| s aw Warr en
Christopher today a Raappearad almostddl id kideh dowre | | ev e i
at the other levels with Latin America you had Alec WaodLarry Pizzula Larry

Pizzulohad been in Nicaragua Asnbassador, kickedut by Reagan when he camelin
remembered Larry from the 197006s. He was goi
called when | was still in Naples with the pitch to help get dictator Somoza out of
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Nicaragua. Activist foreign policy. | was offered pgmal counselor as | remember. |
preferred to stay in Naples.

Q: How long were you in Washington out of the UN?
CREAGAN: | was there maybe five months something like that.
Q: Then off to Italy?

CREAGAN: Then off to Italy So, in the summer df993I replaced Serwer as Chaxg

We had no ambassador. Clinton had intended to nominate Dante Fascell, senior

Democratic congressman on the House Committee on Foreign Affairs and heading the
subcommittee for Latin American for yeaFascellwas ofltalian origin, and that had

some importance domesticallyethad retiredrom Congress and higife was not well

They were back in Florid&ascell was told that tHeCM would run day to day matters,

and the job need not be so taxing. He considered it, but in theeeindd that he would

not take the jobThat left it openand you had a battle among the Itallamerican

groups as to whwould getit. One candidate was Art Garza, a judge and a leader of the
Italian-American FoundatiarAnother was Frank Guarini, ItaidAmerican congressman

from New Jersey. Time went by and there was no action or consensus on a candidate. In

late spring, Clinton was meeting with Secretary of State, Warren Cristopher on Bosnia. It

was a dangerous and deadly situation as Bosnians, $eri@3@atians fought for turf.

The Secretary brought alofgy the briefing with the Residenthe officer whowas

handling the Bosnian accoyiReggie BartholomewReg hacheaded the Pol/Mil Office

at State and had beambassador to LebandB®o,Reg is bought alongo the meeting.
ClintonsadtoChr i st opher , A Hey Evewbodyts fighting foritand wi t h |
whomever | pick is going to create a m@ssthe Italian-American community)The
loserswillbemadIs n 6t t here semefRForceirgmh®érsvild al i an
ambasshdom?®bhe back of the room Reg raises h
Presi3enhe 0sRiedy@oi ¥ b e inadd@Barthdmew as possible

nominee. Mbody in the Department knew he was Italihey were a little bit

flummoxedin the DirectorGe n e r a | ,dt Cliotbnfthouglehe could avoid the

political flak by sending a careprofessionalThey put it forward.

Then Reg and | got together and RSO®B, said wit
youdve been name dChérgé aridhkaowda guy¥ot thimkiydu a s
guysruntheplageand | want you .tranitk ndboow nlodm at hpeo | b a s sc ¢
appoi hhemrm. e BimdodGeneral hds@amed ydor DCM. You are an

filtalian handa nd you o6 v eWelhle@m ¢gdhiemge to see i f | can

| sai dSdOkhgnoabout three weeks go by and he
everybody agreebat youknow Italyandthe Italiansand issues. So, k ay Ingtan g o i

take you. 0 Utyosavetb reméntbéralhave deen you when | was

ConsulGeneral in Sao Paulandyou came through. & beratd your staff, raisd hell

with them If you do that to meit will be once. @e of us is out of there thextalay, and

it wonodoHebsesaydu. & Gaweyhad aseatrorsleipdthatbworked, Reg is a

difficult charactey God rest his soubut very, very competente learned Italian fasHe
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focuses on issudike a laserputhe isdifficult. We worked it out inourthree years
together Before he was confirmedwent outto Rome in the summes&hargé so |
was in Italyrunning the embassy and missiorthat period until migDctober.

A big issuevasSomalia, in other worgsheU.S. and Italy wex doingimportant things

together Somaliawas a top issue for the administration. If | think about Italy fr@&3L

1996 when | was there as DCiid Charg, there was big differencdrom the years

when | waghe assistant labor attachpolitical officerin the early 197QsThe issue then

was the future of Italy itself. Thdomestic Italian political scerneas of fundamental

importance because of the Cold War and the possibility that Italy might vote itself a

Communist government. ven remember when yavereConsulGeneral in Naples

the | ate 19700s itahveas thevdansestisteériorisrh ofthe Red nc er n
Brigadesl n t he early 070s t her ePartywosldavestake er n t hat
the Christian Democratic Paraynd dominate the gok@mnent;sowe followed the

intricacies in the political partieB1 theU.S., agencies other than State Departmame

also reallyfocused and interesteBy 1993 and 194 the Cold Wawasover and frankly

Italian politicswere kindof interestingd like Texaspolitics is interesting but not an

existential thing. Thether issues were realdyfocus of our attention, likeorking with

Italy on Somaliaandworking with Italy on other international issu€dovenia had an

importance and especially in theebkup of Yugoslavia. Italy had had a long relationship

and at times domination of parts of Slovenia and Croatia. Bosnia was very important for

us and for Italy. So, we had some focus on i
out as Charg The Itdian Prime Minister was an old friend from decades before when he

was an academic scholar in the U.S. in New York and at Brookings. When | was desk

officer for Italy, he would come by and read the Italian newspapers, which we received in

the Department. Walways discussed politics and other news. When | went out to Italy

that summer, | understood the importance of old relationships. The practice of

reassigning officers, as we and the Soviets did, paid off in the personal relations that
helped make diplomgc wor k. I n our case we used to refe
guess that was me with four assignments to falif you count the Vatican as being in

Italy (at least you have to live in Rome)idimportantto know people when you are in

yourtwerties and thirties and thesee them lateAs soon as | got to Italxmatoinvited

me out to hisummer placepalongthecoast n Tuscany and wedd begin
issues; Somalia unfortunatelybeing one of them.

Q:Okay, | et 6s tod¥k @urRspedcile indtalyiwhat were eve after?

CREAGAN: You remember the great hunger in Somalia and great coincira U.S.

and Europe. We knew about tfaenine andgreathunger because weaw it on CNN.

That gave a domestic political urgenoydoing somethingso this was happening toward
the end of 't he BUmsldrPrgsalentBsish ané at the GNowe initiafe® 1
UNOSOM I. That operation was to goandfeed the starving Somalis. We worked

closely with the Italians in that andtime subsequent UNOSOM Il which included the

use of force to prevent gangs from ripping off the fd@etause the Italians knew a lot
about Somalid it had been their coloniytheywere still involved We had not had an
Ambassador there for some years;daese of the chaotic situation. Our last ambassador
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wasPeterBridges dono6ét know if youdve dorméahean or
has written about Somalia. Important sourdengs were a mess thedevould judge

Italy in many waystohavebee our number one partner in
UN operations degenerated as extremist war lords challenged the UN. They were gangs
out of control. The worst was led by a man named Algdthe Clinton administration

came in the UN mandate changetemember a lot of things happened but one

Johnathan Howevho had been a National Security Adviser under President@ush

U.S. Navy Admiral ended ugneading the UN Mission in Somalia. In a real sense, the

U.S. was wearing dual hats of UN and witnéitary componend the most important
component as UNOSOM | morphed to UNOSOM II. We had mission creep before long.
We were trying to protect the fodbm the bad guys and then go after the warlords

al

Som

themselvesSo t hat began to @&y edwer tmoAdbtlegdg dr9es |ain

UN there was a feelinthat we could benore aggressive in making sure that food gets to
the peopleThen there was the question of taking out the warldis.ltalians were
reticent about thaandthey hal a lot of inteligence They hadinesopen to the warlord
group We probablythought at that point that the Italians were m@ecommodationist

if you will. They, on the other hand, felt that they understood Somalis far better than the
U.S. Somalia had been an ltalieolony; there was the spaghetti factory, and so forth.
Those are the kinds of issues | discussed with Prime Mista@to. Then in early

October our efforts to deliver a blow to the warlords and even grab if possible, Aidid,
resulted in the tragedy ofl&k Hawk Down and the killing of American soldiers on the
streets of Mogadishu.remember informing my friend théafter Black Hawk Dowhwe
would be leaving Somalid heltalians couldnake their own decisions. @burse they
wer enodt g oforoegvithbun theslt SSoywe wankedaloselywith the Italians
throughout, sometimes in agreement and sometimes not.

Q: In the fird place for someone who is reag about this affair for the first time could
you give us a brief thing of what was Black Hd»dkwn shorthand for a situation?

CREAGAN: So as we begin to engage in a more military manner in order to prevent the
warlords from ripping off the food aid for famiptagued Somalis, we faced local

warlords or chiefs. The UN Mission UNOSOM changed freeding to fighting. The

UNSC authorized UNOSOM Il to use force as necessary. We needed to stop the warlords
from enriching themselves and from controlling Mogadishu and other parts of the

country. Then there was the push to eliminate Aidid, the major sdaffbiere were
Bangladeshi and Pakistani troapghe UN Mission, and they hdmben ambushed with
considerable loss of life. We then turned to our Special Operations capabilities. So that
was the operation which ended in Black Hawk DoWtnat happened wage went in

there, were successful at firbut the gangs had RPGs and hit our Black Hawk. Then hell
broke out and 18 Americans were killed. | would guess that hundreds of Somalis also
died. The Italians would have considered that quite a mission ceetfgyawere much

more inclined to negotiate certain things before a clash. Back herelinSh¢here were
scenes on CNN of an American being dragged through the s@é&aten then
determined that this was not gwWehadganeinwe nt
to save people and obviously all has changed. | told the Italians what we were doing in
the generic sense, and they, of course, made their adjustments as well. Somalia was left
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with the warlordsThat embarrassment, that issue, the difficof the guys being killed

had an impact later and affected the Clinton administration policy toward Rwanda. Of
course we did not know there would be a mass genddien things were beginning to
happen in Rwanda in 1994, | remember the Italians vedieent, we were reticent, and
other Europeans were reticent. We did not want to have a repeat of Black Hawk Down.
Then there was Bosnia.

Q: Did the fiasco ld by the United States do anything you might say in Italy to our
credibility?

CREAGAN: They werepretty unhappy but being unhappy is one thing and being with us

on key international issues is another. In the next decade Italy went with us to Iraqg, even

as questioning the wisdom of the 2003 invasion. Millions of Italians had demonstrated

against a U.Sinvasioni unless it had UNSC backing. Italians lost many soldiers at

Nasiriya, the most since World War 1. So Italy stayed with usedn we had been so

close to Italyduring the Cold War. It waisnportant for Italy © keep the faith fll were

looking atthe Somalia operation from th&lian foreign minigty point of view,there

was plenty oskepticismabout U.S. policy in Somalia in 1992/1993. | thlat Italy was

i mportant and with us on Bosnia in the mid 1

Q:Wel | | et 6 s ramWhatwasathe Bitoasiam wten ytolncame and how was it
developing in Yugoslavia and what was our relationship with Italy regarding the
situation in Bosnia?

CREAGAN: Yeah, wellthis was 1993 on. | am sure that 8@malia experience had an

impact onthe White House and State in the mannemalking us more reticent to

respond to human rights violations with troopesnia was anajor problem. We saw

Bosnia asa European problem that Europe had to addiidss U.S. was not going to

jump iné 9@ 9 K was ontroversial to say the least and we had Foreign Service officers

quit the service over our policy of not stepping in to stop the human rights violations. In

other words there were many who thought we had to stop the Serbs. We were always
briefingandsharng i nt el | i gence \vAwaybthetetwauldbeCont act Gr
briefings with Italy, with France and then the othdtaly was never happy by the way.

Habits grew up in the Cold War including a kind of big boys club consisting of the

western victors iWorld War II: the U.S., the UK and France (OK, the France of De

Gaulle got that status for political reasons) and then West Germany. Italy was not quite
considered in the league with the rest, and it ran the danger of having a government led

by the Commursit Party should elections go that way. Shewthe big boys would get

together it would be Great Britain, France, Germany and lUegember once when |

was desk officer in 1981. Walt&toessel wabndersecretaryThe big four had a

meeting (in Poland i remember) and Italy found out aboutlialian Ambassador
Petrignaniwasdirected to protest to the U.Swkntwith him to see the hdersecretary

andreport the meeting. Petrignani told Stoesselithato u ¢ a n 9/¢ hadebeet h i s

loyal allies anchre a power. Promise m@/alter, that youwilln e ver doTheét agai n.
Undersecretary repliednptept Rinabgbecaugeas f ol | ow
we wi || p r o b ©b Bogniagdthe four power graup kind of continued and the
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Italians knew they were not always briefed. Ironically, when it came time to act on
Bosnia in 1995, the Italians were terrific, and the Italian Carabinieri were able to police
and gain acceptance on the streets of both Muslim and Serb Orthodox areas.

One area thahe Italians were deeply involved wjttindwherewe recognized their
involvementwas SloveniaSlovenia had broken away from Yugoslavia early and the
Italiansand Holy See, along with Germanymped in to recognizthe new state. We

thought it was premare and added to the thrust toward breakup of Yugoslavia without
any planning. Thétalians had this great interest in Slovenia beca@i$gstory. In the
postWorld Warlworldand t hrough the 630s you had Itali
Italiansin Fiumeand in parts of Sloveniathe old Venetian coast. In the post WWII

world there was the issue of Trieste and Zone A and Zone B and what goes to
Yugoslavia. So, walways worked vth the Italianson Slovenia recognizing the ties and

the knowledge. Buapat from Slovenia and Croatiavhich had broken away earhs

well, we tried to leave Bosnia and-&xigoslavia to the Europeans. That did not work

and by 1995 it was crunch time. Only the U.S. could take the lead. In August 1995 we did
that.

In August of D95 | wasChargé in RomeOut came dny Lakeand his NSC team with
GeneraWes Clarkeas part of the team of advisors. They briefed the new proposed
initiative to the Italians. This initiative called for peace talks or else. International troops
(IFOR) woud go into Bosnia like it or not and peace talks would take place. The Italians
were briefed on the ideas.eMould go to Milosevic of Serbia artde dhers and give

them an ultimatum teeparate ansitop fighting Wewould send in troops with the
Europeas to make things work.remember the grougiscussing who would lead the
charge on the American side. Tony Lake had brought up Holbr@siesaicho, not

Dick HolbrookebecauseHolbrooke has been out there criticizing #tninistration on

its Bosnia pla. Holbrookeis an unguided missile and aljo. Lake asserted that it should
be Dick and that he could make a touchdown. He will take all the credit for the
touchdown but he can do 80, Dick Holbrookewas picked to lead this operatioh
diplomacy, butdiplomeacy strongly backed by force. He took on Milosevic and was more
than his matchHeads got knocked togethand the Serb planes got knocked down and
lo and beholdhe Bosniac, Serbian and Croatian leaders wentgadd, Ohio, in

N o v e mb .eed boHalbrooke, worked by Wes Clark and pushed by Clintongete

a peace agreemeit had enforcement behind it.&Wvorked hard on thiandthe Italians
helped. he Europeans had trog@nd among the most effective were the Italian
Carabinieri. The Italiamwere basically policing on the groyrd they have this ability

to actually get along with the civilian¥heCarabinieri worked very wednd wehad

close cooperatiowith them in tlat 19956 9p@riod.So Bosnia went from a mess
eventual success aad end to the fighting. With international supervision of course.

Q: I know when | talked teome of our negotiators who were going to see Milosevic
there was a crowd outside and theydd be shou
Hawk Down, inotheryr ds you werené6ét going to do anyth

CREAGAN: When they went to Belgrade?
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Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: But it worked and, of course, it had to work because we had to be ready
then to use force.

Q: mean i1itos still working | me an é
CREAGAN: Yeah, exactly, eveKosovo.
Q: You must have had something to do with the Vatican at least from the sidelines.

CREAGAN:Wel | thatdés interesting because one of
call it, religious about is that Embassy Rome does not mess with EmbasanVatic

except, of course, for administrative support and all of thabassy Vatican had a

separate budget, but Rome B&F officers managed the accBuntis. anydiplomatic

relations with the VaticaRome does nanhessOnce ypon a time before there was an

Embassyto the Holy See anbefore there was d.S. representative always there in

Rome we had a political officen our embassyinRomei t h t he f#AValti can por
remember when the Pope was shot in 198/ks desk officeat State for both Italgnd

the Vatican. Wen the Pope was sh&eter BridgesourDCM in Rome,was in touch

with me and with the Holy See. He gavethe information and got in touch with the

Vatican He hadelationships theras well But once we had Bill Wilson goingut asthe
Presidentds representative and th&dBd4)as the f
there was naliplomaticrelationship between tHembassy to Italy and the Holy See; it

would not be permitted on either sid¢hink | have mentioned thativen Manuel

Noriega of Panama, the dictator, went to take refuge in the Vd&ioaassyor

Nunciaturen Panama andsked for political asyluprour ambassador to Itabaid to me.

i We okhy, | 6 | Ithe Nai&ge problem. It calls for (the big guyls). s a 0, Heteiti N

has nothing to do with yolEmbassy, Rome stagsu tT.h@t 6 s t h &o,eveny it was
thoughl had a long relationship with theaders of the Holy See on the diplomatic side, |

did not get involved in any waywill admit that Iwas a friend bthe Vatican Foreign

Minister, and | would have him over for lunch or dinner at my DCM resideBatthat

was amatter of friendship. Ofourse, he would tell me about his tripd.tbya and

At al ki raghafiwniateht un® 4 a.nor s@. He would ell the tales and so forthut

| woul dné.t Weo bvwboylldeHaip See issoes or U-Raly issues, for that

matter.

Q: If you were picking up something from your Vatican sources just from lunches or
something did you feel you could reportyoo u s ort of é

CREAGAN: Well, I would call a good friend of miné.ou Nigro was DCM and

reporting officer over at the Vaticembassys o | 6 d cal | Lou if there
was reportableThen he could deal with.it tried not to cross lineSomeg opl e di dndt
respect that wholly but they really had 8mme peoplat our Embassy to Italy remained

against a separate Embassy to the Holy Bgdriend DanSerwersaidto me,i Wh'y d o
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we haveéwe s houl dté&eHolh See leisaavaste Bmoney ansl y
tme.0 Wel |l thatodés an at.Wrohgubdtehereihimt stayed wit!

Q:That s absolutely right to do that other wi:

CREAGAN: Yes, exactly And again the Holy Seead been deeply involved in Italian
politics; epecially during the Cold War decades and with Popes like Pius XII and Paul

VI with their very close personal ties with the leadership of the Christian Democratic
Party. With the Polish Pope things obviously changed, and the papacy moved away from
domestidtalian politics.

Agai n, | 6m t hi nki ng a blLotsdf domdste pdiiticdVelead of t hi ng
really great political officers, KeHillas and kKerry CavanaughArnie Chacorwas

another. Anie is now going to bBirector General He has alsbeen Ambassador in

GuatemalaNow, the political officerseported on domestic Italian politicas well as the

foreign office issues. The political scandaldvni Pulite(clean hands) were of interest

for Washington as was the breakup of the old partidgtacoming into politics of the

billionaire Silvio Berlusconi He was the businessman amasi boomi coming into

politics for the first time and bringing a whole new dimension into ltaigaking up the

old Christian Democratic, Socialist, Communistifics; so that was fun and important

for us in economic ways as wellut to give you an example of the decline of the
CommunistSocialist Christian Democrat dimensipwhen Reg Bartholomew was

ambassador we would invite not only the head of the ConstnRarty to Italy but other

guys who were in some ways more radid@body gave a damin the old days that

would have been cause for the removal of the ambassaderinvited the head of the
CommunistParty or events it wo uelsds esdece na Hddéticamhmut nhies tU . !
government. Sove would neverdothatvhen | was the | abor attach
allowed to talk to the leaders of the Communist Trade UrBgri9931994 all thahad

changed. W had great political officerbut if | looked at whatve were focusing on it

was ltalyU.S. and foreign affairgenerallyi not Italian politics

One curious thing | did as DCMwould meet periodically with the King of Afghanistan

Zahir Sheh. The king had been exiled sinaeoup against him back in 19Tt he was a

popular kirg. This was Afghanistan of the 196@emembethat itwasa rathempluralist

place and the women could actually dress in Western dttibey were in the cities and

the professionsit lookedlike a countryon the way to develetpe nt i n t he Adevel o
d e c a d e &960s.Anywal, the king then gets kicked it acoupd 6 ®dna things

deteriorated after tha&ndingup with Soviet occupatioheking came to Romand had

been | iving i n.CReoftlkee thingsmtdevelbpbdeor merwasthas

DCM, | would go outo his home in Olgiata for teawould go and talk to him, we had

tea with his nepheyand we would have a translator theFae kingalways talked about

the new movement dafalibanyouth.Hedid noe t they fre riéligious studerasid

they are honesHe did not express a lot more knowledge,Afighanistan at that point

wasbeing run byiciouswarlords andvith constant fightingA tentative view was that

perhaps he student s .wihenhawayss abed, sdWhad we need,
al ways c on s ilLeyh &rgator great courftibirt order fiodring all the Afghans
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together It would provideconsensuas nd t hat 6 s how Theking move f or wke
actuallysurvived to go back to Afgiméstani after all the turmoil, after all the Taliban

nonsense, after 9/1He diednot too long after thabut went bacland presided over the

Loya Jirga. Presidetarzaicame out apresidentHe hadJ.S-German supportAnd

the turmoil more or less otinued. In the U.S. there were always some congressmen

interested and involved. Charlie Wilson of Texas and DRotarabacheof California

always interestedVhen Rohrabacher came to Rome, we woolder those issues and

maybevisit the king. However, & must remember that Afghanisfaafter the Soviet

pullout and before 9/11 was of little overall interest to the U.S.

Q: What about Italy had, of course, an economic interest in Libya&t about relations
with Libya and Qadhafi what was there?

CREAGAN:We woul dnét have beebecaus®@adhalitvasl agr ee me |
investing in Fiat and Qadhafi had a relationship with Jtahyd with Prime Minister

Berlusconi We considered, correctly, th@adhafiwas a terroristWe had evebombed

him, of courg, in 1986 andthe Pan Am 103ombing was traced badtlt the intelligence

service of Qadhafiwith Italy we could exchange Intel, but thalians always
maintainedarelationshipwith Libya, also of an economic natuf&o you hd

disagreemeniOn the othehand, they always had information on Libya #mat was

good.

Q: What was happening to the Communist Party while you were there?

CREAGAN: The Communist Party wasdways goowerful forcein postwar Italy and

came close to taking over governmentintBe7Zl0 6 s by de Motlevadet i ¢ means
The 199006s reconstituted Communist Party or
viable opposition to the Berlusconi phenomenon. That had been a rejection of the entire

party system in the aftermath of the scandaisnedMani Puliteor Clean Hands. The

political parties selflestructed because of a culture of bribes and corruption. The
Communi st Party avoided the destruction at f
political and economic relations with thkiSSR did not present cases of personal

enrichment and corruption. Young members of the reconstituted party, men like Walter

Veltroni, who became mayor of Rome and head of the party, were a viable challenge to

the billionaire businessman, Silvio BerluscoMalter loved President Kennedy and all

the things that that image of Kenneshemedo stand forWalter was mayor of Rome

when | was president of John Cabot University (:2005); so | saw him quite a bit.

Walter and other leaders of the PDS like MassimD 6 A | e maCoinraudist yoetle n

in the old Communist Partputthe Cold War was over and they had not much to do with

the old Communist Party and deemed themsgivegressive democrafShey could

identify with the aspirations of the Clinton presidgnand they liked Clinton.

PresidenClinton came tdtaly twicein 1994. | had tdoe the key organizer, if you will,
of two visits ofthe Presidentone in June and one in Juliow! The first trip was une

of 1994 June 4 wathe 5" anniversary of théiberation of RomePresidensill

Clinton amewith | think 18 Senators and 40 soCongressmerEveryone wanted to be
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thereon a glorious remembrance and a June day in Rome. In preparation for the visit, |

had been meeting with the mayor of RgReanceco Rutelli. We met for lunch and
Aistrategizedo the visit. We wrote on a napki
terrific to havea Clinton speech on the Capitoline Hill; the last had been done by

Kennedy in 1962So0 the mayor grdied at the ideanal saidfi L e t 6 sWell, atfirstt . o

the White Housevasreticentthinking about security for the President up on the hill and

talking to the crowd in the piazza and down the Campidoglio steps to Rome. In the end,

the venue was accepted and it all worketvery well. After his talk, Bill Clinton

worked the rope and met people named AAmeri g
months after the 1944 liberation of Rome. Go figure.

| had a personally interesting role, in addition to being the DCM organizlee wfsit.

Clinton or his staff had a problem with the interpreting. So, in the middle of the night

after the Campidoglio speech, | got a call saying that | was to be interpreter for President
Clinton at the Anzio cemetery visit and in his meeting/excheumgen Italian President

Scal faro. I think the President wanted what
American and colloquial translation from Italian to English. Italian officialdom often has

a complicated and convoluted way of speaking to caVeohtical bases and which

distorts interpretation in any literal sense. My favorite recollection of that tendency was

the often cited remarks of Italian Christian Democratic president, Aldo Moro, to then

Secretary of State, Henry Kissinger concernirgthi hi st ori ¢ compr omi seo
collaboration between the Christian Democrats and the Communist Party. Moro had
talked of the need to engage the communists
parall el so. Drove Ki ssi ngreingofdunabzayAnziolamd any c a
interpreting President Scalfaro (no easy guy to talk to; prickly in fact) for President

Clinton. The Rome trip was very complicated. | remember that Senator Bob Dole did not

want to be with Clinton at the palace ceremonieshétea separate schedule taking him

up to the Apennines near Bologna, where in World War Il he had been with the Tenth

Mountain Division and badly wounded. All in all, the Clinton trip to Rome was excellent.

We did a good job. Then Clinton and all the c&sgmen went to Normandy for thé"50

anniversary of D Day.

Theverynext month was the G7 plus O¢Russia) in Naples. | dashed down there to

oversee organization. Our CG was Dick Dertadian. The maydaplies waf\ntonio

Bassolino, whom | had known dsetRegional Secretary of the Communist Party in the

19706s when we ewasareal hamllind\gaYou keosv, we Wer¢he

imperialists andvethe Communistand by the time wenet again ifNaples in 199he

was mayor and his party was the PD&;cessor to the old PCI. Bassolino was a different

guy. | guess | was, too. We stood together and talked about Clinton and Naples and the
excellent firemodelingo of the center city. T
downtown Naples.

Q: Oh yeah.

CREAGAN: They redidNaples in splenditashion It became a car free zone. The
waterfront and area around the Cast el del | 6C
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images we have of old Napoli. Bassolino talked about how to improve Nhpledo try

to eliminak crime,clean up the streets and so fortidividuals of the Communist Party

hadchanged | ot si nce t he the® @0itpand theur organizateory st i | | l
skills. Af t er the Cold War everybody renamed t hem:
successful in government forevdhey would rotate witBerlusconion the national

level as hope sprung eternal for making Italy work well and as leader in the EU.

Q: Well how did we view the advent of Berluscddi? d we have aé

CREAGAN: Yeah, wellwed i d n 6 whakwoudwapperHe was aillionaire

businessman who juregdinto politcs The r eput ati on he | ater gain
that point buthewas the rich guy whpromised to fix the ills of government and

society, a result of a stagnantasorrupt party systenwWe were curiousReg

Bartholomew vas invited and would invite metogop t o Ber | atPalazazoi 6 s of f i
Chigi. Berlusconi would have a little dinner there, dedl with issuedt was essential to

be involved directly with hinand his office rather than through the ministries as we

would have done in the past when you had an organized anddovigg party in

government. Berlusconi was the party. Period. Sometimesild have lunch with his

diplomatic adviser Sergigento. Verto later became ambassador to the Witd lunch

at my place or at his residence or maybe over at his office or we would meet some place

and go over the several issues of importance for the U.S. in its relationship with Italy.

Berlusconi liked to back @mnel to the White House; so at the least | was privy to what

they were doing without using the Foreign Office (FarnesBa@.r | usconi 6s f or ei
policy would mesh with some things we were trying tolud we were curiousNVhat

does this guy mean, whatiiggoing to meafd Most importantlyeconomicallywh at 6 s i t

going to nean and then who are his allidgfiean, you had this strange Northéeague

which Berlusconi needed as partner to govern. They wergrantigrant and artBouth,

semt secessionist anemotional in rallies at least. Umberto Bossi led the party. He was

crude, rude and smoked like a chimney. He liked to be photographed in his undershirt,

|l i ke Stanl ey Kowal ski in AStreetcar Named De
years 19921996 also because the whole ruling structure had come apart. As | noted, the

former Communists were in the best shape because you did not have obvious individual
corruption the way it seemed to be in the Christian Democratic and Socialist Pagies. W

certainly could work with Berluscorand hewanted to work with the United Statdse

wanted at least the image of being mianeorable to U.S. positions théras he always

called theni theiCommunisté | t wasnbét al whwanycaseedaweas sari |y s
consstency in Italian foreign policy because siuch was done by those professionals at

the foreign ministnyd the Farnesina. We had some policy interest in Berlusconi, and
RegBartholomew really loved #hintricacies of all the machinations.

Q: How did youfind the foreign ministry by this time and regards the United States were
theyésometi mes you have foreign ministries w

policy.

CREAGAN: Yeah, well these guys were very close, they were the kind of colleagues you
could really work with and yesthey really knew all the issues. | knew a lot of the Italian
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diplomats from assignments in Latin America and to Italy itself. We had several officers

in the embassy political and economic sections who were at the Farnesidailgn a

basis. We worked the issues and often had a common goal with the lt&@ wa&nted to

wor k things out becauseéoingicaope@igamdh at t hey wer
compromising. The U.S. had been a kind of big brother for alongBrnet | eei dndét s
resentment on their paifhey were tough but cooperative in a way thidtnot exist, for

example, in our relationship with the Brazilian foreign ministry, Itamaraty.

The Italians weré we | | dlithilp lnesaasd we were so important to mainteyni
their democracy over the yeaegjain that World War Il connection was so important and
that continuedMany of the top guyin the Italian foreign ministry tthserved at the
embassy in Washington in one category or andtlaara third secretary and yiee as a
counselor and then maybe some of them as the DCM and then they wEné¢ on.
ambassadors have always been very dilossand when they were there in Washington
there was constant contact. | remember when | was Italian desk officer; | was meeting
with people from the embassy every day, and often with the AmbasSaxithre guys in

the foreign ministry who were at the tajmost always had be@m Washington or New
York at the UN Theyhad a real connection with the United Stat¥ken | thinkabaut a
foreign ministry in my mind | see a really big difference in the Brazilian foreign ministry
and the Italian foreign ministrythe Braziliandiplomats werertiined to ward off the

U.S. and preverd.S. influence. Thétalian foreign ministrywasvery much attuned to
Italian foreign interestdut very cooperativevith the U.S. for that very same reason.
Different interestsdifferent attitude.

Q:This is something | thinkinlotsoibutauadcimsay s und e
a group of people nyabe under one regime or another but they have developed their own
personalities and how to deal with thing$ey will accommodate usually the party in

power but they really operate in their own special way.

CREAGAN: Exactly, I think you are rightAnd maybe as | saythe Italian foreign

ministry had a positivéeeling toward the U.S. because there was so much interaction
between Washington embassy, a huge embassy for them, and New York and then Rome
Think Moscow /Rome and the interaction was much lesnk of Ferdinando Salleo

who was Ambassador to the U.S. and had been Ambassador to Mbtedoad constant

and deep connection with the U.S., our congress and even our several important Italian
American associations. He connected with State as ®pi®, when he and | were at a
gala dinner of an Itald\merican group, he said to me that we two were the only ones
there who related to the Italy of today. Even though | am Irish/German/American, | know
what he meant. Now, Salleo, the #leeladed Sicilianhad been Ambassador in Moscow,

and in the fascinating time of Gorbachev and the end of the Cold War. But the U.S.
connection is an entirely different thing. Moscow was @wid after all a dictatorshifo

for the Italianswve hadthat close connection, &say, and it goes back alsoto thé® 4 0 6 s
leadershimnd toa guy like Andreottiwho was in postwar Italian governments and
engaged as Christian Democrat with close U.S. ties in the struggle with Moscow and the
PCI. Democracy itself was at stalBraziliansweretotally different.The Mexican

foreign ministry would be another because they are always worried about the £5S. a
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overwhelming neighboiSo the Brazilian and Mexicdareign ministres and diplomats
would relate to the U.S. in an entirelyfdrent way.

Q: Now with the Berlusconi administration was there a feeling let the good times roll and
all oré

CREAGAN: There appeared to be the feeling that a businessman could make the

economy move. The perception was of an overregulated system iitcesgn labor

and other areas that could be unstuck by the
Give free enterprise moffeeedom and cut down dreavy bureaucratiegulations.

Thi ngs d outso @dl thevchande was controversial andl8sconi had

prosecutors on his neck and indictments thrown at hariuBconi was voted out of

office very soon after being the headyolvernment. His government was wjoite like
theninemonthfistandard e n g tgtwvérnmerits before BerluscoAit onepoint a

government led by him survived for years. With Berlusconi the good times never did roll

for jobs and the economy.

Q:We l | how about the Berlusconi TV, I mean he

CREAGAN:Oh my gosh, yeah, the big seeatedd al but
with enthusiasm bubh yeahthat was always a scand@his guy, this is incredible that

he made his way by piecinggethedocal TV stations | n t heal 11 @MmM0B6 sc olul dnodt
have private televisioat the national level. There were just R&iannel 1(Christian

Democrait station),Channel ZSocialisty and Channel @ommunis}. There was some

good programming but pretty dull stuff as well. Berlusaor@ u | d n onationaldevee a

private televisiorchannelpbut he managed to have these tahashe would do and then

us annére® ar o uinwell acttalylthey #wi in order to legally f[ay
simutaneouslyprogramming and newall around ItalyAnyway he got arood some of

these constitutiond#gislative restrictios, became super rich dryeah there was always
discontentThis guybuilt these huge channelge Channel 5ahuge private channel he

controlled Then he gets to be Prime Minister, an@ffect,has his own government

channel. 1t was something we would write about and alfraft but you know the Italians

had to work out the relationship wiktim in their owndemocratic way

Anyway, we played these issu@osnia was very important, especially in h@%9 6
period.Then | was named ambassatibHonduras. So,began to pgpare for the Senate
and going to Honduras.

Q:Wel | before we do that | et ds Whawashig ust a bi
background?

CREAGAN: Reg had been well, of course, acaderde had academic degrees but then

he had gone with the Pentagpmd was br ought over from the P
forward because he did some policy planning, but anyveayasrought over in the

Carter years tbead the plitical-military office/bureau at Stat&o in a sense his first job

was the equivalent @fssistant secretamyght?

159



Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: So that was kind of an interesting beginniAgyway, then he has this kind

of uncertain status. WhdReagan gt elected Reg was kind of walking the halls

r e mar k iowtghenughty lfave falled because é had nsetjob andneeded to get a

fixed career status or l@minated; | think you hdafive year appointmerthen. Reg

had this capacity hecould useslbows when héelt it wasneeded to but he also had

capacity to ingratiateHe laid low was na eliminatedas he might have been as a Carter
administration appointee. Hecame part of the professional corps and the next thing you

know(lr eal |l y dondot r e me)themowershhatwe wete oookindiferp p e ne d
tough Ambassador for Lebanoredanon vasdifficult and it was violent. Ambassador

Frank Meloy had been killed on his way to present credentials in theewahtiesBut

Reg then became ambassador to Lebanorarahd the embassy underwent tragedies

out there with the bombing of the bassy and killings at the marine barracks. It was a

trying time. Reg was not a traditional Foreign Service Officer. He would have started out

as a Vice Consul, and then risen through the ranks to Labor Attaché or Political Officer,

and so forthY o u  chormaliyt start out aambassador or assistant secret8cythe

career path wadifferent.| remember Frank Wisner got a prize top Foreign Service

officer, a special award, and Resmarkedthai | 6 m a For ei cgandl Ser vi ce of
should be up ther®fr t h a tl toldhinatihatihe was the totatofessional andh the

career but did not start out @ise consubr rise through the rankk any case, he then

was Ambassador to Spain and later, the Bosregiotmator He hated that job as it

seemed pable to lead to anything. This was 1993, well before the U.S. jumped in and

secured the Dayton Peace Accordsh8 is working both regimeSo with Reagan hesi
Ambassador to Lebanon and then then hebds Bos
hated, withg o od r ea s @mM 3i pHdrhappedéddodbe in the room with

Christopher as the Secretary briefed the President on Bosnia. President Clinton asked
Secretary of State Christopher aboutto finding
end the ItaloAmerican bickering over who would get the job. Reg spoke out, exclaiming,

Al 6 m IibresdiiwvansaeidNow | d6m sure he would have had
ambassadoriassignment like to Israelperhaps. ¥u candét t.iHealwaysown |t al
had a ompetitive relationship witick Holbrookewho is, of course, the same type of
characterRough, tough and very smart. Not always the diplomat you want but good in a

fight.

| remember when we had visitsPfesident Clinton in both June and July of 19dg

was very nervous. élwas a screamer tadde would come in in the morning ahs

secretary wouldjet the brunt of his nervousneksiould tell himto stop drinking three

cups of coffee beforke camen to the office Whenthe Clinton trip was beingrganized

for the 50" anniversary of the Liberation of Rome ion 1944, Réd me that hdad

never hadhevisit of a presidentHewas really nervousiNe had some hiccups there in

the beginningvith control officers and advance tearnst | told himto not worry. |

would work with the advance teams and embassy personnel and they would ensure that it

was allwelor gani zed. Not to worry. Surprisingly,
in organizing President Reagan to Portugal on a State visit anddPteBush to the
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Vatican, and | was confident that the Italians would make itallgovery®ell. i t di dnot
bother me Of course it was intense as presidential visits@liaton came and it worked

outwell. Oh, the Presi denttheembasy Rementberth®®e gbés of f i
office?

Q: Oh yes.

CREAGAN: The office was originally he Queen6s braagnificeoto m, wi t h t
chandeliers andll. Clinton lookedupandsal, A Wel | , i tSofRegisdys you Reg
Al 6 m Kkhatwas.Reég. Icharge Now ke left a lot of the management of the embassy

and activity to me. He knew to use the DCM. At the same time he really liked to get into

the political minutial can think of two instancesle often wanted to check to see if the

Political Sectionwas up onhie events of the day. He suspected he knew rRegwas

up early and read perhaps fivewspaperdfRemembethat the press in Italy was of

political coloration and there were daily papers of the political pattiés U nfar thea

Communistsjl Populofor the Christina Democrats a#dantifor the Socialists, for

exampleCorriere della Serandll Mattino of Naples and.a Stampadf Turin were not

party papers and were pretty good. In any case Reg was up on the news and the nuance. |

got up at 5:30 and rdasix papers. At nine or so when the Ambassador got into the office,

| would go see him and we would have our fir
join the Political Section meeting. | O0m Reg
like CaptainMarvel). 6 d s ay , 0 .fivadiedlydhe polifical section was caudiyt

his questionsOf course | woulcknow his game and try to be one step ahead. It was that

sixth paper that sometimes gave me the edge and detail. The political officers caught on

and really did a good job after the first few forays. What Ambassador Bartholomew

wanted to get across was that he was on top of it all and you had better be prepared and

brief him right. You could not buffalo him like some amateur political appointee. He

often drew that contrast. He was not a political appointee but the best professional in the
business.

Another note on Bartholomew: N&n he first cam® Romewe had 35 government

agencieat the embassy. As DCM | h&nl manage thos&Vith law enforcement

agencies, for example, in addition to the weekly normal Country Team, | would have

them come together for working sessions in my office. Reg came by for the first session

or so and just point out that | was in complete charge as if he were there. TheaNyas

important and not all Ambassadors support the DCM that way. It is, of course, in their

interest. In the first day or so of his arrival, Reg said toim&,i m, | et 6 s wal k ar o
dondt t ewelare eomipgbSo weyslowly walked around sectiafter section

went over to the consulate and thbadefensalepartment folks and then to another

agency. There was lab ns egcouirneg airneAatofficd&kcehge cska iidt fio
assistant repl i ed Nodrgouhayedobeduwm détzedusto gotiem,
AAut hor iszag dd? ,Retgh e fcYleise f AH @an tt dgesvedRegkf ay . 0

and he kickdthe door and he ki@dit again When the door opened, he engaged in

some initial intimidatonHe wal ked i n and sanathird), 6 MLtelhe me t el
Ambassador and everybody in this embagsyr ks f or Sojee,assgrtedlearod . 0
authorityand all got the message. And he was boss.
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Q: Oh boy.

CREAGAN: It was petty comicali and effective. He was very supportive of me when |
was nominated to HonduraseH s ai d, 1 fbuglogays in sticke platel(eu

will deal with thoseguys in the sunglasses and the uniforms amdeas Soohe was
supportive in that wayAt the same time he was all elbows and competition, A number
onecompetitor for him wa®ick Holbrooke. Holbrooke was in DC; so hard for Reg to
do daily combat on that uneven field.

Q: Today is the 28of October 2013 with Jim Creaga#im we want to talk about your
last days in ItalyHow did you see Italy going &te time and particularly thinking what
happened later on about the econoriiy&s thag ?

CREAGAN: Things were more positive in the ml®90s so while Italy always had this
overhang of an economy that had rigidities there were possibilities for the futture
there was a lot more optimisimthe mid6 9 0 certainly than we have toda$o you had
some alternation of governmeBierlusconi had just come in and in those dajthough
now it is kind of ridiculed businessmewerenew to the political seneand itlookedas
if there would be new energy in the economic spttetthe old politicians could not
deliver.Romano Prodihen alternated with Berlusconi. Prodi wagug with European
experiencethe EC Commission and all of tha&bo,whether youvent to a Prodi
government or a Berlusconi government there was more hope and optonitie
economy

Q: So when you left you thought things were moving along nicely in a way?

CREAGAN: Yeah Italy was doing okayl mean things were moving along andreve

more hopeful than they had beéter all they were coming out of a period where it had

been the Cold War, of course, so you had the Christian Democration®téartyo

alternative, except with the politically sanitizedcglist Party The Canmunist Pty

couldnét be offered the government during th
complete. | mean 1/3 of the electorate (PCI) could not participate in government. Then it

all ended in 89/90. By 1992 the scandals of all the years came out in public.a@hristi

Democratic politicians of all levels of government were ruined as were the Socialists. The

her oes wer e mdnipelite.u dighees poafr thh es wer e ruined.
levels of personal corruption. In the scandals of persmraliption, enrichmet and all

ofthatt he Communi st Par t yThewLkandits cahpaignedné d as muc
offices were financed through export /import with the USSR and in other ways. It went to

the party and not for personal gain of the leaders. Or so the myth staetb |

remember visiting the PCI regional and provincial offices in the South of Italy in the

19706s. They had many times better buildings
even the dominant Christian Democrats. No way the structure and emptoydsbhave

been financed from local contributions or legal means. But it came to the party and not to
individuals. The PCI just did nsuffer as much in that great scandal of 1892 3 wh i c h

opened the way for something névandBerlusconi was somethingw. So by the time
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you gott o \wherbl Jeft you were rather beyonddlscandals impact and intgariod
with more optimism. Look at the U.S. in that time. Jobs and an economy on the march.

Q: Well Jim why did the scandals come out when theyTh@ymust be one of these
things that everybody knew about it buté

CREAGAN: Right, right. What you can saig that the endf the Cold War in a sense
permittedthe scandals to be revealed in a public way andliftimealaundry to be
washedPrior to that, ublic scandal of that magnitude would have endangered
democracy itself since the Communists were cut out of govern@bwiously, there are
specifics anegtach case came out for its own reasons, but the political environment was
right. In the broader scimee you can say that it was time and there were no great dangers,
if you will, to democracyor to the country itselfCertainly, thegpublic wasready and able

at that point to throw the bums out.

Q: Alright you left and when did you leave there?

CREAGAN: | left in the late spring of 1996t was arelection yeawith Clinton and Bob
Dole ascandidatesThere was at a lot of cooperation going on there between the
Congress and the presideintemember in terms of new ambassad8enatorJessie

Helms headhg the Foreign Relations Committestatecthat they were not going to
approve Clinton appointees for positioBsunds kind of familiar right? 6 d b e e n
contacted onominatedn November as | recall and was working on the papers. In 1996,
no action was éing taken on ambassadorsh€ appointeesere not going tget

through the Senatgther. Infact, the State Departme@bngressiondliaison officeor
AHBasi cally said we .Sawedviljusjwait(aralnogthytody t hr oug
schedule heargs).Reg Bartholomeviold me that if | wanted to get the ambassador
position, | had better go back to Washington and do it myself. So lldichember being
back in Washingtowith our bureau for Congressionahison (H) not really able to do
anything interms of getting hearing3hree of ug LesAlexander who went to Ecuador
andLino Gutierrez tdVlanaguaand m& workedto get ourselves a hearing as Foreign
Service officersnot partisan political appointedsvorked people | had knowon both

sides.| was helped by Bob Kimmitt, who had been State Dept. Undersecretary under
Bush and others. Senator Paul Coverdale, who ran the subcommittee for Latin America
and was a decent person, gave the three of us a hearing. No thanks to State. Senator
Chuck Robb blped out as well. Of course he was on the Democratic side but in those
years many of the senators got along with one andthad known Chuck beforesa
governor and the Senatof Virginia. Hedid the introduction and sponsoring of naed |

had a verygood hearingThe issues were primarifrugsand themovement of narcotics
from Colombia through Central America and Honduras and do thee U.S. On a lighter
note, | promised to invite the Peace Corpsmen to the Residence for Thanksgiving. I, of
courseagreed with pleasure knowing that Gwyn would make it happen with great meals.
| found out that | had the largest Peace Corps contingent in the dvazith or so | think.

The hearing went well; Senate confirmation followed and we arrived in Honduras in
August 1996.
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Q: This sounds souf unusualDid you go to people in Congress and whom did you go
to to say look we are Foreign Service types give us a special a btealdid that work?

CREAGAN:Well,| e t 06 Idalksdaodriends andremember best Bokimmitt, who

had been Undersecretary and knew all the Republiebngias very helpfuhs were

Senate staffers ar@huck Robb of coursdf | had stayed in Rome and waited, | might
have never gone or waited a year. Good for Reg Bartholomew. He saatijés DC
anddo what you carfor yourself.Anne Patterson, as | recall, was up about the same time
but she was working in tHeepartment probablgs DeputyAssistantSecretary H had
thelead and\nned i dnét get o u aftertheelectiantObcbunse, she was a r
great and has had many tough diplomatic posts Stic#on was elected again and then
they had hearings and then she got out to El Salvatdad been in Bndurasa year by
then.Sq, in the summer of 1996eswent toEcuadorLino to Nicaragua andwent to
Honduras.

Q:Well this is the first-helpi me | 6ve heard of
CREAGAN: You mean do it yourself?

Q: Yeah, well it makes sense.

CREAGAN: It was that kind of a year.

Q:Butlwouldt hi nk t hat Heldnoghiswoul dndét respon

CREAGAN: You know the head of the Latin American subcommjtisilCoverdell,
theRepublicarSenator from Georgia had been head of the Peace Corps under Reagan
and he reallynad a professional sense of what should be done. He sainp@gant to

have ambassadors at these embassies in Latin AmeriespaciallyCentral America

and heheldhearingsl never saw Helms in all thisguess Coverdalsaw no padtical

down side and went ahead and did the healirvge had left matters to H &tate, forget
about it.

Q: Okay, how did the hearing §d\ere you asked any questions that really pertained to
the job?

CREAGAN: Yeah, quite a few and, of course, weleF SO06 s glnowaheal | vy
businessare well prepared and | had been working whi guys on the desk in the
DepartmentThe questions, dsemembemere focusean the war against the drugs
coming up from Colombia, from the FARC and from the othdmv was that to be
managed in Honduraguestions like that spent time discussingiostrategies. We

looked tobuilding up forces like police force on the grouAsd we really needed to

build a police force that workemhdwas civilian not military Honduras had been going
through the transition of pulling the police out of the militand making a respectable
civilian police force so as to encourage and support demodkadywas, the military
controlled all use of forcéVe talked about questions like that and the drug wars and then
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the good Senator from Geordl@ew me his lastupstioni Ambassador you have
largest Peace Corps contingent in the world (it oxaes 200 Peace Corps) | said,

AThat 68er sghd, 0AWi Il you pr omi s dheRoartht hat you
of July?0 | said, A Ygesdcompletdy mutndtéddhath adito vi ng ? o
ask my wife.l guess | got a unanimous vote.

Q: You were in Honduras from when to when?
CREAGAN:I was i n Honduras from August 0696 to A

Q:Oka vy, I n 696 wh a tthewairuidsuks tigabyavers going tavbe r e
involved with?

CREAGAN: In the broadest respeute werehelping them shdyerd that move toward
democracythey had already had elections th#re was a need support the democratic
forces in HondurasThen, there was the drug problamd the need to halt the flow of

drugs to the U.S. Wead significant AID programs in Hondurds.one areawe

providedAlID for agriculture and the introduction of cacao and ginger and other crops
that could have a beneficial effect for small farmersrasdlt in exports. We had water
projects. | remember the system for provision of water to the port city of San Pedro Sula,
Puerto Cortes. Other projects, for example, involved motion picture piracy by Honduran
TV. TheMotion Picture Associatiorgot directly involved. The MPA presideniack

Valenti, called me to press the case against Honduran television stations. The President of
Honduras pushed back, complaining to me that we did not pressure China on the issue
because China was too big. Honduras we press because we could. He was right. And
we did. So, we worked a lot of issues, from fostering new agricultural products for small
farmers and for export to the U.S. and elsewhere to defending our MPA in intellectual
property protection. Under it all wéise effort to support Honduras in development of
democratic institutions.

Q: How stood Honduras asfards wonot say ec,utaesfaras devel opme
democratic development?

CREAGAN: Well they had been limited democracy under military rule for seal

decades. In the earl@&Osthere wasthesoal | ed ATwi |l i ght of the Ty
t hat reform, and democracy, would succeed in
Progresso would help push refor mdsonigty. not r ev
Democratic leaders were elected. In Honduras, Ramon Villeda Morales was a kind of

darling example for JFK. However, he was ren
not recognize the subsequent military government for some time. Hondurak and
Salvador fought a bloody ASoccer Waro in 196

cemented in the area for some time. In the0s®& was Cold War battles fought in
Central America, and thdeological strugglgot mixedup with genuine revolt of the
poor aml oppressed agou hadnS a |l v ad o r 6ls Nicaragua ybu hadatenti
Somozamove @ainst the dictator and then wiandinistasn power in 1980supported
by the USSR and Cuba.
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A pushback was launched from Honduras. The Contras. Honduran geveésnaere
military or heavily influenced by the military.yBhe 1990<ivilians had been elected
several times and the military influence was challenged. Whetved a greaCentral
American jurist, Carlos Roberto Reina, wasgydent He was very instimental in
establishing solid democracy in the sense of electoral democracy and with ingitution
and aCongress thaanswered not to militargut to the broader public and ultimately, an
electorate. Control over the ugkforcewas very important. Ae nilitary hadtheir own
budget and control of the resourc&ke police were under tmailitary. If democracy

was going to be successful thenimportant task was et the police out from under
the wing of the military and make them a true civilian fanswering to elected and,
under them, appointed officials.

| came to Honduras from ltaly and a few years earlier had been at our embassy to the
Holy See. So | had in mind the political importance of the Vatican and the Church, with
special reference to Lima America. | looked up thArchbishop of Tegucigalpavho is

now a Cardinalnamed Oscar Rodriguez Matiaga. He was highly respected and a

figure above politics, who was of critical importance in moving Honduras along the path
toward democracy. The Arbishop wasiamed head of @vil societycommission that

worked to bring the police under civilian managemelig.prestige and influence were
important in getting the military to give up its hold on police forces. On that issue his
success was such thathile he was in Houston for a medical procedure, the Congress
named him AChief of Policeo. I remember talk
demurred of course but it was indicative. In sum, during the time frame of the nineties
there was hope in Hondths. There was the process of democratization and you had a
president in 1996 who was democrat and jurist. The economy was improving. The drug
menace had not become acute. Honduras was a drug transport country but not yet torn up
by gangs and cartels.

While | was there then the next year they had a presidential eleatidmt that point

there were two padscompeting, the Liberals and the Nationalists. The Liberal

candidate won. He was the owner of an important newspaper in Teguclgalfi@huna

| dealt with two civilianpresidents really assertinigmocraticcontrol in their country.

One example of the symbolic shift of powerh&h a meeting would be lidbetween

|l et s say the president and,thebeeerabvduldhi r man of
call themeetingandthe president would be expected to go over to the military
headquarters to medthat was turned around whemnesident Reina said that the

meetings would be in his presidential office and in the presidency. Reina had told me of
the ension involved. Suppose the military balked. But the General understood that times
had changed; and so it was #yenbolic actionin change of venue that symbolizedraft

in power.We wereengaged in Honduras and hambhust AID progranm in agricultue,

in providing water resources to citiise Puerto Cortes, a major poandin trying to
encouragelemocracy also at that local level thorowggh projects in food and water

supply. Wehada military presence on a Honduran air base called Soto Gdebad

600-1,000 U.S. forcegrimarily Army, but what we called Joint Task Force BraVe

worked with the Honduran and other Central American armed forces to be ready to act in
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case of natural disastel&e planedwith other Central Am@can military fores on
whatyou do when an earthquake hittéow do you respontb hurricane8 Thatwas and
is aninteresting component of our presence in Honduras.

Anyway, itincluded consolidation of democracy, and that advaadezh | was there.
Q: Okay well then so bfou gg how were you received?

CREAGAN: | think it was a good reception in the countffie American ambassader

very visible, very much a presence, very much involved in most everyivied¢nad an

active diplomatic communityWhen we had certain bieral issueswell that was kind of

fun. | remember once the press had an editorial cartoon with the president of the country

and myself with boxing glovesparing because we would dispthangs likeparameters

of intellectual property protectioble woud s avy , A Wh,avhy are you doieca v e n s

after Honduras and not ChinaTWwould your Congress threaten sanctions on

Hondura® Is itbecause we are so snfalnd if you want to look at intellectual property

violations try China, if you want to worry abiod.S. intellectual ppperties being stolen,

look at China. Sowhidondut asabdl, giwvesss because Hondur as
that Weiwdr @n 6 tittocChimasawe waulddispute, even publicly, yet

did lots of activity togethetWhenl would go oufi remember we had lots of AID

projectsis o | 6d go out to i naulpeHoadurenstmda t i cul ar /
minister for social development and he would always be out there asameive would

have big gatherings with the communite later became president of Hondwaas

actually was removed from officbut that was into the future in 2009vould say | was

very active in and out of the embassyHondurancommunities all the time, every day.

Also there was @ active role for theambassadér spouseandGwyn wasalways out

there doing manymany things with orphans, with indigenous communities, with the

ladies in the barrios. She was an incredible hostess, and cook (led the other cooks in

making the American Embassy a gourmatcp.) The President of the country

commented to me that the word around town wa
the place to really enjoy quality cookidg much of it Italian. That was Gwyn of course

bringing her Italian experience to be8n it wasa visible and active rolénd the dinner

table was a great place to do diplomatic business and advance U.S. interests.

| also recall the innumerable individual cases and interactions with the government and
its president. kemember one involving maja drug lord There was thibad marwho

had beerpolice chief of Port au Prince, HaitWhen wewent irto Haiti withforcein

1993and removed th€edraggovernment of HaifiMichel Francoisescaped to the
Dominican RepublicHe had been involved in rungrdrugs up to the Miami airport, not

to mention human rights violations. He was a destabilizing factor in the DR and then, for
political reasons, found himself free in San Pedro Sula, Honduras. DEA got the info they
needed and we brought a case for hisaektion to the U.S. The case went to the

Honduran Supreme Court which, | am sure, came under a lot of pressure. The case
looked good for extradition. The Honduran president and | both thought it a tight case.
The court surprisingly denied it, allegedlydan last minute pressure and influence of the
narcos. He went free and members of the media took after me as Uncle Sam who kicked
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anautogol | am afraid that thautogolwas against Honduras as the drug trafficker
remained free and able to do damage.

Q: Yeah.Well what happens if you have a case with you might say the goods on a person
and the Suprem@ourt of a country tossesito®o we say wel |l weodol |l

CREAGAN: In the old days you might just grab him rigi?ZA would want that, but we
respected Honduran sovereigrByt no, thatvas not the case. It wasad for Honduras
and the presidemf the countrydid agree with me, butte could not extradite on his own.
It was the court. In the pr@emocratic days, the guy would have been put jplarze to

the U.S. and basta. So, it was good that, under democracy, the rules were respected.

Q: Well how was the drug situation vasvis Honduras?

CREAGAN: How was it?Not like today where you have 85 percent of¢bea-origin
drugs coming up to th&tates fromColombiaand thru Hondurag.he Economistlid a
cover story with a map and illustration of a gun pointed from Colombia right at
Honduras. The drugs then move thru Honduga® Guatemala and Mexico and to the
U.S.Backhen i n t h e, thendrudy war @& Prionarilgt seaWe were running
joint patrols with the Hondurans and with othensd we were actually having some
success in capturing the-salledfigo fasb boats with drug supplie$hey were really
aiming up toward the Hondurarldads out there in théaribbeanRoatanandGuanaja
are two. Then the drugs would move to Florida via other islands or thru Belzeevé
definitely working on and getting cooperatifsam Honduras.

In fact, things were moving forward both in the anéauilding a democracy and some

enf

possibilities in workthat is the industry that we cafimaquil&d or c¢c | assemblyng and

industry It wasgrowing toover 100 thousand jobsn toward 200 thousand. Other
industries included shrimp farming on the Paaifi@st and tilapia in the big lake Yojoa.
All progress stopped and the country collapsedvieradramatic waylue tocategory

five Hurricane Mitch in October of 1998 hat killed off industry, including the

traditional bananaperations oChiquita and Dle. Chiquitabs | evees wer e
broken and the land never really recoverégiou wanted to set a date when things went
to hellin Honduras it wa®ctober 1998 with Hurricane Mitch killingpany thousands of
people and estroying thee 0 u n infragt@ctureFor us it was aextremely active
periodas the U.S. and others tried to meet the emergency, to save lives and to feed
people. V¢ ended up bringing in aid over time of hundreds of millions of dollars
Honduras never fullyecovered even nowAnd Mitch gave the first impetus toward
migration to the U.S. Those illegally in the U.S. at the time were not deported and got
what we call Temporary Protected Status (TPS).

Q: Were youhereduring the hurricane?
CREAGAN: | was there during thleurricare. As it approached ifate October metwith

the president of the country aptkdged aid.tllooked like it would be a hurricane that
would be really destructive onthecqodstut we di dndét know t hen
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This was a hurricane that fhe endcovered800 milesi from the Caribbean coast to the
Pacific coastlt blanketed the countr{Dne expects the wind to be a killer on a coast. And
the winds were really ba@ne of the island$;uanaja, named by Columblike Isle of
Pineswas denudd by200 mile per houwinds. So, there wengowerful winds but even

more tha thatit was thethreeandfour feet of rain whiclppummeled theountryfor days

and createguredevastationas rivers overflowed and wiped out cities and bridges and
buildings and roads and peoples A was coming inl got with the president of the

country anchedeclared an emergencso | wasable to give them a portion of the money
the ambassador &80 give in such situations. Then | coutdert Washington to the

official emergency status of thdistion.We acted fast. Luckilywe had the helicopters,

15 at the $to Cano airbase. Weall Black Hawk helicopters and we were able to bring

in Chinools (the U.S. Southern Command was still operating in Panantid begin to

do everything from saving lives to providing first aid and medicines and food over a long
period of time to villages, cities amountryside. Weset up a massive rescue operation.
President Clinton got involved ataterhe came dowrMany, many Congressmend
Senatorsvereinvolved so we hadolid support on both sides of the aisle and good
supportfrom people across the U.S. and across the g®éeeral Charley Wilhelm was

the head of our Southern Command, a four star, so he amdkédgvight from the

beginning to get into countryhat we coulgdas soon as the weather permittecth to

save and rescuét one point we even were able to gat JTFBravo team tgull the
president of Honduras out of theud so to speak and fly him back to the capkial had

gone to the coast where we all thought the most devastation would be. Instead the capital
and interior were hit hard as well. The capital was cut off as roads collapsed and its water
supply was interrupted. Crisis indeed. As President Flores trigettback to

Tegucigalpa overland, his military vehicles got stuck in the mud. He called me and we
di scussed that he was fitwo valleys overo
on our quick talk phone and within hours he got his helicoptenghle rain and rescued

the Honduran president. The president liked to recall for me after that about getting back
to the base. Then the U.S. military flew him in a fixed wing plane to Tegucigalpa. A trip
that normally takes 20 minutes was taking an howooHe asked what was wrong. The
pil ot replied that they were waiting f

or ¢
The pilot replied AOh, it is noitandtithat ki nd

stayed. So, from the end of October Linkeft in August of 1999, | was very active in

relief, rehabilitation and reconstruction. Massive aid projects, National Guard from many
states, innumerable visitors including the current and past U.S. presidents. The embassy
was committed, starting wittmy wife who did great work in the assistance and worked

very closely with the Honduran presidentos

cooperative efforts. She was a great representative for the U.S.

Q: Was there responsgel mean were we sending dttd them or was it equipment or
what?

CREAGAN: Well, the first responswasto look for people on the roofs of their houses

r

(o)

and that kind of thingSave liveswWwe had t he original cel |l phone

on the cell phone with the Honduramko were out there, the vice president of the
country was down in one town, the mimisdf socialdevelopment (a later president who
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was removed from office in the A coupo that
could see a situation and auilitary with the Blackhawksauld get upand go irto

rescue phas®ecause they were already in country at the Honduran Dasethee was

massive aid that came in and not just from the buSfrom countries all over the world.

| remember the Russiamsth those huge Russiafintonov aircraftflying into this

10,000+ foot runway that wéuilt on theHonduran basealledSoto Canamr Palmerola.

For coordination we started with an officer in ouit groupthat set up with the

Hondur an emegencydamngementofficeas we began the constant

coordination of relief. We had lots of AID people and those for crises coming in to

manage what became a huge stream of aid. We had auditors from the beginning as well. |
remember talking witthe president athe country i andthe Archbishop was there at this
particular meeting and the president was sayitigt if aid were channeled thru the

Honduran military, it would be assumed that there was corrupté@nhad happened in
hurricanes in the past like the 1974i FXs we talked | was recallingefNGO aid

organizations we already had working in Honduvés.had Care, we had Catholic Relief
Services, and we had World Visiand others. With the president w@meto the

conclusion that it woulthe best tofunnel aidthrough many of these private

organizationsWith them there would be n@@usation®f corruption on the part of
Honduranorganizations like the militarywith the NGOs we already had established

good auditing mechanismS.o0 t hat 6 s h o w peadhVe furmaedtatiyen devel o
many millions through these organizations and were able to control it, audit it and really
help people byroviding food, providing medicinend everbasic housingn an effort to

put people and country back together.

Just anotherreecdotefrom those days.ieésident George H.W. Bustame down a couple

of weeks after the hurricane first hit. | took him to see the Honduran President, Carlos
Flores. We wergalking about how to get aftbwing best and in quantity. President
Bushsaidi You know | 6ve got two sons, one is the
governor of Floridaand you know they have National GuarbBs you think National

Guar ds cRrasideht&lbrgsshlied with some doubts and concerns about the
presence of U.Snilitary wandering about the country and the perception of threats to
Honduran sovereignty. | noted thhetNationalGuard are from the U.Statessoit is

different from regular army troops. President Flores recalled his days as an undergrad at
LSU (Louisiana State Universitygnd remembered that the National Guard responded to
the governor. | am Botre Dame grad an@resident Flores and | used to replay bowl
games and the rivalry continued when we met the press or in meetings, especially with
congresmen and others from the U.S. In any case, Flores agreed with the use of National
Guard and, in the end, we hid National Guard from many different states come down
and do incredibly good things in Hondurasey clearedaads(there had been

avalanchesll over the country even cutting off the capital itselfddime. They put up

clinics. We had Marines build temporary bridgé&s. give you an examplef need, the

capital d Tegucigalpa had ten bridges connecting city overa river and tributary. e

of the ten bridges were knocked out by the hurricaog/ou can imagine the disaster and
the destruction ther@ver all the country there may have been 100 bridges knocked out.
So we had Marineworkingin building what we calfiBailey Bridges which date, |
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think, fromWorld War Il. It worked Some of thebridges arestill there. Therewas a lot
of activity and a lot of involvement aridwasvery, very positive in all ways.

In my personal lifeone of my sons happened to be there with us at tleeaij when
theseninebridges were knocked qute remembered an orphanage that he had been
working with, as had Gwyn, my wifé he orphanage was on the other side of the river
from us,the water was rising and hatteadydestroyed a hugé/FPfood warehase

Kevin was worried about the orpham$e called meand | was having dinner with the

mayor. The mayor sent some trucks from the city and | got an embassy vehicle or two
and Kevin found the 45 or so orphans and 7 or 8 sisters at the orphanage, prayoid.
them to get in the vehicles and continue praying. Off they went and they got over the one
remaining bridge. Then there was nowhere to take them. So he brought them home and
we had forty some orphans, six or so with chicken pox, and the siststayallg with us

for some weeks or so. The residence was crowded and food hard to find in the city. But
Gwyn made plenty of pancakes with maple syrup that we had in stock.

Q: Oh boy.

CREAGAN: That was traumatidyut obviously memorable for the kids. Wellthem

swimming in the residence pool with Marines in the pool ensuring that nobody drowned.

They ate hamburgers as well and | heard one praying that the lady (Gwyn) keep

providing those forever. Just the other day | got a message that one of the oghans w
getting her mastero6s degree from the Univers
and was emotional in locating us. She remembers staying at the residence in that time of

crisis as really special. | am not sure how she got from Honduras to thedityioé

Cincinnati, but life can be wonderful.

Q: Well was the example of our ambassador to Nicaragua whose name | mercifully
forget who closed his residence off to the staff in your mind?

CREAGAN:No,i t whé mdt r yi;was that backtinhi Somkza days?
Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Yeah, | know exactly who you meanurner Shelton. No, that was not on

my mind.| guess nothing was on my minther than that mgon showed up with the
orphans So, we had to see what could be d@wyn happened to havets of flour on

hand because we did all kinds ehtertainingand had a welstocked pantry. I$ ended

up making endless pancakes day after day with the kids; and | had maple syrup from the
StatesBut it was hard to find anything in those first daysewlthe hurricane hifThere

was no water, becauseater pipes ran under the bridges and when the bridges failed, the
pipes were broken off and swept away. Disaster. I itastas the only time that |

remember where armed men hijacked water truMdkasterwas really preciousVe in the
embassy hadur ownwell. When the city lacked water in the hospitaisiade a decision
Twhichdi d not thrildl al | o f7 btithneadecamdriaiecnsoy st af f
pull up water to fill water truckésome drien by other older orphans we knew from an
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orphanage outside towahd to take water to the hospiteaBme personne&lerevery

worriedabout the situation water, food and what might happen. | put in for and got

Avol unt ary depart urcertain sopessénsamstaff whatewemtae r s an d
means) could go back to the U.S. and wait out the emergency. | needed people organized

to work the emergency, but we did not want to have people panic or worry about family

or be a burden. | did not see a seguiigk in terms of violence; to the contrary,

Americans were seen as a solution to w8esmy decision wathatthosewho could

help and wanted to heffhouldstayanddo that Others could haveoluntary departure.

Some families and children left

Thenyou had everybodwho wants to come to see the disasterthe U.S. it had a lot of
television coveragesoon | was managingnd the staff wsmanagingvisits of scores of
Congressmen and Senators and President Clinton and First Lady Hillary Clinton
(separate trips) andipper Goreand so forth. They wanted to see and be seen as to how
we weredoing and how relief wagrogressing and like thathentherewere many
international organizatioriavolved. The UNDP, of course, and we worked closely with
theWorld Food Program. | dealt with the head of the WFP, Catherine Bertini, whom |
had known in Rome. Many countries were in the effort and we had a coordinating
mechanism of ambassadors and aid officials. We were all active and it was a good cause.
Some mortts later we had a Donors Conference in Sweden to coordinate the next phase.
The year 2000 was a time of hope for the future.

Q: This isthe continuation of an interview withm Creagan on November 18, 20¥@e
will still talking about the aftermath of vabwas it Hurricane Mitch?

CREAGAN: | think we were talking about Hondurash er e | was -6f9r9o m about
and a massive Hurricane, Mitch, a categowith 200 miles per hour winds hit the

countryand theregion It lingered for many days and much damage due tohe 40 or

soinches of rain.

Q: You mentioned that you had visits from both President Clinton and First Lady Hillary
Clinton. How did those go?

CREAGAN: Well, very well indeedl think it was the first time tha U.S. president had
visited Hondurasand it came at a time of great troufide the countryput alsothe
relationship withthe U.S. was vergood. ThelJ.S. had stepped up respons¢o this
hurricaneas had Presideflinton personallySot hat 6 s wh atBythestmeé nt er est i
Clinton arrived inMarch of 1999 we had come through with about $300 million of
committedaid andwe were making things happen. We had civilian AID and other teams
and we had the military. With the WFP in the lead, we ezding 800,000 people for
about ayear Clinton was seen ahe acknowledgedorld leaderin helping Honduras.

We hadthousands afroopsand National Guard rotating through Honduras, way up from
the normal 500 to 1000 American troops in Honduras all theitiorea Honduran

Airbase, SotaCana Those troopsadthe Black Hawk helicopterssome of which were
outfitted as medical copters. The troops weaeing anyway foaction, in coordination
with Central Americans, to handle a crigibe itearthquake, hurricane or other natural

172



disagers.So it was interestingnd it wasunlike Hurricane Katrina where you htdee
city, state and thenfedeglo ver nment s f u mbhloionsg ianssoasnadr gwei t h

When somethingdjke Mitch happens overseabere is no question among our authesiti

aboutwh o60s 1 ht @ & at lgelrheeAmbassadoriisthe representative of the

President, and so has the power to step up andioiiaf aid andget the USG involved.

And, in effect,President Clinton was acknowledged as the leaffére inernational

effort in HondurasSo we did lots of stuffdrilling wells, building clinics, putting up

what we called Bailepridges, bridges that Marines had put up. Tegucigalpa, the capital

of the countrywastotally cut off by the windandwaterand langlides. Withten bridges

in the city, nine of themweredestroyedSo one of the things we were able to do was

actually build bridgesncluding in the cityBailey Bridgeswhich lasted for years. When

Clinton came it was a hopeful moment. Congressmen vathénimd from Texas and

from Californiai and thetroops, helicopters, aridational Guardwere there. He spoke

with great empathyl'hen we had a meetinground table of leadessith thepresident of

the country, President Clinton, of course, the Arshdp, the director and president of

the universitythehead of the industrial association and so fofle hadmaybe ten

people aroundthetable.6 m si t t i ng b ac kcorngtessmes, asgistdanh our pe
secretary of Treasury and others. Beforentieeting | gave Clinton a quick briefinig.

said, AYou know you are going to see this gr
Archbishop Rodrigue(by the way Stu, he is notlie number one leader afjroup of

eight advisermamed by Pope Francis to givien advice apart from the bureaucratic

Curia)) Any way, | sai d, AYo uMaradiegatgeoArchbghop,ands ee R0 ©
he is not going to talk to you about the Church, no, he is going to talk to you about the

need for debt relief because that i®al urgent burden on the Third World and
overwhelmingfoHondulHa ss @i d, A OkSa we arelsiiingatthg able i t . 0
and sure enough the president of the country
reliefé 0 And PresidenClintonreplied, A You know | c o.Ydudrmendtt agr ee
some Asian economy thatodés screwedeumwaas in 1
talking about the scalled AsianTigerswhose currencies and economies were in great

difficulty due to economic forces and mistake i Y obaen hitdby semassive disaster

andyou need debt relief and we are going to give you that rélief Vatican ought to

push on t hat -ugped$he Aréhbishganhdoimthe @nd eve did give them |

think something like six to seven pent of their debt to the U.S. favgn. A HIPC

adjustment. Thassistant secretary of Treasury or the deputy assistant secretary of the
Treasury said, fAHey, thatodéds not.Theur policy, O
presidenfusts a i dTrhentheuniversity president, the industrialishe President of

Honduras and othetalked about the difficulties about how there wastaooming

assembly | i ne i rihasl;bangnha produdtiont wipedouaiid mach 6 s
woe. When they finished,li@ton s ai d, @ lent &P oegareratdtilliarit 6 s s
synthesis of what all the peoplehadsdidle guy was amazing, |l canodt

synthesis butremember the impacthen we went out and lookeder the city and the
damage. We haal big AID operation going at that poirdoing everything from food to
wellness We had a mulistateNational Guard operatidouilding clinics and clearing
roads. Clinton left the scene wittvary positive impression.
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Later the First Lad¥illary Clinton came awvelland did agreatjo ou coul dnét f 1l vy
into Tegucigalpb ecause the airport woultdrdtul genrérmhi tt aA
big plane. The runway was not much over 5000 ft. and surrounded by low mountains.

Once, | accompanied a 757 pilot in the qutks we landed in Tegus. The automatic

sensors detected trouble and fiscreamedo APul
and landed well. You need to be experienced. We had20@o off the end of the

runway and kill members of the crew. So theras no way the President or First Lady

was going to fly into Tegucigalpa on their big planes. The Clintons and others would fly

into the Soto Cano airbase which was maybe 70 kilometers away and then, with Hillary,

we got into a €130 for the flight to tke capital. | briefed Hillary on the flight and went

over her speech. She was entirely focused on how to advance U.S. goals and help

Hondurans. Not a word about what she needed personally. | jotted down some changes

for her talk; she got out at the airportTegucigalpa and did a great job. In the

background a Mexican-C30 is revving up and there grkanes from Japaand

elsewhere. It was aactive airport with lots of supply planes comingHllary then went

off with the first Lady of Honduras and Gwym some meeting&o Honduras was

helped, as were the surrounding counfii@dl of which had been somewhat damaged by

this hurricane.

Another thing we didmpacted immigration. Because of the hurricane and its devastation,

the USG put into effect thBemporary Protective Stag TPS,for Hondurans in the U.S.

There wer enodt dohparedtort Salwgdor Whicmiead gone thru the civil

war i n tBuoteheré Wege®dme Honduraasn d we wer enothemgoi ng t o
back to a country that wadevastatedrhat was an important prograihe NSCwas

helpful. Jame®obbins was the NSC guy faatin America anche was an effective

fighter for good causes. He got the bureaucracy tdAacambassador, | had full

authority to coordina and to leadll that for the ResidentWhen | left Honduraslmost

a yearafter the October hurricane, | had spent the bulk of the year on hurricane related

business be it political, economic or othere Were pumping in money and coordinating

with many NGOs fronCatolic Relief Servics, to Care, World VisionRed Cross and

many others. Thaac cupi ed me unt i | Il |l eft in August o

Q: Did you find that the hurricane upset the political equation in the country?

CREAGAN: Yeah, it did andt really did permanentdeege. hey havendt come o
it yet. Permanent damagkecause in some watydestroyed job$orever. And it became

a push factor for emigration of young men in particular. The situation ofcsans

provided a climate for gangs and narcos to build stfcecture. Now, those in the U.S. in

protected status (TPS) did send back remittances, which began to increase substantially.

And that at least provided a source of support for familiemedhings can be put back

toget her and s doneuabekanomg sevec raalydot put kadk e

togetherPresident Flores in his talk with former President Bush put a case for U.S.

support succYooknowfy .o mHe < aiod hobhtfpebpléH atirtiie,d tthoe 7
reach U.S. shores.ot had for different easonsmoreboat peoplérom Cubawhat with

Mari el and all that. Wel | feabpedplebomes sai d, nAyo
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Hondurasbecausdionduras is devastated. They goeng to walk right across that
Texas borderthey are going to walk right up Houston where you live aré 0
That isexactlywhat happeneth the years following Mitch.

Honduras wasen for gangs, big gangs from the amed including of course El

Salvador. The drug trade increased exponentially andMegitan cartel€ame to

Honduras to exploit the country and people. In some ways it was also due to permanent

effects of Mitch which are there toddplitically the president after the one | worked

with tried to crack down on the gangs and that was partially succdssftthepolitics

were in turmoil after thafThe president of Honduras 2009 was Mel Zelaya, whom |

knew as a Minister in the Flores government. frhilgary removed him in answer to a

Supreme Court decision and Congresal decision Hehad been accused oblating

the constitutiorby carrying out an unauthorized referendum relating to the presidential

term. Congress and the Constitution forbade any change in the one term four year

presidency. Mel was inspired by Hugo Chavez of Venezuela who perfecteddhe art

reelection into the future. So, acting on orders of the Court, the military pulled Mel out of

bed and senthimtoCostaRical t | ooked just | i ke an old fa
difference is that the military had no interest in taking power but@anyed out the

order of the Court and the will of the Congress. The civilians who took the government

were to be clearly Ainterimo until the Noven
sense, though he did have support from a significant portitreqdopulace. Months

after he was removed, Honduras held its elections for the next president. The candidates

of the parties, including Mel s Liberal Part
standof f and Mel 6s r emoval .ttheshneessthdhiad abdnmdve i nt er e
on with the results of elections. Observers (I was one of the international observers)

declared the election free and fair. That is the election itself, and not in reference to the

state of affairs that immediately preceded them.

Q: You say the United States gets high marks for what.iH#d it already had high
marks or was this taking this out of a trough of public opinion?

CREAGAN:Not high mar ks, but did t homdumas ght t hi n
never got into th&98 0 68l wars.On the one hand you had the Sandinistas in
Nicaraguawho knocked over the dictatoro8ioza but thelrganized thgovernment
along Marxist linesHow democratic m governing is that? El Salvadand Guatemala
were caught up in civil warssavell. Hondurasescaped that terrible scenarioof
Honduradi d e p | o ym®up aalled the Contraghich were fighting against the
Sandinistas in Nicaragu@ontroversial aspects of U.S. policy were not lacking, and the
United States wadeeply invohedin Honduras in those yeaiSo theravas deep

criticism of the U.S. from the lefgs well agyreat support for the U.S. on the rigBut

we never got caught up in the turmoil as happened in El Salvador and Guatéatiala.
about the 1990as a perioaf transition from the military regimes and civilian
governments under some military restraint. The U.S. was working for democratic
transition and economic development. The imafgde U.S. was positivés U.S.
ambassadoi was rathepopular with thgpeople Then,when tragedy struckhe
Honduransexpectedand in my opinion got, full.S.support to help them recover.
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Honduras looked north to Mexico, in a sense for cultural reasons, and Mexico was kind
of the colossus to the North. But the U.S. haglcgal importance for historical and
political/economic reasons.

Q: Was there at least when you initially arrived the talk of the colossus to the north and
all that stuff?

CREAGAN: Yeah, there was that tobmean the United Stateso here we wererou

looked to the U.S. for answers and for investment and foture of tourism, although

that sector needed a lot of work. | always told them to shape up with the coastal
development and the islands, because someday Cuba would be back as tourism
destinatiorfor Americans. If Honduras had not grabbed some market by then it might

never do so. Honduras needed the U.S. and depended on the banana and other industries.
Yet the banana also brought great criticism of the Qtquitaand Dole were very

important ad provided for thousands of joddonduraswas he or i gi nal @A Banan
Republico. The banana industry fAmarriedo Hon
the two companies were created by Italian ge

Jewish peddler, Sademurray. The companiélere, like United Fruit (Chiquita),

provided jobs, schools, clinics, housing, etc. company towns with cradle to grave aspects.

To love and hate. Thd.S. ambassador andS. Mission represented all the aspects of

the U.S.0 good an bad. We also had and have U.S. troops on a Honduran airbase. We

built a ten thousand foot runway, the best in country. Honduran journalists would engage

me in repartee, stating that the U.S. had troops and control of a U.S. base in Honduras. |

would alwgs say that we were guests of the Honduran government and people and the

base was (as it is) of the Honduran airfoktlee 6 d do t hi s repartee with
Now, | remember when | first went into Honduyaisere were politicalartoons in the

majorpaper Theyhad me walking in irstriped pants and tails and carrying a package

with my name ACREAGANO to emphasize the Col d
Clintonds Ambassador.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: Here comes the ambassador from the rich country to a caeatlty down

on its luck andhe cartoons always showeditde poor Honduran man in the streets

wel coming the plutocrat ambassadoahatgdveé o your
a flavor. Then when | was hitting them on intellectual property prata@nd Honduran

violations, cartoons would show tpeesident of the country and me boxmme another.

Now when | leff then they had this big cartoarth the figure of the poor man in the

street sayi ngthankGoubmiha, becdbisedfthe aidiand suppowe

provided in the aftermath of Hurricane Mitdh. @rse | wasall around the countrygy

road or helicopter, as we deliverén first medicined 6 d be t here with the
the country andften with U.S. or internationglolitical and aid officials. Because of our

help, | accepted in the name of Americans certain honors. One editorial cartoon in 2000

shows the Resident of th&senate oHonduras giving me honorary citizenshie states

i n Sp &mdithss homesitompletei t h a g% e e nthekitad@okthe tnmage
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we had because the U.S. Administratioend Congresd responded to tragedy and did

good. President Clinton was sery good ateading this whole procesthe agenciet

State AID and Defense with atsigood asset® worked together and were supported by

the Congress. That would be unusual for toda

Q:Yeah, in other words Clinton got the media
takes care of that; there was real follow thrbug

CREAGAN: Real follow through absolutely and continual; follow through and good
media exposurélhere were real concrete actions taken that impacted lives immediately.
If you go there now you still see the clinics, the wells, Bailey Bridges that witrel bu

was justin Honduradast yeayand there are the bridges that | inaugurateddstifig the

job, even though intended for temporary uséeWwe firstook actionwe moved very

fast CharlieWilhelm was the four star head of our Southern Commahney hadust
movedheadquarters frorRanama and Wilhelm was Miami. He and | would be on the
phone, get helicopters in thefge still had assets in Panama and did not move
everything till the end of 1999et organized anuhitiate rescue plansAt first there

w a s an§ money for that but great support agaim the NSCandthe White House

Jim Dobbins andthers at the NSC antd Pentagon gave supp@b basically we spent
money that you might say technarewhtlhgy wasnot
borrowed money from a Bosnia account to use immediately to savehdéscarry out
rescue.

| remember | think the second day of the hurricane | got a call from Cardinzéisl

Law. He was the Cardin@Rhrchbishop of Boston; a very powiel guy in those days

before all thgpedophilia issues arahurch problems of thieastdecadeSo Law called me

up and said that the people in Boston had come up with $500 thousand and he was going

to bring it down and | |gdaibed, ffahde mandfiecc 0 GCar d
flew down.| got a call from Senator Ted Kennedyh 0  sAmythéhg yuneed

Ambassador, wim the Senate ameady toh e | $a owhen youbve got that
supportand it has to be both sides of the aiglevorks.The dher side of the aisle

d o e s n 6 tleawe amirmpressmn thatthegah 6t want to help out peo
devastated. So, | am sure that the Pentagon had no problem in effect moving money from

one account to the new one. | had no complaints abopbsuipom Washington.

Q: How did you find your last year there?

CREAGAN: Very active and, of course, it involved being outhe countryThat

included Gwn. She wa®ut everywherand often with thdirst lady of the country

working on the rehabilitadn and helping in very individual ways. For examptegree

point after the hurricane we had 45 orphans
Q: Good God.

CREAGAN:€ a nd s e yse thenGymwsas out thereAnd those needing help
showed up as well. We just keging tight up to the day that we left in Augu299.
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We focused omeconstruction, relief anduidding back.We had means to move around
and to deliver supplies and materials. We had militeficopters Theambassador had
and stil]l h-B2sa,fked winmplaneuat the, emlzassywhich tigehus into
places dowmnthe Mosquito Coast angp into remote areadWewould go in with
medical teams from our National Gudrdm Puerto Rico anthe states. With AID in the
lead, we worked to make certain tlaad was audited. That worked out well.

Q: What did you do after you left?

CREAGAN: So then when | left Honduras this is at the point in the Foreign Service
whereit is time to retire or maybe see if there is another post, right?

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: So Gvyn was ready to retir@fter 34 or so year3here was some tatkat

maybe Brazilwould beopen | had had twdours theré asConsul Generah Sao Paulo

and political counselor in Brasilidhad four years as political counselor in Portugal. |
knewthepeoplein Brazil andkeptsomewhat in touch after 1992. Other Foreign Service
officers would have been good as ambassador. One, who was political officer in Sao
Paulo when | oversaw the reporting from Brasilia, was Donna Hrinak. She was really
good andlid become Ambassador to Brazil later. But in 1999 it went to a Washington

| awyer political appointee. Since the electi
appointment did not last long into the new administration. Goodbye to Clinton
appointees. And the pastmained vacant for quite a time. By the way, if you go with the
career FSO you get full coverage, with both Democratic and Republican administrations.

Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN:I t hink we went al most two years with |
anotherstay but not a good waytodo thingdle Il | , i n any case, we wer
hang out in Washington, and | would have been ticked out anyswayn had ndourning

interest in goindpackto Brazilat that point. And | had received a call from trustees of a

university in Rome, called John Cabot University. One trustee had been George H.W.
Bushodés Ambassador to Italy, Pete Secchia.. I
from my many years in Italy. They figured | might be rotating out of Honduras and might

consder going back to academia. A university presidency, especially in Italy, seemed

like a fun career move. | met with trustees in Boston and accepted the offer. Back to

Rome we went, and spent the next six years growing the universitylasd of alli we

got U.S. accreditation from the Middle States Commission on Higher Education, the

same accrediting body for the major U.S. universities.

s talk about t heé

(@)}

Q:Ok ay, | et

CREAGAN: So Foreign Service to the academic side teaching foreign policy,
internatioral law so those things kind of go together.
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Q:We l | |l et 6s t al k abldowtongthdsd& beenmtheneandwauldly i n Ro |
you describe it as it was when you were there.

CREAGAN: It was and is amall universitythek i nd of picodege@. | 6d cal |
However, verffewc o | | e g e s colleged anymark The wiord onjures up small

and even prep schools. John Cabot Univers#g founded in th&970s by American
businessren from Cleveland. A leader was Paul Frohring, the CEO of American Home
Prodicts and the first to introduce infant formula and penicillin. Built a huge

conglomerate. The idea with JCU was to create an American model university in Italy.
Italian students would learn and then enter into businesgtinationals. They would

speak Enlish, have some business courses under their belts and liberal arts as well. It
was and is aniversitynot juston the American modelub accredited in the U.S. You

and | know t he rhuchantheavay ofmtteddarice imctagsesgreat

focus on theoral examwhen you are readyin three, five years, seven yeakgcture

halls are big and individual attendance was spotty. Our university was and is small
classeswith Italian studentsnixed with students from around the world and especially

the U.S. It was a very good study abroad experience for U.S. students. The university was
small andhot doing so well when | went theré had an enroliment gferhaps350

students, which is not viable long tervithat we decided to do wé&sget American
accreditationNo university in Italy had American accreditati@y that | mean real
accreditation, not #nphony accreditation of some, or many; fmofit schools in the

US.Bbm t al ki n gegianblassotiatiang) thespegroup associationhat

accredit the universities in the U&. Harvard, Columbia, Notre Dame and the like. We

were chartered in Delaware and for us the accrediting association was the $Maddie
Commission on Higher Education/e worked hard for four years and in 2003 avbd
accreditation, which means that all courses are accepted in the U.S. and an undergraduate
degree is recognized for entry into graduate schools or the professions.

We needed to grow the student body to a viable nudb800 to 1000. | traveled

througlout the U.S. and visited with presidents of universities, describing for them the

guality of education and experience at JCU in Rome. | did agreements with many

universities from American University to Boston College to Notre Dame to Villanova.

We had agrements with Emory, Michigan State and many others. (By the way, |
remembered my own experience putting togethe
ride to Mexico and then enrolling at the University of Guanajuato. There were no credits

for Notre Dame aslkkor given. It was the experience.)

This organized way of bringing students from a myriad of U.S. universities (I capped the

number from each) to mix with Italian and other European students had great good effect

on all. And it helped us pay our bills &ancountry where university education had been

more or less freg without facilities and programs of course. So, by the time | left in

2005, we had al most 800 studenterandtlad bee
uni versities dWhatotwd adied flpawd i wWesroe i ncrease
restricted nhiitupaie sventbshiee, siX$ eght humdred students,

which made it viableln Rome you can get really good professamd that made it

valuable in the academic/intellectual sen
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Q: What was the background of most of those students?

CREAGAN:I f they were Italian studentséoh the
European degree because the European universities were beginning to recognize one
anot her Obatitdas tpgtins. The Erasmus (European study abroad) program

with its recognition of other European courses had not yet taken off. There was a slow
ABol ognad agr ee me niperpapootaeFsesch degree indtalylandd at i o n
vice versa. We shodircuitedthe problem of the validity of a U.S. degree in Italy by

getting validation and accreditation from the UK. Our students would get an American
degree from JCU and an European degree from the University of Wales. So, in terms of
students we had perhaps ommtired to one hundred fifty Italian students. Theyted

this degree for businegs orderto get a job with anultinationalcompany and like that.

Then you had students increasingly from Chie had studentisom Serbia many who

got scholarshipd;rememberthe Bosnian turmoibndgood studentaerecoming out of

that areaWe could help some with scholarships. We had dostia American students,

a small groupThe student body of 300 grew to 500 and then more as both study abroad

and regular studentmame As the quality ofstudy abroadgtudentsrom U.S. universities
expandedit helped trigger U.S. studerits come andtudy for all four yeardt is still

the only university in Italy witliegional or reall.S. accreditatiorandis really a good

place to get a liberal arts, social science and business edu&ationiversity president

wasa different kind of action from the Foreign Service &mdi of fun butin 2005 it

was important and necessary to come back to San Antoniow@&sin Rome as

President of John Cabot University for six yeat899 to 208. At the university in San
Antoni o, I have a Achairo in International
International Relations subjects. | use my Foreign Seexperience to enhantiee

lectures on international issues.

O |

=

Q:Wel | before we | eave Rome one of the thing:

colleagues has been when they get involved with academia they find that they are
involved in fights and quarrels that are worthy of trekans.

CREAGAN:Oh t hatoés true.
Q: Did you find that?

CREAGAN: Oh yeah| had a board which I would cabmewhatysfunctional so you

had real splits on the boaildigured that | was okayn the sense that | had had a

ForeignService career, haetiredand was back in wonderful Rorde but notforever. |

was pretty liberal with my own opinion on matters and took on board fadtiansmes

in less than diplomatic fashioA.t o n e p orherchairnhan lsasbieeh arouid here

for many years andereally needs to step down and let somebody else be chairman of
theboard. | ssues at board meetings should not
issues for the university. The Boards that | sit on are pretty good in the sense that they

di scudgsi $ibugs | i ke should we establish a n
expand scholarships for Latin American students? How do we get the best and wrest
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them away from the Ivie§o we had those kinds of discussidns. d on 6t ansoege f i ght s
the board gelf. But, we had that. | concluded that rotation of trustees and limited years

for Chairman is important for a university. We had a Chair for 20 plus years. Not a way

to innovate. At the level of faculty and Deans of the universities, | saw and sek lots o

exhaustive meetings over course titles and what constitutes a major or could we add a

minor? As President of JCU one of the big issues with facudpyart from salary of

course’ was the issue of faculty parking. It is a big issue on many campuses and i

certainly important where | teach in San Antonio. But in Rome it was critical. Parking on

the Lungotevere?

Q: Oh God.

CREAGAN: Now, the faculty had parking in the central courtyard of ol dghtury
building. It is just up Via della Lungara from tNatican. | needed space for students and
a place safe from cars, not clogged with them. | bapaeking in the courtyardecause

| wanted to turn that into a beautiful place for studengsve warning but there was no
room for negotiationl meansomeold faculty could have lynched me if given half a
chance. So, | paid for metered parking along the Lungotevere. Later everybody
appreciated the beautiful courtyard, good for study, for concerts and even for
Commencement. | had the Prime Minister of Itag 6Old friend named Giuliano Amato)
speak there.

Q: Oh well | remember going around when | was with the senior seminar | did a paper
on foreign councils in the United Sltates and
was ready for well security or lack response but it was parking.

CREAGAN: Right. Oh yeah.
Q: Oh yeah.

CREAGAN: Well anyway | hachbout34 years irthe diplomatidusiness and it all

started \ith the kind of inspiration that can come from leadership. JFK. There were many
in my generabn who were inspired by those words in the inaugural i&sélfA s k

not éask what you can do f oAlangzaparaelcountryo. T
Progresso And with the assssination of President Kennedlyere was the call to

continue a dream. And the PedCorps was a great idea for the tilneemember being at
Notre Dameand the firsPeace Corpsontingents hatrainingthere When | went down

and did my study abroatintsin Mexico and Guatemal&stayed withPeace Caqs
volunteers The American Fands (Quakers) were there in Guatemala as well. So, there
was that desire to contribute to the country. That was before the assassination, when the
legend of Camelot took hold. | worked for AID in 1963 as | completed graduate studies
at UVA. Then entereche Foreign Service with the &lass in June 1966 and stayed

until retirement in August 1999.

Q: Well then did you leave Rome on your own will?
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CREAGAN: Good point! | was a university president with good salary and interesting
issues, though with anvadys fractious Board (which | could have ignored in many
ways) . mBwladnéreasing dementia, perhapk & h e i, anéwedad to go
back.l had another year on my contrautit | told them | really needed g back to the
U.S. twas timei afterall those years abroa®h, by the ey we were assigned to
Washington only onci 34 plus years of service. That was from 1980 to 1982 as the
Italian Desk Officer. When | came back to the U.S., | stopped over for a semester at
Notre Damd as a Scholar inesidence at the Kellogg Institute. Then back to San
Antonio. There were several universities in town, and |gaasg to go back to my
original university because they were great folksat isS t . Maryds University
taught in 1965 and 1966. A frignwho was and is the president of the University of the
Incarnate Word (UIW) lured me to go with him and set up an international affairs
program in the Political Science area. So | did. | still teach.

Q:Letds talk about your work now.

CREAGAN: Well, atNotre Dame in 2005, the President Emeritus asked me to stay with
them (it would not be his decision really). But we had to go to San Andoraad |
remembered the | ong winters in South Bend. T

While at Notre Dame in 2005got together with Curt Kamman, who had a long and
important career in the Foreign Service and as Ambassador to Colombia and Chile. He
taught a foreign policy course at ND and lived in Michigan. We visited with them.

Then on to San Antonio where both @wand | worked at UIW. She managed the study
abroad programs and | taught international relations, international law, and the like. | sent
many students thru her program to study abfbaadot a few of them in Romédid that

from 20062012, six yearsafter which | cut back on time spent. | still teach one or
maximum two courses a semester and mentor some students. As a full professor | taught
international lawijnternational organizations, U.S. foreign policy in Latin America,

conflict andterrorism | built a program with about fifty students to advise. At this point |
teach one or two courses@mesterThis semester | will teach conflict atetrorism and

next semester U.S. foreign policy in Latin Ameri®d, by the waysometimes the

Foreign Serviceomes back to get you. B009 TomShannon, then AssistanéSetary

for Latin America and Craig Kelly theeputyAssistant Secretamgalled me up antbld

me thatour ambassador had been kicked out of Bolivia and the DEA had been kicked out
and the Peacgorpswasout and would | go to Bolivia to run the embaasyl be Chief

of Mission?2l s ai d, ANo, | 6m goi ngtostpendBome wesksb ec ause
there with my brother (former Foreign Servic
Gwynsaid o me, Awel | |, I know vylcalledbaclouthee enough,

Departmentand ai d, A Okay, $odWwdnttogBoliviaimJureahHeiendi a . 0O

of Mayin2009They opened up t he,aairbpaesestaddhe U8.s r esi d
befoe Pr esi dent Morales and the Bolivians as ¥
hosted a bid-ourth of July receptioat the residencé.dealt with Evo Morales and all his

advisors, most particularly the Foreign Minister, David Choquehuanca. | tolaingamn

that | would stay three months, because | needed bagiotothe university in
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Septemberl thought we would be getting an Ambassador before too long. As it is, we
still do not have an Ambassador in La Paz.

Q: Was it Evo Morales?

CREAGAN: Yes,Evo Morales.l was calledChargéd 6 a f fbat actualg-oreign

Mi ni ster Choquehuanca and the others al ways
of continuity.l was older than thepand | knewor knew of the leaders of Bolivia when

Evo and friends ere children. Former President Paz Estenssoro for example, lived in

Li ma, Peru, in the 197006s when JYodieswer e i n Li
when | was there in 2009 ahevas in my late sixties. Anyway, the Bolivian regime was

suspicious of th&JSG. | tried towork with them They wanted to cut the entire AID

program; | worked with the foreign ministand explained that our AID programs were

to help real Bolivian people. In the end, we were abfaéserve some of these programs

but deep, deepostility toward the U.S. on the part of many of his advisoemed AID

in the longer term.

Q: What was the root of the hostility?

CREAGAN: Well in the case of Evo it gets kind of personal because when he was a kid

his family moved from the Aipplanodown to what they call the Chag down in sort of

the lowlandg a big coca growing are&vogot involvedin coca growing and tradend

| think the Bolivian police roughelim upas a kid Evo got electegresident, alswith a

lot of support from the amfindustryo . | t &till prelsideht ef the @ca growers
associationSq, it is notcocainewith Evo; it is cocdeaves and legal chewing and all that

kind of thing.There was resentmetat the U.S. on the part of others, includthgse

influencedby Marxism and the theme of U.S. imperialisrheBolivian vice president,

Garcia Linera, struck me as a classic Eurogigprintellectual leftist. And many of

Evods t e alhS Aterrale wedhadtbéen treominantfi n eajoniab power, if

you will, in Bolivia. One guy in a top position wasimedQuintana. He hadone to the

School of the Americaso | guess he thought keew everything about the U.&nd

U.S.military. He had espoused conspiracy theoaiesut how we had troos bases

down inthe Bolivian jungle Not sure how that would work without somebody knowing
where or what. 't didndét matter. Evobds view
wars and the political scene, but he was influenced as well by his patron and donor, the
chaismatic Hugo Chavez of Venezuela. | saw the influence of Chavez over Evo when
Chavez came to La Paz for an independence celebration. The Russian Ambassador and |
concluded at a luncheon we attended that, for all appearances, Chavez was the leader and
hostand Evo a mild guest. Chavez called on Evo
Brazilian Foreign Minister, Celso Amorim (an old friend of mine from Brasilia ) to sing.
Amorim had gone back to Brasilia before lunch, as he told me he wodldtdavod it

all. Chavez then called on the band to play and he sang. Quite a show of alpha male. Evo
did the alpha male approach sometimes himself. | remember an independence ceremony
in Sucre, Bolivia, where Evo had the diplomatic corps present. As Evo andthis V

President, Garcia Linera, stood in front of the assembled ambaskashat©r. Creagan
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TEvo sai d, RnSee this guy (pointing to the

there.

Now, Evo really did not know nor appreciate U.S. democracy and sys$tgovernment.

| remember talking to Morales once and trying to expbainprograms and decisions.

We had these programs of benefitsctualbenefits in terms adpecificelimination of

tariffs but linked to cooperation on our anaircoticscampaignOnewas called

ATP/DEA or Andean Trade Preferences /DEA. It was based on Andean countries
cooperating on the antiarcotics campaign. Since Evo had kicked ouiBé (officers

and families), he was not a favorite up on Capitol Hiixplained to Evand hs Foreign
Minister another timevhy we (USG) could notertify thatBolivia wascooperating on

the war with drugsSo, Congress woultlit out the trade benefits that came exclusively
because of this kind of cooperatidtresident Obama would cooperate vBtivia in

areas that would help the populace and would be open to imports of products like the
quinoa with GSP preferences, but ATP/DEA was out. | think Evo genuinely did not
understand the role of Congress as independent branch of government. Ahg ineeti
along with a friend and advisor of our Secretary of State, had with Evo we explained the
role of Congress and the President on tariffs and most other matters. Evo then made the
t el |l i ng Peesidem ®bamag canido what Presidmma wants to doNow,

Evohad a tendency to look down at his shag$fie was sittingaind by the way

remember that he worece bright red tennis shoelwag with hisL e v and fss

trademark sweater. At the end of our meeting, which occurred the first weekenahl was
La Paz, Evo concluded that ABush is whit
Ol'd Empireo. |l could see it would be cha

After a fascinating couple of months or so, | had to go back to the university. | turned
overthe Chargé role to the incoming DCM. | think everybody thought that we would

have an Ambassador before the next year (2010), also because we had worked up agreed

language for renewed bilateral working arrangements. Instead, in another year or three,
the antire AID program was terminated.

Q:What dés the probl em?

CREAGAN:Oh wel | ,tlhetyd s i sagreeyto full celatidris. And we have
issues for sure.

Q: The agément.

CREAGAN: Yeah, theagrémeni and Boliviafollowed the Chavez approachhey
somehow think itds a weapon but itbés real

Q: It just cuts off any line of cooperation.
CREAGAN: Yeah, but there you haveliguess it makes them feel gomdprevent

exchange of Ambassadors. Go figure. It actually hurts Bolivians, especiallyl whek
of the very beneficial AID programs that were terminatedvida es asi

184

e
I

an
en

Yy I



Q: Yeah.

CREAGAN: When | was there | dealt with a lot of tglomats. Areally important

country forthemisBraziThe Br azi | i an aeadrightarasdhestrées r esi de
from our chanceryso he and | would get together a ldtad done two tours in Brazil as
Political Counselor in Brasilia and Consul General in Sao Paulo. So, we engaged on a
personal level as well and had friends in common, including theliBraEoreign

Minister. Brazil can be very helpful with Bolivia to keep them on trdmk evenwith

Brazil they did stupid things. Evo nationalizedtrdoras the Brazilian oil companyo

take sovereign control. The Brazilians naturally froze investiidwait was a few gars
ago.But | mean sometimes what are you going to ldic@ny case Brazil is big brother;

so Bolivia has to work with them. And Brazil can be more influential than we can on
important issues, including the control of drug trade.

Q: Did you come away with a feeling about whither Bolivia?

CREAGAN: With time, and in the meantim@olivia has been blessed by the

commodities boom and the growth in China. Some things work. Evo, the first indigenous
president as he says, is in power. That jggotetty good. | mean having an indigenous
leader, as long as democratically elected and democratically governing, is excellent. But,
will he give up power? Will that make a difference? A story to be told. Consolidation of
democracy and wise economic tgans can happen but are never guaranteed. It is good
that Evo has a government with solid popular approval. That too can be ephemeral. As
we knowinthe UST hat 6 s n $otl hopertheyagelable to watlall out.

Q: Yeah.This is a quick roundubut what is your impression of the students you are
getting now?

CREAGAN: The students argenuinely curious and interested in learning. They are quite
uneven in background and in ability to write and communicate otaly. encouraged

by their interes We get students who are first in their family to universatydthey are

very career oriented.

In general | think the high school preparationisnotgeod it 6s a chore to gc¢
write. But they are very career orientétle also get some verypgd studentsWe have a
lot of students from Mxica Many families have moved up 8an Antonio for reasons of
deterioratingsecurity in Mexico There are families from dhterrey and Mexico City
Thekids are hereandthey go to university her®ften, ttose students haved really
good high school trainingnd they write welllt is mixed, but many students from
Mexico write and study better than the students who went to school here in thalsoS.
have students who are a little bit old@nd they ee in the military or another government
agencyWe haveseveral foreign affairsriented governmeraigencies around here and
they are very dedicate@hey want tgyet that degree and move @ometimes they want
to get a degree in internatiomalations,so they can go to an NGO or maybe the CIA or
the civilian side of the U.S. governme8p, | find the dedication ther&hen there are a
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lot of students wittsimply not good high school training They candét write, p
Another issue for many studenssthat they have to workhave one student who is

working all nighton EMS and driving arambulanceAfter working all night, she comes

to class at @:00 a.mbefore going home to bed. Thatsmmitmentlf you areat school

in the IMesi or Notre Damé you are in residence and not working full time. It is really

different.

Q: You mentioned that the violence which has pradjiggtten out of hand in Mexico
which is done by gang violence in many of the cities like Monterrey it gets reflected
where ya are as far as people fleeing it and all?

CREAGAN: Oh yes, oh yesVe have quite a bit of immigratipand some families use

the fAinvestoro visa which gives them residen
$600,000 in a business. We have perhaps 100/@3@cans who have recently come to

San Antonio and environs. | am speaking of legal immigration for the most part. This is

good for them, good for San Antonio and good for our universities. We see many more

good restaurantssomething | like to experienc&henthesechildrenstudentgyo tothe

universities and college3hat is good for San Antonio, but the emigration is not so good

for Mexico. | am toldt is getting better in Monterrego there will be some returning

Others willstay here for surer at least keep a house here

Q: Well how do you find the political climate in both San Antonio and also Texas?

CREAGAN:We | | | 6 m saod like taensarcAntaniorhere is some crime of
course, but we have a good, generally community based polize Ve hava young

Mayor, JulianCastrq who | think is really good andif we think of the national stage

then certainly Juéin has a future. He isider forty years old now and hisin brother
Joaquinis a brand new Congressmaiie are very consous of conservation of the

wateri aquifer level is on the news every night. There is good tourism. There is a
movement of millennials downtown, there are bikes and there is craft beer. We have the
C.1.A., one of the few in the states exc&ptSeattle ad New York TheCulinary

Institute of Americéhas helped create neat new restaurants with South American cuisine
and like that.

Q: Okay, Jim I think this is a good place to sthjew what will happen will be | will wait

for the transcriber and you will g& transcript and then we would like you obviously to
edititbutalsa f t here is anything that didndt <come
forgot something putitin. f , youdve got to put a question
put it in. This isyour thing and particularly in oral history more is better than less

because people will come in to these transcripts and they will be going for key words or

somet hing and they probably wonét use the wh

CREAGAN: Okay, | will do that.

Q: Okay, my best to Gm.

186



End of interview
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